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AUTHOR’S NOTE

I canvor too strongly express my obligations
to Dr. Parkin for having, in the midst of other en-
grossing work, so kindly met the request that he
should contribute a Preface to my father’s life.

His exertions to promote that close union
throughout the Empire which my father bad at
heart; his intimate knowledge of Canadian history ;
and the esteem in which he is held by this genera-
tion in Upper Canada, make his having done so
especially gratifying to me, while his words in
relation to my father’s work must add a value to
this account of it which mine could not impart.

I wish also to acknowledge the assistance I
have received from information given to me, at
various times, by Mr. J. R. Boosé, librarian of
the Royal Colonial Institute, London, and Mr.
J. Bain, librarian of the Public Library, Toronto,
Canada.

C. W. ROBINSON.






PREFACE

TEE ancient and famous nations of the world have
ever cherished carefully the traditions of their early
history. Sometimes these traditions strike the key-
note of a great destiny ; sometimes they furnish the
inspiration which secures it. In either case they are
among the most valuable of national assets.

A young country does well to take careful note,
i like manner, of all that is best in its past. The
figures in the history may or may not be of heroic
stature—the work done may or may not be on a
grand scale. But it is foundation work, the sig-
nificance of which grows with the lapse of time.
Fortunate the State which, locking back upon its
early buildors, finds their characters stamped with
the unquestioned hall-mark of truth and honour—
finds their actions controlled by clear purpose and
high principle. As an example and an inspiration
the memory of such builders cannot be + _ care-
fully preserved or too closely studied.

It is with this thought in my mind that I
commend, to Canadian youth particularly, this
biography of Sir John Beverley Robinson, as that
of a man whose private character and public service
establish a standard to which they may aspire with
boundless advantage to themselves and to their
country. Never, it seems to me, could it better be-
come our young men to hold before them so high
a standard for admiration and emulation than at

vii



viii PREFACE

the present time, when the great future that lies
before Canada is gradually unfolding itself, and we
begin to realise how large a place, as the greatest
daughter nation connected with the Empire, she is
destined to take in the world.

We Canadians have reason to be content with
the beginnings of our country’s history. In them
may be found all the charm of romance, the fervour
of patriotism, the severe glory of suffering and self-
sacrifice on behalf of ideals.

Over the early history of French Canada the
zeal of the Jesuit missionary, the daring of the
adventurous explorer, the chivalry of the French
courtier, have thrown a glamour of poetic charm
which gathers depth of colour with the lapse of
years, and furnishes a striking and brilliant back-
ground to the somewhat prosaic conditions of
modern life and progress.

The great struggle which marked the end of
this period, and led to the fall of the French power
on the American Continent, was a conflict of
glants: on either side leaders who were masters in
war and in statesmanship ; followers stamped with
the stubborn courage of two of the world’s strongest
races, and hardened by the rough life of the New
World. French and British Csnadian alike can
read with honourable pride a page of history illumi-
nated by the genius of Wolfe, the chivalric heroism
of Montcalm, and the bravery of soldiers who held
life cheap in the service of King and Country.

Under the British flag this heritage of noble
tradition was immeasurably enlarged. When the
Revolution of 1775-83 severed the other colonies
of England in America from the mother land,
Canada received most of those who in the revolted
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colonies had remained loyal, amid defeat and perse-
cution, to the old flag and to British institutions.
These Loyalists, driven or self-exiled for conscience’
sake from the land of their birth, kindled in Canada
that passionate attachment to the idea of a United
Empire which has controlled the policy of the
country for more than a century, is a dominant
force in its politics to-day, and has contributed
more, perhaps, than any other single factor to
determine the future of the Empire itself.

The war of 1812 followed to test the strength
of this attachment. In this war the Loyalist of
Upper Canada and the Frenchman of Lower
Canada were knit together in resistance to unjusti-
fied aggression. By the unyielding courage then
displayed in the face of what seemed overwhelm-
ing odds, the territorial integrity of Canada and
the security of the Empire in America were honour-
ably maintained. Again, when rebellion reared its
head in 1837, and a discontented minority hoped
to repeat the experience of 1775, th: forces of
loyalty were strong enough to assert, once for all,
a superiority which has never since been questioned.

Thus two centuries of struggle and adventure
iend picturesqueness to the birth of Canada, and
furnish ample material for an inspiring history.

But the toils and triumphs of peace are not less
honourable or less important than those of war.

The career of Sir John Robinson links together
that stirring period of 1812-14 when the fate of the
country was decided by force of arms, and the later
constructive stage when, in Legislature and Law
Court, were laid the social and political founda-
tions of a vast and peaceful State, self-governing and
mistress of its own destiny, but yet holding firmly
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to the principles of national life in which it was
cradled. His boyhood was one fitted to develop
strength of character. His father, who had wrecked
his fortunes by adherence to the British cause in
Virginia, died when he was quite young. Thus he
early learned those hard lessons of poverty and
adversity, so common in the pioneer life of a new
country—so useful in the cultivation of qualities
which make for success.

A fortunate chance placed him in school days
under the care and guidance of Dr. Strachan, a
man whose masculine intellect has left a profound
impression upon the educational, ecclesiastical, and
political life of Upper Canada. It impressed the
individual scholar as well. The stern disciplinarian
was also the devoted friend, and the perfect candour
of intercourse between the two men exhibits an
almost ideal relationship between teacher and pupil.
From this strong master young Robinson seems to
have caught much of the deep sense of Christian
duty, the unusual capacity for labour, and the
habits of accurate thought, which marked his whole
subsequent life.

The weighty responsibilities of manhood were
quickly thrust upon him. Before he was twenty-
one he had served with distinction under General
Brock, the especial hero of Canadian history, with
whom he was present at the surrender of Detroit,
and at the battle of Queenston Heights, where
Brock fell. He had also in the same year been
named as Acting Attorney-General for Upper
Canada, after the death of the Attorney-General,
who fell in the same battle.

VWhen the war was over he betook himself to
England to complete his legal studies and to im-
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prove his mental equipment by foreign travel. To
the responsible and bracing experiences of his Cana-
dian life he now added, as these records show,
familiarity with much of what was best in the
social, legal, and political atmosphere of the mother
land. Thus it was that the vigour and independ-
ence of thought begotten of pioneer life in the new
world were supplemented in him by an old world
breadth of experience and courtesy of manner which
added to his power and charm, and which are said
to influence even to the present day the Bench and
Bar of his nativc province.

Returning to Canada, he was appointed Attorney-
General in 1818 and elected to the House of Assembly
in 1821. Rising steadily through the various stages
of professional success he became in 1829 Chief-
Justice of Upper Canada, and in virtue of that office,
President of the Executive, and Speaker of the Legis-
lative Council. The last two positions he vacated in
the course of a few years, as the system of responsible
government became more clearly defined ; the Chief-
Justiceship he filled for thirty-three years, until he
became President of the Court of Appeal in 1862,
the year before his death. How his judicial duties
were performed may be inferred frem two notes in
his memoranda made in 1854, the one recording the
fact that in the previous twenty-four years there
had only been five appeals to England from the
decisions of his court, and that not one of these
had been reversed; the second mentioning that in
these twenty-four years there had been absolutely
no arrears in his department of the judicial business
of the country. This record, noted with modest
pride, has probably few parallels in the judicial
history of Canada, or of Greater Britain.
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Of his legislative activities only the merest out-
line can find place in a sketch such as this. But
the references to his connection with such vexed
questions as the Rebellion of 1837, Lord Selkirk’s
erratic government in the Hudson Bay Territory,
the Clergy Reserves, Lord Durham’s report, and
the Union of Upper and Lower Canada, will be
read with deep interest for the suke of the side-
lights thrown upon Canadian history at one of its
most critical periods. His influence in the decision
of many Canadian questions was of a twofold kind.
Sundry public missions on which he was sent to
England, and a longer visit caused by ill-health,
brought him much in contact with the leaders of
English thought and politics. Thus while his inti-
mate knowledge of affairs and the strength and
sincerity of his convictions commanded public con-
fidence and the respect even of opponents in Canada,
his opinions had also great weight in England,
where he was freely consulted by the Duke of
Wellington, Colonial Ministers, and others responsible
for the direction of Imperial policy. In giving advice
he furnished no ground even for the suspicion that
he would sacrifice for Imperial interests any just
right of his colony. His example is an abiding
proof that loyalty to the Empire as a whole is not
inconsistent with loyalty tc any of its parts.

A biography like this brings out in strongest
relief the supreme value of character in public as
in private life. Personal and family detail may be
of limited interest: this broader teaching goes to the
root of national welfare. Characters such as that
of Sir John Beverley Robinson give distinction and
dignity to a country’s history.

GEORGE R. PARKIN.
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THE LIFE OF

SIR JOHN BEVERLEY ROBINSON
BART.

CHAPTER I

FAMILY AND EARLY LIFE

Introductory—Family—Parentage—School and student life—Christopher
Robinson—Colonel Beverley Robinson and his sons—Christopher
Robinson, “Queen’s Rangers”—The Rev. John Sayre, Dr. Stuart,
Mr. Strachan, Judge Boulton, Colonel Macdonell —The United
Empire Loyalists: their position after the Revolutionary War—
Letter from General Israel Putnam—Clhristopher Robinson’s death :
his children—Dr. Stuart’s and Mr. Strachan’s kindness—John
Beverley Robinson placed at school under the latter—Letters from
Dr. Stuart—School life at Cornwall—Address of Mr. Strachan to his
pupils: their presentation of plate to him in after years—Enters
Mr. Boulton's office—Letters of Mr. Strachan and Df. Stuart—DMr.
Boulton taken prisoner by the French—Death of Dr. Stuart and
Esther Robinsou—Enters Colonel Macdonell’s office—The Macdonells
of Glengarry—Acts as Clerk of the House of Assembly instead of Mr.
Donald Maclecan-—Vote of the House.

Many of those who knew my father have expressed
their regret that in Canada, where he lived and died,
and with a part of whose history he was so intimately
connected, no Life or very complete Memoir of him
has hitherto been published.

This has led to my putting these pages together,
but I am very sensible of the disadvantages which must,
In some respects, attend their being written by a son.

I have, therefore, prererred to let the story of
his life be told, as far as practicable, either in his

A



2 SIR JOHN BEVERLEY ROBINSON ci

own words —through his writings, speeches, and
journals*—or in those of others, through their letters
to or notices of him.

He left behind him, partly for the information
of his children, 2 memorandum, written in the later
years of his life, and touching upon certain portions
of it. It was in no sense an autobiography, and it
must be borne in mind thav it was not intended by
him for publication in any shape. This I have largely
quoted from, placing usually near the beginning of
each chapter what he himself has written respecting
the events referred to in it, and adding to that
whatever may secm of interest in connection with
his account, and tend to bring the whole into a con-
tinuous narrative. Some matters more of purely
family than of general interest, but which it may be
convenient for his descendants to have a record of, I
have placed apart in Appendix B.

To enter into every event affecting Canada in
which he bore a part has not been attempted or
possible in the space of these pages; and, in allud-
ing to those principal questions which in their day
aroused strong fecling and controversy, I have en-

eavoured to write in the spirit which he would
have approved.

A man of deep and consistent convictions himself,
and for many years in Canada the leader of a party
in Parllament, he was necessarily often in opposition
to others. What I think he would have wished his
descendants to claim for him is that, when he was
so, he believed that he was in the right, and that,
throughout his life, he never deviated, by word or

! When away from home, he was in “he habit of regularly keeping a
journal, but not at other times,




I FAMILY AND EARLY LIFE 3

act, from what his conscience dictated to be his
duty towards his country. But, while I do claim
this, I willingly concede to his political opponents
convictions as sincere as his own.

My Father’s Adccount of his Family and Early Life.

The first of our family to come to America was Christopher
Robinson, who was Private Sccretary to the Governor of
Virginia, Sir William Berkeley, and continued in that colony
till his death about 1693. He was the son of John Robinson
of Cleasby, in Yorkshire, and elder brother of Dr. John
Robinson, Bishop of Bristol and afterwards of London, who
was the British Plenipotentiary at the Treaty of Utrecht in
1713, and for some years British Minister to Sweden, of which
country he wrote an account. I believe he was the last ecclesi-
astic who was so employed.

Christopher Robinson had a son John, who became President
of the Council nf Virginia, and married Catherine, daughter of
Robert Beverley, by whom he had many sons. One of these
was well known in Virginia as Speaker of the House of Burgesses,
as it was then called.

Another, the youngest, was Beverley, who, having sought his
fortunes in New York, became a merchant there, and married
a daughter of Frederick Philipse, with whom he acquired a
large property, situated on the Hudson River, that would now
have been a possession of immense value, but which he forfeited
by his adherence to the Crown in the Revolutionary War.2

He raised a regiment of his tenantry called “The King’s
Loyal Americans,” which he commanded during the war, and
the officers and men at the peace settled in Nova Scotia, New
Brunswick, and Canada. Some account of him is given in the
Gentleman's Magazine for the year 1792, in the obituary of

1 Some further account of Christopher and Dr. John Robinson is given
in Appendix B., I. and II.  The former died as Secretary for the Colony
of Virginia.

? His house, Beverley House on the Hudson, was the scene of some
interesting events in the war, and at one time the headquarters of
Washington (see Appendix B., IL.).
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May in that year, He himself died at Bath, having removed
to England after the war.

A more particular account of him is to be found in Sabine’s
“ History of the Arnerican Loyalists.”

The late General Sir Frederick, and Commissary-General
Sir William Robinson? were both sons of Colouel Beverley
Robinson, and he had others, who removed to New Brunswick,
where their descendants now are numerous.

My father (Christopher), born and brought up in Virginia,
was the son of one? of the meny brothers of Colonel Beverley
Robinson, and being 2 youth at William and Mary College in
Williamsburg, the capital of Virginia during the Revolutionary
War, he left vollege and made his way to the British army, and
afterwards to his uncle, Colonel Beverley Robinson, in whose
family he resided until he received a commission from Sir Henry
Clinton in Colonel Simcoe’s Legion,? as it was called.

He served in this corps till the peace, and then removed
with other Loyalists to New Brunswick. He was the only one
of his own branch of the family who adhered to the royal
cause, and he became in consequence entirely estranged and
separated from them. In New Brunswick he married, in
1784} the daughter of the Rev. John Sayre, one of two
brothers who had been sent as missionaries to the American
Colonies by the Socicty for Propagating the Gospel, and of
whom Mr. Stokes, his Majesty’s Chicf Justice of Georgia,
thus speaks in his book upon the constitution of the British
Colonies in North America and the West Indies at the time
of the breaking out of the Civil War on the continent of
America’

3 See Appeudix B, 111

2 William Robinsen, born about 1763, of the county of Spotsylvania
in Virginia.

* Hlis commission is dated June 26, 1781, and it appears in a letter
from his widow to Sir John Wentworth that he was then cighteen
vears of age. See Appendix A, IV, for some further particulars as
o the cerps of ““Qneen’s Rangers” (or Colonel Simcoc’s “ Legion™).
Its proper designation was ““The 1st American Regiment or Queen’s
Rangers.”

¥ At Maugerville, near Fredericton. The Rev. John Sayre died there
in the same year.

5 %% A View of the Constitution of the British Colonies in North America
and the West Indies,” by Anthony Stokes, p. 200. Londen, 1783.
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After describing some of the clergy, whom he says he
had heard with great edification in America, as men who
delivered the.uselves with that zeal which distinguishes those
who feel what Zhey preach to others, Mr. Stokes says:
“Amongst men of this primitive stamp I should mention
Mr. Leaming and the two Sayres from Connecticut, were it
not that good men are dead to the applause of the world, and
look for their reward in another Country, where merit will not
be mistaken or overlooked.”

In 1788 Christopher Robinson (then on half-pay of the
Queen’s Rangers) removed to Lower Canada, and in 1792
came to Upper Canada with his family, and Jived at Kingston
till 1798. He was called to the Bar, and practised there, ard
held also the situation of Deputy Ranger of his Majesty’s
Woods and Forests in Upper Canada, under a deputation from
Sir John Wentworth of Nova Scotia—an office of very trifling
emolument,

In October 1798 he removed to York (mow Toronto),
which had not long before been made the seat of Government,
and died there three weeks after his arrival, leaving a family
of young children? (for he lived to be but thirty-four years
of age), and not having a rclation of any degree in Canada.

He became a Bencher of the Law Society, and was, at the
time of his death, a Member of the House of Assembly, repre-
senting the Counties of Lennox and Addington, having Leen
clected to the second Parliament that sat in Upper Canada.

Three years ago (in 1851), when I went to Richmond, I
spent ten davs in Virginia. It was the first visit that any
of my father’s fumily had made there in the sevenity years
which had passed since he forsook his home to join the British
standard.

When my father died at York in 1798, the Rev. Dr.
Stuart, who had been an intimate friend of his, proposed that
1 should go with him to Ilingston, and attend the Grammar
School there kept by Mr. Strachan, who afterwards moved to
Cornwall, of which he had been appointed Rector.

Su at that early period of life, I had two excellent

! Sir John Beverley Robinson was the second soa.
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examples. One, Dr. Stuart, universally esteemed and re-
spected, in whose family it was impossible to be—even as a
child, as I was—attending constantly to his remarks as to
what an honest man could do, and coald not do, without
benefiting by it.

The other, Mr. Strachan—to the incstimable advantage
of receiving instruction under whom I feel perfectly ceriain
I owe the success I had at an early period of life.

I learnt from him what gencrosity of character and con-
duct meant, and saw in him constantly exemplified all that
it was most important a young man should sec.

I was fortumate also in the next step I took. If I have
any merit in getting on harmoniously with wy brethren at the
Bar and ou the Bench, I owe it in a certain degree to having
been at an early period of life, when T commenced my lezal
studies, under the care of the late J' 1ge Boulion, who was
then Solicitor-General of the province

On a journey to England he w s tuken prisoner by the
French, and it became necessary for 11e to complete under some
one else the period for which I was articled as a law student.

I then placed myself under Colonel Macdenell—Acting
Attorney-General and Aide-de-Camp to General Brock—who
fell at Queenston, a most honourable and high-minded man.

The foregoing sketch passes over in few wards
the circumstances of privation and difficulty in which
the United Empire Loyalists, of whom Christopher
Robinson of the Queens Rangers was one, were
placed at the conclusion of ithe War of American
Independence.

In Canada the history of these pioncers of the
Upper Province is well known, but for others than
Canadians it may be neeessary to say that the United
Empire Loyalists were those who endcavoured to
preserve the unity of the Empire when the Ameri-
can Colonies—now the United States—rose in arms
against the Crown.
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From conviction they adhered to the royal
cause, and fought for it. When it was lost some
returned to England, and many settled in Nova
Scotia, New Brunswick, and Upper Canada.

There they contributed largely to build up again
the Empire as it exists to-day in the Canadian
Dominion.

The people of Canada—many of them descend-
ants of these men—have now lived for more than
a century along an extended border-line of hundreds
of miles side by side with those of the very pros-
perous Republic of the United States; and some
occasionally, both in England and clsewhcre, havs
pointed out that it would be to their interest to join
it. But the people generally have never thought so;
their attachment to British instilutions is deep-rooted,
and it is not too much to say that this is due, next
to the intrinsic value of these institutions in them-
selves, to the principles and traditions handed down
by the United Empire Loyalists.

The choice which the Loyalists had made, and
never regretted having made, had led to great
hardships, to the forfciture of fortune, the loss
of homz, and, in many cases, to the complete
rupture of close family ties. To be compelled, with
slender resources, to begin life anew in England
or the British provinces, involving in many cases
building their log houses in the uncleared forest
m the depth of winter, must have severely lested
that fortitude which cnabled them to rise superior
to their trials.

The fecling between those members of a family
who had taken opposite sides in the American War
of Independence was frequently bitter in the extreme.
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Hundreds of miles of wilderness then intervened
between Canada and Virginia, and from the day on
which Christopber Robinson joined the Queen’s
Rangers no communication of any sort seems to
have been kept up by him with his relations in
Virginia. The only private letters of his which
have been preserved (as far as I have been able
to ascertain) are to his cousin, Robert Robin-
son,! who had settled in Nova Scotia, and who,
like himself, had served on the side of the Crown,
and to Colonel Simcoe, his old commanding officer.

When he first went to Lower Canada, he lived
at L’Assomption, afterwards moving to Berthier,
where my father was born, and it was on account
of Colonel Simcoe coming out as Governor to Upper
Canada that he removed to Kingston in 1792, and
afterwards to York (‘Toronto), where he had previously
arranged for a log house to be built for him a little
east of where the river Don enters Lake Ontario.
He died November 2, 1798, and was buried in the
garrison burial-ground.

His name appears in records as mover or seconder
of several public measures in the House of Assembly
in York, such as for the establishment of a market,
for laying down boundary lines between townships,
and for revising the Act 34 Geo. IIL, regulating the
practice of the Court of Kiug’s Bench.

His ecarly death (when my father was seven years
of age) was caused by an acute attack of gout, aggra-
vated, I have heard, by cold and exposure while
travelling.

My father, alluding to him in one of his memo-

! A son of John Robinson of Hewick, Middlesex County, Virginia,a
first cousin of Colonel Beverley Robiuson.
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randa, says, “I can just recollect that he was very
tall, and had fair hair and a light complexion.”

T have heard him say also that he could well
recollect walking with his mother to the funeral along
the Indian path, and through the forest, which then
intervened between the Don and the cemetery, and
which is now the city of Toronto.

Christopher Robinson, writing to Robert Robin-
son on July ¢, 1793, telis him of the distress
which Colonel Simcoe, “the first and best fricnd
I ever met with since I Jeft my Virginia con-
nections,” had found him in, when he came out as
Governor; and how comparatively happy he was
then with his half-pay, «g salary of 7s. 6d. a day
as Deputy Surveyor-General of Woods and Forests,
1s. 8d. for a ration, and 2000 acres of wild land.”

Later on, in 17 95, writing to Colonecl Simcoe,
he speaks of having no connections or relations to
apply to “were I so disposed, having forfeited their
friendship by my political principles”; and he adds,
“I was born to better prospects.”

After his early—perhaps imprudently early—
marriage in 1784,' when he first moved with his
young family to Lower Canada, he was entirely
dependent upon his half-pay as a subaltern, and his
own exertions.

It is interesting for any descendant of the United
Empire Loyalists to read the official reports filed
in the Record Office, Treasury, &e., in England,
of the Commissioners appointed by Parliament to
inquire into the losses and services of the American

! de was not quite_twenty-one years of age. Calonel Beverley
Robir.son, writing from England in J uly 1781 to his daughter, savs that
he has “heard of Kit Robinson’s marziage,” and adds, “1 am sorry for
and vesed with him for being so imprudent.”
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Loyalists. The delay in awarding them compensa-
tion, pending the investigation of their claims, must
have caused, in some cases, much distress to them;
and their services and sacrifices were in many
instances no doubt inadequately recognised, and
too soon forgotten.

The British Government was not, however, as
has been sometimes asserted, ungrateful, and did not
neglect their claims—which amounted to millions
sterling—but it did not do more, and could not
reasonably, perhaps, have been expected to do more,
than indemnify them partially for their losses.

Colonel Beverley Robinson is an instance of the
very heavy losses sustained by some. He, his wife,
and his eldest son had all been attainted by name
of treason, and banished by an Act of the Legislature
of New York, for having been active adherents of
the King of Great Britain, and their whole real and
personal estate confiscated. Four sons fought with
him on the side of the Crown—three in his own
regiment.

Sir Henry Clinton, Conunander-in-Chief of the
British forces during the war, bore the following high
testimony before the Commissioners to his services —

Colonel Beverley Robinson was appointed to the command
of a regiment composed chiefly of his own tenants, at the head
of which he distinguished himself upon several occasions, and
particularly at the storming of Fort Montgomery on October
6, 1777, the command of that attack having devolved upon
him after Licutenant-Colonel Campbell was killed.

His zealous and very active services rendered him very
obnoxious to the enemy, insomuch that of all other men he
is perhaps the least Iikely now to receive any favour at
their hands.

He likewise offered himself to do the very same service
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that Major André afterwards did with respect to Mr. Arnold;
and with regard to Intelligence? he was at the head of it.

I am of opinion that he rendered the most essential services
to the Government. It is impossible to speak too highly
of him.

The “service with respect to Mr. Arnold,” which
Sir Henry Clinton alludes to, was the conferring
with General Benedict Arnold, who was ready to
betray West Point to the British, and which led
subsequently to the tragic death of Major André,
Adjutant-General of the army, whom (as Sir Henry
Clinton says in another paper) he employed, as Colonel
Beverley Robinson could not be spared.

One of the officials entrusted by the Commis-
sioners to report to them upon Colonel Beverley
Robinson’s claims, says :—

In respect to this case, I find that there was not a Loyalist
more respectable as a private gentleman, or more the object
of jealousy as a British adherent in the eyes of the Americans
than Colonel Beverlev Robinson—a man of candour and prin-
ciple, and universally beloved. Great pains were taken by the
first and most leading men of that time to bring him over to
the patriotic faction.

And Sir Guy Carleton, afterwards Lord Dor-
chester, who succeeded Sir Henry Clinton as Com-
mander-in-Chief, in giving Colonel Beverley Robinson
a letter to Sir George Yonge, Secretary of State in
England, says :—

June 17, 1783.

Colonel Beverley Robinson of the Loyal American Regiment
is a gentleman of distinguished probity ard worth, and whose
possessions in this country were very large.

. ! Thatis, the Intelligence Department of the army.  Ile was at ene
time in command of a corps of “Guides and Pioncers,™ and was often
attached to Sir Henry Clinton’s staff,
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The violence of the times compels him, accompanied by the
female part of his family, to seck aid and protection in England
at a period of life very ill corresponding with such a change of
land, but his unshaken loyalty and fidelity have been such as
to leave him in the present moment of violence and rage no

other resort.
1 beg leave to recommend him to your favourable notice

and protection.!

In his own statement to the Commissioners
Colonel Beverley Robinson valued his confiscated
estates (about 60,000 acres in the province of New
York, and some city property, which, after coming
to him through his wife, Susannah Philipse, had
been much improved by his own exertions) at about
£114,000 New York currency, or £64,000 sterling:
an exceptionally large fortune at that period.

That this estimate was not excessive is to be
inferred from the fact that it was concurred in by
several independent witnesses, examined on oath,
and that some valued it as high as £140,000 cur-
rency. There was, in addition, the personal estate
of about £16,C00.

The compensation which the Commissioners re-
commended in Colonel Beverley Robinson’s case was
about £24,000 sterling, but it appears that in the end
he received about £17,000.

He had a large family, and for years after the
war was In very straitened circumstances.

It may be mentioned that of the family of Philipse,
descended from Adolph Valipse—who early in the
seventeenth century had acquired immense tracts
of land near or on the site of New York—Frederick

! From Sir Guy Carleton’s manuscript correspondence, in the library
of the Royal Society in London.
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(the head of the family), Susannah (Mrs. Beverley
Robinson), and Mary (Mus. Roger, Morris), all threw
in their lot with the Crown in the war.

Philip Philipse, another member of the family,
had died before the war, and his children being too
young to take part in it, their property was not con-
fiscated, and their descendants were, in 1847, still
living on it, at Philipsburgh, on the Hudson River.

It is stated® that Frederick Philipse received
from the British Government as compensation for
his losses £62,075, and Colonel Roger Morris, who
had married Mary Philipse, £17,000. Also that
Colonel Morris, before the Revolutionary War, had
settled his property upon his wife, and that after the
peace a legal question was raised whether his children
could be debarred from inheriting—they (unlike
Colonel Beverley Robinson’s) having been too young
to take any part in the war—and it being provided
in the Treaty of Peace that settlements made before
the war should hold good.

It is added that in 1809 the then representative of
the Morris family, not being in a position to contest
the matter legally, assigned the reversionary rights
of himself and his sisters to John Jacob Astor for
£20,000, who eventually received the property,
which soon increased to many times that amount
in value.

I give below a remarkably interesting letter
from General Isracl Putnam, the well-known Revo-
lutionary General, to Colonel Beverley Robinson,
then in England, and the original of which is in the
possession of the latter’s descendants :—

5 ’kSee Burke’s ¢ Landed Gentry,” edition of 1847, under “Morris of
York.”
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Posrrer, Muy 14, 1783.

Smy—The many civilities which I have received from
Mrs. Robinson and her family make me feel extremely in-
terested in whatever concerns them; and I must say that my
Jjoy, on the return of peace, is greatly damped by the unhappy
situation in which many friends of the Government are left.

I feel most sensibly for what you must have suffered by
the war, and whenever I think seriously upon the situation of
this country, I cannot but bewail my folly in the part which I
have acted. There was a time when I firmly believed that a
separation from the mother country would be the greatest
blessing to this. But, alas! experience—too late experience—
has convinced me, as well as thousands of others, how very
erroncous this opinion was.

I now see anarchy and confusion every day gaining ground
among us. I see the encroachments of our great and good ally
with pain and regret.

Whether I shall ever live to see the accomplishment of
my wish, or not, I can’t tell, but it certainly is the greatrst
wish of my heart to leave my posterity in the enjoyment of
that mild government which this unhappy war has deprived
them of. (Signed)  IsnawL Pursam.

‘When Christopher Robinson, of the Queen’s
Rangers, died in 1798, his widow must then have
been left at York, now Toronto, where they had
but recently arrived, with but very little means.
She had six children,’ viz. :—
Peter;
Mary, afterwards Mrs. Heward ;
Sarah, afterwards Maus. d’Arcy Boulton ;
John Beverley, the subject of this memoir;
William Benjamin ; and
Esther, who died young.

Colonel Beverley Robinson was dead, and Colonel

1 See Appendix B., IV,
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Simcoe had left Upper Canada, so that to neither
of these could she turn for aid or counsel. Her own
father, the Rev. John Sayre, was also dead.

My father has alluded to the warm and staunch
friend he found in the Rev. Dr. Stuart, the father
of the late Archdeacon of Kingston. He was the
Bishop of London’s Commissary, or representative in
Upper Canada, and may be regarded as the father of
the Episcopal Church in that province, being at one
time the only Church of England clergyman in it.
A United Empire Loyalist himself, born in Virginia,
and who had served as chaplain to the troops in the
Revolutionary War, he had probably been acquainted
with Christopher Robinson, or his family, before
coming to Canada.

About this date he and others in Kingston were
in correspondence with acquaintances in Scotland
with a view to obtaining a tutor for their sous, being
able to hold out, as an inducement to come to
Canada, the prospect of future educational employ-
ment in connection with a grammar-school and also
2 university which it was proposed to estabiish.

This opening was accepted by Mr. John Strachan,
then master of the parochial school of Kettle, in Fife-
shire, who arrived in Kingston, December 31, 1799.

To quote the Rev. Dr. Scadding * :—

The families referred te—Hamiltons, Stuarts, and Cart-
wrights—appeared to have looked towards Scotland rather
than England, partly perhaps from national predilection and
partly from a reasonable impression that the economic and
primitive university system of Scotland was better adapted to
a community constituted as that of Upper Canada then was.

1 ““The Tirst Bishop of Torouto, a Review and a Study,” by Henry
Scadding, D.D., 1868.
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This was a view held by many others, and which
the career of more than one Scotchman in Canada
would seem to endorse.

In connection with this, I may mention that the
Rev. Archibald Alison,! father of the historian,
though educated at Balliol College, Oxford, where
he spent eleven years of his life, and though admit-
ting the greater nicety of euitical knowledge and
elegance of composition ir. the dead languages there
taught, was yet so impressed by the superiority, for
general students and practical life, of the Scotch
system of education, which aimed at the training of
youths “for the duties they would have to discharge
and the parts they would have to play in th2 living
communities in which they were to pass their lives,”
that though Vie: of High Ercal and Rector of
Rodington in England, he moved in 1800, at some
sacrifice and inconvenience, to Edinburgh, for the
education of his sons for professions.

In any case, these Kingston families showed
themselves very clear-sighted in considering that the
training and character of Mr. Strachan, afterwards
Bishop of Toronto, specially fitt>d him to take charge
of the instruction of youth in a new country.

When Dr. Stuart offered to the widow of his old
friend Christopher Robinson to take her son John
Beverley with him to Kingston, and Place him at
school under DMMr. Strachan, who was also tutor to
his own sons, it can be easily understood how
valuable to her was the helping hand he then ex-
tended.

No words can adequately express the debt of

1 ¢ Autobiography of Sir Archibald Alison,” by Lady Alison, 1883,
vol. i. p. 21.
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gratituc.. which the descendants of Sir John Bever-
ley Robinson owe to Dr. Stuart.

He treated my father in all respects as his own
child, and later on, in 1808, Mxys. Christopher Robin-
son having in the meantime (5th September 1802)
married again, he joined with her husband, Mr,
Beman, in sending him to Cornwall to continue his
education under Dr. Strachan there.

The latter had evidently by this time become
himself much attached to his pupil, being willing
to receive him “ without reward,” and as time went
on he became almost 3 guardian as well as friend
and tutor to him, ready always to assist him by
his advice and example, and also with his purse.

Writing to him on 25th January 1809, he
Says —

I must confess that I shall be uncommonly mortified if you
do not shine as a professional and moral man; and that you will
excel in both is the reward I promise myself from our connec-
tion—and a disinterested one it is, though to me it will be
precious.

This well expresses the only way in which such
kindness and friendship as that shown by Dr. Stuart
and Mr. Strachan can be repaid.

It may be said that in this sense their pupil en-
deavoured to repay them, and he held both in heart-
felt affection and regerd throughout his life.

Having been born at Berthier, in Lower Canada,
on the 26th July 1791, my father was a little over
twelve years of age when he Joined the Cornwall
School in November 1803.

The following is one of the earliest letters relating
to him, and was evidently delivered at Cornwall by
himself :—

B
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Dr. Stuart to Dr. Strachan.
Ki~esrox, November 25, 1803.

Drear Sir—The immediate occasion of this letter is tfo
acquaint you with the circumstances which have furnished you
with another pupil—your old acquaintance, John Robinson.

In 2 conversation with Justice Powell, I happened to mention
your generous intention in proposing to take the bearer of this
even without reward. However, I added that I disapproved of
your proposal, as a thing not to be expected from a stranger
just commencing his career in the world, unacquainted with the
expense and troubles of housekeeping. I shall consider myself
bound, in conjunction with Mr. Beman, to indemnify you for
the time he is with you, till a permanent arrangement can

take place.
To hear of, and from you, will always give us pleasure.
And I am, Reverend and Dear Sir, your sincere friend and
brother, Jony Stuart.

The Reverend Jonn Stracnax, Cornwall.
Mr. J. Ropixson.

For four years, z.c. until August 1807, he con-
tinued at school in Cornwall.

It is unnccessary for me to enlarge upon the great
benefit derived by him from these four years. The
good results of the training imparted by Mr. Strachan
to his pupils are well known throughout Canada.

Into the occupations and amusements which filled
up his school life I need not enter either, but I have
heard that he joined very keenly in all games and
sports. As a youth he was a fast runner and active
generally, being named “ The Young Deer” by the
Indians, who then frequented Upper Canada.

He was ford of poetry, and occasionally wrote
verses. From his boyish productions in the years
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1806-7 I select the following, not, of course, for
its intrinsic merit, but as being among his earliest
efforts :—

To Ar. Strachan on his Birthday.

Conxwarr, 4pril 12, 1807.

How shall my muse unskilled to please,
Atlempt with unaffected ease

To celebrate the day,

Which gave a father and & friend,

My life from danger to defend,

And guide my youthful way.

May each revolving year remind

My grateful heart how good, how kind,
How gracious you have been,

Oh may your goodness leave a trace,
Which length of time shall ne’er efface,
But which shall fix’d remain.

Although they have more than once appeared in
print in Canada, I make no apology for inserting here
some extracts from Mr. Strachan’s address to his
pupils on the 6th August 1807, when several of them,
including my father, were about to leave the school
at Cornwall, for better advice has seldom been given
to youths entering upon the world, and the school life
and teaching at Cornwall unquestionably influenced
my father’s whole carcer :—

I begin with an observation, which to many of you will
appear a little extraordinary. It is this, that one of the
greatest advantages you have derived from vour education
here arises from the striciness of our discipline. Those of you
who have not already perceived how much vour tranquillity
depends upon the proper regulation of the temper, will soon
be made sensible of it as you advance in years. . . .

We should not forget that the situation of human affairs
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never allows any one to be, at all times, his own master. We
are restrained on every side by limits which we cannot, or ought
not, to pass. That discipline, therefore, which you have some-
times thought irksome, will henceforth present itself in a very
different light. . . .

Next to the due regulation of the passions and melioration
of the temnper, we place those habits of diligence and application
to which you have been accustomed in the prosecution of your
studies.

If they are not acquired in youth, they are very seldom
attained. They are certainly the foundation of all future
excellence, for how can any person advance in his proiessional
studies or transact his business with correctness and prompii-
tude, unless he be accustomed to application ?

In conducting your cducation, onc of my principal objects
has always been to fit you for discharging with credit the
duties of any office to which you may hereafter be called. To
accomplish this, it was necessary for vou to be accustomed
frequently to depend upon and think for yourselves. I have
always encouraged this disposition, which, when preserved
within due bounds, is one of the greatest benefits that can
possibly be acquired.

You are to remember that we have laid only the founda-
tion, the superstructure must be raised by youzselves. . . .
It is not by flving from subject to subject and skimming the
surface of science that much knowledge is gained, but by
proceeding slowly and correctly, never leaving any subject
till it be thoroughly understood. .\ mass of information
huddled up in a mind not accustomed to correctness of think-
ing is of little use. Be patient, diligent, and methodica), and
you will make rapid progress.

When you are qualifving vourselves to discharge with
dignity the duty of your professions, You must not forget that
something more is necessary to render business pleasant.
You must behave in a kind, affectionate manner to all who
have intercourse with you. We may be correct in our dual
Ings, we may discharge with fidelity the duty of our station,
and yvet become disagreeable.

We may treat people with indifference, superciliousness, or
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neglect; we way indulge a moroseness of disposition which
shall disgust where we meant to conciliate, and raise up
enemies ..ere we wished friends. The civility of manners
which I would recommend flows from the heart; it consists
in showing a proper regard for the feelings of others.

- - . Having eshorted yox at some length, in another
place, always to cherish our Holy Religion, I shall not say
anything further at present. Suffer me, however, to remind
you that he who wishes to be a good man and rise in moral
excellence, must begin with being a datiful child. Obedience
to parents is the forerunner of obedience to God.

Before I conclude allow me to recommend the cultivation
of friendship. “The connections formed at school frequently
continue through life. “Ihis union, if founded on viriue, and
nourished by similarity of disposition and congenial souls, will
be the delight of your future lives.

Twenty-six years after the above address had
been delivered, the old Cormwall pupils of Mr.
Strachan, then Archdeacon of York, met together
2nd July 1833) to present him with a piece of plate*
I gratitude to him as their tutor.

On that occasion the address was read by my
father, and forty-two old pupils signed it and joined
in the presentation, many of them holding respon-
sible positions in Canada, and some in distant parts
of the world.

Mr. Strachan’s acknowledgment of the address
largely explains the reason why the system. he had
followed had so reached the hearts of his pupils.

I was strongly impressed from the first with my respon-
sibility as your teacher, and I felt that to be really usecful,
I must become your friend. Jt has ever been my conviction,

! This was - silver ¢ ergue, value about £230 sterling, the design of
wtich was superinterded 3n London by Thumas Campbell, the poet,
avthor of * The Pleasures of Hope,” and W. Dacres Adams.
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that our scholars should be considered for the time our children,
and that, as parents, we should study their characters and
pay respect to their peculiar dispositions, if we really wish to
improve them, for if we feel not something of the tender
relation of parents towards them, we cannot expect to be
successful in their education.

It is evident from his correspondence with his
pupils after they had left school that while there
he had identified himself with all their interests and
amusements ; and no one who recollects him person-
ally (s I can do, though only at a later period of his
life) can fail to understand the influcnce which his
manly character gave him over boys.

Uniting, in a remarkable degree, as has been well
said, “fascination with force,” he treated his pupils
as his own children, while he maintained a very strict
discipline ; noting their individual tempers, their fail-
ings, and their talents, and constantly stimulating or
repressing as he thought wise.

Such a system naturally Ioft its mark for good
upon the youth of my father’s generation brought
under Mr. Strachan’s influence in Canada.

Two months after leaving Cornwall, 7.¢. in October
1807, my father entered as a student the office of Mr.
ID’Arcy Boulton, then Solicitor-General of Upper
Canada, and remained with him three years.

Mr. Strachan speaks of executing, with the con-
sent of Mr. Beman, an indenture for him to be cletk.

T shall take the necessary steps to secure you for five years
from getting clear of the yoke. I hope, however, you will not
find it burdensome.

His course of reading during this period scems
from his note-books to have been comprehensive.
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In addition to various treatises upon law, it
included a careful study of Virgil, Horace, Pliny,
Plutarch, Hume’s History of England, Robertson’s
History of America, Paley, the Speeches of Pitt,
Erskine, Fox, and others, Shakespeare, Bolingbroke’s
Works, Milton and various poets. Upon the Bible
there are very full notes, especially on Job, the
Psalis, Proverbs, Isaiah, and Ecclesiastes, and among
them the following text specially scored in pencil :—

Till I die I will not remove mine integrity from me, my
righteousness I hold fast, and will not let it g0, my heart shall
not reproach me <o long as I live.—Jon, xxvii. 6.

He also took a leading part in a debating society
got up among his fellow-students.

The foliowing letters show the continued interest
evinced in him by Dr. Stuart and Mr. Strachan
throughout the time he was studying for the Bar:—

AMr. Strackan to John B. Robinson.

Corxwary, Felr ary 1808.

- - - You must learn to be very careful of your matters—
economy s the root of true independence—and to show you
that your allowance is not so small as you may imagine, my
own expenses for Cloaths do not average more than sixteen or
seventeen pounds per annum. It is true many people spend
six times as much, but I do not think it adds anything to
their respectability. The difficuities you have at present to
encounter will be of great use to you in future. No man can
be great, or perhaps very good, who has not received lessons
from adversity. . . .

Dr. Stuart to John B. Robinson.

Kixesrox, June 50, 1808.
Dearn Jomx,—Your very kind affectionate letter was
delivered to me by Mr. Boulton, and though you have greatly
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overrated any little benefit you received from me or my
family, yet as it evidences the goodness of your heart, I con-
sider the whole as the genuine effusion of a grateful mind.
I have been long in the habit of considering you as a child,
and consequently am deeply interested in your future prospects
and success in the world. . . .

There is no medium in the profession you have chosen ;
you must either rise to eminence and respectability or sink to
the level of a pettifogging attorney in some obscure part of the
country. I can only add that you have my good wishes at all
times, and if an opportunity offers in which I can give you
some more substantial proof of my friendship, you will be
convinced at least of my good intentions. Mrs. Stuart was
particularly pleased with the part of your letter in which her
name was mentioned. I need only say she is as much your
friend as ever.—J am, dear John, your affectionate and sincere
friend, JouN STUART.

Addressed to
Mz, Jonx B. RoniNson,
Student at Law, York.

The want of perseverance and inclination to satire,
alluded to in the next letters, were never apparent,
I think, in my father in later life.

Evidently some squib he had written was the
occasion of the last, and perhaps the tendency it
showed disappeared, because it was sharply and wisely
disapproved of at once.

Afr. Strachan to John B. Robinson.

Conxwarr, January 25, 1809.

. . . There is one rock from which you are in danger, that
is the want of perseverance. This defect I endeavoured, whiie
vou were here, to correct. Endeavour yourself to conquer this
habit. Never conceive it possible for another to do anything
in the way of your profession which you canuot also do. If
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you lose in the race after every effort to gain the victory, you
lose with honour; but to be distanced is always disgrace-
ful. ...

The Same to the Same.

Conrxwary, September 30, 1809.

-« « The interest I naturally take in your welfare forces
me to take up the subject of my disapprobation again. I find,
as I had anticipated, that the lines Yyou made had given offence
to the parties concerned.

I am willing to make every allowance for what is past, but
I must require your promise never to write satire upon any-
body. The empty laugh of the malignant is but a small
remuneration for hurting the feelings of your ncighbour. I
do not speak of the badness of the verses and measure, because
it was obvious to yourself, but you will shut every door against
you by indulging a satirical propensity, and you will quickly
find yourself surrounded by enemies.

The year 1811 was to be a sad one. In it my
father lost his tried friend, Dr. Stuart, and his
youngest sister, Esther. His legal studies in Mr.
Boulton’s office were also interrupted, in consequence
of the latter having been taken prisoner by the French
privateer Grand Duc de Berg, on a voyage to
England. For a time it was thought that he had
died of wounds he was known to have received in
the capture of the ship—The Mincrva—he had
sailed in.

The following is Dr. Stuart’s last letter -

Kixesrox, January 31, 1811.

DEar JouN,— . . . I shall always consider you as my sixth
son, and if I Iive long enough to have an opportunity of aiding
and assisting you to procure a desirable establishment in life,
Ishall consider it a fortunate circumstance.

Although my health is as good as persons at my time of
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life generally experience, yet I feel the love of ease and retire-
ment daily gain ground, and what I ought principally to keep
in view is how to make my exit with decency and comfort.
My grandchildren begin to be an interesting sight-—eight fine
boys and two girls.

Mrs. Stuart and Jane join in love to you. The former
wishes to see you in your old position at her elbow; indeed,
you have not by long absence lost any ground in her affectionate
remembrance, and,—I am, dear John, your affectionate friend,

JouN StuaRT.

Joun B. Rosinsoy,
Student at Law, York.

My father writes thus to Dr. Strachan on Sep-
tember 18, 1811 :—

Dr. Stuart’s death affected me very much. The unbounded
kindness with which he has always treated me would have com-
pelled me to love him. . . . I can hardly reconcile to my mind
the idea of never seeing him again. I have also, it grieves me
to say, a nearer affliction to mention, the death of a good,
affectionate, young sister. She died on the first of this month.
Dear Hetty was sixteen years old. . . . Poor little soul; she
is in heaven, if a spotless conscience and a heart of tender-
ness and goodness can claim a seat there. I was much by
her bedside, from the time the quinsy broke.

-« « Mr. Boulton, I fear, will never greet our eyes again.
D’Arcy has had a letter from Mr. Franklin, saying that all the
intelligence he can procure of Mr. Boulton, after several months’
diligent inquiry, is from two sailors, who, being taken with
him, had volunteered into a French privateer, and been taken
by an English ship. They state Mr. Boulton was very badly
wounded, that when the rest were marched into the interior
he was left in the hospital at Dieppe, and they have never
heard of him since. I hope we may soon be relieved from
so distressing an uncertainty. Mrs. Boulton continues pretty
well.
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The fears which were entertained as to M.
Boulton’s safety were happily unfounded. He re-
covered from his wounds, and after three years’
confinement in the fortress of Verdun, was released,
and returned to Canada.

My father has alluded to his having completed
his legal studies (owing to Mr. Boulton's detention
in France) in the office of Licutenant-Colonel
Macdonell, M.P. for Glengarry, “a most honourable
and high-minded man”; and he was certainly fortu-
nate in being thus thrown into intimate contact
with one of so high a professional and personal
character.

The services which have been rendered to the
Empire, and at critical junctures, by the family of
Macdonell of Glengarry, have been great, and the
Glengarry Highlanders, well known in Canada, have
distinguished themselves on the battlefields both of
the Old and the New World.

Among other noted members of this family, I
may mention Colonel (afterwards General Sir James)
Macdonell, celebrated for his determined defence of
the important post of Hougoumont at Waterloo;
Colonel George Macdonell, C.B., whose name is
inseparably connected with De Salaberry’s brilliant
success at Chateauguay, and who commanded at the
capture of Ogdensburgh in the war of 1812-15;
Bishop Alexander Macdonell, churchman and man
of affairs, active in the war of 1812-15, and chaplain
during it to the Glengarry Light Infantry ; and lastly
Colonel John Macdonell,! in whose office my father
was now enrolled, and who fell in the forefront of

! Great-uncle of the present John A. Macdonell, K.C., of Greenfield,
Alexandria, Glengarry, Canada,
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the battle at Queenston Heights, when serving as
A.D.C.* to General Brock.

While in Colonel Macdonell’s office, my father
took some duty in connection with the House of
Assembly in addition to his legal work, of which
he thus speaks :—

My first public service was rendered while I was still a
boy, under an appointment from Major-General Sir Isaac
Brock, then President of the province, to supply temporarily
the place of the Clerk-Assistant to the House of Assembly,
Mr. Donald Maclean, who afterwards (in April 1813) gallantly
joined the Grenadier Company of the Sth Regiment with his
musket, and was killed in endeavouring to repel the attack of
the enemy upon Toronto. . . . He being ill, I performed his
duty for him.

It was in one respect a gratifying commencement, for at the
conrlusion of the session the House passed unanimously a very
flattering resolution, commending my services, and adding a
substantial mark of their approbation,® which I had not at
all looked for.

Though not called to the Bar until a few months
later, his student days were now practically over—
Inter arma silent leges

—and a time of trial for Canada was approaching,
which was to interrupt all the avocations of civil life.

! Being an officer of rank he combined the duties of Military Secretary
and Aide-de-Camp.

?The Assembly voted £50 as a mark of their approbation of his
““ extraordinury attention to the duties of the office.”
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My Father's Account, taken from his Memoranda, &e.

In 1811, the late Honourable William Allan?! was captain
of a company of Militia in the town of York, which he took
pains to make efficient.

Under the new Militia Act of 1812, flank companies were
formed in each battalion of men who volunteered for active
service in case of war; and Mr. Allan became captain of one
of these companies, in which I and most of the young gentle-
men of the town were enrolled as privates.

The Attcrney-General, Macdonell, with whom I was a
student, went upon General Brock’s staff as Provincial A.D.C.

As the prospects of invasion came nearer we were taken
into garrison, and became soldiers for the time.

In June 1812 the American Government declared war,
having been engaged for some time before in collecting and
forming a force for the invasion of Canada, which, about 3000
strong, had been making its way through the Western States

! Father of the late Honourable G. W. Allan of Moss Park, Toronto.
)
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to Detroit, under the command of General Hull, who was then
Governor of the Michigan territory.

As soon as the intelligence of the war and of this move-
ment reached Toronto, General Brock with a party of soldiers
rowed across the lake to Niagara to make such arrangements
as he could for the defence of the frontier there, and immedi-
ately returned to York in the same boat, called out the
Militia, and addressed them on the Garrison Common. He
bad then received information that General Hull with his
force had crossed the Detroit River to Sandwich, which they
plundered, and had marched down to Amherstburg, where
a small detachment of the 41st Regiment under Colonel
Proctor held out against him ; also, that a troop of American
Dragoons had made their way through the Western District
to Delaware, receiving the submission of some of the inhabi-
tants, and being willingly joined by others, who had recently
emigrated to Canada from the United States.

General Brock told us that his intention was to go up at
once to the Western District along the shore of Lake Erie,
in boats, with such force as he could collect, and to embark
at what is now Port Dover; that his means of transportation
were so Jimited that he could take but 100 volunteers from
York, the same number from the head of the lake (Hamilton),
and an equal number from Port Dover. . . .

I had by that time reccived a commission as licutenant.!
Many more men volunteered than could be taken, and I believe
all the officers—General Brock had to select the few 2 that were
required. and I had the luck to be one. Iy brother-in-law,
Captain Heward, was appointed to command the 100 men, and
my brother,® who had raised a rifle company, was allowed to
find his way by land, to join us in the Western District.

We marched from Burlington Bay to Long Point on
Lake Erie, and went from thence, in boats, up ihe lake to
Ambherstburg.

1 My father’s commission to be “ Lieutenant in the 3rd Regiment of
York Militia of which William Chewett is Lieutenant-Colonel,” is dated
the 17th April 1812. He was posted to Captain Heward’s company.

2 It is mentioned elsewhere that four were selected.

3 Peter Robinson.
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General Hull crossed! the Detroit River on hearing
of the approach of General Brock’s very inferior force,
and shut himsolf up with about 2500 men in the fort (of
Detroit).

On the 15th August General Brock arrived at Sandwich,
and on the morning of Sunday the 16th he crossed the river
with his small force of 700 men, besides the Indians, who were
sent into the woods, and was advancing to the assault, when
General Hull sent out a flag of truce, and surrendered the
fort with his army and the whole Michigan tecritory. All
but the regular troops were allowed to depart on their
parole.

I was sent with a party of the York volunteers, and an
officer of the 41st Regiment with a party of his men, to take
possession of the fort, and substitute the British flag for the
American.

On being relieved from duty the next morning, I had
the pleasure of breakfasting with Sir Isaac Brock and with
Tecumseh at an inn at Detroit. My short experience of
soldiering was uncommonly lucky, for the fort being full of
stores of all kinds, my share of prize-money as a lieutenant,
which I received in due time, came to £90 and upwards,
and the caplors of Detroit being honoured by her Majesty
with a medal,® T have this unusual appendage to a judge’s
equipment.

A few days after the surrender I came down with Cap-
tain Heward and a part of his company on board the
Queen Charlotte, armed brig, as a guard with General
Hull and part of the regular force® that surrendered at
Detroit. General Brock returned to Fort Erie in a small

1 i.c. retired over it aguin to the American side.

2 The war medal (granted in 1847 for Peninsular and other campaigns
between 1793 and 1814) was issued, with clasp for ** Fort Detroit,” o all
those who had been present at the capture of that fortress. My father
only received this medal, therefore, about 1848.

* There were on board Brigadier-General William Hull, Captain
Abraham Hull, his A.D.C.; Lieutenant-Colonel J. Miller, commanding
4th Regiment U.S. Infantry; Joseph Watson, A.D.C. to Governor of
Michigan ; and others—in all, 12 officers, 134 privates, 8 women, und 4
ciildren. The men chiefly belonged to the 4th Regiment U.S. Infantry.
The prisoners were being conveyed to Fort Erie, and thence o Halifax.
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sloop, having as a guard the Militia rifle company, com-
manded by my elder brother (Peter), which had gone up
by land to Sandwich and joined us there. W left the
prisoners, whom we had brought down, at Chippewa, where
there was a company of the 41st Regiment, and I returned
with our 100 volunteers to Toronto.

After a few days, the strength of our detachment being
much augmented, both in men end officers, we were sent to
the Niagera frontier under Captain Duncan Cameron, as
senior captain; Captain Heward and Captain Selby from
East Gwillimbury were with us, and among the subalterns
were MfLean, G. Ridout, S. P. Jarvis, Stanton, and myself!
We were stationed at Brown’s Point, between Niagara and
Queenston, and had two batteries in charge, the men being
drilled in the use of the guns by a bombardier of the Royal
Artillery.  The Americans were concentrating their forces at
Fort Niagara and Lewiston, and evidently intended to invade
the province somewhere on that line.

On the night of the 12th October 1812, they began crossing

- at Queenston, and were met by the small force that could be
hastily collected, our main regular force being quartered in
Fort George® The York volunteers, being near the point
of attack, were early engaged.

‘What follows now is from a letter written by my
father the day ~{ter the battle.

The rough of this letter, with alterations and
erasures, as he had first written it, was found among
his papers, endorsed “ Account of the Battle of
Queenston, written at the time,” and although the
rough does not show to whom it was addr.ssed, it
was most probably written to Dr. Strachan.3

! Most of the above officers had been my father's schoolfellows aut
Cornwall. .

2 Fort George, Niagara, was about seven miles from Queenston.

3 A fair copy of this rough, with some slight alterations and additinns;
wis found among the papers of Mr. Thomas Ridout, but without any clue
to the writer or to whom it was written, and was published by Lady
Edgar in “Ten Years of Upper Canada in Peace and War, 1805-15."
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The letter has the interest of being the story of a
young officer engaged in the fight—his first serious
battle—and of having been penned when every event
was fresh in his memory, and the emotions aroused
were still keenly felt; so, with the exception of a few
lines of no importance, I have given it, though long,
in extenso.

Browx’s Poixt, October 14, 1819,

My DpEaR Sin,—The affair of yesterday terminated so
gloriously for this province, and does so much honour to its
spirited defenders, that I hasten to give an account to you,
whom I know to be most warmly interested in the present
cause of our country.

I am anxious to detail to you the particulars, because I
know your heart will glow with fervour at our success, while
it feelingly and sincerely laments the pricc at which it was
purchased.

Few things occurred which I had not an opportunity of
observing, and what I did see, from its novelty, its horror,
and its anxiety, made so awful an impression on my mind,
that I have the picture of it all fresh and perfect in my
imagination.

About half-an-hour before daylight yesterday morning (the
18th of October, Tuesday), being stationed at one of the
batteries between Fort Gecrge and Queenston, I heard a heavy
cannonade from Fort Grey on the American side, situate on
the height of the mountain, and commanding the town of
Queenston.  The motions of the enemy had, for a few days
previously, indicated an intention to attack. The lines had
been watched with all the vigilance that our force rendered
possible, and so great was the fatigue which our men underwent
from want of rest and exposure to the inclement weather which
had just preceded, that they welcomed with Joy the prospect
of a field which would be decisive, and set them more at case
for the future. Their spirits were high, and their confidence
in the General unbounded.

Our’party, which was merely an exira guard during the

c
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night, returned to Brown’s Point, our main station, which is
about two miles in a direct line from Queenston.

From our battery there we had the whole scene most dis-
tinctly in our view. Day was just glimmering. The cannon
from both sides roared incessantly, shells were bursting in the
air, and the side of the mountain above Queenston was illumined
by the continual discharge of small arms. The las: circum-
stance convinced us that some part of the enemy had landed:
and in a few moments, as day advanced, objects became visible,
and we saw numbers of Americans in boats attempting to land
upon our shore, amidst a shower of shot of ail descriptions,
which was skilfully and incessantly levelled at them.

No orders had been given to Captain Cameron, who
commanded our detachment of York Jfilitia, what conduct
to pursue in case of an attack at Queenston; and as it had
been suggested to him that, in the event of a landing being
attempted there, the enemy would probably, by various attacks,
endeavour to distract our force, he hesitated at first whether it
would be proper to withdraw his men from the station assigned
them to defend. He soon saw, however, that every exertion
was required in aid of the troops engaged above us,and resolved
to march us immediately to the scene of action.

On our road, General Brock passed us. He had galloped
from Niagara in great haste,! unaccompanied by his aide-de-
camp or a single attendant. He waved his hand 1o us, and
desired us to follow with expedition, and galloped on with full
speed to the mountain. Lieutenant-Colonel Macdonell and
Captain Glegg passed immediately after. .

At the time the enemy began to cross there were two com-
panices of the 49th Regiment(the Grenadier and Light Company)
and, I believe, three small companies of Militia to oppose them.

Their recej tion was such as did honour to the courage
and managemeat of our troops. The grape and musket balls,
poured upon them at close quarters as they approached the
shore, made incredible havoe. A single discharge from a field-
piece directed by Captain Dennis himself (the captain of the
49th Grenadiers) killed fifteen in one boat.

¥ About seven miles.
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Three of their batteaux landed at the hollow below Mr.
Hamilton’s garden in Queenston, and were met by & party of
Militia, who slaughtered almost the whole of those in them,
taking the rest prisoners. Several other boats were so shattered
and raked that the men in them threw down their arms, and
came on shore merely to deliver themselves up prisoners of
war.

Thus far, things had proceeded successfully; and the
General, on his approach to the spot, was greeted with the
happy intelligence that all our aggressors were destroyed or
taken. As we advanced with our company we met troops of
Americans on their way to Fort George under guard, and the
road was lined with miserable wretches, suffering under wounds
of all descriptions, and crawling to our houses for protection
and comfort,

The spectacle struck us, who were unused to such heart-
rending scenes, with horror; but we hLurried to the place, im-
pressed with the idea that we had conquered, and that the
business of the day was done.

Afresh brigade of four beats had just then crossed, and our
troops, who had been stationed on the mountain, were ordered
down to dispute their landing. No sooner had they descended
than the enemy appeared in force above them. They had
probably landed before the rest, while it was yet dark, and
had remained concealed by the rough crags of the mountain.
They possessed themselves instantly of our battery on the
height.

General Brock rushed up the mountain on foot with some
troops to dislodge them; but they were so advantageously
posted, and kept up so tremendous a fire, that the small
number ascending were driven back.

The General then rallied the men, and was proceeding up
the right of the mountain to attack them in flank, when he
received a ball in Lis breast. Several of the 49th assembled
round him. One poor fellow was severed in the middle by a
ball, and fell across the General. They succeeded, however,
in conveying the Generals bedy to Queenston.

Just at this instant we reached Queenston.  We were
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halted a few moments in JMr. Hamiltons garden, where we
were exposed to the shot from the American battery at Fort
Grey and two field-pieces directly opposite us, and also to an
incessant fire of musketry from the side of the mountain.
One of our poor fellows had his leg shot off in the renks
by a ball which carried away the whole calf of another
lad’s leg.

In a few minutes we were ordered to advance to the
mountain. The nature of the ground and the galling fire
prevented any kind of order in ascending. We soon scrambled
to the top, at the right of the battery which the Americans
had gained, and were in some measure covered by the woods.
There we stood, and gathering the men as they advanced,
formed them into line; the fire was too hot to admit of delay.
Scarcely more than fifty were collected, of whom about thirty
were of our company, headed by Captain Cameron and three
of our subalterns. The remainder were the 49th, commanded
by Captain Williams.

Licutenant-Colonel Macdonell was there, mounted, and
animating the men to charge, seconded with great spirit and
valour by Captain Williams. But the attempt was unsuccess-
ful, and must have been dictated rather by a fond hope of
regaining what had been lost by a desperate effort than by
any conviction of its prqct:cquhty The enemy were just in
front, covered by bushes and logs, and were three or four
hundred in number. They perceived us forming, and at about
thirty yards® distance fired.

Colonel Macdonell, who was on the left of our party, most
heroically calling upon us to advance, received & shot in his
side, and fell. H s horse was the same instant killed.
Captain Williams, who was at the other extremity of our
small band, fell the nex# instant, apparently dead. The re-
mainder of our men discharged their picces, and retired down
the mountain. Licutenant M‘Lean? was wounded in the thigh,
and Captain Cameron, in his attempt to save Colonel Mac-
donell, exposed himself to a shower of musketry, which he
most miraculously escaped. He succeeded in bearing off his

1 Afterwards Chief-Justice M<Lean.
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friend ; and Captain Williams recovered from the wound in
his head in time to make his escape down the mountain.

This happened about ten o’clock. Our forces rallied about
a mile below. . . . General Sheaffe, with the 41st from Fort
George, about 300 in number, came up soon after with the
field-pieces and Car Brigade! All the force that could be
mustered was collected, and we marched through the fields
back of Queenston, ascended the mountain on the right, and
remained in the woods in rear of the enemy till intelligence
was gained of their position. During this time, the Americans
were constantly landing fresh troops unmolested, and carrying
back their dead and wounded in their return boats.

About three o’clock, General Sheaffe advanced through the
woods towards the battery on the mountain, with the main
body and the field guns on the right: the Mohawk Indians,
under Captain Norton, and a Niagara Company of Blacks,
procecded along the brow of the mountain on the left; and
our company of Militia, with the Light Company of the 49th,
broke through in the centre.

In this manner we rushed through the woods to our en-
camping ground on the mountain, which the enemy had
occupied. The Indians were the first in advance. As soon
as they perceived the enemy they uttered their terrific war-
whoop, and commenced a most destructive fire, rushing rapidly
upon them. Our troops instantly sprang furvward from all
quarters, joining in the shout.

The Americans stood a few moments, gave two or three
general volleys,and then fled by hundreds down the mountain.
At that moment, Captain Bullock, with 150 of the 41st and
two Militia flank companies, appeared advancing on the road
from Chippewa. The consternation of the enemy was com-
plete. . . .

They had no place to retreat to, and were driven by a
furious and avenging foe, from whom they had little mercy to
expect, to the brink of the mouniain which overhangs the
river. They fell in numbers. . . . Many leaped down the

! The * Car Brigade” of Artillery was largely composed of farmers’
sons who had volunteered to horse the guns with their draught horses.
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side of the mountain to avoid the horrors which pressed upon
them, and were dashed to pieces by the fall.

A white flag was observed, and with the utmost difficulty
the slaughter was suspended. Two officers who brought it
were conducted up the mountain to General Sheaffe. A ces-
sation of hostilities for three days was agreed upon.

Thus ended the business of this day, so important and so
interesting in its occurrences to the inhabitants of this pro-
vince. The invasion of our peaceful shores has terminated in
the entire destruction of their army and the total loss of every-
thing brought over.

The number of Americans landed is unknown, and cannot
be easily ascertained by us, but we know that we have taken
nearly, or perhaps quite, 1000 prisoners, with more than fifty
officers, undoubtedly their bravest and best. Still we have
much to sorrow for. Qur country has a loss to deplore which
the most brilliant success cannot fully atone for. That General
who had led our little army to victory, whose soul was wrapped
up i car prosperity, and whose every energy was directed to
the defence of our country, is now shrouded in death.

Who will not sympathise in another misfortune nearly
related to this. . . . That heroic young man,! the constant atten-
dant of the General, strove to support to the last a cause which
should never be despaired of, but he was not destined to witness
its triumph. I have mentioned the manner of his death. His
career was short, but honourable; his end was premature and
full of glory. He will be buried at the same time with the
General. . . .

Our company of volunteers suffered considerably. One
man was killed, and eleven wounded, most of them badly. But
all these, though melancholy circumstances, are the inevitable
consequences of war; and grateful should the inhabitants of
this province be to Heaven if, by a sacrifice of some of its
gallant defenders, it can save itself from unjust aggression, and

! Refers to Lieutenant-Colonel Macdonell, A.D.C. to Genersi Brack,
who survived the mortal wound he had received for about t\rmt\-ﬁmr
hours only, and in this interval a mail arrived from Englind which
Iérour:h{: out the King's confirmation of his appointment to be Attorney-

enera
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preserve to our Mother Country a possession which has ever
been the object of its affection.

Our troops will have received fresh courage from their
victory, and the cool though determined and vigorous conduct
of General Sheaffe,' and the gallant behaviour and spirited
exertions of every officer under his command on ths ', occasion,
claim from us every confidence in the anticipation of the future.

The above concludes the account of the Battle of
“ Queenston,” or * Queenston Heights,” as it is often
called® I continue now from my father's memo-
randa, &ec. :—

Two days afterwards I was sent with a guard of the York
Militia, commandec by Major Allan, on board one of our
armed vessels, with a number of prisoners, to Toronto and
Kingston on their way to Quebec.

Colonel, now Lieutenant-General, Scott—the present Com-
mander-in-Chief ® of the United States Army—was among them,
and Captain Wool, now General Wool ; and, as crossing Lake
Ontario was not then the business of a few hours, but generally
took an indefinite time, from two days to ten, we became very
well acquainted.

We had a tedious passage, being several times driven back
by westerly winds. When we came to the wharf at Niagara
many of my friends were there to meet us, and I was warmly
congratulated upon “my appointment.” I could not imagine
what my good fortune was, but thought I might possibly have
been made a captain, which would have astonished me not a
little. They soon astonished me much more by informing me
that in my absence I had been made Acting Attorney-General
in the place of my late master, Colonel Macdonell, whom I had

! Whatever may have been the mistakes or shortcomings of General
Sheaffe on othcr occasions in this war, he showed vigour 'md determina-
tion at this crisis, and for his services was created a baronet.

*In the official Army List, and on the colours of regiments, the
spelling is  Queenstown.”

3 (‘cuer’ﬂ Scott was Commander-in-Chief of the United States Army
from 1841 to 1861, and died in 1866.
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seen fall at the head of our Militia after General Brock had
been killed.

I was then but a few weeks over twenty-one years of age,
and was only a law student, though entitled to be called to the
Bar, my five years being just completed.

I may add to my father’s account, given in the
preceding pages, of the campaign of 1812, that at the
interment of General Brock and Lieutenant-Colonel
Macdonell at Fort George on the 16th October, he
was one of the pall-bearers of Licutenant-Colonel
Macdonell.

Afterwards, on 18th October 1824, he was pre-
sent at the removal of their remains to the monu-
ment erected upon Queenston Heights, and on 30th
July 1840 took a prominent part in the meeting held
for the purpose of rebuilding that monument, which
had been partially destroyed by some criminal hand.

It may be mentioned here, too, that nearly half a
century after the events of 1812, he was (on 7th July
1860) deputed by the survivors of the war to present
their address of welcome to the Prince of Wales on
his arrival in Canada.

In the advance from York to Detroit some very
hard work was entailed upon the small body of
regulars and Militia, of which my father formed one.

In the journey by water from Long Point to
Ambherstburg, it was only after five days of excessive
exertion, in open boats, in hot, windy, and rainy
weather, and proceeding constantly by night, that
they reached the latter place.

Referring to the volunteer company he was with,
my father says :—

This body of men consisted of farmers, mechanics, and
gentlemen, who, before that time, had not been accustomed
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to any exposure unusual with persons of the same description
in other countries. 7They marched on foot, and travelled in
boats and vessels, nearly 600 miles, in going and returning,
in the hottest part of the year, sleeping occasionally on the
ground, and frequently drenched with rain; but not a man
was left behind in consequence of illness.!

And writing in his Diary many years afterwards
(7th April 1851) on a Jjourney from Simcoe to Port
Dover, he says :—

I noticed about g quarter of a mile before we reached
Dover an old painted farmhouse in which we spent two or
three days in 1812 (waiting for General Brock’s arrival), our
men being quartered in the barn of old Winant Williams, the
farmer who owned the house.

How few are alive now—General Brock, Colonel Nichol,
Colonel Macdonell, Major Salmond, my poor brother, Captain
Heward, Richardson, Jarvie—all gone; but there is the old
farmhouse with its comfortless-looking porch and dilapidated
gates looking not very different from what it did then.

General Brock thus testifies to the spirit with
which these troops met the call made upon them :—

In no instance hav: I seen troops who would have endured
the fatigues of a long journey in boats with greater cheerful-
ness and constancy, and it is but justice to the little band to
add that their conduct throughout excited my admiration.

In General Brock’s orders of 16th August 1812,
after the surrender of Fort Detroit, Captain Heward,
in whose company my father was serving, and Captain
Peter Robinson were both desired to assure the officers
and men under their command that their exertions
“had been duly appreciated, and would never be for-
gotten”; and in General Sheaffe’s despatch of 13th
October 1812 my father was mentioned by name as

! From ‘“ Cauada and the Canada Bill » (1840).
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having at the battle of Queenston Heights “led his
men into action with great spirit.”

Major Richardson, in his History of the War,
describing the entry into Fort Detroit, after the ar-
rangements for its surrender had been made, says :—

A guard of honour consisting of an officer and forty men
were immediately formed to take possession of the fort. The
command of this devolved upon the officer who had led the
advanced guard, Lieutenant Bullock, and among those of the
Militia who were attached to his party, and had first the
honour of entering the fortress, were the present Chief-Justice
Robinson, Samuel Jarvis, Esquire, Superintendent of Indian
affairs, and Colonel William Chisholm of Oakville. . . .

The American flag was lowered, and a Union Jack, which
a blue-jacket had brought with him, hoisted in its place.

In his account of the Battle of Queenston
Heights he thus mentions my father:

Again, on this occasion was the present Chief-Justice
Robinson conspicuous for his zeal and gallantry.

In the absence of his captain (Heward) who was upon
leave, he commanded the Second Flank Company during the
whole of the day. He consequently bore a prominent part in
the engagement, from the moment when ke arrived at early
dawn from Brown’s Point, where he was stationed with No. 1—
or Captain Cameron’s—Company, to the late hour in the after-
noon, when victory finally perched on the British standard.

Colonel W. F. Coffin also, in his ¢ Chronicle of
the War of 18127 thus alludes to him :—

The British had been exasperated by the fatal event of the
morning (the death of Brock). The men of Lincoln and the
“brave York volunteers,” with Brock on their lips and revenge
in their hearts, had joined in the last desperate charge, and
among the foremost—foremost ever found!—was John Beverley
Robinson. His light, compact, agile figure, handsome face,
and eager eye, were long proudly remembered by those who
had witnessed his conduct on the field.
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The Colours of the 4th Regiment United States
Infantry, which were in a room in Fort Detroit in
which four American officers had been killed by the
fire of the batteries from the Canadian bank of the
river, were formally handed over by the officer com-
manding that regiment to Lieutenant Bullock.

At Queenston Heights one Colour was captured.

The subsequent history of these Colours will be
of interest to Canadian readers.

General Brock, writing to Sir George Prevost,
says that he sends to him, by Captain Glegg his
A.D.C., “the Colours taken at Detroit, and those
of the 4th Regiment United States Infantry,”? and
by Sir George they were sent to England by his
A.D.C. Captain Coore.

They were first deposited in the Chapel Royal,
Whitehall, whence, in 18385, they were transferred,
with the Eagles and other trophies in that chapel,
to the Royal Hospital at Chelsea.

The Colour taken at Queenston Heights, which
belonged to a regiment of New York Militia, was
sent to England by Sir George Prevost, in charge
of his A.D.C., Captain Fulton, and is thus described
by the Quebec Blercury of November 1812 :—

It is made of blue, or purple-coloured changeable silk,
about & yard and a half square, with the arms of the United
States on one side, and those of New York? on the other—
both surrounded by a circle of stars.

This Colour also was first deposited in the Chapel

! General Brock’s despatch to Sir George Prevost, August 17, 1812.
Probably there was a Fort Standard as well as the Colours of the 4th
Lnited States Infantry. See footnote, page -t

? The American Eagle perched upon the globe, above a shield showing
the sun rising over water. ~ Supporters at each side of the shield, one with
acap of liberty. Motto, “ Excelsior.”
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Royal in Whitehall, and thence transferred to
Chelsea.

The above Colours are still in the Royal Hospi-
tal, Chelsea, having been recently restored as far as
possible. During the three years (1895-98) that I
was Lieutenant-Governor and Secretary of the Hos-
pital I saw them constantly, one of them in good
preservation hanging close to my pew.

That taken at Queenston, and one Colour (the
National) of the 4th United States Infantry form the
subject of a plate in “Naval and Military Trophies”
by William Gibb and Richard Holmes. Much of
the silk of the former has disappeared, but the Arms
on each side are in good preservation.

When in England in 1815 my father saw them,
with others, in the Chapel Royal, Whitehall, and
thus alludes to them in his Journal (24th November
1815):—

Here (.. in the Chapel Royal), on the west side, is the
Colour taken from the Americans at Queenston, placed by
them on our battery when they gained possession of it just
before Brock fell,

It was taken by a private militiaman of one of the Chippewa
companies in our advance under Sir Roger Sheaffe in the after-
noon, and presented to him on the field. I saw him with it
round him on the field. I have heard tlat the gallant fellow
who seized it on the battery while the enemy were yet there
was suffered to remain unrewarded.

Next this Standard are three Ensigns of Fort Detroit, and
on the opposite side is the small Ensign of Fort Niagara.!

! Evidently from this, and the wording of General Brock's despatch
to Sir G. Prevost of August 17, 1812, the two Colours of the 4th
Regiment United States Infantry were not the only ones sent to England
from Detroit. The Ensign of Fort Niagara was forwarded to England by
Colonel Murray, in charge of Mr. Brampton, his staff officer. 1t cannot
now be identified with certainty among the flugs which hang in the Royal
Hospital, Chelsea.
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It may easily be imagined that my feclings were quite alive
to the most pleasing reflections on viewing four Standards, out
of five which I had seen taken from the enemy, deposited
among the trophies of the most splendid victories of modern
times, ranged with the Eagles and tri-coloured flags of France.
+ « - Alas! poor Brock, how much thy country owes thee.

The  Articles of Capitulation” of Fort Detroit,
signed by Brock and Hull, and which had been
preserved among General Brock’s papers, were, many
years after these events, presented to my father
by Mr. Ferdinand Brock Tupper, author of “The
Life of Brock,” and are now in the possession of my
brother Christopher.

The following extract is from a letter from Dr.
Strachan to my father, then on the N lagara frontier,
shortly before the battle of Queenston Heights :(—

Yorxk, September 16, 1812.
Dear Joux,—I have been much gratified with the general
reputation which you have obtained as an excellent officer. It
is an earnest to me that you will be first in your profession,
as soon as you are admitted to the Bar. At present you do
well to turn all your attention to excelling in your duty as an
officer, and you will find your reward. . . .

Yours affectionately,  Jomy Srracmax.

My father closed what may be termed his military
career after the battle of Queenston Heights.

Many varied incidents of war had been seen by
him by the time he was but little over twenty-one
years of age.

He bad taken an active part in the defeat of
two invasions of Upper Canada, been present at
the capture of a fortress with £40,000 worth of
prize, and been escort on two oceasions to sur-
rendered officers of rank and prisoners of war.
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The chances of war had led, through the taking
in a sea fight of one civil chief, and the lamented
death in battle of another, to his appointment to the
vacant post of Attorney-General of Upper Canada.

It was a very exceptional experience ; and it must
be also exceptional that in Canada, within thirteen
years, viz., between 1828 and 1841, seven judges ' were
sitting on the Bench, all of whom had seen fighting
in the Revolutionary War, or in that of 1812-1815,
and two of them had been severely wounded.

These were Sir William Campbell, Judge Boulton,
Sir J. B. Robinson, Sir J. B. Macaulay, Chief-Justice
M<Lean, Judge Jones, and Judge Hagerman.

In fact, almost the whole Bench in Upper Canada
at that time, and many members of the Bar, may be
said to have received a training in war.

It has been considered by some that the capture
of Fort Detroit was, at best, an instance of extra-
ordinary good fortune, crowning a desperate venture.

In short, that the advance against the fort was
an act of such audacity and rashness, when the
position and strength of the opposing forces are
compared, that it hardly deserved the success which
attended it, and was a risk scarcely justified.

Fort Detroit was a regular work, of solid con-
struction, covering about an acre of ground. It
had four bastions, the whole being surrounded by
palisades and a deep ditch. The parapets were
some twenty feet high.

It was armed with thirty-three picces of brass
and iron ordnance of varlous calibres, including
several 24-pounders, and garrisoned—in the work.

1 Four of these became Chief-Justices.
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town, and camp around it—by a force of some 2500
men, which consisted partly of regulars, and was
commanded by a general cfficer of experience in
the field.

To advance, in broad daylight, against a fortress
so garrisoned, and unbreached by artillery, with a
mixed force of 700 regulars and Bilitia and 600
undisciplined Indians may appear, at first sight,
almost Quixotic.

Nevertheless, to view it in this light is unjust
to the reputation of Brock.

His resolution to advance and demand the sur-
render of Fort Detroit is a proof not alone of his
courage, but also of his penetration and correct grasp
of the situation in which he was placed. He showed.
in fact, those qualities which combine tc make a great
leader as well as a determined soldier.

My father says? as to this:—

. « - It has, I know, Sir, in the many vears that have
elapsed, been sometimes objected that General Brock’s courage
was greater than his prudence—that his attack on Fort Detroit,
though it succeeded, was most likely to have failed, and was
therefore injudicious.

Those who lived in Upper Canada while these events were
passing can form a truer judgment. They know that what to
some may seem rashness was, in fact, prudence: unless, indeed,
the defence of Canada was to be abandoned.

And at the moment when the noble soldier fell (alluding to
Queenston), it is true that he fell in discharging a duty which
might have been committed to a subordinate hand . . . but
he felt that hesitation might be ruin: that all depended upon
his example of dauntless courage, of fearless self-devotion.

It is true his gallant course was arrested by a fatal wound—

| such s the fortune of war; but the people of Canada did not

1 Speech at Queenston Heights on 30th J uly 1240.
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feel that his precious life was thrown away, deeply as they
deplored his fall.

In later periods of the contest it sometimes happened that
the example of Brock was not very closely followed. It was
that cautious calculation, which some suppose he wanted,
which decided the day against us at Sackett’s Harbour; it
was the same cautious calculation which decided the day at
Plattsburg; but no monuments have been erected to record
the triumphs of those fields. It is not thus that trophies
are won.

General Brock’s published letters® show that, for
many months before the outbreak of the war, he had
been urging the importance of retaining possession of
the Detroit district.

On February 12, 1812, he writes to Sir George
Prevost :—

I set out with declaring my full conviction that unless
Detroit and Michilimackinac be both in our possession im-
mediately at the commencement of hostilities, not only the

district of Amherstburg, but most probably the whole country
as far as Kingston, must be abandoned. . . .

When, therefore, in consequence of Hull’s in-
vasion, he hurried to Detroit, it can be seen that
he looked upon the expulsion of the enemy as a
vital matter.

The situation was critical. Delay almost certuinly
meant failure, for while he himself could look for no
immediate addition to his strength, large American
reinforcements were but a few marches off.

2 success, on the other hand, would rouse the
spirit and confidence of the country, decide the al-
legiance of the Indians, confirm the wavering, and
overawe the disloyal. Everything depended upon

1 ¢4 Life of Sir Isaac Brock,” by F. B. Tupper, 1847.
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prompt action. It must be remembered that Brock
had much to fear from disaffection, especially in the
western district. On 8rd February 1812, he writes :
“The great influence which the settlers from the
United States possess over the decisions of the Lower
House is truly alarming.” Some measures also, in-
troduced by Brock himself and urged on that House
for the safety of the province, had been thrown out.
Colonel George Denison, in an address delivered at
Toronto on 17th April 1891, has well emphasised this
point.

At this juncture, he became aware, from inter-
cepted letters and despatches, that General Hull was
disappointed at not having been received with open
amms by the inhabitants generally, and nervous as to
the safety of his communications ; that he had be-
come dispirited to the extent of fear, and had lost
the confidence of both officers and men. -

Under such circumstances it was certainly not
rashness, but genuine prudence, which determined
Brock to first demand the surrender of the fort,
and then move boldly towards it.

Many leaders would have shrunk from this re-
sponsibility. There can be no question that, had he
failed, the movement would then have been con-
demned as rash to culpability; and, so far as his
personal reputation was concerned, it is not too
much to say that he was less likely to suffer in the
opinion of his superiors by avoiding than by accept-
ing such a risk.

But no such considerations swayed him, and
from his own letters given below, we learn why he
crossed the Dectroit River, and that it was with no
mtention of running his head blindly against the

D
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ramparts of Fort Detroit, though circumstances, after
he had crossed, determined him to assault the fort
itself, combining with this an attack by the Indians
upon the camp adjoining it.

As he had anticipated, Hull surrendered before
the assault was delivered, and it is more than pro-
bable that had that General awaited the assault, the
same despondency which this pusillanimous surrender
shows to have existed, would have made his resist-
ance a feeble and a vain one.

Major-General Brock to Sir George Prevost.!

Heapquanters, DeTrorr,
August 17, 1812.

-« - I crossed the river with the intention of awaiting in a
strong position the ¢ffect of our force upon the enemics camp,
and in the hope of compelling him to meet us in the
field ;2 but receiving information upon landing that Colonel
MeArthur,® an officer of high reputation, had left the garrison
three days before with a detachment of 500 men, and hear-
ing soon afterwards that his cavalry had been seen that
morning three miles in our rear, I decided on an immediaie
attack.

Accordingly the troops advanced to within one mile of the
fort, and having ascertained thai the enemy had taken little or
no precaution towards the land side, I resolzed on an assault,
whilst the Indians penetraicd his camp.*

Brigadier-General Hull, however, prevented this movement
by proposing a cessation of hostilities for the purpose of
preparing terms of capitulation,

1 < Life of Sir Isaac Brock,” by F. B. Tupper.
2 In order to frec his communications and line of supplies, aud secure
their safety.
3 Second in command of the American Army.
@ ¥ The lines in italics have been placed so hy me to draw attention to
era.
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Major-General Broclk to his Brothers.:

Laxe Oxtarro, September 3, 1812.

You will have heard of the complete success which attended
the efforts I directed against Detroit. . . . Some say that
nothing could be more desperate than the measure; but I
answer that the state of the province admitted of nothing
but desperate remedies.

I got possession of the letters my antagonist addressed
to the Secretary at War, and also of the sentiments which
hundreds of his army uttered to their friends.

Confidence in the General was gone, and evident despond-
ency prevailed throughout. I crossed the river contrary to the
opinion of Colonel Proctor, . . . &c.; it is therefore no wonder
that envy should attribute to good fortune what, in justice to
my own discernment, I may say proceeded from a cool caleula-
tion of the pours et contres . . . Let me know, my dearest
brothers, that you are all again united. The want of union
was nearly losing this province without a struggle, and be
assured it operates in the same degree in regard to families.

It has always been felt, and rightly so, through-
out Canada that the success of the campaign of 1812
was due largely to what Sir James Macaulay termed
“the talismanic influence and ascendency of Brock
over his fellow-men—to the Nelsonian spirit that
animated his breast.”®

As to this, my father writes : 3—

I do most sincerely believe that no person I have ever seen
could so instantly have infused, under such discouraging cir-
cumstances, into the minds of a whole people the spirit which,

though it endured long after his fall, was really caught from
him.

The repulse of the first invasion of Upper Canada

1 ¢ Life of Sir Jsnac Brock,” by F. B. Tupper.
# Speech at Queenston Heights, 30th July 1840.
3 Letter to F. B. Tupper, Exq., 19th January 1846.
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at Detroit was due chiefly to the foresight, the energy,
and the correct judgment of General Brock; that of
the second invasion, at Queenston Heights, was due
very possibly to the example of his courage and the
resolution to avenge his death.

On this account, and because he gave his life for
his country, Brock will ever remain the hero of
Upper Canada.

A Dbrave soldier, an able leader, and a good man, who
honoured by his life and ennobled by his death the soil on
which he bled.t

1 W. F. Coffin, ¢‘ Chronicle of the War of 1812.”
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CHAPTER 1II
CLOSING YEARS OF THE WAR, 1813-15

(alled to the Bar—Appointed Acting Attorney-General—Duties during
the war—Situation in Canada—Legul questions arising, aud trials of
prisoners for ireason—His services acknowledged by Sir Gordon
Drummond—The Peace—Ceases to be Acting Attorney-General—
Becomes Solicitor-General—Determines to qualify for English Bar
—Armistice on the Niagara frontier—Letter from Dr. Strachan—
Further connection with the Militia—Occupation of York, 1813—
First legal opinion given by him—Exertions and privations of
Canadian silitia—Patriotism shown—>More knowledge of this war
desirable—Loyal and Patriotic Society—Ocecupations and amuse-
ments at York, 1813-14—Sir Frederick and Sir William Robinson
—Defensive measures advocated by my father—Importance of com-
mand of the Lakes—Letter of the Duke of Wellington-—Effect on
England and Canada of the Wars of the American Revolution,
1775-83, and of 1812-15—Letter from Sir Gordon Drummound
as to application for leave—Sails for England in the sloop-of-war
3El‘lm;zlimm,—-'l‘he voyage, cod fishing off the Banks— Journey to

ondon.

From my Fathers Memoranda.

I Hap not yet been called to the Bar, and could not be till
next term (Michaelmas 1812); but though I went over to
York then for that purpose, the few Benchers of the Law
Society were so occupied with military duties, and so dispersed
through the province, that there was no convocation.

In those days, when York (now Toronto), the seat of
Government, was but a small village, with scarcely 700 in-
habitants, there was not much to distract the attention of
law students; and those who did not read must have been
firmly resolved to be idle. I had read much less than I
should have done, but much more than I believe was usual,
and so had perhaps the reputation of being studious.

On the last day of Michaelmas term, 14th November, I
was called to the Bar by a special Rule of Court; but it was
not till Hilary term, 1815, “’h(zlgl the war was nearly concluded,
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and the Militia had been relieved by large reinforcements of
regular troops, that the Law Society resumed their usual
meetings with a legal quorum, and thenceforward there was
no interruption.

A statute was passed in 1815, which was drawn up by
the late Dr. Baldwin, for sanctioning what had been done
irregularly during the suspension, and preventing any injury
to those who had been unable to procure admission properly
as barristers or law students while the war was going on.
For the credit of the profession in thuse primitive days, all
ought to read this Act,! for it is a record honourable to the
men and boys of that time.

Sir Roger Sheaffe, who had succeeded Sir Isaac Brock in
the command and in the civil government, had made my
appointment (to be Acting Attorney-General) in my absence.
I had only seen him once as he passed our station on the
tiver, and again during the action at Queenston, and had no
acquaintance with him. When I waited upon him, which I
did the day I landed, he told me that he had placed me in
the office at the suggestion of Mr. Justice Powell, who was
an old and intimate friend of his.

From that time until the end of the war in 1815, I con-
tinued to be the only Crown officer in Upper Canada, the
Solicitor-General being still detained a prisoner at Verdun
in France.

In my first interview with Sir Roger ‘Sheaffe, I had a
case submitted to me rather formidable for a beginner, viz.,
whether the inhabitants of the Michigan Territory, which
was conquered when Hull and his army were taken, could
be compelled to render service to the British Crown as
militiamen while the war was still going on. It was the
first legal Opinion? I had been called upon to give.

The first brief I held in any case was at the Assizes at
York (Toronto) in March 1813, when, as Acting Attorney-
General, I preferred an indictment against one Shaw for
murder, who was properly acquitted.

1 See Appendix A., I
2 For this Opinion, see page 60.
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The conquest of the Michigan Territory gave rise to
various questions of public law respecting the duties and
rights of its inhabitants, in which the Government acted by
my advice,

During the war, as the military service went on and
difliculties accumulated, various doubts were started about
the exercise of martial law, statutes had to be framed to
meet the exigencies of the time, and military officers had to
be sustained in the Civil Courts against actions brought by
the inhabitants of the country for acts done, not always very
discreetly, under the pressure of the public service.

In all these defences I happily succeeded, and I have a
letter from General Sir Gordon Drummond acknowledging in
warm terms the nature of the services which I had rendered.}

In December 1812, the York Militia had been withdrawn
from the Niagara frontier. When spring came, the enemy,
having command of the Lakes, brought a large force to
Toronto, and succeeded in taking possession of it, which
they held for a few days, when they next attacked Fort
George at Niagara, which they also took, and established
themselves there, the British force falling back to St. Cathe-
rines, Through that summer and in the following year the
enemy held possession of a large portion of the Niagara
District. Some of the inhabitants (chiefly those who had
come in before the war from the United States) being
disaffected, gave “what assistance they could to the enemy,
comveying information, and aiding in plundering their loyal
neighbours.  Others enlisted in & corps that was raised for
the service of the ememy by a Mr. Willcocks (formerly, it
was said, an United Irishman), who was at the time one of
the members of the Assembly of Upper Canada, and who
was shot in the ranks of the enemy in an attack upon Fort
Erie.

General de Rottenburg, who succeeded Sir Roger Sheaffe
in the government of Upper Canada, had as many of the

I Referring, most probably, to a letter from Sir Gordon Drummong, of
2th March 1817, to the Under-Secretary of State for the Colonies, given
in Chapter V.
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traitors apprehended as could be got hold of; and after 1
had examined and reported on all the cases, Sir Gordon
Drummond, who became Governor in December 1813, directed
a special Commission to issue for their trial.

When I had made all the necessary preparations, and was
ready to proceed with the trials, Sir Gordon Drummond
became so strongly impressed by representations made to
him by military officers and others that it would be impos-
sible to obtain a conviction from juries of the country, and
was so perplexed with the difficulties which he imagined
must attend the proceeding with these trials while the enemy
occupied part of the same district, that he wrote to me ex-
pressing his conviction that it would be unwise to persevere,
and that the Commission must be abandoned, at least for
the present.

I remonstrated, stating the injurious effect this would
have upon public feeling, and venturing to assure him that
it was impossible the prosecutions could all fail. e allowed
the trials to proceed; and out of twenty-one prisoners tried
for high treason, seventeen were convicted aupon the clearest
evidence.!

In these trials there were no Crown officers to assist me,
I had no one to share the responsibility with me of Public
Prosecutor, and the enemy were all the time in possession
of a part of the district in which the Court sat. I mention
it as a curious fact that, so far as my department as Attorney-
General was concerned, the whole expense to the Government
was, I think, about £450. What would have been the cost
in England ?

Thus by the ordinary course of law, by the result of fair and
legal trial by juries of the country, in which the defendants
had all those opportunities and advantages of defence which
the law, peculiarly indulgent in such cases, has provided for
them, the Government were enabled to make those examples
which completely secured the province against treason and

* Kingsford, in his ““’listory of Canada,” vol. viii. p. 471, gives the
names of eight of these prisoners in whose cases the extreme penalty of
the law was carried out.
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rebellion during the remainder of the war, and which it was
very generally imagined and imprudently asserted could only
be effected by the exercise of less constitutional jurisdiction.

Executions of traitors by martial law would have had
comparatively little influence; the people would have con-
sidered them as arbitrary acts of vengeance, but would not
have acknowledged them as the natural effects of justice.

Peace came in 1815, and we had happily got well through
all difficulties. The Solicitor-General had obtained his liberty
and returned from France to England. The Government in
England, very justly, promoted him to be Attorney-General,
and made me Solicitor-General,! my appointment as Attorney-
General having been only provisional and temporary. I was
not yet in the Legislature, no election having occurred since I
became of age; and, desiring to see England, and to free
myself from the disadvantages of a rule, which was said then
to prevail in the Colonial Office, to appoint no one to be
Attorney-General, or Chief-Justice, of a colony who was not
a member of the Baglish Bar, I obtained leave of absence
from Sir Frederick Robinson, who was then our Licutenant-
Governor, and went to England in September 1815, with the
intention of keeping as many terms in Lincolns Inn as my
leave would allow.

The Government kindly gave me as long a leave as they
could, and the Secretary of State extended it, so as to cnable
me to keep, I think, eight or nine terms at Lincoln’s Inn; but
Iwas obliged to return before I could complete twelve terms,
which was the requisite number, and I could not, at any rate,
have been called to the English Bar till I had been of five years’
standing in the books, though my twelve terms could have
been kept in three years. I thought myself fortunate in get-
ting so near the accomplishment of my object. The Secretary
of State was most indulgent in granting so long a leave, and
I'suppose was induced to do it by the letters which Sir Gordon
Drummond and Sir George Murray, under whom I had served,
wrote on my bebhalf.

! His commission as Solicitor-General is dated February 6, 1815.
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An armistice of thirty days upon the Niagara
frontier was agreed to, after the battle of Queens-
ton Heights, but at its conclusion the war was
resumed, though the campaign for that year was
virtually over.

On returning to the army (after escorting the
prisoners to Kingston), and being informed of his
appointment to be Acting Attorney-General of the
Upper Province, my father appears not to have gone
back to York, with a view to being called to the
Bar, as promptly as was expected.

Dr. Strachan writes to him :—

York, November 9, 1812.

Dear Joun,—All your friends are astonished that you
have not come over to the term in order to be admitted to
the Bar. Not being aware of what may have detained you,
I doubt not but you have a satisfactory reason. My object
in writing is to request you to get leave of absence instantly,
and come over with the first vessel. Do not delay a moment
for baggage. You have no time to lose, as the term is nearly
expired. . . .

We are all well, and salute you affectionately,

Joux SrracHAN.

After proceeding to York, my father wrote thus

to General Sheaffe :—
December 12, 1812.

In the flank company of Miliua to which I belong, thee
are two subaltern officers, besides myself: and, if I should be
ordered to remain here, may I be suffered still to retain my
commission, so that I shall have some certain character to
appear in, when any particular occasion. shall call for the assist-
ance of all.

He was evidently instructed to take up his civil
duties as Attorney-General, though he apparently
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retained his commission in the Militia force. He
was gazetted captain, 25th December 1812, 8rd
Regiment York Militia; major, 21st January 1820,
2nd Regiment York Militia; colonel, 1st January
1823, 2nd Regiment East York Militia. On March
11, 1813, his name appears in Militia orders as one
of a board of officers appointed “to examine into
and report on all claims for disbursements or for
services performed for militia purposes in the Home
and Niagara districts.”

Though he never again took the field, he witnessed
in 1813 the occupation Jf York, which was taken by
the enemy during the time when the American fleet
was superior on Lake Ontario.

On this occasion he accompanied Colonel Chewett
and Major Allan, who had been deputed by General
Sheaffe to make the best terms possible with the
United States officer in command.?

By the terms of the capitulaticn, the troops,
regulars and militia, at York, became prisoners of
war, and the Americuns secured all public stores,
naval and military.

Private property was to be respected, but this
condition was not duly observed, and some of the
public buildings were burnt to the ground.

For some time to come, my father’s duties and
occupations were more or less closely connected with
the war, though of a civil nature, and some of the
work which devolved upon him as Attorney-General
must have been onerous and perplexing for one so
young.

He has mentioned that the first legal opinion he

t “ Memoir of Bisho‘r: Strachan,” by Bishop Bethune, 1870, and
Kingsford’s ¢ History of Janada,” vol. viii., p. 259, &c.
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had to give was whether the inhabitants of the
Michigan Territory, which was conquered when
Hull and his avmy surrendered, could be compelled
to render military service against the United States
as militia while the war was still going on.

A rather curious point was here involved. In
the capitulation between Brock and Hull no mention
of the Michigan Territory was made, although the
proclamation issued by Brock, immediately after the
capitulation and on the same day, commences with
the words: “Whereas the Zerritory of Michigan
was this day by capitulation ceded to the arms of
His Britannic Majesty.”

My father’s opinion is thus recorded :—

December 22, 1812.

I am of opinion that they cannot. By the capitulation of
the 16th August 1812, Fort Detroit only, with the troops,
regulars as well as militia, were surrendered to the British
forces. The consequent proclamation issued by General Brock
does include the Mickigan Territory, but that is merely an
instrument ex parte, proceeding from the capitulation; and
whereas it contradicts it, it can have no effect.

He continued to take a great interest in every-
thing connected with the welfare of the Militia, whose
privations during the campaign of 1812 had been
great.

It has seldom been otherwise with our troops
when called upon, after many years of peace, to
enter upon a campaign. Arrangements for equip-
ment, clothing, and transport had to be hastily carried
out, and were far from satisfactory.

General Brock writes :—
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February 12, 1812.
I have not a musket more than will suffice to arm the active
part of the Militia from Kingston westward.

And on July 8rd—

The King’s stores are now at so low an ebb that they
scarcely furnish any article of use or comfort. Blankets,
haversacks, and ketties all to be purchased, and the troops,
when watching the banks of the river, stand in the utmost
need of tents,

Agaiv on July 12th—

The Militia assembled in a wretched state with regard to
clothing. Many were without shoes, an article which can
searcely be provided in the country. Should the troops have
to move, the want of tents will be severely felt.

The 2500 stand of small arms captured at Detroit
were of infinite value.

Friends in York, however, were not forgetful, and
did all they could on behalf of the soldiers.

Dr Jtrachan wrtes thus to my father while he
was stil! on the Niagara frontier :—

November 22, 1812,

My pEan Joax,—In consequence of a hint in the letters of
Mr. G. Ridout and Mr. Robert Stanton to their respective
fathers, the gentlemen of York met to-day in the church for
the purpose of subscribing towards the comforts of the Militia
belonging to this district on actual service, especially the flank
compan =s.

Our subscription, though not yet paid, amounts to £130,
and we wish your and Captain Heward’s advice how to dispose
of it for the most advantage of the men. Your brother,
Captain Robinson, thinks that the captains of the York
Militia should make 2 requisition upon the Quartermaster-
General for fannel sufficient to make two shirts for every one
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that wants them, and thread, &c., to make them up, together
with a pair of stockings for each, and we will supply the
captains with the amount. If there is any difficulty in making
them up, we can get it done here instantly. The Militia will
be much pleased when they know with what alacrity the sub-
scription proceeded.

To Lieut. Jonx B. Ropinsox, Brown’s Point, by Niagara.

In December 1812 the “XLoyal and Patriotic
Society of Upper Canada ” was formed in York.

Its original object was a double one :—

1. The aid and relief of the families of militiamen
in distress in consequence of the absence of husbands
and relations in defence of the province; and of
militiamen themselves, disabled in the service.

2. To reward merit and commemorate glorious
exploits by bestowing medals or other marks of dis-
tinction for extraordinary instances of courage or
fidelity shown by either the regular or militia forces.

Of this Society Chief-Justice Scott was president,
and the directors who attended the first meeting were
Judge Campbell, the Reverend Dr. Strachan, John
Small, William Chewectt, my father, William Allan,
Grant Powell, and Alexander Wood (secretary).

A report of the proceedings of this Society was
published in 1817.

It not only shows the liberality of the subscribers
to its funds, but details all the hard cases of ioss and
suffering relieved, with the estimated value of the
houses and property burnt or destroyed by the
Americans.

The Society was strictly a voluntary and private
one, and received no aid from Government funds.
Contributions came from England, Jamaica, Canads,
Nova Scotia, &e. Sir Gordon Drummond and Sir
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Roger Sheaffe sent liberal subscriptions, that of the
former bging especially so, viz., £500 (his prize money
for the capture of Niagara).

The Militia garrison at York
one day’s pay.

In all, £17,000 was collected.

After dealing with the cases of distress caused by
the war, the hospital in Toronto was built in 1820
with the balance remaining in hand. Here those
who had been wounded or lost their health in the
service, and many others, obtained relief.

Kingsford, in his History of Canada,” vol. viii.,
page 235, thus speaks of this Society, in the adminis-
tration of which my father took a great and active
interest :—

all ranks—gave

It is a source of pride and satisfaction to know that the
object to effect which the « Loyal and Patriotic Society ® was
formed was zealously, ably, and unceasingly kept in promin-
ence, and that the duties it entsiled were admirably performed.

Though 61 gold and 548 silver medals were struck
in England for this Society, they were, in the end,
never issued, both on aeccount of the difficulty of
selecting those to receive them, and because it was in
many quarters considered an undue assumption for a
private society to confer medals for public military
service, this pertaining to the sovereign alone,

The design and fate of these medals is given in
Appendix A, II

There was a determined resolution throughout
Canada to carry on the war, and every endeavour
| Was made to contribute to the comfort of the troops.
In an exhortation pronounced after the sermon,
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or rather in continuation of it, at York on 22nd
November 1812, Dr. Strachan says :—

The time for forbearance is now past, and we must come
forward with courage and alacrity. We must not be anxiously
inquiring for flags of truce, for conditions of peace, for respites
from the war, but we must prepare for the cvent. . . .

England expects all her children to do their duty. It is
ours, at this moment, to comfort those who are fighting our
battles and defending everything dear to us at the hazard of

their lives.

It has been justly said by more than one writer
upon the war of 1812-15 that the exertions and
patriotism of the Canadian Militia as a body have
never been properly understood beyond Canada.

The reason of this probably is, that at the time of
the war public attention in England, and in Europe
generally, was engrossed by the struggle with
Napoleon, and also that the sense of defeat upon
the American Continent caused in England by the
result of the War of Independence, and by certain
reverses or failures in 1813 and 181%, upon the
Lakes, at Plattsburg, and at New Orleans, was so
general, that it has led many to the very erroneous
impression that the whole war we are DOW alluding
to was, in some way or other, a reverse.

"Thus the victories of Detroit and Queenston in
1812 ; that of Chateauguay; the wonderful night
attack at Stoney Creek, one of the most successful
in history ; the repulse at Chrystler’s Farm ; the cap-
ture of Fort Niagara; the defeat of several separate
invasions of Canada; and the complete triumph in
the end of the British arms, have never met with
the general recognition which is their due.

What is much wanted is that the history of every
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portion of the Empire, and of how it has been built

up and maintained, should be made a special subject

of education in England and also in the Colonies.
My father, writing in England in 1839, says :—

It is often a subject of lamentation in the Colonies that so
little seems known in England of their actual condition, but I

doubt whether there is any reasonable ground for a complaint
on that score.

The people of this country, like their brethren in the
Colonies, probably study those things most which appear most
immediately and directly to concern them ;5 and, after all, I
daresay they know quite as much of us as we do of the British
Colonies in other quarters of the world.

Still, unquestionably, this is a branch of knowledge which
admits of being better cultivated.

It is admittedly, however, better cultivated now
than it was in 1839. In the sixty years which have
elapsed since the above words were written, a great
change has taken place. Colonial subjects are now
studied as they never were before: the affection
between England and her Colonies has deepened ;
their pride and interest in each other is increasing
day by day; and much is being done to cement
more closely the bonds which unite the Empire.
We may even go further now and hope for a time
when there will be a union, based upon mutual
respect, of the whole Anglo-Saxon race, though
serving under more than one flag.

During 1813 and 1814, my father’s name appears

| 35 one of the « Church Wardens and Town Wardens

of the Town of York.” Also, though more serious
occupations must, while the war was going on, have

b left him little time for the amusements natural to
| his age, the following memoranda, found among his

E
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papers, show that he shared in these, and acted
as one of the managers of the York Assemblies in

January 1814 :—
Subscription for the York Assemblies.
To be held once a fortnight.
The subscribers to meet at Gilbert’s, on Tuesday the 4th

inst., at 2 o'clock.
Military gentlemen stationed at York are permitted to
subscribe either for the night at 12/6 Halifax C¥ or for the

remainder of the season.
Subscribers are requested to call on Mr. J. Robinson, cne

of the managers, to pay the amount of the subscription, 10
dollars, and receive tickets for the season.!

Joux B. RopinsoN, }J funagers
Graxr Powerr, LA

A ball had been previously given (in December
1813) to the ladies and strangers of York, to cele-
brate the announcement of the capture of Niagara
by storm on 19th December 1813.

The names of the subscribers to these early enter-
tainments in Toronto may be of interest in Canada,
so are, together with some other details as to them,
given in Appendix A., 111

During the year 1814, peace having been made
with France, the British Government was able to
send out to Canada several of the regiments which
had fought under Wellington in Spain and the south
of France—a force amounting in all to about 16,000
men.

One of the brigades in this force was commanded
by General (afterwards Sir Frederick) Robinson ;* aud

1 The first Assembly was held at O'Keefe’s Tavern on Tuesday evening
11th January 1814, dancing commencing at seven o'clock.
% Seo Appendix B., 1L
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during the war hig brother, Commissary - Genera]
(afterwards Sir VViIliam) Robinson, hag charge of
the commissariat department for some time.

My father thus made the acquaintance of both
these sons of Colonel Beverley Robinson between
the years 1818 ang 1815 in Canada, and met them
on several occasions, receiving no little kindness from
them.

On the 24th December 1814, peace was, by the
Treaty of Ghent, signed between Great Britain and
the United States of America,

I will mention at this point, as it bears upon the
war, that my father, when in England in 1839, was
requested to put on Paper the measures which, from
his long acquaintance with the country, he considered
would most tend to give security and confidence to
Canada.

Writing then to Lord N ormanby, Secretary of
State for the Colonies, 29t} March 1839 (2.e., after
the experience of 1812-15 and of the occurrences at
Navy Island in the rebellion of 1837-38), he advo-
cated the following measures for defence :—

1. That to a moderate extent those naval establishments
should be restored upon the Lakes Huron, Erie, and Ontario.
which were continued for some time after the peace of 1815,
§ and which it will Probably never be safe to dispense with

. ’1 hereafter,

2. That the attention of the Government shoulq be given
| to forming & naval depét at Penetanguishene, on Lake Huron,
that being o Post which may be easily secured against attack,
f 20d to which there is how no difficulty, since the completion
of the Welland Canal, in transporting the heaviest stores by
water,

3. That there should be established certain strong posts
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in Upper Cunada, as depdts for arms and ammunition, in
which garrisons could be constantly kept sufficient to guard
them, and upon which the Militia could rally in case of in-
surrection or invasion. For instance, some points on the line
of the Rideau Canal, Kingston, Toronto, Burlington Heights,
London, Lundy’s Lane, Chatham, Penetanguishene, — small
garrisons being kept up at Niagara and Amherstburg.

4. That some colonial corps be raised for a long period
of service in the British North-American Colonies only.

5. That at some two points in the province guns and
artillery stores shall be kept sufficient for the defence of the
province against any sudden emergency—e.g. at Kingston and
Burlington Heights.

6. That whatever may be done in the establishment of
posts, erection of barracks, &c., shall be done in such a manner
as to prove that the Government is pursuing a deliberately
settled plan of defence, with the intention of maintaining the
dowminion of the Crown permanently. I meau by this that
mud forts and wooden barracks are not the description of
Gefonce caleulated to give confidence on one side or discourage
re ' =ss spirits on the other.

My father also says, in *“Canada and the Canada
Bill” (1840) :—

Fourteen or fifteen years ago, when the Duke of Wellington
was in office, he determined to erect a work in a commanding
position near the Niagara frontier, which would have included
an arsenal, and formed a raliying-point for the Militia of the
country. The site of the intended work was purchased, and
measures were in progress for commencing it; but a change
in the affairs of this country (England) led to an abandon-
ment of the design, and the land was relinquished to the
former owner. If such a defence, however limited in extent,
had been completed, and had been garrisoned by 200 men,
who could probably nowhere else have found a cheaper quarter,
the movement at Mavy Island (during the rebellion of 1837-33)
and its whole train of consequences would have been pre-
vented.
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Elsewhere (see chap. iv.), in connection with the
projected removal of the capital from York (Tor-
onto), he also touches upon the importance and
defensibility of York at this time.

Certainly one great lesson taught by the war, and
by the way in which success during it fluctuated with
the command of the Lakes, is the vital importance of
this command to Canada.!

In connection with this, the following letter from
the Duke of Wellington to Sir George Murray *
should never be lost sight of :—

To Lieutenant-General Sir George Murray, K.B.

Panis, 22nd December 1814.

- - - Whether Siz George Prevost was right or wrong in
his decision at Lake Chamvlain is more than I can tell, but
of this I am very certain, he must equally have retired to
Kingston, after our fleet was beaten, and I am inclined to
believe he was right.

Thave told the Ministers repeatedly that a naval superiority
on the Lakes is a sine qud non of success in war on the frontier
of Canada, even if our object should be solely defensive, and I
hope, when you are there, they will take care to secure it for
you.—DBelieve me, &c., ‘WELLINGTON.

Tt may be of interest to give my father’s opinion
as to the effects which the separation of the Ameri-
can Colonies from Great Britain in the Revolutionary
War, the war of 1812-15, and some other circum-

I am aware thut the maintenance of any men-of-war upon the Lakes
in time of peace is now regulated by treaty with the Unsted States; but,
notforgetting this, there is still much in the above suggestion deserving of
serious consideration now, having regard to the difficulty of securing the
passaze of gunboats through the canals and to the American establishments
on the Lake borders.

*“Despatches of the Duke of Wellington,” Gurwood, vol. xii., p. 224.
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stances, have had upon Canada, in respect more
especially to the maintenance and strengthening of
British connection.

Writing in 18389,' he says :—

By those who are sufficiently humble to believe in the exisi-
ence of a supérior intelligence, it is very frequently remarked,
as they pass through life, how much better matters have been
ordered for them by Providence than they wovld have been
ordered by themselves.

Let any one look attentively at the map of North America,
and mark what were once the possessions of Great Britain upon
that Continent, and what portion of them she still retains.
Then let him consider how frequently, and even within the
present century, historians and statesmen have lamented the
loss of those immense colonies (such as no nation ever before
possessed) which form now the Republic of the United States.
We hava heard by turns the policy condemned which led to
the revolt, and the military blunders deplored which rendered
it successful. . . .

But no one who desires that the British power should con-
tinue for ages to maintain its ground in North America can
now think these events unfortunate.

They (the Colonies) must soon have outgrown the conditions
in which they would have required protection; they have
already long outgrown it; and the conflicting interests of
trade, with the inconveniences which mere distance occasions
in the exercise of an actual superintendence, would sooner or
later have produced desires strong enough to overbear the
feelings of attachment and the sense of duty . . . more
especially in Colonies settled as these have been.

But is it not clear that if the event had been delayed, those
other possessions upon the American Continent which Great
Britain still retains would have become peopled with colonists
of the same description, and that when at last the struggle
came, all would have gone together ?

1 ¢ Canada and the Canada Bill,” written and published by him while
in England, 1839.
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If we admit, as X think we must, that the circumstance of
the older colonies having severed the connection at so early a
date has been in fact the means of saving the present British
provinces to the Mother Country, it is scarcely less certain that
the war of 1812, which was engaged in by the United States
mainly for the purpose of subjugating the Canadas, has
had the effect of binding them much more strongly to the
Crown.

Nor are these the only circumstances, supposed at the time
to be unfortunate, in which events have strongly tended to the
preservation of British power on that Continent (America).

Every one knows that at the conclusion of the American
Revolutionary War in 1783, by some strange mismanagement
of the British negotiators, there was ceded to the late American
Colonies not merely their independence, but with it an immense
region to which they had no claim—1I mean that Western and
North-Western territory which is now becoming the abode of
millions.

"This, too, has been reckoned a misfortune, but a little con-
sideration, I think, will convince us that, after all, it is not to
be regretted.

A country of such boundless extent, of such variety of
climate and pr-duction, to a great part of which the Mississippi
and not the St. Lawrence is the natural outlet, would hardly
have been maintained for a long period in dependence on the
British Crown.

- - - In the event of war, the territory would have been much
too remote 2 field for British forces to have acted in with effect,
for they would have been too distant from their resources,

-+ « Being divided from the United States by no natural
boundary, the amalgamation of a people speaking the same
language would long before this time have proceeded to such
an extent as to decide, almost silently, the question of country.

- -« I do really believe, therefore, that the Englishman
who desires that his country should retain a permanent footing
upon that Continent (America), and the British-American
colonist who earnestly hopes, as the bulk of them do, that the
connexion may continue while the British name lasts, have
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both of them reason to rejoice in the facts I have adverted to,
and to be more than contented that matters now stand pre-
cisely as they do. . . .

To pass on now from the subject of the war.
When, after the peace, Mr. Boultc.. returned to
Canada from his imprisonment in France, and was
appointed Attorney-General, relieving my father,
who was nominated to be Solicitor-General, from
the duties he had been provisionally performing,
the latter’s project of proceeding to Tngland for
the purpose of travelling and qualifying for the
English Bar was assisted in every way by Sir
Gordon Drummond, the Lieutenant- Governor of
Upper Canada, who wrote the following letter on
his behalf to Sir George Murray, then about to
succeed him as Lieutenant-Governor :—

Castre oF ST. Lous, Quenes, May 1, 1815,

My pear Sir Groner,—Allow me to introduce to your
favourable notice Mr. Robinson, the Solicitor-Generai in your
province, who is a young man of most exemplary character
and talents, that afford every prospect of his becoming both an
ornament to the province and a most zealous and able supporler
of the interests of the Crown.

. . . I should not have hesitated for 2 moment to have met
his views in regard to visiting England for the laadable purpose
of being there called to the Bar.

I shall therefore hope his application will meet your coun-
tenance and support, and I beg you will believe me to be, my
dear Sir George, your faithful and humble servant,

Gorpox DRuaMoXD.
Licut-General Sir Grorer Menray, G.C.B.

But though he then obtained leave of absence,
unexpected and urgent business delayed his depar-
ture, and it was not until some few months later

t he left Canada, with leave for six months from
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the Ist of September 1815, granted by Sir Frederick
Robinson, then Provisional Lxeutenant~Governor of
the Upper Province.

His voyage to England in the sloop-of-war
Morgiana, Captain Newton, in which he was given
a passage from Quebec to Portsmouth. was 1ema.1k-
able as being one of the fastest, if not the fastest.
ever made under sail.

While staying at Quebec waiting for a favour-
able wind, a violent contrary g gale hd\ ing set in, he
was assured that the Morgiana could not sail for
some length of time, but suddenly at night the wind
changed ; signal guns from the ship Imd failed to
attract attentxon a.nd in the morning he found that
the sorgiana had sailed without ‘um.

He had hurriedly to engage a pilot boat floating
in the stream, for £6, and follow the vessel to the
Brandy Pots, 38 leagues. where she would certainly
stop for wood.

We now quote largely from his journal.

Sunday, 24th September 1815.

-« - Mrs. Charles Stewart, the daughter of the late Donald
MLean of York, with her warm fxicnd}) heart, insisted on
putting into the boat some porter, wine, and bread and cheese;
the pilot had some warm clothes and provisions, and thus
without 2 mouthful of breakfast, and with a cold which made
it almost impossible for me to speak, I set out. The night
was not dark, but hazy and very cold. The old man :md I
steered by turns, as he required some sleep.

At length, after a run of about twelve hours, they
overtook a large ship anchored just at the entrance
of “The Travcrse, some 66 miles from Quebece, and
hailing her, found her to be the JMorgiana, but were
camed past her.
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They did not discover us until it was too late to throw out
a rope, and suci was the irresistible force of the tide that we
shot past her in an instant. We all took to cur oars, but it
was in vain; we were borne away rapidly, and our only course
was to run across to the nearest shore till the tide slackened.
We came to anchor about a mile out; the swell tossed our
little boat about prodigiously, and the cold was so great that
we could sleep but little. Just before daylight we renewed our
efforts. The wind had increased, and blew violently, but by
the help of the tide, which was now with us, we got on board
at daylight. My cold was much increased by my exposure,
and I slept badly. In the afternoon we made the Brandy Pots,
and came to anchor.

"The rest of his voyage was a prosperous one, and
with Captain Newton and his officers, all of whom
were most attentive, he passed a very pleasant time
of it.

The JMorgiana is an uncommonly snug fine vessel of her
cass. Sae was built at Bermuda in 1812, of cedar; is a sloop-
of-war o° eighteen guns. Her crew consists of & master and
commander, two licutenants (George Robinson and William
Ridgway), one master (Ar. Ramsay), surgeon (Dr. Cosgrave), a
clerk, purser (Mr. Wallace), master’s mate, three midshipmen,
carpenter, sailmaker, quartermasters, boatswain, gunner, 125
scamen, ar.d 20 marines. Captain Scott formerly commanded
her. Captain Newton, until he joined this ship last year, had
the Nimrod, a sloop-of-war, off the coast of America. He

took many small craft, few of much value.

Of the Great Bank of Newfoundland the captain
determined to stop and fish for cod.

The following extract describes a good day’s
fishing =—

Every ship’s company are provided with fishing lines by
Government, one line to each mess and it is curious to see the
anxiety of each persen for the success of his mess. The captain
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fished for our mess and caught five large cod and two halibuts,
which he gave away. Lieutenant Robinson was the great
fisherman of the gunroom mess. He was very successful, and
caught eight or ten very fine codfish, besides an immense
halibut. The taking of this monster excited as much bustle
and noise of the whole ship’s crew as the carrying away a mast.

We got out the jolly-boat, and with great difficulty took
ber in. Cut up and weighed in picces, she weighed 243 pounds.

The codfish taken here were all uncommonly large and in
fine season. Some of the lines caught from twelve to twenty
each.

The ship became a strange scene during the day. A range
of lines all along the windward side, and two or three large fish
constantly hauling up; the jolly-boat manned and rowing off
to take up those too large or insecurely hooked to be pulled
up the ship’s side, and also to pick up such as drop from
the hook after they are raised out of the water ; for from some
cause they generally remain floating on the surface, though
some sink.

The decks were all bustle, full of fish ; some fellows cleaning
the fish, others salting, others hoisting them up the rigging to
dry. The sailors make incisions on the back denoting the
number of the mess the fish belong to. TWhat each man taxes
is considered sacredly his, and the officers claim none; so that,
if they are unlucky in fishing, they buy or beg. Here, how-
ever, we had no need.

We fished in about forty fathoms of water, and kept the
hook near the bottom, which made it no trifling job to haul
up a fish.

From the ¢ Banks” in nine more days, with a
following gale the whole way, so that they were
never compelled to vary one point from their course,
they were in soundings in the English Channel,
having made on an average of this time nearly nine
knots an hour.

At 11 aa. (October 16, 1815) we auchored ot Spithead,
having had just twenty-two days’ run from Quebec to Ports-
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mouth. Deduct two and a half days we were at anchor in the
river getting wood, and the day we fished at Newfoundland
Bank, we were only eighteen and a half days. from Quebec to
Portsmouth—a thing almost unexampled.

The next morning, at 7 A, my father set off in
the « Waterloo » light coach from the Crown Inn at
Portsmouth for London.

The waiter scraped towards me, and 1 answered his signal
with 8s. He then begged leave to remind me of the chamber-
maid. I told him she was ¢ provided for” ¢ Boots, sir, if
you please!™ Now I had put my boots on as I took them
off ; therefore, as there must be some end to imposition, I
observed that neither I nor my boots had been introdaced
to him.

I found that, though the coachman expected o token
beyond his fare, and the waiter had gotten one, neither one
nor the other would presume to lay hands upon my trunk.
That was a separate concern, of which I was soon made sensible
by the amusing hint, «Remember the porter, sic!” Thus I
was obliged to detail another shilling. This, however, only
had virtue sufficient to bring my trunk to the side of the
«Waterloo,” when all that had anything to do with it before
were now perfectly functi officio, and a worthy fat creature
kindly put it on the boot, and most politely addressed me with
« Please remember the porter to the coach, your honour.”

My generosity fell one-half, and I had the conscience to
offer him only 6d.

Certainly, however, when you have got through this cere-
mony, you travel like a gentleman.  The style of everything is
respectable. Jonathan takes you the same distance, through
worse roads, for half the money, and if he does not tickle you
with « your honour,? neither does he ask or Jook for shillings.

But then he drives you in his shirt-sleeves, and himself, his
horses, harness, and carriage are all types of independenct;—
independence of comfort, appearance, and decorum.

Travelling by Petersfield, Godalming, and Kings-




B ol b cors et

111 PORTSMOUTH TO LONDON 77

ton, he got, at the laiter place, his first view of
Father Thames. It struck him, accustomed to the
great rivers and lakes in Ammerica, as small. “ I do
aver that in this place, only twelve miles above Lon-
don, it barely rates with the Don—Jonathan would call
it a Creefs ;” and then, passing by Richmond Park,
and across Wimbledon Common, through Wands-
worth, and over Westminster Bridge, he drove up
the Strand by Charing Cross, where he had a
“moonlight glimpse of the equestrian statue of
Charles I., remarkable from being the first erected
in the United Kingdom,” and drew up at the Golden
Cross Inn, where he remained for the night.

I nave given the above journey to London, as it
is interesting to compare the mode and expense of
travelling in 1815 with that of the present day.

The inside coach fare was £1, 15s. from Ports-
mouth to London, plus 9s. extra for one trunk
(“which was a little above the ordinary size ™), z.c.
in all £2, 4s., in addition to tips, &c., and meals on
the way. The time occupied on the journey, in-
cuding stoppages, must have been about twelve
howrs. The distance by road, owing to the wind-
ings, was no doubt some miles greater than the
present distance by rail (731 miles), over which one
now travels, first-class, by express, in two hours,
for 12s. 2d.

The next day, Mr. André, 120 New Bond Street,

supplied him with “a hat for £1, 16s., and 5s. 6d.
j for 2 common oil-cover,” and he and his two little

daughters surveyed the guineas my father had brought

B from Canada with him with much astonishment.

“That is a very strange sight, sir, here ; I've seen

g nothing like them this long time.”
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After a few days he settled down in lodgings at
30 Craven Street, Strand, where a friend, Lieutenant
Pearson, of the Navy, was living, and the period of
two years which he now spent in England and on
the Continent—for his original leave of absence was
extended—was both a useful and happy one.

For the next nine months he remained chiefly in
London, and at the end of that time went for a short
trip on the Continent.

His position as Solicitor-General of Upper Canada,
and the introductions he had taken with him, enabled
him to see more of English life and society than so
young & man, without any near relations in the
country, could well have expected. )

~ The Solicitor-General (Sir Samuel Shepherd)
showed him much kindness; and, through him, the
Attorney-General, and other legal men of standing,
he was able to see everything connected with the
English courts and their proceedings.

Throughout this time he read steadily for his
profession, and was constantly meeting old friends
in the Army and Navy, with whom he had been
thrown in Canada during the war, and also Cana-
dian acquaintances.

A letter from Sir Frederick Robinson to Mr.
Merry, then Deputy Secretary at War, led to the
great happiness of Lis life, s.c. his marriage; and
with the Merry family and their relations he spent
much of his time.
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OCTOBER 1815 TO AUGUST 1816

Drury Lane Theatre: Kean, Pope—Covent Garden: Miss O'Neill—
Kemble—Sir Sumuel Shepherd—Sir W. Garrow—Sir W. Grant—
Sir Samuel Romilly—Sir J. Mansfield~The Exchequer Court—Old
Bookseller—Mr. Ridout—Lord Mayor’s Day—Lord Ellenborough—
Dinner at Lincoln’s Inn—Covent Garden: Miss Stevens, Matthews,
Liston—Court of Common Pleas: Copley, Sir V. Gibbs—The Merry
Family—Chapel Royal, Whitehall—Illuminations for the Peace—
Westminster Hall: Browbeating witnesses—Buonaparte—Card-play-
ing—Woolwich : Colonel Pilkington—Henry J. Boulton—Oxford—
Blenheim—Evening parties— Letters from Sir Frederick Robinson—
His views and Dr. Strachan’s as to removing the seat of Government
from York to Kingston—>Memorandum as to this—Advised to remain
in England—The Canada Club—Covent Garden Theatrical Fund
dinner—Sir R. Sheaffe—Mr. Justice Grose—Lord Erskine—House of
Lords—House of Commons—St. George-—-Lelievre—Sparring : Crib,
Belcher—The Ring : Carter, Lancaster-—Mrs, Garratt—Marriage of
Princess Charlotte—Literary Fund dinner—The Old Bailey—Mrs.
Siddons—The Booths—Norwich—Campbell the poet—Hurwich—
Ipswich—Miss Forth.

From my Father's Journal.

October 19, 1815.—In the evening I took it into my head
to stroll to Drury Lane Theatre. The tragedy was ¢ Othello,”
and the great, the famous Mr. Kean, personated the swarthy
hero.
The audience clapped and applauded where his perform-
ance was most oufr¢é and unnatural. His figure, diminutive,
| thin, and ungraceful, could be supposed to resemble the Moor
& 1 nothing but its blackness.
& In general he was boisterous, when he should have been
B tender and subdued.

E  Pope in Iago I thought better.
The after-piece, “ The Dese_x;‘ter,” was infinitely better done.
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Mus. Bland in Jenny was excellent. Xnight in Simkin was
nature itself, and Munden in Skirmish performed very well.

I went on Saturday evening to Covent Garden. Miss
O'Neill in Isabella is far beyond any actor in tragedy I have
seen. Liston is an excellent comic performer.

olst October.—Called at Sir Samuel Shepherd’s * with a
letier to him from Miss Russell, and to Lady Shepherd from
Mrs. Lowen. Sir Samuel had that moment returned to town
from his annual excursion to the country. Ie was dressing,
and in his flanmel jacket, but desired to see me without cere-
mony, and gave me a most hearty kind reception. He said he
promised himself the pleasure of seeing me at his own house
very often.

. . John Kemble having returned to town, I felt great
anxiety to hear him, his name being familiar to me from my
infancy. I went with Towers Boulton *o hear him in “ Corio-
lanus.” His figure and face and his action became the character
admirably, but his hollow voice and short breatts are painfully
unpleasant.

Sometimes he utters a commonplace sentence, such as “ How
are you?” or “I hear you,” with such a misplaced vehemence
of voice and extravagant action that it is quite ridiculous.

308% October.—1 called to-day about twelve on Sir Samuel
Shepherd to mention to him my intention to enter myself of
one of the law societies, and my view in doing so; and also te
leaxn his opinion as to the probability of my obtaining leave
of absence. . . .

He was just going into the country, but, with the greatest
friendship and politeness, entered into the fullest consideration
of the subject with all the anxious interest of an old friend or
relation.

The result is that, by his advice, I will, at all events, enter
my name immediately, that my time may be at once going on,
and I shall have gained something, if I have at last to return
before T am admitted. I bought of the steward a book of the
rules, &c.

1 The Solicitor-General.
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8rd November.—Called at the Solicitor-General’s office. Ile
and his sons are my referees, and the Attorney-General jeins in
the approval. The Sol* itor-General and Mr. Kemble are my
bondsmen to the Society. All this was entirely unsolicited,
and Sir Samuel was pleased to say that it was no more than I
was entitled to expect from Sir William Garrow?! and himself. . .

. . . Went with Charles Murray to hear the Master of the
Rolls, Sir William Grant, dispose of Chancery petitions. I
was much gratified and pleased that I had gone. He says
little on the matters brought before him, but decides promptly,
without, hiowever, any appearance of haste, and with perfect
composure and good temper.

Sir Samuel Romilly is a very different man from the idea 1
had conceived of him. Exceedingly plain, open, and candid in
his manner, with a most conciliatory voice, really the most so
of any I have heard, a respectful and gentlemanlike manner,
though warm and interesting — his countenance peculiarly
engaging.

6th November.—At twelve went to Westminster to see the
Courts open—the first day of term. This was my first sight of
Westminster Hall or any of its appendages. The Judges had
not yet arrived. We found the hall full of gentlemen and
ladies and men and women waiting in anxious expectation to
see the Judges and Chancellors pass to their respective Courts.
The young lawyers, with their wigs and gowns, parading
through the hall with a lady on each arm, made rather a
grotesque appearance.

Soon the Judges came, and followed each other into their
respective Courts. Sir James Mansfield, the present Chief
Justice of the Common Pless, is very aged, and his whole
frame seems to be fast giving way to infirmity. He totters in
his step and moves feebly. Some years ago he was remarkable
for a stern firmness of manner.

Tinding it impossible to crowd into the other Courts, we
went into the Exchequer, where I saw on the Bench Chief
Baron Thomson, Graham, Richards, and Wond. The Court

! The Attorney-General.
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of Exchequer is better accommodated than the others. After
the Court was open, a man made a great noise, addressing
himself to the Court, and saying he had come for justice, and
talking in & most rude, indecent way. The Chief Justice told
him to be silent, but he paid not the I st atiention. The
officer was ihen told to remove him, and the order was repeated,
I daresay ten times. The officer seemed very irresolute.

The man did everything but strike the keeper, and con-
tinued to reflect upon the Court. He was at last got out, but
was not confined.

1 scarcely could believe T was in an English court of justice
and in the presence of four Barons of the Exchequer.

Trom hence we repaired for a short time to the Chancery
Court, where the Lord Chancellor? was sitting on a seat
elevated far above the Bar, and apparently, like his namesake
in Upper Canada, quite unconscious of what the Councillor, Mr.
Bell, was striving to enforce with all his Yorkshire eloquence.

Sth November.—Went into two or three bookstalls. The
vanity and importance of one old man amused me much. In
a dark, dirty room in Chancery Lane, he stood surrounded by
old moth-eaten, dog-eared editions of Greek and Latin classics,
fathers, and anthors of the diddle Ages.

«Gir” said he. putting up his spectacles, and looking
round his shop, “this I call hookselling, and I call myself a
bookseller. Sir, I don’t call those men who sell modern pub-
lications booksellers: I call them haberdashers, pins and needle
men. They sell books, sir, as they sell tape. They require no
learning. If you asked them for a Puffendorf, or a Claudian,
or an Herodotus, they wouldn’t know what you were talking
about.”

9th, November.—DMr. Ridout had asked me to come to his
house on Lord Mayors day to see the procession, so on our
return I took Pearson with me, and we went there about helf-
past three.

His house is No. 4 Crescent, New Bridge Street, and is the
best place to see the procession from, as the Lord Mayor and

1 §ir John Scott, afterwards Earl of Eldon, born 1751, died 1838
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all leave the water at Blackfriars Bridge, and getting into
their carriages pass up Bridge Street to Guildhall. TFrom the
upstairs window we had a most distinct view. Lhe crowd was
immense : carriages without end. The procession itself was
little worth sceing : the mob spoiled all. ‘There was no order,!
no previous arrangement. Coal waggons, hackney coaches, &c.,
blocked up the street. There were several dragoons, wearing
helmets and cuirasses taken from the French at Waterloo, and
some complete suits of armour, one of brass and three of steel.

18th November.—I attended the Court of King’s Bench, and
heard an argument between Mr. Park and Mr. Garrow. Lord
Ellenborough has a dry, original manner with him—something
sarcastic.

I dined at Lincolns Inn Hall to-day with C. Murray for
the first time. There were about 100 dining. The dinner
was a boiled leg of pork on a pewter dish, and a second course
of roast fowl; beer in white carthen pint mugs. The moment
they swallow their dinner, they disperse. I was much amused
at some of the young men’s want of patience. One of them
hiwing vociferated, ¢ Waiter, send us a mess,” very often
without effect, very pompously calls out, ¢ Waiter, send Mr.
Colden here. Do you hear, send Mr. Colden here?” “MMr.
Colden’s dead, sir!™ 'This stopped the young gentleman for
some time.

In the evening went to Covent Garden to hear Miss Stevens
sing in the «Beggar’s Opera,” and Mr. Matthews, the cele-
brated comic performer, in “Love, Law, and Physic.” I was
much pleased with Miss Slevens and with Sinclair—I mean
his singing, fo. he is nothing remarkable as an actor.
Liston, as Lubin Log, the citizen from Tooley Street, is
the most perfect picture of ignorant vulgarity that can be
conceived.

Matthews’ comic song, “The Stage,” makes one die almost
of laughing.

14th November.—1 went to the Common Pleas, and heard
some lengthy arguments from Serjeants Best, Vaughan, and

1 London had then no police force as at present.
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Copley.! Sir V. Gibbs is a man of penetrating mind and
clear understanding.

The following entry gives his first meeting with
my mother :—

16th Novemler.—Walked up to Gower Street. Left my
card at Franklin’s, and called at Mr. Merrys. MMrs. Merry
was very good and very kind, and there was an exceedingly
fine, pretty little girl—a Miss Walker—there; very pleasing
and engaging in her manner and appearance.

19¢h November (Sunday).—Henry Boulton, C. K. Murray.
and I went to church at Whitehall Chapel. We were stopped
by the sentry at the door on account of our coloured neck-
cloths, and went home and changed them. WWhen in church,
we found no place open to receive us, and, after looking abuut
for some time, walked up to the sexton, who was standing
behind the pulpit, and told him we wanted a seat. He
whispered, “ The scats are my living, gentlemen ! ™—a hint
which could not easily be mistaken. I gave him a shilling.
and we were shown into a pew. In this chapel are hung up
around the walls the trophies of modern victories,—French
flags \nd French eagles: the latter are gilt or, perhaps, gold.
about five inches in height, perched on black staves of about
six feet long. Several of the flags were much torn and
blown to pieces with powder, &. They were the fruit of
our victorious arms at Saragossa, Madrid, Salamanca, Badajoz,
Vittoria, Gaudaloupe, Martinique, &c.®

Here, too, on the west side . . .

Here follows the description of the Colours taken
on the Canadian frontier in the war with America of
1812-14, already given in Chapter I1.:—

951l November.—Accordirg to arrangement with Mr. Samuel
Toster, I walked down to the Bolt-in-Tun, Fleet Strect, and

1 Afterwards Lord Chancellor Lyndhurst.
2 All these were in 1835 removed to the Royal Hospital, Chelsea. Tie
Eagles are of metal (probably gun-metal), gilt.
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took the Sevenoaks coach to Southend. I remained at Mr.
Foster’s until Monday, and was treated with the utmost
kindness by the whole family.

AMrs. Foster I looked at with astonishment. I could hardly
believe her the mother of twenty children, fourteen now living.
She looks young, rosy, and active. They had at home Samuel
(the Attorney), Captain ‘Lom Foster of the Navy, Licutenant
Heury Foster of the Horse Artillery, and Edward in the mer-
cantile line. Two young ladies, Caroline and Mary, and the
youngest child, Arabella, about eight.

Henry was wounded at Waterloo with a grape-shot in the
foot. I saw the shot: it remained nine days buried in his heel.

- - - They seem a most happy family.

Rith November~In the evening I walked out to sce the
illuminations for the Peace, signed on Novemb.r 20, 1815.

- - . The olive branches, lzurel leaves, &c., were beauti-
fully represented by the different coloured lamps. The crowd
of spectators was very great. It was to me a novel and
striking sight.

5th December.—Went to-day to Westminster Hall.

In aun action for trespass I was shocked to see the gross
prevarication of three successive wituesses. It exceeded any
similar exhibition I have seen in Canada, where we have rascals
enough, and sad ones.

I attribute it, in great measure, to the manner m which
causes aie tried and witnesses examined here. The style is to
browbeat and insult, and uniformly to question the witnesses®
veracity, without respect to his feclings.

Garrow’s manner of examining a witness serves to confound
azascal, and often, I fear, to perplex an honest man. I wonder
the abuse is tolerated by a grave Chicf Justice on the Bench to
the extent it goes.

The first witness having delivered his evidence, Mr. Garrow
rose to cross-examine him.

“Well, sir, you say, when this disturbance began, you were
in the voom in plaintiff’s house, writing. I suppose you were
doing business for him. YouTe a lawyer, I take it, from your
tloquence 2
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Witness. “Sir, ’m an Englishman, and every Englishman
is supposed to understand the law of his country. . . 2@
loud laugh, rather against the Attorney-General.) He was
going on

Lord Ellenborough. © Ah! stop there. You've said very
well. You'd better not spoil it by saying more.”

Ar. Garrow. © Pray, sir,may I ask you what employment?™

Witness. © Sir, I'm a tailor.”

Mr. Garrowe. A tailor! Ah! So, then, when you told us
you were an Englishman, we are to take it with some allow-
ance. You mean you are as much of an Englishman as a
tailor can be supposed to be.  We know what proportion that
is. . . . My valuable tailor, do give us a yard or two of truth.
Don't give us so much cabbage,” &c., and a deal of such un-
becoming trash.

One witness, describing his position at the time of the fray,
said, * He sat with his dack facing the door.”

My good landlady got to-day some of Buonapart~’s hair,
which she showed me. It came enclosed in a letter to M.
Fmlayson from the surgeon who accompanied Buonaparte to
St. Helena, by the Redpele, just arrived from thence. I am to
have some, though there is but little; and considering the un-
doubted fact of its being really the great little man’s, it i
quite a curiosity.

19th December—Spent the evening in "Somerset Tlace at
Mrs. Hesse's. There was a large party, from twenty to thirly
ladies, mostly old dames. A loo table was formed, of which
party I made one, and had the pleasure of losing about lax
The itch for gambling—making money at cards—which is very
observable at these partics, surprised me.  Really they scem fo
think amusement by no meaus the object, and are as sharp
as cats.

16tk December—Went to Woolwich o pay 2 visit 1o
Colonel Pilkinglon! commanding the Engineers there, who
received me very cordially.

1 Colonel Pilkington, R.E., who had served in Canada duriag the =5
of 1812-13.
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The evening was passed very pleasantly, and the Colonel
and I sat up till one, talking of Canadian people and Canadian
concerns. He was in Canada in 1793, and really looks wonder-
fully young for 2 man who talks of Niagara and York before
they knew what a house was.

Henry John Boulton, then at Oxford, who was
to drive a friend’s tandem back to Oxford from
London, took him with him, and they sct off at
9 AL

18th December—Oxford is a delightful place taken aito-
gether.  The High Street affords several interesting views of
Colleges venerable from age and captivating from the associa-
tion of ideas. Everything you see receives additional interest
from the impression constantly on your mind that you are now
in that quiet seat of learning and surrounded by those walls
which for centuries have sent forth men most eminent in every
important walk of life. . . .

We drove in a gig to Woodstock. ; I was delighted with
Blenheim. As we could not be admitted to the house ill
three, we walked over the park till that hour care. Itis eleven
miles round. The lake abounds with waterfowl, and the park
is alive with deer. We suddenly encountered the old Duke
himself (now seventy-seven years old), whom this fine day had
tempted to try the sports of the field. He was in a litde
carriage, like a childs coach, drawn by a donkey, and was
attended by a number of servants. 1When the dogs pointed,
the gun was put into his hand, and he pointed it, but the game
always got out of reach before he made up his mind to fire.
The gamckeeper was very civil, and unlocked a gate for us.

From Oxford he returned by coach to London,
passing through Slough—

Where the first person I met was Donald Macdonell. He
lad just got out of the Bath coach, and was on his way from
Hungerford to Windsor. 1What, I wonder, are the chances
that in a kingdom of about twelve million population, with
wowds of coaches constantly traversing the same road, iwo
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individuals who had gone to school together about 4000 miles
off should meet at a little village where they were neither to
stop more than a few minutes.

He has a commission in the 99th Regiment. On my return,
found a most friendly letter from General Sheafte, and a kind
note from Colonel Pilkington asking me to spend Christmas
with them.

Christmas Day—Went to Church at the Foundling, and
afterwards to Woolwich (to Colonel Pilkington).

9Sth December—Dined with Hullock, and found a large
party. One of them asked me if we drove reindeer in our
sledges in Canada !

5th January 1816.—Dined at the Merrys, and accompanied
them to Mrs. Hincks, a reclation of the Robinsons,! who
received me very cordially. There was a large party. I first
saw here a specimen of the present English fashionable parties.

The gentlemen drop in, ad libitum, with their hat in their
hund, or under their arm, as if they should say, I am all ready
to go off if I don’t like you,” and their behaviour speaks this
exactly. They saunter, snuff, and stare about as if they were
all strangers to one another, look at the ladies’ dresses, and
when they have satisfied their curiosity, make a bow and go out
again. The tone seems to be a striking and laboured affectation
of indifference to everything. We came home about twelve.

Sir Frederick Robinson had now arrived in
England from Canada, having been brought over
in connection with the court-martial ordered upon
Sir George Prevost, which in the end, owing to the
latter’s death, never took place.

We give below two letters he wrote after his
arrival in England to my father:—

Tror¥RURY, NEAR Bristor,
4th January 1816,

Dear Romssox,—. - - I am most exceedingly happy to have
found you out, and hope to have the pleasure of introducing

1 Sir Frederick Robinson’s family.
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you to some more Robinsons ere we quit this country. My
mother and sisters are anxious to see you. The former, though
in her eighty-ninth year, is in high health and spirits, and the
latter are now pretty well. It gives me much pleasure to find
you derive satisfaction from my friend Merry’s attention.

.

. . . Do not mention my address to any one, as I am living
in this retired place to be out of the way of every one and
everything relating to the court-martial until the time of trial.
—Believe me, very truly yours,

F. P. Ronixsox.

J. B. Robixsox, Esq., 30 Craven Street, Strand.

Tuor~suny, 12th January 1816.

My pear RosiNsox,—Your father was as intimate in my
father’s house as I was, and my mother and sisters not only
recollect him with pleasure, but would be most happy to renew
the acquaintance, and cement the relationship in the son, but it
will not fall to my lot to introduce you to them, as I have
obtained permission to return to Upper Canada as soon as I
please, in consequence of the death of Sir George Prevost. I
shall avail myself of it, and go by the very first opportunity
that offers, whenever that may be.

I think the Governor has done a wise thing in introducing
Strachan into the Exccutive Council. I consider him both
zealous, and capable of all that may be required of him. My
idea is that, if it is the intention of Ministers to preserve Upper
Canada, they must make a military post of York, and, in that
case, the seat of Government need not be removed. The fact
i, more money has been thrown away upon aseless fortifications
than would have served to have made the place impregnable
had the works been properly situated. As it is, they might as
well be at Albany.—Faithfully yours,

T. P. Romxsox.

Sir Frederick’s mother (Susannah Philipse), born
in 1727, married Colonel Beverley Robinson, 1747,
and died at Thornbury, near Bath, in 1822, in her
ninety-sixth year.
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It scems to bring the colonial days of Virginia
closer to our own times that, while she might well
have been acquainted with some who had known
Christopher Robinson, who died in 1693 and was the
first of the family to emigrate to Virginia, the widow
of her grandson,! who was sixteen years old at
Susannah Robinson’s death, is still (1903) living at
Frenchay, not far from Thornbury, in her ninety-
seventh year.

One can hardly realise that it is possible that one
now living could have known another who was fifty-
seven years old when (in 1784) the United Empire
Loyalists settled in Upper Canada.

The question of the removal of the seat of
Government of Upper Canada from York (Toronto)
to Kingston, ailuded to above in Sir Frederick’s tast
letter, was about this time exciting much interest in
Canada. Dr. Strachan, who was now a member of
the Executive Council, wrote strongly to my father,
begging him to do what he could to prevent the step
being carried out, and the latter subsequently em-
bodied his own views and those of Dr. Strachanin 2
memorandum addressed to Lord Bathurst, Secretary
of State for the Colonies, from which we give the
following extracts :—

15th February 1816.
... It is urged that York is, in its situation, incapable
of defence, while Kingston is naturally strong, and has been
besides well fortified, and, being our principal naval and

1 Colonel . H. Robinson, 72nd Highlanders.  Several o this family
attained a great age.  Mrs. Beverley Robinson's sister Mary (Mrs. Roger
Morris) died in her ninety-sixth_year; Sir Frederick Robinson in his
cighty-ninth ; and his daughter, Maria (Mrs. Hamilton Hamilten, whom
1 knew well), in her ninelicth (in 1884). She remembered her grand:
mother, Mrs. Beverley Robinson, perfectly.
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military post, will be best protected of any place in Canada
during a war.

Even looking closely at this ground there is, I submit, my
Lord, room for much doubt. While we retain the superiority
on Lake Ontario, no town in Canada is so perfectly secure as
York, because no hostile army can reach it by land without
first forcing our frontier at Kingston, Niagara, or Sandwich,
and marching in either case through a great extent of populous
country ; and hence York, in any event during a great part of
the year, while the navigation is obstructed by the ice, is
removed from all danger. In neither case has it anything
to apprehend, but from a regular, organised army.

Kingston, on the other hand, enjoys no such security, but
is liable to the invasion of an overwhelming force.

The possession by us of Lake Ontario, which secures York,
forms no ubstacle to such an invasion, because the Americans
could cross in boats over the river St. Lawrence, and the
winter, which puts the former out of their reach, gives them
an casier entrance into the latter.

Besides, York, in the opinion of many military men, is very
capable of defence, and its weakness is said to be owing to the
injudicious position of the works constructed, not to its natural
incapacity of being defended.

Moreover as, if we are superior on the Lake, York is
entirely secure, so if we are worsted there, York must be
kept, because all supplies for the Niagara frontier, and the
country north and west of it, must pass through it. So it
must stand or fall with the province or, at least, with for
the more valuable and extensive part of it.

If it be determined that York is neither sufficiently secure,
nor to be made so, and that the seat of Govermment must on
that account be changed, ought it not to be removed to some
place where, while it preserved the advantage of a central
stuation, it would be out of the line of all military opera-
tions;! and unquestionably secure while the province was ours
—for example, on the shore of Lake Simcoe, or on some point

! The Dominion seat of Government has siuce been moved to such a
pition—viz., Ottawa.
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of the backwater communication, where ne army could rench
it that had not overcome all the obstacles the frontier would
present, and where no army would think of going until every
military object was achicved.

I beg to assure your Lordship that nothing but a strong
impression, crroncous though it may be, that on grounds of
public expedicncy the measure is imprudent, would have
tempted me to intrude upon your Lordship’s time and
attention.

About this time Dr. Strachan evidently began
to lean to the idea that it might be to my father’s
advantage and interest to remain in England, and
push his career there.

On the 29th February 1816 he wrote to him {rom
Canada as follows :—

. .. I am pleased to find that your reception is so goad
from the Crown lawyers. It does them honour. Unless you
have set your heart upon spending your days in this country,
1 rather think that prospects might be made to open upom
you in London by the time you can profit by them, but I must
leave you to yourself in this matter.—Your best friend,

Joni STRACHAN.

And on the 7th May 1816 he addressed him the
following interesting letter :—

. . . If you sce your way clearly, you must try your fortune
at the English Bar. You must remember that I mentioned
the probability of your becoming attached to England. From
your knowledge of men and manners, and the part you have
been forced to perform, and likewise your education, your
acquirements are greater and more practically useful than
those of some of the most eminent barristers. They have
made greater progress in the study of mere law; but that
knowledge has not been enlivened by its application to aclual
charscters.
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If you altach those fijends to you whom you have made,
of which I have very little doubt, it will be casy for them to
bring you out, and the publication of the State trials here,
with the Solicitor-Generals revision of them, if he will take
the trouble, may prove of much advantage to you.

This is a point on which You must deliberate with care, as
itis the most important of your life.  If you resolve to remain,
you must attend to economy and avoid all encumbrances, Ir
it be objected that your chance is precarious, I answer, ¢ Not
so much so as the chance of any Englishman of your age.”
You have been better introduced already than a Peers son
could expect. You have talents: you have industry. The
first few briefs obtained, your fortune Is made.  As to your
being happier here, I qQuestion it. We have all {he cabai'ngs
and ]xcart—bm‘nings of the largest Governmients, and from our
limited society, they poison social intercourse. Not so at home,
Your civcle is large, and it is casy to avoid those whom you do
not wish to meet. You say, “Had Providence cast your lot
in England;> 1 Say, your chance in that case would not have
been half s~ good. The great difficulty of young men, natives
of England, of the first talents, is to get acquainted. This
dgifficulty you have surmounted.

A tempting offer will be made you, or it wil] be attempted
~viz, to place Mr. Boulion on the Bench and make Yyou
Attorney-General.  Should this be effected, prudence will big
you accept, ambition will hesitate,

Of your attachment to Your friends and relations here, I
entertain the most favourable opinion; but we must separate
in our progress through life, and we must separate at the last,

Ishall be pleased witlh, what you decide; but I wish you to
adopt the old plan.  Set down the Pros and cons on paper,
and be governed neither by prejudice nor fecling, but by the
strongest rational probabilities.

God bless your excertions, and whatever may befall you, so
long as you preserve your integrity, you will always find the
same sincere friend in Joux Stracuax.

When, a few months later, Dr. Strachan became
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aware of my father’s approaching marriage, he wrote
to him as follows, and no doubt in his heart rather
regretted his decision not to remain in England :—

Yonx, 30th September 1816,

. . . Ican now solve the great change of sentiment which
appeared in your letter, your eloquent description of the diffi-
culties you would have had to surmount in coming to the Bar
in England, with the great sacrifices you must make, &c., like-
wise your warm culogium on the happiness you might enjoy in
this country.

You will see by my last that I was not convinced, but I
relinquished the argument.

To return to my father’s Journal :—

18th January 1816.—Accompanied Mr. Acheson to-day to
the Canada Club at the Freemasons’ Tavern, and had a seat on
the President’s right—Mr. Auldjo. There were about thirty
present—Vice-President M. John Forsyth, Mr. Robert Dick-
son, Mr. Ellis, Mr. Henderson, Mr. Logan, Dr. M‘Kinnon, Mr.
Oviatt, Mr. Maitland, Mr. John Blackwood, Uniacke’s brother-
in-law from Halifax, Mr. Angus Shaw, and several others
whom I did not know. Canadian affairs were much the subject
of conversation, and Canadian boat songs and Indian specches
from Shaw and Dickson formed an agrecable part of the
entertainment.

Dickson and I were conversing on the subject of the defence
of Mackinac last war, when he asked me if T knew Captain
Robinson who was up there when the Americans blockaded it,
and when I told him he was my brother, he entertained me
with the most unreserved encomiums of him.

1 The brother zlluded to was Captain Peter Robinson, whe has before
been mentioned as having commanded a volunteer rifle company at the
capture of Detroit in 1812. At Michilimackinac (or  Mackinae,” as it
was often called), an important post on the Straits between Lakes Huron
and Michigan, which the Americans, who had lost it in 1812, made
several vain efforts to retake in 1814, he appears to have been active in
encouraging the defence. He made his way out of Mackivae, through

the American blockading fleet, in August 1814 Al efforts to reduce the
post failed.
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30th January.—To-day by virtue of my guinea ticket, I
dined at the great Covent \ rden ‘Theatrical Fund dinner at
the Freemasons’ Tavern, Grew: Queen Street. Its object was
to form a provision for the support of decayed actors, their
widows, and children.

The first actors of Covent Garden Theatre acted as stewards,
and having dined early in the day, occupied themselves in
walking up and down with their rods, attending to the party,
looking after the waiters, and keeping everything in ovder.
They were Young, Liston, Charles Kemble, Matthews, Fawcett,
Farley, Conway, Taylor, Abbot, Pope, Emery, and several
others. Matthews and Emery sang their inimitable comic
songs.

‘The Duke of York presided. At one end of the same table
the Duke of Kent, at the other the Duke of Sussex. On the
President’s left was the Lord Mayor, Lord Yarmouth, Lord C.
Seymour, and some distinguished Members of Parliament. On
his right, Lord Alvanley, MacMahon, private secretary to the
Prince Regent, Lord Erskine, a son of Percival’s, Fitzroy Stan-
hope, and several others whose names I did not hear. Mr.
Brummel, the famous blood, who said on one oceasion, “ Damme,
Tll cut the Prince, and bring old George into fashion again,”
vas also there—a finicking-looking buck enough.

It was a singular gratification to me to see Lord Erskine.

I was much pleased with the personal appearance of the

three dukes. In fact they were, beyond all question, the three
men of most noble appearance at the table.
8 The Duke of Sussex has a countenance and manner very
g prepossessing, full of benignity, and cheerful and lively good
B humour. The Duke of Xent looks and speaks like a soldier;
g e Duke of York is a fine commanding person, and has more
8 ngular symmetry of features than his brothers, but no parti-
f wlar expression that pleases or strikes.

The Duke of York made a short speech in a very hesitating
aud confused manner.

The Duke of Kent’s address was well conceived and dexter-
2 oly managed, and had really a great effect. I was the more
| tleased because I hiad lways heard the Duke of Sussex spoken
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of as the orator, and that the Duke of Kent was not at all his
equal. The Duke of Sussex soon followed. ¥e has a prepos-
sessing face, but his voice is weak. He began very quaintly,
but failed, in my mind, very much. His language was very
perplexed and involved. He was much applauded, because
he said some things well, and a good heart showed itself
throughout.

These three of the Royal Family are popular, and it
cannot be otherwise, when they join so perfectly heart and
hand with their fellow-subjects in every humane, benevolent, or
useful institution.

"The total amount collected at this dinner was a little over

£650.

31st January.—Called at Sir Roger Sheaffe’s, where I found
Norton. We had a long talk about Canadian matters. We
talked over the unfortunate business at York, which he seems
to like to dwell upon.

Derenzy came in; and thus, in Craven Street, London, were
four persons® met together who had all been in the Baitle of
Queenston, and who little thought at that time of seeing one
another here.

Dined at the Merrys’ with Mr. Robert Lukin and James
Lukin, Colonel Drinkwater, who wrote the “Siege of Gibraltar,”
and several others.

9¢th February—Went to Hyde Park and put on a pair of
skates. You give Ss. in pledge till you return the skates, and
1s. per hour for the use of them.

10¢h February.—DLast night it froze more severely, people
say here, than has been known for many years. A decanter of
water and a tumbler of water were frozen solid in my bedroom.
... Not a bad joke of Mr. Justice Grose, who on circuit
was dozing rather whilst the list of the jury was calling over,
and John Thomson being called and not answering, the clerk

1 Derenzy was a cavtain in the 41st; Captain Norton commanded the
Indians, and Sir Roger Sheaffe was command of the rhole British force
at the Battle of Quecnston. The latter also commanded when York
(Toronto) was taken in 1813.
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repeated the name. Some one answered, “He’s dead, sir.”
The judge, starting up, says, ¢ There’s no end to these excuses;
fine him 40s.”

Lord Exskine has a small estate near London, and has for
some time past been employing several hands in making and
disposing of brooms from this estate. Last week he was
aclually summoned before a bench of magistrates, and fined
20s. for selling brooms without taking out a hawker’s and
pedlar’s licence. Ie observed to their Lordships that, if the
law affected him, it certainly must be “a sweeping clause in
the statute.”

There are ridiculous caricatures of the late Chancellor
selling his brooms stuck up in the print-shops.

15¢k February—By an iatroduction of Mr. Finlayson, I
got admission without a Peer’s ticket into the House of Lords,
although it was a night of very intcresting debate upon the
Treaties and our connections with our Allies; in fact, upon
our present political situation. I went at six, and remained
till nearly one o’clock.

Lord Liverpool opened the debate with a long, though
clear, able, and well-arranged speech.

His manner is pleasing, his voice harmonious, and action
energetic.

Lord Grenville (in opposition) followed him in a speech
of much the same length.

I think his manner carries more weight than Lord Liver-
pool’s. It is more grave, manly, and dignified: less appearance
of art, and more smooth and uninterrupted. ¥e speaks more
like one in earnest.

They were the first specimens of speeches, anything in
§ fact like orations, that I have heard. They were such as to
: excite admiration of the talents, knowledge, and eloquence of

B the speakers.

Lord Holland (nephew of C. J. Fox) supported Lord
j Grenville in a most curious speech of two hours. His action
was violent in the extreme. He screamed, he hollo’ed, he
choked with impetuosity and vehemence, and yet was not in
i fctangry.  In short, his speech was an unacesuniable medley,
G
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and though he said many good things, they answered no
purpose, as neither he nor the House could see precisely to
what it all tended.

Lord Harrowby supported Lord Liverpool in a very clear,
able, and impressive speech.

6th March—At three I went to the House of Commons.
The debates were interesting: on the subjects of the Property
Tax and the Army Estimates.

The Chancellor of the Exchequer makes a poor figure.
Lord Castlereagh maintains his ground exceedingly well,
always cool, and never to be irritated by the most vexatious
attacks. Fle answers all objections with calmness and temper,
and with much humour and point.

I heard also Rose, Brougham, Lord Milton, Goulbourn,
Wynne, Fitzgerald, Chancellor of the Exchequer for Ireland;
and George Tierney, an original fellow.

14tk dpril (Sunday).—By pressing invitation from Mr.
Adams (W. Dacres), spent the day with him at his house
at Sydenham. I took a horse, and after service rode to
Sydenham. Mr. Adams has & beautiful estate of 150 acres
under good cultivation, and the grounds about his house are
laid out with great taste.

15th dpril.—After breakfast, I left Mr. Adams, and re-
turned to town. Henry Boulton and I dined at a restaurateur’s
with St. George, his brother, and Lelievre,! end at nine young
Acheson called for us to take us to the Lord Mayors
Easter bail.

The crowd was insufferable—about 4000 people. The
ladies were very seriously alarmed for their safety on account
of the pressure of what may be fairly called the mob. The
Dukes of Kent and Sussex and the Recorder in vain harangued
the gentlemen to beg them to keep back. With the greatest
difficulty room was kept for the Duke of Sussex and 2 lady to
dsnce a minuet.

1 Probably the Quetton St. Georgo and Captain Lelievre whose nawts
appear as subscribers to the York Assemblies in 1814—See Am;cnm
A., IIL. Lelievre was a captain in the Royal Newfoundland Fencibles
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The whole Mansion-House was swarming with grotesque
city bucks and belles. There was one negro gentleman, several
mulattos, and a Turk or Persian. The Lady Mayoress cut 2
queer figure with her hoops. No refreshment of any kind was
provided. Almost choked with heat and thirst, Henry and 1
found our way down into the kitchen, where we found a civil
gentleman all over gold lace, who was villing to give us a glass
of water for a trifle.

We left the jamming and squeezing at half-past twelve.

16tk April—I went with William Merry to the Fives Court
in St. Martin’s Lane fo see sparring by the crack hands
of the day. Crib, the champion of England; Richmond,
the black; Belcher, Oliver, Eels, Scroggins, West Country
Dick, &c.

It was to me a novel scene, purely English, and well worth
witnessing. The neatness and quickness of Belcher are quite
astonishing. Notwithstanding their gloves, the blows coming
with such force sometimes stagger them, and, indeed, they often
knock each other down; but no serious injury is done.

The spectators are a strange group of coachmen, butchers,
innkeepers, and gentlemen, who all take a surprising interest
in what is going forward, and affect to talk in the genuine
slang style.

24th April—There was a regular boxing match on Molesey
Heath, near Hampton Court, on the opposite side of the
Thames, and I thought it a duty incumbent on me, as a
stranger, to witness this exhibition, so purely English, which
y displays national manners and peculiarity of feeling in so
¥ siiking a manner.
So Henry and I fook a gig of Ansel, the livery stable keeper.
§ We drove through Futney, Richmond, Twickenham, and
Bahey Park. Imagination cannot picture a more delightful
drive. "The leaves and blossoms were just beginning to expand,
B and everything breathed of spring.
We passed crowds of citizens on foot, in carts, on horseback,
i gigs, coaches, &c., all streaming to the grand rendezrons.
¥ Westopped at Mr. Twining’s (at Hampton), an acquaintaice
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of Henry’s and old friend of his father’s. We promised to
return to dine with him; crossed the Thames on a crowded
wherry, and had to wait about an hour or more before the
fight began.

It was on a level green. Carts and waggons formed 2 circle
of about 150 yards diameter perhaps, in the centzre of which
was the ring. T shillings was given for a standing place on
a waggon, which afforded one an excellent view. The mob
were all driven back so as to form a ring immediately inside
the circle of carriages, and welooked over their heads. Numbers
of men with horsewhips kept the multitude in order by frequent
and very unceremonious cuts over the face, back, and legs,
which were all suffered p- siently and without a murmur or
symptom of resistance. T .any thousands attended, and yet by
this violent and rough .ethod of keeping order, all confusion
was prevented, and eve' y one had a good view—but Jonatlan
wouldn’t brook this.

The great fight which drew the public together was between
Carter, a celebrated boxer, and a black, lately from Virginia,
who had beaten several white men of bruising fame, and
boasted himself 2 match for any white in England. He was
a very stout, powerful fellow, but Carter beat bim with very
little trouble. He took several severe rounds first, however.

A much tighter combat next took place between Lancaster,
a known pugilist, and a coal-hemver. They were both men of
great courage and obstinacy, but the former was at length
beaten.

Another fight succeeded, not so well contested, and then
the matter ended, and the cockneys, caris, gigs, coaches, &,
returned to town.

We walked to Hampton Palace and viewed the gardens and
grounds, which are beantiful, though too flat.

After dinner Mr. Twining took me over Garrick’s grounds,
which are really exquisitely pretty. The Thames here is a vy
beaudiful river. The grounds arc diversified by artificial hill
and dale, and planted with fine trees. They are new Jarge
trees, like forest trees; and yet Mrs. Garrick says she remembers
the planting of every one of them except one.  She is ninely-
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two, still active and lively, and frequently attends Drury Lane
"Theatre, being much delighted with Kean’s acting.!

We returned to town by nine, and had a very pleasant
drive.

2nd May.—This evening at ten the Princess Charlotte of
Wales was married to the Prince of Saxe-Coburg. About two,
or perhaps earlier in the day, Pall Mall and the Park were
crowded with men and women hoping to catch a glimpse of one
or both of the Royal parties. When I returned home at about
eleven, there was still an immense crowd in Pall Mall before
Carlton House. A party of Life Guards were on duty. I was
standing near a fine young man, mounted on his charger, with
his beaver and Waterloo medal, when a bit of brick thrown
with great violence from the crowd struck the side of his head,
on the chains that pass along the cheek. He showed no
symptom of resentment, nor even changed his position, though
the blow might have ruined his eyesight. Their situation on
these occasions is most mortifying to brave men.

10¢h May.—Dined at the anniversary dinner of the Lite-
rary Fund for the support of poor authors at the Freemasons’
Tavern. About 200 present. The Duke of Xent was
President.

The Bishop of Cloyne, who is a very queer, squinting old
gentleman, made a short speech, in which the most striking
remark was that the object of the society was “to help those

| men of ability who had not the ability to help themselves ™—

sufficiently quaint.
The most original amusement of the evening was the recita-

tion by William Thomas Fitzgerald of his twentieth Annual

| Ode. This is the poet whose style is parodied in the * Rejected
| Addresses™ The ode had some merit, and was yeceived in &
A vory flcttering manner. I had some conversation with him
§ before dinner.

1 Mrs, Garrick, widow of Garrick, the celebrated actor, died in 1822,

B! 25ed ninety-cight.
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Within the next few days my father visited
Windsor and Eton, where he «saw a great number
of fine little fellows busily occupied with cricket.”

29¢h Aay.—Went to the Old Bailey, and, by the Solicitor-
General’s introduction, got a place next Mr. Shelton, the Clerk
of Arraigns. The judges, Bailey and Park, were there. Soon
after I received a note from Sir James Shaw, on the Bench,
requesting my company to dinner at five with the judges and
magistrates. We had an excellent dinner in the Sessions
House. The party was exceedingly pleasant and convivial, and
without restraint or reserve.

Mr. J. Park mentioned sn Irish bishop who married at
sixty, and lived to see his eldest son a bishop.

31st May.—This evening the celebrated Mrs. Siddons, who
for forty years has reigned undisputed Queen of Tragedy, acted
Queen Catherine in “ Henry VIIL™ for the benefit of her brother,
Charles Kemble. I had often regretted it as a loss I was
doomed to that I should never hear Mrs. Siddons, who several
years ago took a formal leave of the stage.

Mr. W. Dacres Adams was so kind as to consider me in his
arrangements for the evening.

1 went with Adams, Colonel Adams his brother, three or
four ladies, and Campbell, author of ¢ The Pleasures of Hope”
and ¢ Gertrude of Wyoming,—a particular friend of the
Adams’s. I was introduced to him, and we had a great deal
of conversation during the evening.

There is something uneasy and fidgetty in his manner that
you would not expect in the author of « Erin-go-Bragh.” IHe
has a fine eye, and his conversation is entertaining. He appears
young yet, about thirty-five perhaps.

In the box next us was Lord Lynedoch, also Mr. Matthews,
author of * Pursuits of Literature,” and in another Rogers, the
author of  Pleasures of Memory.™ The house was crowded in
every part.

I was pleased with Mrs. Siddons, but found more to admire
in Kemble's Wolsey ; some passages were almost overpowe:ing.
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The audience would not for a long time suffer the tragedy
to proceed beyond the end of the fourth act, as if, after Mrs.
Siddons in that last affecting scene, nothing would be tolerated.

The other piece was “The Prize,” in which Liston and
Matthews were sufficiently ridiculous.

On June 10th, Colonel Pilkington kindly sent up
his servant and horses to London for him, and he
rode down to Woolwich again and spent a day or
two there.

On my way over Blackheath, I passed the Blackheath
pedestrian Eaton walking one of his hourly miles—part of his
1100 to be performed in 1100 hours—one mile each hour.
Monstrous absurdity !

Between this and the end of July, he visited
Norwich to see my mother’s relations there, the
Booths ; and also paid two or three visits to Hastings,
where my mother, with the Merrys, was then stay-
ing, visiting Bexhill, Pevensey, &c.; and on the 1st
August returned to town preparatory to setting out
upon a six weeks’ tour on the Continent.

nd August.—By invitation of Mr. Campbell, I dined with
him at his house at Sydenham, with Mr. Adams and Mr.
Crauford. Mrs. Campbell is a fine-looking woman. They
have one son, Thomas, apparently a smart ingenious lad ; they
lost another child. Mr. Campbell was born in 1778; his
father lived to a great age, upwards of ninety. We spenta very
pleasant evening. I slept at Adams’s and breskfasted there.

On August &, 1816, he set off by coach from
London for Harwich.

The harbour of Harwich, formed by the mainland on which
the town lies, and the peninsula on which Landguard Fort
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stands, very much resembles the Bay of York ! in Upper Canada,
the fort and a round tower heing placed so as exactly te remind
me of the blockhouses on Gibraltar Point. After dining I took
a packet to Ipswich and went to the © White Hart” Inn.

6th August—Took a stroll through Ipswich.

Y recollected having brought over with me a letter from
Miss Russell to 2 Miss Forth of Ipswich, so, all in my travelling
habit as I was, I knocked at Miss Forth’s door in the church-
yard of St. Mary’s Tower. ‘We had a long chat about Canada
and Mr. and Mrs. Russell. Mr. Russell’s father was clerk of
the Cheque in Harwich, and died there.

In the evening he returned, by post chaise, to
Harwich.

1 Now Toronto.




e e

CHAPTER V
TRAVELS ON THE CONTINENT, TO THE ENGLISH LAKES,
AND IN SCOTLAND, Erc.
1816-17.

Helvietsluys—Rotterdam—The Hague—Canal travelling—Leyden—Haar-
lem—Amsterdam—DBroek (the model village)—Utrecht—Antwerp—
Brussels—Waterloo—Paris—Louis XVIIl.—The Mat de Cocagne—
Count de Chalus—Talma—Chamber of Deputies-—St. Germain—View
from the terrace—French politeness—A London mob—Mr. Adams—
The Reverend George Boulton—Coventry— Kenilworth, &e.—Open-
ing of Parliament—Matlock—Yorkshire scenery—Windermere and
the English Lukes—T¥Falls of the Clyde—Glasgow—Captain Jarvie—
Aberdeen—Mr. Strachan—Mr. Forsyth—Jeffrey—Captain Barclay
—DMr. (Sir Walter) Scott and Abbotsford—Kelso—Alnwick.

O~ August 7, 1816, my father embarked at Harwich

for Helvietsluys, and travelled thence through Hol-

land, partly by canal, to Antwerp, Brussels, and Paris,
returning to Liondon on 15th September.

In April and May 1817 he visited the English
Lakes and Scotland ; in June was married in Lon-
don; and in August 1817 he and my mother sailed
for Canada.

In the early part of last century but few travelled
abroad, either from England or Canada, compared
with the numbers who now yearly do so ; and the
period of his travels was rather an exceptional one.
Louis XVIII. had been recently restored (after
Waterloo) to the French throne; and the spoils of
Napoleon’s wars were just being returned from Paris
to their former owners in Holland and elsewhere.
Everything he saw extremely interested him. British
troops still occupied parts of France ; at Valenciennes
he met with Major Holeroft, who had been with him

105
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in the campaign of 1812 in Canada, and other old
fiiends were with the army of occupation.

While, therefore, I have omitted much from his
Journal which is mzrely descriptive of cities, towns,
churches, and picture galleries. now well known,
lying as they do in the beaten track of everyday
travel, I give below what 1 think may still be of
interest.

He was charmed with the scenery of the English
Lakes, and delighted with his trip to Scotland, during
which h _aid a visit to Sir Walter (then Mr.) Scott
at Abbotsford.

I may add, too, that 1 have curtailed these ex-
tracts the less because travelling, especially at the
age my father then was, is a part of education,
opening the mind and enlarging the ideas.

Nothing can ccnvey so well as these extracts
themselves what he saw and how it struck him, or
indicate better his observing powers.

I now continue from his Journal :—

7th August 1816.—An English gentleman,' 6 feet high,
with brown surtout, drab breeches, and long gaiters, set off
with me from Helvietsluys.

« T see, sir, from your trunk,” he said, ¢ that you are from
the other side of the Atlantic. Do you happen to know 3
gentleman there, who is the most particular friend I havein
the world—Uniacke ?”

« Perfectly well; we travelled once together from Quebec
to York.”

This introduced us to each other, and asa travelling com-
panion he is very agreeable and very well informed.

9th dugust—At half-past twelve we embarked (from Rot-
terdam) for Delft on our way to the Hague, on board 8

1 Mr. Latham, who travelled with him afterwards as far as Brussels.
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trekshuyt or canal boat. These are the most convenient
things, and the whole system is admirable.

For instance, from one city to another, these trekshuyts
sail most punctually at their stated times, every half-hour, or
every two hours, &. Each city has its different gates for the
different departures, as the Hague Gate, the Amsterdam Gate,
the Utrecht Gate. At the inn a porter attends, whose charge
is known ; he takes your luggage to the gate you set out from,
and you follow him. Without any bustle or confusion your
luggage is put on board, and at the stated minute you
set off.

The trekshuyt is a long narrow boat. The after cabin is
exceedingly comfortable. It holds about eight passengers, is
lined and furnished with a velvet cushion for each passenger,
and a little table in the midst, on which you may write. There
are small windows which open, and give you the advantage of
air and prospect. 'The other larger cabiu is very clean, but
provided only with long benches. It holds about forty pas-
sengers, who pay one half the price of the others. The top of
the boat, that is, the roof of the cabin, is neat and clean, con-
sisting of broken shells, cemented with pitch. In fine weather
this is the most pleasant berth. One miserable horse, harnessed
with ropes and old straps, carries along all this equipment pre-
cisely at three and a half miles per hour, not varying a minute.

The method of putting letters into the canal boats is an
ingenious one. A little boy or girl waits at some bridge under
which the boat passes, and has, in his or her hand, a hollow
stick with & plug. He puts his stivers for postage into ihe
hollow piece, plugs it up, and drops it with the letter attached
to it into the boat. The boatman takes his money and the
letter, and throws the stick ashore to the boy, who is running
along the bank. Parcels are handed out and taken on, tolls
paid, &c., without impeding the progress of the trekshuyt.

Arrived at the Hague at five,and went to the “'I'wo Cities,”
avery excellent inn. Here, at the Hague, we saw an admir-
able collection of French paintings—the restored spoils of the
Louvre. They are not yet all unpacked, and were lying mixed
in the rooms. The famous chefrd’ezuvre of Paul Potter—the
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cattle piece—is perfect nature. No words can do justice
to it.

By a little address, we persuaded the old man who was
arranging them to venture into a room he was afraid to show,
and containing a most precious collection of the best. Here
we saw numbers of the most famous peintings of Rubens,
Vandyke, and the best Dutch and Flemish artists. How
delighted I was for two hours! Several candlelight scenes

were wonderfully fine.

10tk August.—At half-past twelve we embarked in a trek-
shuyt for Leyden (9 miles).

We were told by Messrs. Campbell and Boyce that the
banks of the canal from Delft to the Hague were the most
beautiful part of Holland; but we found, as everybody must
find, that they bear ne comparison with that from the Hague
to Leyden. Here the constant succession of neat and indeed
beautiful villas for many miles forms a prospect that one regrets
seeing but to leave.

The broad street of Leyden, called the Altenbourg, is justly
celcbrated as one of the finest things of the kind to be seen in
Turope. As a street, 1 have seen nothing that can compare
with it except the High Street at Oxford. It is perhaps double
the width of that at Oxford, and three or four times its Jength,
resembling it in its curvature, and thus presenting you with a
number of striking views. . . .

It is astonishing how they preserve everything in Holland
by their extreme cleanliness and care. The Dutch have a great
passion for dating everything, their houses, boats, bridges
waggons, gates, &c. All the cushions in the Town Hall, for
the magistrates to sit on, were dated—one in 1732, The fint
trekshuyt we entered bore the date 1745, and on inquiry we
found the boat to be really so old. Most of the houses, I
observed, were dated 1600 to 1750.

In the library of the University there was an esquisitelt
beautiful manuscript copy of Virgil of the fourtcenth century.
illuminated. What delighted me most were two ‘manuscript
volumes of Hugo Grotius’s « Commentaries on the New Test
ment,” in his own hand. ‘The librarian told me that the
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University gave 200 guelders for each volume, Z.e. about £10
for the two, which I would willingly pay for them, and take
their bargain.

We were admitted by great good fortune to see a most
capital collection of Flemish paintings belonging to a private
gentleman. They were the property of a Catholic priest, Mr.
Ocko, who died very recently. A portrait of the wife of Claude
Loraine by Morcelses was more beautiful and natural to my
eye than anything I ever beheld. She seemed to start into life
as you looked at her.

There were some small pieces of Gerard Dow which seemed
beyond the possibility of the art. I recollect one representing
a cottage family at dinner, which I could have leoked at for
hours. . . .

From Leyden he went by curricle, with Mr.
Latham, to Haarlem, where they stopped at the
«Lion d’Or,” and visited the cathedral

. - . There is a striking difference between the appearance
of these immense monuments (the cathedrals) of other days in
England and here, and the manner in which they are at present
kept and made use of.2

In Englend one could imagine that they were edifices
erected in distant ages for a different race of men. We seem
to use them something like the fox, looking out of the ruined
hall as described by Ossian, not because they are the things we
zant, but because we found them ready made to our hand.

Now in Holland everything is kept in repair—and bound-
less as the space is within their vast churches (formerly
cathedrals) there is no appearaunce of ruin.

Of course, all this renders it less venerable to the sight and
interesting to the mind, but their churches seem to correspond
more to their present wants and agree perfectly with their
straight-haired Domini and the demure, plainly dressed, quiet
comfortable - looking congregations. Throughout Holland I
recollect no symptom of a people who had gone further in

? Jt must be remembered that this allndes to the England of 1816.
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elegance and magnificence than seemed to suit the present
generation. Nothing in their country seems ever to have been
otherwise than it is, except from the gradual effect of time.
Nothing suffering from neglect or disuse.

At Amsterdam, to which he went by trekshuyt
from Haarlem, he was much struck by a small paint-
ing in the museum of the Stadt-house—a school by
candle-light” by Gerrrd Dow.

How strikingly correct are the shades of light . . . the
very facsimile of a burning teper has been produced by tke

painter.
The carved wood in the New Church (at Amsterdam) is

really exquisite, the most superb thing of the sort I have seen,
except perhaps the gallery of the Middle Temple Hall, and in
St. George's Chapel at Windsor. . .

From Amsterdam he visited the village of Broek,
which was then, and I believe still is,' a curlosity
among the villages of the world on account of its
extreme neatness, deemed evenr in Holland to be
carried to the extent of absurdity.

The streets are divided by little rivulets paved in mosaic
work with variegated shells. A dog or cat is never scen to
trespass upon them. Carriages are not permitted to enter the
village. “The houses are about 300 in number. The shutters
of the front windows are generally closed, and the principel
entrance js never opened but on the marriage or death of one
of the family. The inhabitants scarcely ever admit a stranger
within their doors.

In our walk through we saw no human being but one or
two who were busy in scrubbing and polishing what appeared
as clean as it could be.

The village forms one of those things from which one man
may go out in raptures, and =nother may ridicule as an imitation

! 1 saw it in 1874, and it was then much as my father describes it here
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of a toy-shop, but all must acknowledge that they had before
formed no idea of the reality, and unless they had seen it they
would never believe that such an appearance could be given to
a town containing 230 families pursuing the common avocations
of life.

It is said that the people of Broek once turned a stranger
out of their town for sneezing in the street. How odd that for
800 years the inhabitants of this town should have kept up an
appearance which as distinctly marks them from their own
countrymen as from the rest of the world. . . .

Returning to Amsterdam, the trekshuyt was
again taken to Utrecht.

What respectable-looking people conduct these boats. Qur
present helmsman has a big wig like a Chief Justice, black
breeches and stockings, and silver buckles as large as my
hand.

From Amsterdam to Utrecht, the canal is lined with villas,
so that it all seems a continued pleasure ground.

The little summer-houses on the banks with the flower
gardens and statues, the delightful woods and the variety of
aarriages along the road which borders the canal, the number
of little tea-parties in the summer-houses, and the general
appearance of the whole being devoted to peaceful undisturbed
enjoyment, form a most pleasing impression on the mind of the
passing traveller, who, walking on the top of his trekshuyt,
glides through, receiving and returning the respectful salntations
invariably offered by the little groups who, strolling through
the gardens and groves, or drinking their coffee in the neat
little casinos, give life and variety to the picture.

Three or four miles of this evening’s journey are worth
coming from England to see.

From Utrecht, the diligence was taken through

t Breda to Antwerp.

He was much impressed by many things in

| Antwerp, especially by the Cathedral of St. Jacques,
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with its “Descent from the Cross” by Rubens, and
« The Marriage Feast” by Vandyke.

. . . The “Museum™ contains many paintings, lately
returned from the Louvre. Among them is the “ Crucifixion™
by Rubens, thought by many, and among others by Sir Joshua
Reynolds, to be the first in the world for colouring and
composition.

What struck me most in it was the wonderful correctness
of execution in the spear piercing our Saviour’s side. The
impatient agony of the two thieves, and our Saviour’s placid
countenance are admirably portrayed.

We went after church (Sunday, 18th August 1816) with
Madame Soivyns to see a capital private collection of paintings
belonging to a gentleman in the Place de Mer. At the head
of the staircase was a small statue of Cupid with this elegant
little French couplet under it :—

¢« Qui que tu sois, voici ton maitre,
11 Lest, le fut, ou le doit étre.”

Before dinner I put in practice my intention of ascending
the spire of the cathedral, and a tremendous undertaking it
was. I went to the highest gallery just under the cupola, 620
steps from the bottom. My old guide stopped short at the
last landing-place, 120 feet from the top, and indeed the last
twenty or thirty feet were terrific, for it is all open work—old
gothic arches with every appearance of ruin and decay and held
together with clamps of iron. The wind seemed as if it would
blow one through the arches, and the noise was awful.

He left Antwerp by diligence for Brussels, and,
on the 20th August, visited the field of Waterloo.

The little eminence to which Bonaparte several times
advanced while the attempts were being made to force the
British Iine is much nearer the scene of action at the moment
than I had imagined.

The morning was bright and beautiful. The harvest men
were gathering their crops of rye in that field where little
more than a year ago had been decided the fate of nations, and
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which now exhibited scarce a mark by which the traveller
could discover that it had witnessed the desolation of such
mighty armies. The field of battle, and the woods which
skirt it, is one of the pretticst scenes I observed in the Nether-
lands, and would be admired for its natural beauty alone.

The journey from Brussels to Paris was made
alone, by cabriolet, his friend Latham having sepa-
rated from him at Brussels, to go to Spa. The route
lay through Braine-le-Compte, Soignies, Mons,
Valenciennes, and Cambray.

Valenciennes contains now & great body of British troops.
I'met Major Holcroft in the streets, who could not believe his
eyes, and wondered, as well he might, how and why I had
found my way there. I inqguired for my old schoolfellow, Poole
England, and found I should most likely see him at Cambray.

Major (then Captain) Holeroft, Royal Axtillery,
above alluded to, had command of the « Car” Brigade
of Artillery (a volunteer artillery conpany of farmers’
sons with their draught horses) at the Battle of Queen-
ston Heights in 1812.

Poole England (whom, as he had been detached
from Cambray to some place nearer the coast, he
missed seeing) Lived to be a General Officer and
Commandant of the Royal Artillery. He saw active
service in the expedition to the Weser (1805-6), at
B8 the Cape of Good Hope, 1806-7, in the Peninsular

® War, 1818 and 1814, and died November 6, 1884,
1 aged ninety-six.

Arriving at Paris on the 24th August 1816, my

B father remained there three weeks, stopping at the

} Hotel de Breteuil in the Rue de Rivoli, where he
B Iud, he says, “ two very convenient little rooms, snugly
@ funished, looking into the Tuileries Gardens.”

: H
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After dressing I observed the gardens crowded with gay
company. In a few minutes Louis X VIIIL made his appear-
ance at an upper window of the palace. I was standing
immediately opposite, and should certainly have known him
by his portraits I have seen. Hats were all taken off, and
1 joined in the cry of Vive Z Roi, which was not as hearty
as I expected it would have been, not like John Bull’s shouting
when he is really delighted. He soon hobbled away, showing
much infirmity in his motions. The Dukes of Berri and of
Angouléme and the Duchesses afterwards presented themselves
at the window, and soon retired.

The world probably contains nothing that equals in
splendour the area comprehending the Tuileries Gardens and
Palace, the Louvre, and Palais Royal.

1t is uncomfortable walking through Paris, foot-passengers
throng in the middle of the road and coaches drive everywherc.
s all sauwe qui peut, and } “u require to be constantly on the
watch. I saw few clegant carriages, and, excepting the palace
itself and surrounding objects, there is more real splendour
in & full levée at Carlton House or the Queen’s Palace.

At 2, I walked in the Champs Elysées. The whole place
is full of booths, stages, and thousands and thousands of well-
dressed people.

The most curious sight is the Mt de Cocague, which
furnished the wits lately with a very good subject for a cari-
cature. It isa great pole of forty to fifty feet high, at the top
of which is a bush, and to the branches are tied silver cups and
other temptations for adventurers. The pole is greased, and
the great amusement is to see hundreds, one after the other,
attempt to gain the top. Cften, when they are nearly up,
they begin to slip, and then it is out of the question to stop,
and away they go.

The  caricature” above alluded to is a famous
one by George Cruikshank, 1815. The gouty and
infirm king has by great efforts reached the summit
of the pole, and is about to grasp the crown. Heis
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supported from below by Wellington (who props
him up with his sword point, to his great discomfort),
and on the shoulders of Austria, Russia, and Prussia.
His pockets are laden with money-bags and holy
water, to satisfy the claims of the émigrés. His
position is evidently an unhappy one. Napoleon
watches him from across the sea, and is saying, “I
climbed up twice, without any help.”

I couldnt help thinking when I entered the Champs
Elysées to-day of Sterne’s exclamation, “All the world had
gone a May-poling.” Every face seems determined to be
pleased. Here, as everywhere, a great proportion of the
loungers were military. Isaw a party of young soldiers who
were dancing hand to hand in a large ring, and singing a
national song of which the burden, of course, was Vive le Roi.
Probably some of these same men only last year deserted a
usurper’s standard.  One would think to-night that there were
but the words Vive Ze Roi in the French language. I daresay
there have been more Vize % Rois said and sung this day and
night in Paris than there have been “God save the King™
through the last reign. Poor Louis can’t feel much elevated
by the shouts of this Paris mob.

Passing near the Louvre in a cabriolet to-day I met the
Comnt de Chalus. He was quite astonished to see me, and
seemed greatly pleased to find a person from Canada. He gave
mea long account of his own private interests, and of the politics
of the court respecting persons in his situation. He says that
those who adhered most obstinately to the royal party during the
Revolution, and like himself abandoned their country until the
restoration of the monarchy, are named ultra-royalists, and are
not provided for or employed in the same manner as those
who, having been servants of Buonaparte, contributed by their
defection to the king’s success; but he says it is unavoidable.

}  The Count de Chalus, here referred to, was one
i of the Royalist émigrés to Canada after the French
I levolution. In Book 285, Record Office, Upper
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Canada, 1793, Major-General the Count de Chalug
and servants are entered as residing at Niagara, and
subsequently Colonel le Vicomte de Chalus and
Madame Vicomtesse, and Major Quetton de St
George are entered as having resided at Windham,

28th August.—I went to the Théitre Frangais. The picce
was dndromache, and the famous Talma was Hector. His
action is graceful, his voice admirably tragic, manly, and
deep-toned.

From the little opportunity I had of judging of Talma—by
what I saw of his manner and his countenance, and heard of hjs
voice—I should think he must be a much greater treat toa
Frenchman than Kemble to an Englishman.

Later on he saw Talma again in the part of
Hamlet, as adapted to the French stage, and writes :—

One fecls naturally great prejudices at the tragedy of
Shakespeare being moulded into rhyme and stripped of those
marks and touches of nature which, if they could be rendered
into another language, would scarcely be understood. The
admirable soliloquy is not attempted, and they dispense with
the players and the grave-diggers, who would be rather
grotesque in regular hexameters. You would suppose it could
excite little feeling in the representation, but it was far
otherwise.

His manner is graceful, manly, and chaste, without cant or
grimace. The audience were extremely affected. I think, had
I been a Frenchman, I could have wished for nothing better in
tragedy. With all the disadvantages of not understanding
him with ease, I am very sure T was never altogether so
satisfied with the performance of tragedy on the English
stage as I was with this. Ophelia was a wretched stick.

I have now heard Talma, Kemble, and Mrs. Siddons pley,
and seen Vestris dance, rather better fortune than I had

anticipated.

3rd Scptember.—Went to the Chamber of Deputies m the
Palais Bourbon. Below the President’s chair is the place for
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the orators, for the members do not, as in the English House
of Commons, speak in their places; but, if they have anything
to say, they must mount the rostrum, and, after having made
their bow to the President, turn their back upon him, and
address themselves to the Deputies.

I doubt whether this system is not a wise one, for it gives
more solemnity and form to the meeting, and precludes those
conversation picces which take up so much time in the British
House of Commons. Besides, I daresay many a man gets up
in his place and talks a great deal of nonsense who wenld
hesitate about making a formal exhibition and putting himself
in a situation where something like an oration would be ex-
pected from him.

He enjoyed especially his visits to Fontainebleau,
St. Cloud, Versailles, &ec., and the views over the
country obtainable from the heights near them ; and
more than all, the prospect from the terrace in front
of the Palace of St. Germain.?

1 remained 2 long time feasting my eyes on its beauty. At
your feet is a vineyard clothing the natural declivity to the
banks of the Seine; behind are the gardens and palace of St.
Germain; on your right the heights of Marli, covered with
trees; the palace and park of Malmaison; before you, the
Seine meandering through the whole extent of the prospect;
upon its banks the towns of Croissy, Le Pic, Ruit, and Nan-
terre; in the distance Mont Valerien and Montmartre, and the
venerable spire of St. Denis Cathedral ; on the left, Montmor-
ency and its delightful vale. While I was looking at this
charming valley, & storm of rain and mist swept overit. At
the same time the sun shone bright upon the heights of Marli,
and as the cloud retired and restored the beauties of the Vale
of Montmorency, nothing in scenery, though it might be more
grand, could be more beautiful and pleasing.

... Iwas much struck with the graceful, easy manner of
French men and women of all ranks. You see nowhere any

1 Sceo also page 130.
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mark of cmbarrassment or awkwardness, nor is their manner at
all au impudent one, or an affected imitation of the higher
classes.

It sits as ‘casily orc them, and scems as much their own, as
that of the most finished courtier.

I observed a common, plain-looking countryman in his
home-spun jacket, straw hat, and long queue, meeting another
peasant with his wife, and bowing as he approached, with all the
easy grace imaginable, ¢ Madame, j"ai Thonneur de vous saluer,
ot monsicur,” and throws out his hand to monsicur ™ with the
carcless air of a man of fashion.

If an honest English farmer were {o attempt his sort of
thing, he would certainly look ridiculous, not but that his
hearty shake of the hand and honest bluntness may be quite
as pleasing.

... One canuot help obscrving the striking difference
between the French and English in another way.

Most of the requests which in English are simply, “ Ring
the bell,™ or “Kneck,” or «Shut the gate,” have in Paris the
termination, Sl vous piait,” or the initials S.V.P.

12th September.—T breakfasted this morning with AMr.
M¢‘Leay and Mr. Ritchie, seeretary to Sir Charles Stewart, the
English Ambassador, a fine young man, bolany mad, and
all on fire to visit the interior of Africa to gather leaves and
MOosses. . . -

On going to the diligence office Ifound the stages to Rouen
fall. While I was inquiring, a gentleman came in to hire a
carriage to Dieppe, and he readily agreed to join, so I engaged
a carriage for three, for he had a servant with him, aud we had
to pay 100 franes. . . . My travelling companion I found very
pleasant, and as much a Frenchmau as English, which proved
convenient. His name is Reauvais. His sister is mother of
George Auldjo of Montreal, and he knows many of my Canadian
acquaintances. Sir Alexander MKenzie married his niece.

Sailing from Dieppe on the evening of the 14th
September, he reached Brighton after a passage of
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twelve hours, on the morning of the 15th September
1816.]

London, 21st November.— . . . I saw lately an inconsider-
able example of a London mob. After a seditious meeting in
Spa fields, some hundreds collected at night, and, proceeding to
St. James’ Square, broke some of the windows of Lord Castle-
reagh’s house. Then returning they moved up St. Martin’s
Lane, broke into some baker and butcher shops, and carried off
the bread and meat; and sticking some loaves on long poles,
marched riotously about Leicester Square and up to Seven
Dials. I was in the midst of them, and greater cowards I
never saw. They were in continual fear of the military, and
two dragoons could have put them to flight. The peace
officers succeeded in suppressing them. . . .

81st December.—I went down to-day with Mr. Adams in
his carriage to Sydenham and dined with my good friends there,
who always give me a cordial welcome.

Our dinner party, besides the many ladies of the family,
consisted of Sir Herbert Sawyer, the admiral who commanded
on the Halifax station some years ago; Captain Wise of the
Granicus, whose gallant conduct was conspicuous in the late
attack on Algiers; and Mr. Scott, the celebrated surgeon of
Bromley. Mr. Camplell, the poet, joined us in the evening.
Captain Dacres, Mr. Adams’ cousin, who lost the Guerricre!
wa to have dined, but was prevented. I had a good deal
of conversation with Sir Herbert Sawyer on American matters.
We spent an extremely pleasant day, and at least ended the
old year happily.

1st January 1817.—DBreakfasted with Mr. Adams, and re-
turned to town with Captain Wise, who offered me a seat in

his gig. Dined with the Merrys, and thus finisked my New
Years Day.

1 Jn the action between the British frigate Guerriére (once a French
vessel), 48 puns, crew 244, and the American frigate Constitution (56 guns,
crew 460), August 16, 1812, Captain Dacres fought his ship until she was
g0 damaged that she could not afterwards be kept afloat, and only then
lovered his flag.
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dth Janwary.—Commenced my journcy to Northampton
shire to pay the Reverend George Boulton, Reclor of Oxenden
(brother of M. D'Arey Boullon, Attorney-General of Upper
Canada), my long-promised visit.

.+« They gave me a very cordial welcome, and from M.
Boulton's extretae and indeed wonderful resemblance in mauners
and conversation to his brother, and from the cheerful good-
humour of lhe whole family, I soon felt myself perfeelly at
home.

Q0th January.—IX rose at daylight (Lo return to London),
and found all the young ladies downslairs and o comfortable
breakfast waiting for me. . . .

On the return journey he stopped at Coventry,
where a fcllow-traveller, Dr. Ing, showed him what
was to be seen. e also visited Kenilworth, Warwick
Castle, Stratford-on-Avon, and Stowe, reaching
London on the 25th.

28th Januwy.—Parliament met to-day, and I went there at
one a’clock.

At two o'clock, the Prince Regent entered and delivered
the specch from the throne in a good strong voice, and with
proper eftect.

The whole scene is very splendid. The great number of
well-dressed ladies, foreigners of distinction, peers in their rohes,
bishops in lawn, judges and serjeants in their wigs and searlet.
&c. The Prince must have dreaded very much this necessary
ceremony, and not without cause, as was proved by the dis-
grace’ul ontrages committed on his passage back through
St. Jo nes” Park.  The window of his state carriage was broken
in by great stones thrown by the mob, and perforated (as is
imagined) by bullets The horses were attacked; Colonel
Barton, who commanded the Guards, pelted, &e.

One thousand pounds reward is offered for the discovery of
any person who threw the stones, but nothing is yet found out.

About this time my father ceased keeping his
Journal regularly, resuming it again during a trip,
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vid Matlock, to the English lakes and Scotland in
April and May 1817, in the form of letlers to my
mother, to whom he was then engaged.

Writing of Matlock, he says :—

We set out to scramble to the top of High Tor. Iid you
know ihat this mountain is called “The Height of Abrabham,”
from its striking resemblance to the Heights of Abraham at
Quebee. I was not disappointed. The prospect was awfully
grand, bubt not so good as several views we snatched as we
laboured up the side.

The Yorkshire scenery struck him as especially
beautiful. He writes of the route from Sheflicld to
Leeds, through Wakefield, “T have seen no tract
of equal extent half so rich and lovely. I must give
up my favourite Kent, and give, above all, the pre-
ference to Yorkshire.”

Kennan, 8th April 1817,

This morning I was detained determining my tour, and
preparing for pedestrian feats by sending off my baggage
to Ambleside to wait for me. At breakfast I met a young
gentleman who had beeu detained a prisoner in the United

States during the lale war, and knew some of my old friends
who were his companions in captivity.

From this point—generally walking, but some-
times on horseback or driving—he visited all the
points of most interest on Lakes Windermere, Coni-
ston Water, Grasmere, Derwentwater, and Ulswater.
‘ In writing to my mother from Windermere, he
® sys: “The poetical fit, as I told you, has been
coming on ever since 1 beheld the Vale of Otley,

B wnd all the charms of Yorkshire,” and he sends her

R sime verses, of which I give the opening and con-
% cluding lines.
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Lines on an April visit to Windermere on a fine evening,
immediately afier a storm.

Tuz clonds are fled, the storm is d’er,
The winds are hushed that swept thy shore,
*Tis evening, and thy mountains gleam
Beneath the sun’s departing beam,

The mists the clouds had scattered wide,
Are gilded as they mcunt their side.
More lovely now each charm appears,
*Tis beauty smiling through her tears.
Sweet lake, whose bosom clear, serene,
Reflects each feature of the scene,

One who ne’er thought to wander here,
A stranger greets thee, Windermere.

Born in a land where winter reigns
Stern as o'er bleak Siberia’s plains,
Where summer’s bright and genial sky
Might rival that of lta]y,

I oft: have stray’d * “ere deep’ning wood
Frowns o'er St. Lawrence’ noble ﬂood
Or where Niagara's torrents roar—
Sublimest work in nature’s store.

On Abr’ham’s plains where Britain’s pride—
Lamented Wolfe—in victory died.

But could I hope to wander here,

On thy sweet margin—Windermere ?

O Sur! in all thy various course,

Fen in those regions where thy force
Is fiercest felt, where shine most bright
Thy glories—splendid orb of light!
Where suppliant nations bow t‘le knee
And own no other God but thee.

Or in those milder climes where reigns
Thy temper'd influence o’er the plains,
Where hills and dales and meads are seen
Like Albion’s, in eternal green,
Say—do’st thou ever rise to cheer

A brighter scene than Windermere #

3 . - - - .
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Farewell each cot, each cove, each hill,
In mem’ry shall I view thee still,

Each isle thy ambient water laves

Each tree that o’er thy bosom waves,
And ev'ry charm that centres here,
Farewell—farewell—sweet Windermere.

You may smile at your lucky escape when I tell you that,
in some former attacks of the poetical fit, I have been very
nearly exercising my troublesome talent on a subject whose
beauties lie much nearer, my heart than those of Windermere,
but I have managed to restrain my wicked propensity.

It was prudent evidently to make the first experiment on
the poor senseless lake, which cannot feel the insult.

After seeing Ulswater, he returned to Penrith
before taking the coach to Carlisle.

So ended my tour of the Lakes. Were I required to give
an opinion, I should hesitate much in deciding which is the
prettiest. VWindermere has its island, and its mountains are
estremely majestic.

The Coniston Wat r is beautiful, and its surrounding
mountains are grand, but there is a nakedness about it. The
Derwentwater has exquisite beauties. The whole shore from
the town to the Borrowdale Pass along Lowdon—the fine
ilends—the wood opposite Keswick—the Crosthwaite Church
#t the top—Skiddaw behind, and the town of Keswick scated
on the bank, form a comkLination of charms.

But then again Ulswater, with all its grand scenery around
| it(certainly not so wild and romantic as the others), and its
B fnc, free, bold expanse of water, has such an air of beauty of
| cilisation, that I believe I should lean to it in my judgment
bt it has one sad want—islands—at least in jts principal
€xpanse.

On the whole, my trip to the Lakes gratified me extremely.
Oor large rivers rolling among their numerous islands afford
mey hundreds of scenes of mucl the same nature, but we
j Lave no Skiddaw or Helvellyn, and the grand characteristics of
§ Westmoreland were a novel sight to me.
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T was much pleased with the people of the country—I mean
the farmers and shepherds.  What shoes they use among these
mountains ; what ponderous frames of wood and iron. Do you
know I should not be surprised if the phrase of a son “stepping
into his father’s shoes™ was tzken from Westmoreland and
Cumberland, where the shoes may literally descend as an heir-
loom fromn generation to generation.

Passing through Gretna Green into Scotland, he
visited the Falls of the Clyde.

After I had ascended the hill on my return home, the view
of the Clyde below me, and of Lanark beautifully situated on
the opposite bank was extremely pleasing. Indced, I was sur-
prised I had not heard the scenery about here more particularly
spoken of. It excels many places 1 have seen described in
most glowing colours, and I shall never withhold my assent
from any Scotsman when he expatiates on the beauties of
the “ Vale of the Clyde.”

At Glasgow he met an old brother officer, Captain
Jarvie, who, jointly with his father and brothers, was
proprietor of the Anderton Rope Works ther=.

How little we thought four years ago, when we were march-
ing about Canada, that we should ever mect in Glasgow. Yoor
fellow, his arm is = useless burthen to him, and another serious
shot he received in his leg, when York (Toronto) was attacked
just this month four years ago,! has changed him much from
the braw, sturdy chiel he used to be. I spent the morning in
perambulating the town under his guidance.

From Glasgow his route lay by steamer down the
Clyde to Dunglass, whence he saw Dumbarten
Castle; then along Loch Xomond to Luss, from
whence he ascended Ben Lomond; then by Aber

1 Captain Jarvie appears to have served in the Incorporated Militia at
the taking of York in 1813 and was also in the campaign of 1812
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foyle to Loch Katrine, Callander, Stirling, and
Edinburgh.

Saturday, 19th April 1817.— At eight this morning I left
Stirling in the mail for Edinburgh. This is & charming and
delightful country. I am quite in love with it, It has far
exceeded my expectations. . . .

Before seeing anything in Edinburgh, he deter-
mined to pay a visit, though a huried one and in-
volving a long journey by coach, to Aberdeen.

I could be well content to go no further north, but I cannot
bear the ides of being within twenty-four hours of the place
where Dr. Strachan, my best and dearest friend, was born and
educated, and where I believe he has a brother still residing,
without making an exertion to see it.

Setting off at 8 a.ar. from Edinburgh, he reached
Aberdeen after twenty-one hours in the coach. He
left to return the next day at 3 ra1., and was in
Edinburgh at noon the day following, two nights
(forty-two hours in all) of coach travelling.

At Aberdeen he found Dr. Strachan’s brother,
who showed him over the Grammar School, where
Dr. Strachan had been educated, and some other
places in the town.

Irecognised a little, and but little, of his brother’s manner
in him, for they have been separated nearly twenty years.
After 2 good deal of gossiping on subjects equally interesting,
I really believe, to both of us, he led me round, through and
about Aberdeen.

Dempsey’s Inn, at which I stayed, is by far the most com-
fortable lodging in every way that I have found in Scotland—
I'think I may say better than any I have found in England.
The fish here is delicious, particularly the haddocks, or, as the
Scotch call them, haddics.
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Of the oatmeal cake he found in Scotland, he
says —

I like it very much; I tasted some in England, but it was
soft, tough, and sour. The Scctch understand it better; theirs
is crisp and sweet.

On the night journey from Aberdeen to Edinburgh, a
gentleman I had seen at breakfast at the inn insisted on my
taking his large greatcoat. I assure you I f¢lé his kindness all
the way to town, for in this northern climate a night on the
top of a coach, with a cold wind blowing right off the sea, is
not at all delightful. Another insisted on my putting on a
pair of overalls he had with him, part of his old wmilitary
equipment, and pressed it with so much anxiety that I con-
sented ; and thus, equipped by subscription, I was independent
of the cold.

At breakfast my obliging friend was very anxious to know
howI had passed the night. There was something in the frank
openness of his manner that struck me very forcibly from its
resemblance to something I had beer used to, and I could not
forbear saying, “I am convinced, sir, from your manner and
voice, that T have travelled before now with some near relations
of yours a long distance from hence—I won’t ask you what
your name is, but what it is not. It is not Forsyth, isit?”
¢ Yes, sir, my name is Forsyth.” “Have you not some brothers
in America?™ “No, they are cousins ; but I wonder you should
have been so much struck with the resemblance.”

I had been intimate with several of his family, two of
whom, when I was a schoolboy, on my different journeys home
during the vacation, had taken the same care of me that he
was doing now. This was rather a singular occurrence, and
has been 2 fortunate one for me, as he is as kind and attentive
as the oldest friend could be, and knows everything and every-
body here (Edinburgh), for he was educated at the Edinburgh
University, and has hosts of friends in the town. Heand I
took up our lodgings at M‘Gregor’s Hotel in Princes Strect

o4th April—Jeffrey? had begged me to go down early in

1 Fraucis Jeffrey, afterwards Lord Jeffrey, Judge of tho Court of
Session.
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the day to see him, and after my return (from Leith) I should
have gone, but Captain Barclay, the gallant and unfortunate
naval officer, who lost his squadron and the use of his remain-
ing arm on Lake Erije last war, did me the favour to call, and
had so many questions to ask about his good friends in Canada,
that I could not easily leave before three.

The British squadron on Lake Erie, under the
command of Captain R. H. Barclay, was after a
most gallant contest with a force superior in guns
and men, compelled to surrender to the American
fleet on the 10th September 1813.

It may be interesting to add that Captain Barclay
(as well as Wilkie, the celebrated painter), had been
pupils of Dr. Strachan at the parish school of Kettle
before the latter went to Canada.

My father had brought with him from London
letters of introduction to Mr. Jeffrey, mentioned
above, the editor of the Edinburgh Review, and then
one of the recognised leaders of Whig society in
Edinburgh ; and also (from Campbell, the poet) to
Sir Walter (then Mr.) Scott.

To resume from my father’s Journal :—

Jeffrey has a very pretty place called Craig’s Crook, about
three miles from town, which he has taken a twenty years' lease
of. Accompanied by Mrs. Jeffrey, we took a long walk before
dinner around the estate. It commands from different points
charming views of Edinburgh and the Forth. . . .

j  Before dinner we talked of Scotch law and Scotch Judges,

BB Lord Selkirk’s settlement, &c., and a variety of matters. With

Mrs. Jeffrey I was rather at home, for she is from New York,?
snd we found we had many acquaintances in common.

‘ A Mr. Thomson, editor of Burns's poems, Dr. Gordon, and
abrother of Mr. Jeffrey’s dined with us.

1 Mrs. Jeffrey was a Miss Wilkes, of New York.
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I had heard from several people that Jeffrey’s conversation
was like a well-written book, and really his language flows from
him as rapidly and as naturally as the Clyde rolls down the
Cora-Linn. In this respect he is a curiosity. But, after all,
my admiration of him is not unbounded ; for, between ourselves,
I think him merely a clever man, and sheuld be sorry tc be
bound by his judgment, or to act on all his principles. . . .

. . . Jeffrey assured me—and no one can know better than
himself— that the public have that opinion of Campbell’s
poetical talents, from the great excellence of the few specimens
he has given, that a bookseller would give 4000 guineas fora
poem containing 200 pages that he would authenticate with
his signature. How provoking that the man will not write,
but compile. . . .

After three or four days spent in seeing Edinburgh,

he writes :—

I had thought of staying here till Monday, and hearing &
sermon on Sunday from Mr. Alison? at the Cowgate Chapel,
but I have been getting more and more impatient every half
hour to move southwards, and have just determined to set out
at eight in the morning for Melrose. . . .

From Melrose he walked to Abbotsford (26th
April 1817).

I set off with Mr. Campbell’s letter and my Ben Lomend
stick in my hand. As I passed & stone quarry half a mile from
Abbotsford, a merry simple-looking Scotchman jumped out of
it, left his work and followed me, eager to give me every
information. “This place belongs to Mr. Scott, doesn’t it?”
« Aye sure, TValler Scott, Walter Scott.”

This good man I learnt afterwards was Mr. Tom Purdie,
the “facetious Tom Purdie,” as his master called him, the
poet’s factotum and superintendent general.

At Abbotsford, Mr. Scott came in saying :—

« Tt gives me the greatest pleasure at all times to seca friend
of Thomas Campbell, and you could not have come mor

1 The Rev. Archibald Alison, father of Sir Archibald Alison,the historian. S
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opportunely, for we are just sitting dow * to dinner; so walk
in without ceremony and see what we have got.” After due
expressions of extreme regret at the unseasonable interruption,
I walked in, and was introduced to Mis. Scott. They have
merely come here themselves for a week or two, leaving their
children in Edinburgh. My attention was roused by the most
striking specimen of the canine tribe, by name «Maida,” that
I have ever seen, a most beautiful and immense Highland stag-
bound, with close hair and mane like a lion, 'with his bacl:
six inches at least above the table, and larger altogether than
a Highland steed.

Greyhounds were strewn about the room, and Mrs. Scott’s
favourite spaniel seemed quite to fancy himself one of the
company.

Dinner progressed charmingly, and at last, when Mus. Scott
withdrew, he squared round to the fire and we sat down to
our bottle of Madeira. . . .

His conversation is that of a plain, unaffected, thinking
man, as remote as possible from anything dogmatic or pedantic
—full of information, dealt out in a simple easy manner ; not
like Jeffrey’s, elegant, refined, unhesitating, and almost ora-
torical; nor playful, pointed, and sparkling like M. Campbell’s.

At Sydenham, besides Mr. Adams’s little boys, there are
often other children in the room, and whenever Mr. Campbell
opens his mouth, their own conversation is suspended at once,
and they all look at him with a spreading grin, sure that
something is coming out very funny; and very rarely indeed
does he close his mouth without affording them ample excuse

[ for increasing that grin to a titter.

Mr. Scott, good-humoured, and replete with recollections of
g cvery kind, and drawn from every source, says many good
£ things in a plain way, and whenever he describes reminds you
of some of his poems, giving you all the little traits, the com-
bination of which makes up the picture, with such striking and
felicitous minuteness that if you look at him and watch his
i countenance and manner you fancy you are looking at the
j Dicture he is drawing.
Ishall never forget his description of one of Bird’s paint-

I
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ings which he once saw, and which struck his fancy, called
«The Arrival of Good News” e put himself into all the
attitudes, and assumed the different characters of every figure
in the curious group. The post-boy chuckling as he took his
dram ; the drunken old soldier; the country lads quizzing him
behind his back ; the old village politician who had hold of the
important Gazette, and was reading it aloud to the company,
very much annoyed Dy the officiousness of his next neighbour,
who as fast as ie read the news, was bawling it into tle car of
a deaf man, whose stupid stare and bewildered eye showed how
imperfectly he caught it. . . .

As we dined early he took me out afterwards over his
estate. After a long walk about the fields and along the
river, suspended to point out many projected improvements,
and to tell at greater ease many a good story, and now and
then to use the little ivory whistle in calling the greyhounds
from worrying the haves which abound in the plantations, we
returned homewards, and took a minute survey of the new
addition which is building, and which, when finished, will form
in fact the principal part of the house. “I managed along
time,” he said, “with the rooms I am in, till one day last
summer, Sir Henry M‘Dougall’s fat butler actually stuck fast
between the table and the wall, and then I thought it high
time to think of enlarging.”

He is putting up a dining-room of 27 by 17, which, except
in cases of an extravagant kind, will prevent any similar
accidents in future. . . .

He had told me while we were walking that I wmust stay all
night, so I made myself easy for the evening, and it was spent
in the most sociable and familiar manner possible.

The poet went over all his peregrinations in the Netherlands
and France in 1814, and related all the particulars of his vist
to Waterloo three weeks after the battle. It pleased me to
find that in going over the same country, he was most struck,
and dwelt with most enthusiasm on the very two things that
had made, and have left, the strongest impression on myovn §8
mind—the Cathedral at Antwerp, and the view from the BN
terrace of St. Germain. . . . i
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He told me that if I would spend another day with him, he
would take me to see some little lake in the vicinity, which he
seemed to admire, but I was sensible my visit must be an
intrusion, and felt it a duty to lessen as much as possible the
sum of the evil. . . . The next morning I set out on my return
to Melrose, accompanied by my kind host, who walked a great
part of the way with me; and at parting begged me when I
saw Mr. Campbell to remember me most kindly to him, and
tell him “how extremely thankful he was to him for affording
him an opportunity of seeing me.” (Vidi—I have seen; I
thought to myself.)

As my father was only a young man when he
wrote the above as to Jeffrey, Scott, and Campbeli,
and his acquaintance, with the two former at all
events, was but a slight travelling one, it is interest-
ing to compare the impressions set down in his
Journal with those penned by one® who knew them
intimately ; and which I give below :—

I saw much (during the winter of 1816-17) of the Whig
society of Edinburgh, which at that period enjoyed a high,
and in some respects a deserved reputation. . . .

There was considerable cleverness, much fun, and great
bonkomic and joviality in this society, and at Craigerook in
particular (Jeffrey’s country house near Edinburgh), where
Jefirey gave vent to the kindliness of his disposition, and the
fich flow of his talk, nothing could be more fascinating than
the conversation which frequently prevailed. . . .

Sir Walter Scott’s memory was extraordinary, as it is in
almost all men of the highest intellectual character ; his power
of observation perhaps unrivalled; his humour great. The

B whole stores of his mind thus acquired, relating chiefly to men,

manners, and former customs or events, were poured out in
company, or in his own house, with great power of narrative
and vith infinite humour and effect. But the greater part of

1 Sir Archibald Alison.
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the charm which captivated all who approached him, lay in the
manner of telling. . .

In ordinary society Campbell did not appear by any meaus
to the same advantage as Jeffrey, though he possessed incom-
parably more genius and sensibility. The former made no
attempt at display in conversation, but the occasicnal splendid
expression, the frequent tear in the eye, bespoke the profound
emotion which was felt. 'The latter spoke lightly and felici-
tously on every subject—with equal facility he could descant
on literature, philosophy, poetry, politics, or the arts; but the
very copiousness of the stream, and the readiness with which it
was poured forth on all occasions, proved that no reluctance
was felt at unlocking its fountains, and that they lay near
the surface. No deep wells of thought or feeling existed in

Jeffrey. . . 2

My father always looked back with pleasure to
his having met Scott and Campbell. Engravings of
both, that of the latter given to him by Campbell,
hung in his library at Beverley House.

From Melrose, after seeing the ruins of the Abbey,
he returned to London, vid Kelso, Berwick, Alnwick,
Newcastle, Durham, York, and Cambridge. stopping
a little time at some of these places.

The town of Kelso I am in raptures with, and really
believe I should choose it for a summer’s retirement in pre-
ference to anything I remember in England or Scotland. It
is a fine, clean little town. The Tweed and Teviot abound in
trout, and the walks around are not to be surpassed in beauty

and pleasantness.

At Alnwick he had friends in Mr. and Mrs. Smith,
and Major and Mrs. Derenzy.®

1 Autobiography of Sir Archibald Alison, by Lady Alison (1883).

2 A sister of Mrs. Smith was married to Colonel Pilkington, RE,
whom my father often saw at Woolwich. Major Derenzy had served in
the 41st Regiment in Canada in the War of 1812-15.
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It was rather odd, and rather fortunate, that my clever
caleulations should have brought me to Alnwick on the very
day on which Lord Perey was married. "The ceremony, as you
know, took place yesterday in London (29th April 1817), but
it was celebrated at Aluwick by the usual rejoicings.

The Duke’s tenants began to assemble at an early hour in
the market-place, where an ox was put on about ien o'clock to
roast for their repast in the afternoon. This was the first ox
I had ever seen roasted whole.

.+ . When Mr. Smith gave the signal, about a dozen
butchers hewed this great ox to pieces on a sceaffold in the
centre of the market-place, and it was then thrown in bits
among the crowd. Several cartloads of rolls were disposed of
in the same way, and about 1200 quarts of ale were distributed.

He was much struck with King’s College,
Cambridge.

The ornamental Gothic carving of the interior is inex-
pressibly rich. The addition of the Crown to the usual
Gothic ornaments of the Rose and Portcullis has the finest
possible effect.

On the 6th May he returned to London, having
had most exceptionally fine weather throughout his
tour. .

It may be a century before the month of April wili be
found so propitious to the vagabond life I have been leading.
Not a town have I seen whose streets were not dry, not a lake
or Jandscape on which the sun was not shining, nor, except the
snow-storm on Helvellya, did I ever ascend an eminence to
view the prospect it commanded, without enjoying it to its
utmost limit, unobscured by fog or clouds. . . .

His Journal closes with this entry :—

Yith May 1817.—Poole England,! now a reduced Captain

1 See page 113.
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of Axlillery, breakfasted with me. Our first mecting since we
were children.

When not long after this my father returned to
Canada, it can be gathered from the preceding
chapters that his experience, both professionally and
generally, during the five years which had elapsed
since the breaking out of the War of 1812, had becen
of a more varicd kind than was usual at his age.
Soon after the war he had been placed in a post
where he had both work and responsibility thrown
upon him, and had been compelled to dccide and
act for himsclf. This, with what he had afterwards
seen of the world, was no doubt of much service
to him.




CHAPTER VI
MARRIAGE~—APPOINTED ATTORNEY-GENERAL—WORK
AT THE BAR AND IN THE HOUSE OF ASSEMBLY
1817-23

Marringe—Roturn to Canudn — Appointed Attorney-Goneral — Lettors
from Sir F. Robinson, Sir Gm‘(}ml Drummond, and otherg—Contest
botween Lord Selkirk and the North-West Company—Appointed to
represent York (Toronto) in the Houre of Assembly —Sent ag Com-
missioner to Bugland on the subject of the fiscal relations between
Uppor and Lower Canada—Address of both ouses with respect
to this—~Called to tho English Bar—Intorest in emigration—De-
clings grants of Government land, and tho Chief Justiceship of
Mauritivg, &.—Advocates a confederation of all the British Ameri-
can Provinces—Siv . Maitlind—DMr. Coploay-——The Duke of Welling-
ton—Urged by Dr. Strachau to remain permanently in England—
Return to Canada.

Ox the 5th June 1817, my father was married to
Emma Walker® at the New Church of St. Maryle-
bone in London.

About two months afterwards, on 1st August
1817, they sailed for Canada, and after an exceed-
ingly bad and long voyage reached York on 1st
November, and settled down at Beverley House,
which had been purchased from Mr. D’Arcy Boul-
ton, who built it at some date previous to the
breaking out of the War of 1812-15.

In this house, subsequently enlarged, they lived
until their death, and here all their children were
born®

! Tho daughter of Charles Walker, Esq., of Harlesden, Middlesex,
whose sister Elizaboth had married Mr. Willium Merry, and brought up
this nicce a great deal with her own family,

¥ Where my brother, Christopl.or Robinson, now lives.

¥ See Appendix B, V.
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Before he reached York a vacancy had occurred
on the Bench in Upper Canada, which led to the
appointment of Mr. Boulton, then Attorney-General,
to a Judgeship, and my father was nominated to
succeed him as Attorney-General, his commission
being dated 11th February 1818.

The following letter from Sir Gordon Drummond
to the Under-Secretary of State for the Colonies
recommends him for this post in succession to Mr.

Boulton :—
Barm, 26tk March 1817.

Dear Sie,—Having just been informed that an application
has recently been made by Mxr. Boulton, the Attorney-General
of Upper Canada, to be promoted to the vacant seat on the
Bench in that province ; and that a communication has been
forwarded to His DMajesty’s Government by ILieutenant-
Governor Gore recommendatory of that measure, I beg leave
to remind you of an interview I had the pleasure of having
with you some time since, in which I urged the appointment
of Mr. Robinson, the Solicitor-General of Upper Canada, to
the situation of Attorney-General in the event of Mr. Boulton
vacating that office.

It is with peculiar satisfaction that I avail myself of this
opportunity of bearing testimony to the distinguished talents
of Mr. Robinson, which were frequently displayed while he was
acting Attorney-General at the period of my administering
the government of Upper Canada, in successfully conducting a
great number of trials for high treason, as well as in frustrat-
ing several perplexing prosccutions for trespass, &c., which
were brought by some troublesome disaffected individuals
against the Government whilst exercising the powers they
were compelled to assume in defence of the province

And I have no hesitation in saying that should the pro-
motion of this gentleman to the vacant office of Attorney-
General be decmed expedient by Earl Bathurst, he will fulfil
the duties of that appointment with no less credit to himself
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than advantage t.- the public: service.—I have the honour to
be, dear Sir, your most obedient humble servant,

GornoN Druanoxp.
H. Govrsurx, Esquire,
Under-Secretary of State for the Colonies.

The letters below are also of this period (1817-18).

From Sir Frederick Robinson® to J. B. Robinson (alluding
to his Marriage).

Tonaco, 30th August 1817.

My congratulations will come on a day after the usual
time, but nevertheless I will congratulate you with all my
heart, and hearty wishes for a Jong continuance of domestic
happiness to you and your wife. I wish I could witness it
personally, but I fear you will have returned to Canada long
before I shall be able to leave this for England.

Were I in any other country or climate than this, I would
endeavour to bribe you to come to me, but asitis I cannot
venture.

I will, however, tell you that there isno great improbability
of my having a situation in the land to dispose of ; and, at all
events, if any young lawyer would come well introduced to me,
I'would ensure him a large and rapid fortune, there being a
press of business with very high fees. It is more than probable
that you have seen my daughters Annie and Augosta 2 on their
return to England. They will give you a full account of this
island. We never have a headache among us, and begin to
think people may vegetate here as well as in other countries.

Pray present my most affectionate regards with those of my
daughters to your wife. We do most sincerelv wish you every
happiness. Remember us also most kindly to the Merrys.

From Elizabeth (Mrs. William) Merry to Emma Robinson.

Gowzn Srreet, 28th November 1817,
My vEry pEAR EmMa,—The view of your handwriting was

1 Then Governor of Tobago.
* Amnic married the Reverend W. Wilson, but left no children;

 Augusta died unmarried in Tobago.
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the most delightful sight I have beheld for a length of time.
There seemed to be no end to the week after week without a
line from you, the latest intelligence being from the Downs the
4th August.

But that is over, and your delightfully welcome packet
came to hand on the 10th, and I rejoice to hear you are happily
arrived after your dreadful voyage.

. . . It is well there are some few years between now and
the time you talked of agam coming to England, as I fear,
with the present impression on your mind, your inclination
would not lead you to encounter again what you must have
suffered. . . .

From Sir Frederick Robinson to J. B. Robinson.
Tonaco, 7ih July 1818,

. .. We are all anxious to hear from you, and to know
the truth of the report of a young Attorney-General * having
arrived to assist you in your office.

. . . If this should ever reach you, pray lose no timein
giving me a particular account of yourself and family, together
with one of my quondam Government, which I am still as much
interested in as ever. Let me know what changes have taken
place and how things are going on, dwelling a little on the
settlement on the Rideau, as well as that at the head of the
Bay of Quinte.

I shall never be so interested in any Government as I was
in that of Upper Canada. There was much to bedone, and
everything was interesting.

We have read a great deal in the papers about Lord
Selkirk’s affair,2 which is as extraordinary a case as ever
appeared in the history of new settlers. It appears ina
different complexion, I think, to what it did when I fint
heard of it

My whole flock unite in best regards to you and yours

1 Alludes to the birth of James Lukin Robinson, born 27th March
818.
2 See following pages as to this.
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I hope your wife will enter into a correspondence or rather
renew one with my daughter Maria,2 and I trust I shall soon
hear from you.

For the next few years my father's work at the
Bar and in the House of Assembly, as Attorney-
General, and also Member for York (now Toronto),
which he became in 1821, was hard and constant.

Legal proceedings of a troublesome kind grew
out of serious disturbances which had taken place
in the North-West Territory of Canada between
the Hudson’s Bay and the North- West Fur
Trading Companies in the years 1815, ’16, and ’17,
the former of these having claimed the right to
certain tracts of land and exclusive trading in them
not admitted by the latter.

The fiscal relations also between Upper and
Lower Canada became strained, which led to my
father being sent to England as Commissioner with
respect to them, and he was then able to complete
his terms and be called to the English Bar.

Proposals for the union of the two Canadas,
and also of all the British American Provinces,
were raised when he was in England, and he then
advocated the latter measure to the utmost of his
power.

The question of emigration to Canada was one
which much interested him ; and with respect to his
work altogether within the period between 1818 and
1823 he thus refers in his Memorandum :—

I had now some responsible and difficult duties to

discharge.

! Afterwards Mrs. Hamilton Hamilton, married to Hamilton C. J.
Hailton Esq., of the Diplomatic Service, and died at Brighton in 1884,
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Large estates had been forfeited to the Crown by the
treason of their possessors ; and many more, under a provincial
statute, by the owners abandoning the province during the
war and withdrawing to the United States. I had to frame
the statute for vesting these estates in commission, providing
for the satisfaction of all lawful claims upon them, and for the
sale of the estates and appropriation of the proceeds.

The contest between Lord Selkirk and the North-West
Company in the Hudson's Bay territory occasioned great
disturbance, many acts of violence, and some bloodshed, in
the years 1815, 1816, 1817. The offences committed there
were, under a DBritish Act of Parliament, made triable in
Upper Canada. This threw upon me, as Attorney-General,
a responsible and arduous duty. Many indictments had been
preferred at the instance of Lord Selkirk against partners,
clerks, and servants of the North-West Company for alleged
felonies, which, under the statute I have referred to, were seat
to Upper Canada to be tried. These were disposed of at our
ordinary criminal court.

The Royal Commissioners sent into the Indian territory
had collected an immense mass of evidence, and made a report,
which furnished the foundation of my proceedings.

Lord Selkirk had been, in his youth, brought up to the
legal profession; and he assumed very much to control the
conduct of such criminal proceedings as he desired should be
instituted on his behalf against the agents and servants of the
North-West Company. He seemed to have been, in a great
degree, permitted to do so in Lower Canada, but in Upper
Canada I declined to allow any further interference with my
discretion and duties as public prosecutor than appeared to me
to belong properly to his position as a complainant.

The North-West Company, on their part, complained of
many illegal acts committed against them, some of them ofa
most extraordinary character; but they were content to leave
the method of dealing with them to the proper public autho-
rities, without attempting to dictate.

On a view of the whole immense mass of evidence, it
appeared to me to be obviously the proper course, instead of
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indicting, as Lord Selkirk desired me, for murder and larceny
and arson, to look upon all that had been done by his Lordship
and his associates, in a high-handed contest of this nature, as
so many efforts on their part to ruin their opponents, by pos-
sessing themselves of their effects and supplanting them in their
trade. I accordingly presented an indictment of that charac-
ter, prepared after much labour and with great care.

"The efforts of his Lordship to prevent the bill being found
by the Grand Jury were in every point of view extraordinary,
but were unsuccessful.

Nevertheless, as soon as the indictment was found, Lord
Selkirk, instead of remaining to abide his trial, withdrew to
England, where he addressed to the Government, and made
in his place in Parliament, the most ungenerous complaints
against the Government of this province, and especially the
Attorney-Gencral, whom he charged with all kinds of injustice
and oppression.

This occasioned & call from the Secretary of State upon the
Governor, Sir Peregrine Maitland, for a full report of all that
had taken place in the proceedings within his Government.

It became my duty to furnish this, and I was happy in
being called upon to do so, though the details filled eighty
pages, besides a large appendix, in which, among other things,
the whole correspondence that had taken place with Lord
Selkirk was inserted.

Not long after,! Lord Selkirk died, one consequence of
which I could not but regret, for nothing more was ever heard
in Parliament upon the subject, and all that had been made
public was his Lordship’s unfounded accusation. The state-
ments and proofs by which its injustice was exposed never went
out of the Colonial Office.

These proceedings kept me laboriously employed for many
months, and they compelled me to relinquish one of my
ondinary circuits. I confined myself to the official scale of
charge for ordinary prosecutions, according to which the

! Lord Selkirk died at Pau, 8th April 1820, having gone there from
England in bad health,
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indictment for conspiracy stood in my account charged at £2,
which probably did not pay for the parchment on which it was
engrossed, and all that I did in the whole of these proseculions
did not impose upon the Government any greater burthen, nor
produce to myself any greater recompense, thau about £40,
which, I think, did not rcimburse what I had expended in
stalionery, postage, and copying clerks. I mention this not as
giving me any ground of complaint against the Government.
If T had applied for a more adequale remuncration, it would
not have been refused, but I abstained from doing so, perhaps
foolishly.

Before passing on to other matters, I will sup-
plement my father’s references to the disturbances
in the North-West Territory by a fuller explanation
of what had occurred there; and close with a letter
he reccived from the Secretary of State for the
Colonies in May 1819 in connection with these
events.

The contests which took place in the years 1815,
1816, and 1817 between the rival XHudson’s Bay
and North-West Companies recall the warfare
on the Scotch and English borders in the Middle
Ages.

Lord Selkirk had, in 1812, formed a settlement
at Red River, on land conveyed to him by the
Hudson’s Bay Company.*

Retween this Company and the North-West
Company of Montreal, there was, no doubt, inde-
pendently of any action on Lord Selkirk’s part,
commercial rivalry—if not enmity.

Both Companies had arms and fortified posts, for
security against Indians and the safety of their

1 Consisting of large tracts over which, before his acquirement of the
Jand, the North-West Company had, it is stated, comparative freedom in
hunting, &c.—(See ¢ Dictionary of National Biography "— Selkirk.”)
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goods ; and in 1818, after war had broken out with
the United States, arms, ammunition, and a few
light field-pieccs were granted by Government to
Lord Selkirk for the defence of his settlement, which
was later on joined by a body of disbanded soldiers
of the regiments of De Meuron and Watteville.

The Earl of Selkirk occupied a peculiar position
in the North-West Territory. His high rank, bis
authority as chief of the settlement, and his status
as a magistrate — enabling him to issue his own
warrants—all combined to give him an exceptional
influence and power in the country. Apparently,
the North-West Company did not so much harbour
grievances against the Hudson’s Bay Company as
against him, one of the partners of the former com-
pany speaking of the committee of the latter as
being a “mere machine in the hands of Lord Sel-
kitk,” whose influence was said to be a controlling
one.

The interests of lbond fide agricultural settlers
would doubtless be fairly opposed in some respects
to those of a fur-trading company; and in a wild
country, such as the North-West then was, those
who, like Lord Selkirk, have authority and power
must not hesitate to put down outrages with a
strong hand ; but what the North-West Company
complained of was that Lord Selkirk’s settlers and
followers were virtually traders themselves, conspir-
ing by every means to compass their ruin, and that
his authority was oppressively exercised to interested
ends.

It can be readily understood how in this situation
L of affairs, bitter hostility, followed by armed conflict
| and crime, scon grew up, and plunged the country
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into what was little short of a state of constant war,
extending over three years.

Without entering in detail into the accusations
made on each side, it may be mentioned that the
adherents of the North-West Company charged Lord
Selkirk and his followers with, among other violent
acts, forcibly occupying their post at Fort William,
under a warrant granted by Lord Selkirk himself,
remaining in possession some months, imprisoning
their officials, and robbing them of eighty-three
muskets.

On the other hand, Lord Selkirk asserted that
the North-West Company had employed against his
settlement field-guns robbed from the stores of the
colony, been guilty of the massacre of Governor
Semple of the Hudson’s Bay Company and some of
his men at Red River—who had been killed in one
of the raids which had taken place—and were bent
upon the destruction of his settlers, which rendered
this seizure of their post and of their arms justifiable.
He brought in fact charges of murder, burglary, and
arson—all capital offences at that time.

At one period Lord Selkirk arrested some of the
partners of the North-West Company, sending them
down to Montreal; and at another he refused to
submit to the execution of a legal warrant served on
himself, and imprisoned the officer serving it.

This latter act resulted in positive instructions
from the Secretary of State in England that the
Crown officers in Canada should prosecute him for
this. open defiance of the law.

Eventually an indictment was preferred before a
Grand Jury at Sandwich, in the Western district,
against the Barl and others for resisting the execu-
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tion of a legal warrant, and other offences. The
contests had caused much excitement, and roused a
great deal of partisan feeling throughout the country.
While the charges were pending and before the jury,
efforts were made (to what my father considered a
highly reprehensible extent), by the publication of
one-sided accounts in pamphlets, &c., which were
circulated with mischievous industry, to bias public
fecling, and discredit the testimony of those who
would be witnesses.

In one of these, issued by Lord Selkirk’s side,
appeared copies of all depositions of importance
which Lord Selkirk or other magistrates had taken
for the prosecution of various other charges, for which
men were afterwards to be tried for their lives.

The Judges and the Crown officers were freely
aspersed, and accused of partiality or incompetence.

After sitting for four days the jury could not
agree, and although the Bill was not thrown out, the
Judge then decided to adjourn the Court sine die.

In October 1818 prisoners accused by ILord
Selkirk of the gravest crimes were tried at York,
and acquitted; and in two civil actions brought
against the Earl for false imprisonment verdicts
and substantial damages were obtained by the com-
plainants.

In 1819, although a bill of indictment had not
been found at Sandwich against Lord Selkirk and
others, one was so at York; but, as explained by my

father, owing to the withdrawal of the Earl to

| England, his death, and other causes, the grounds of

g the prose~ution were never very thoroughly under-

stod by the general public. The accusations on

both sides which had to be investigated were
K
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numerous and intricate, and their examination must
have been very tedious and diflicult.

Lord Selkirk’s own statement of his case is con-
tained in a letter to the Earl of Liverpool, dated
19th March 1819, and published, together with a cor-
respondence which went on between his brother-in-
law, J. Halkett, Esq., and the Colonial Office, in the
years 1817, 1818, and 1819, upon the subject of the
Red River Scttlement.

Whatever may have been his responsibility for
the occurrences in the North-West Territory, he was
an active coloniser, and did much for emigration and
the settlement of Prince Edward’s Island and the
North-Waest ; and one must sincerely regret that he
became involved in these disturbances, of which the
turmoil and worry only closed with his life.

The end of all these troubles was that, not long
after his death, the Hudson’s Bay Company and the
North-West Company amalgamated.

The following letter from the Secretary of State
for the Colonies to the Lieutenant-Governor of
Upper Canada expresses the opinion of the Crown
as to the manner in which my father had dis-
charged his duty as Attorney-General in conncction
with the above events :—

Dowyixg STREET, 114k May 1810

Sti,—1I have had the honour of receiving your despatch of
the 6th January, transmitting copies of letters addressed to
you by the Earl of Selkirk and the North-West Company.

I have not failed to lay these papers before His Royal
Highness the Prince Regent, and I should not do justice to the
Attorney-General if I were to forbear expressing the satisfac-
tion which I have derived from his detailed explanation, and
desiring you to assure him that the temper and judgment with
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which he has conducted himself during the whole of these long
and difficult proceedings have received His Royal Highness®
entire approbation.—I have the honour to be, &c.,

Barnunrsy.

My Father's Account continued.

In 1821, I became the representative of the town of York
in the Assembly.

The Upper Province was then in great difficulty from the
Province of Lower Cenada refusing, unreasonably, to concur
in any measure, such as had been adopted by consent from
time to time, for dividing the duties levied on importations
at the Port of Quebec.

This obstructed for several yecars the receipt of three-
fourths of our revenue. The political Jeaders in the Assembly
of Lower Canada denied our right to any share of the duties.
We were thus extremely embarrassed, owing many thousand
pounds to wounded militia pensioners, and to the wives and
children of those killed, besides other debts.

I then framed the first Act that was passed for borrowing
money upon provincial debentures, with all those provisions
necessary for guarding the public and the holders of the
securities ; and these have been followed from that time to
this—so that I had the glory of laying the foundation of our
public debt, which has grown from our modest beginning of
£925,000 to (in 1854) the respectable amount of four millions.

In 1822 the evils arising from the detention of our revenue
by Lower Canada became intolerable, and I was appointed by
the Government, upon the joint addresses of both Houses of
the Legislature, to proceed to England as Commissioner on
behalf of the province, to procure, if possible, the interference
of Parliament for securing the just division of revenue between
Upper and Lower Canada.

In this mission I had the good fortune to succeed, and
obtained the passing of the Statute 3 & 4 Geo. IV. ch. 119—

! His commission to perform this duty is dated 22nd January 1822,
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or rather, T mean, of that portion of it which relates to the
division of duties by arbitration, which part of the Act was
wholly framed by myself, and after examination by the Crown
officers in England, was passed without any alteration.

Both branches of the Legislature concurred in addresses of
thanks to me for the service I had rendered, and I was liberally
indemnified for my expenses and loss of time.

I here give addresses of both Houses in connee-
tion with the mission above alluded to. His selcction
for so important a duty and the appreciation of the
way it had been carried out must have been gratify-
ing to him. He was then very little over thirty
years of age.

Address desiring his Appointment agreed to in January 1822.

To His Excellency Sir Peregrine Maitland, Commander of the
Most Honourable Military Order of the Bath, Licutenant-
Governor of the Province of Upper Canada, and Major-
General commanding His Majesty’s Forces therein, &ec.

May it please your Excellency :

The Legislative Council and House of Assembly while con-
curring in a report, and in an address to our Most Gracious
Sovereign on the subject of our provincial relations with Lower
Canada, have also united in a desire that on an occasion of
such vast importance to the interests of this province some
person of talent and consideration may be appointed to lay this
address at the foot of the Throne.

The Legislativv Council and House of Assembly, while
they disclaim all desire of interfering with an appointment
which, by their joint resolution, rests solely with your Excel-
lency, and repose the fullest confidence in your Excellency’s
wisdom to select a person fully qualified for this jmportant
mission, on considering the magnitude of the subject, kave
agreed in opinion, from the experience of the estensive infor-
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mation of his Majesty’s Attorney-General on the affairs of
this province, that the duties suggested by the report will be
fulfilled by him in the manner most conducive to the attain-
ment of the important end they have in view.

Vote of Thanks of the Legislative Council passed on his
return to Canada, 5th March 1823,

Resolved unanimously :

That the thanks of this House be given to Joun BevenLey
RopinsoN, Esquire, for the distinguished ability, zeal, and
discretion manifested in the discharge of the important trust
confided to kim as Commissioner to bear to the foot of the
Throne an humble address on the fiscal relations of this pro-
vince with Lower Canada, and in so successfully obtaining the
object of our prayer.

Joun Powerr, C.L.C.

In forvarding this resolution to him in England,
Chief-Justice Powell added :—

You will not question how grateful to me is this consumma-
tion of my early judgment, or the sincere pleasure with which
I communicate this honourable testimony.

The House of Assembly had previously (17th
January 1823), in answer to the speech of his
Excellency the Lieutenant-Governor at the opening
of the session, expressed itself as “ perfectly disposed
to concur in his Excellency’s opinion as to the able
manner in which the Commissioner had conducted
the important negotiation with which he was en-
trusted.”

Some friends in York were anxious also to offer a
futher acknowledgment of his services in the shape
of a public testimonial in proof of their *private
attachment and public respect,” but this he begged
might not be done.
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Account continued.

While in England on this occasion, I completed my terms
at Lincoln’s Inn, and was called to the Bar there in Hilary
Term, 6th February 1823.

I was of use, at the same time, in England in various other
public matters, particularly on the question of Emigration, and
was detained by them longer than would have been necessary
by the mere business that took me over.

To mark the sense which the Government in England
entertained of the services I had rendered in all these matters,
the Under-Secretary of State informed me that an instruction
would be sent to the Colonial Government to make me a grant
of the waste lands of the Crown, which used to be urdinarily
granted to members of the Executive Council—either 6000 or
10,000 acres, as the Government might approve of.

On reflection I declined it, from an impression that, being
a member of the Legislature, it would be better for me
accept of nothing which, from the jealousy it might create, or
on any ground, might lessen my weight in the Assembly, and
disable me from serving the Government as efficiently us I
otherwise might.

In August 1823 I returned to Canada. Before I departed
(in April 1823) I received a letter from the Under-Secretary of
State, written by desire of Lord Buathurst, informing me that
the arrangements which Lord Bathurst had in contemplation
to make at Mauritius would occasion a vacancy in the office of
Chief Judge in that colony; that the salary attached to the
situation was £'3500 sterling a year, with an allowance at the
rate of 120 dollars per month for house rent; that if I should
prefer the situation to that then held by me in Upper Canada,
Lord Bathurst would feel disposed to submit my name to his
Majesty for the appointment; and that his Lordship directel
Fim to add that he felt much pleasure in availing himself of
that opportunity to mark his sense of the zeal and ability with
which I had discharged the duties of Attorney-General in the
Province of Upper Canada.

I was in a subsequent note informed that, according to the
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rule in the Southern and Eastern Colonies, I could retire if I
pleased after seven years’ service, upon an allowance which was
not yet definitely fixed, but which I would be safe in assuming
would not be less than £1500 sterling.

I declined this also—not wisely, perhaps, as I have had
occasion since to feell—and chiefly for the reason that I
believed my services as Attorney-General and a member of
the Legislature in this large and important colony were much
more useful than they were likely to be in Mauritius. We
perhaps grow more selfish as we grow older; but I certainly
did, in those days, think more of public duty than of private
interests.®

I interrupt my father’s account here by inserting
his letter to Mr. Wilmot Horton, declining this ap-
pointment :—

April 1823,

Mv s.zar Sm,—1I beg you will assure Lord Bathurst that I
am very ; ruteful for the communication contained in your note
of the 15th April.

Attachments of a public and private nature lead me to
prefer my preser.¢ -ituation in Canada to one more lucrative in
another colony, in which I should probably take less interest
and might therefore be less useful; but I do not on that
account more lightly value this additional proof of his Lord-
ship’s kindness and confidence, rendered the more gratifying
from the circumstances of its being unsolicited and from the
terms in which it has been conveyed.

Suffer me also to use this occasion of offering you my sincere
thanks for the kindness you have constantly shownme. . . .
—I remain, &c.

1 In saying this he no doubt refers to the reduction which sulisequently
took place in the official income of the Chief Justice of Upper Canada.

2 The Law Journal of Upper Canada (March 1863) remarks as to his
having declined this appeintment:—*“ His decision in this matter has
shown more forcibly than any act of his life how great a love he bore
to his native Jand, and establishes the fact that his public acts were in-
ficeniced solely by motives of the purest patriotism, and not by any sordid
o7 selfish hope of personal advancement.’
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Account continued.

In 1828, while I was in England, a gentleman, who had
formerly been in Canada, but was then holding an influential
position in Oxford, wrote to me that if I would come down
from London on their great occasion which was then approach-
ing, he would engage that I should receive the honorary degree
of D.C.L.; that he had spoken of it in the necessary quarters,
and had ascertained that there would be no difficulty, the
ground on which it would be conferred being, in addition to
my official position as Attorney-General, my strenuous and
consistent support of the rights of the Church of England in
Upper Canada.

I answered that I did not feel that I had sufficient pre-
tensions to the distinction, and declined, which I have some-
times since regretted, considering my subsequent connection
with our College herel

Among other public questions in which my father
interested himself at this time in England, he took
up very strongly that of a Legislative Union of the
whole of the British-American Colonies, urging it
upon the attention of the Colonial Office.

In 1822 a Bill had been introauced by Mr.
‘Wilmot ® into Parliament for uniting the two Legis-
lIatures of Upper and Lower Canada together, the
other provinces not being included, but cpinion was
much divided as to the advisability of the measure,
and it fell through.

Writing in his diary on 3th January 1823, my
father says :—

Spoke (to Mr. Wilmot) upon a design of uniting all the

1 As Chancellor of Trinity College University, Toronto. Not luaz
after the above was written, and when on a visit to England in 1833, the
honorary degree of D.C.L. was conferred upon him at Oxford.

2 Afterwards Sir Wilmot Horton, Under-Sccretary of State for the
Colonices at this time.  He was Governor of Ceylon 1831-37, and took an
active interest in all Colonial and emigration questions. He died 1841
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North-American Colonies, and I am to write remarks on the
subject, having several times pressed it upon his consideration,
My plan would go further than the suggestions I have seen,
and would make the Colonies effectual ly an integral part of the
Empire if adopted.

The “remarks” alluded to above were embodied
in a letter addressed to Lord Bathurst, Secretary
of State for the Colonies, and afterwards published
in pamphlet form* in London, under the title of
“Plan for a general Legislative Union of the British
Provinces in North America,” accompanied by ex-
tracts from a paper on the subject written in 1807
by Chief-Justice Sewell.

In this pamphlet my father, speaking of the feel-
ing of the English population throughout the Canadas
with respect to the union of the two Canadas only,
without the other provinces, says :—

Many of them regard the union as a measure of doxbtful

tendency, and are really unable to come to a decided opinion as
tothe preponderance of good or evil likely to result from it.
Of these some think the experiment may be made with safety;
others are apprehensive that it may produce much mischief
and inconvenience ; and, though they are not convinced that
the union might not, on the whole, and in the end, be beneficial,
they are so much in doubt about it, that they would rather
not run the hazard of disturbing the present state of things.
i But there is a remedy within the power of Parliament
¥ for all these perplexitics. The : casure alluded to is the
witing the British North American Provinces into one grand
Confederacy.

He then gives the details of his plan, with the
mmber of members to compose the Legislative

! Dr. Strachan also published a amphlet in 1822, urgir,g 2 union of all
e British-American Colomes, in licu of the proposed limited union of
§ L two Canadas,
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Council to be delegated from each province, &e., to
the “New Albion” or *British North America,”
and continues :—

"The actual consolidation of the British Empire would be at
least a grand measure of national policy. Lo recapitulate, it
is believed that to unite the British North American Provinces
by giving them a common legislature and erccting them into a
kingdom, would be gratifying to all those Colonies—it would
put an end to all danger and inconveniences from petty factions
and local discontents, and secure the public counsels of all the
Colonies from foreign influence.

But the Government in England were not dis-
posed to take up the matter of the more extended
Union, and rightly or wrongly considered that, so
far from the measure advocated being one which
would be gratifying to all the Colonies (as my father
then believed it would, if properly brought before
them), the proposal would not be entertained by
them.

This view may have been right—though that is
uncertain—and without doubt no scheme of union
or federation can be pressed to advantage upon in-
different or reluctant provinces.

The subject was in any case dropped for the time,
though my father (see next chapter) returned to it
again the following year, and once more without
success.

Looking back now to this period it seems at
least to be regretted that this union was not
more favourably entertained and actively pressed
during the years between 1822 and 1830, when the
feeling between Lower and Upper Canada—the one
province chiefly French and the other British —had
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not assumed the character which, under pressure of
political influences, it did later on.

It seems possible that could such a union of all
the British-American Provinces have been carried
at this time, the Rebellion, which delayed it for
many years (as after this the maritime provinces
were less disposed to join the Canadas), might not
have occurred, and political changes, becoming in-
evitable, might have been introduced into Canada,
as they were in England, if not without contention,
at all events without bloodshed.

Mr. Dent, writing of the union of Upper with
Lower Canada which took place under the Union
Bill of 1840,' and alluding to my father’s opposition
to it, says :—

Mr. Robinson had sixteen years before been 2n advocate of
such a union as he now opposed, but had subsequently scen
reason for changing his views.

This arises no doubt from a misapprehension of
what my father did advocate. What he urged in
B 1822 and again in 1824-25 (see next chapter) was

g 1ot such a union as took place in 1840 (i.e. of Upper
md Lower Canada only), but a union of all the
g British North American Provinces, which became a
recognised necessity in 1867, after the former measure
E had led to a politicsl impasse.

On this visit to England in 1822-23, my father
j vas accompanied by my mother and eldest sister,
f then a child, his two boys being left in Canada, but
of these years and 1825 (when he was again in

—

! “Canada since the Union of 1841,” by John Charles Dent.
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¥ngland) comparatively few references to occupations
and interests other than those of a public character
have been preserved.

Writing to Sir Peregrine Maitland, 16th July
1822, he thanks him for some letters of introduction,
and thus alludes to his first meeting with Serjeant
Copley (afterwards Lord Lyndhurst) and with the
Duke of Wellington, whom he met frequently in
subsequent years :—

1 am much indebted to you for your kind letter of
Q0th April. Sir William Robinson had before introduced me
to Serjeant Copley, and I had the pleasure of meeting at his
house a few weeks ago some of your nephews and nieces, who
had, of course, many questions to ask about Canada.!

From Earl Bathurst, in the intercourse I have had with
him, I have experienced the greatest kindness. He and the
Countess invited us to dinner, and it was no small gratification
to me to meet there the Duke of Wellington, Lord Liverpool,
the Duchess of Richmond, and others.

At this time Dr. Strachan again strongly
pressed upon my father the advantages which, in
his opinion, would attend his remaining altogether
in England and entering into professional and
parliamentary life there; and the question of his
doing sc was more than once the subject of dis-
cussion and correspondence with Sir Wilmot Horton
and others.

But there were difficulties in the way. He had
now a family® growing up around him, and the
change must have been, in any case, one from 2
comparative certainty to an uncertainty.

1 T'hisinterest arose from Sir Peregrine Maitland, Licutenant-Governor
of Upper Canuda, 1820-28, having married Lady Sarah Lennox, daughter
of the Luke of Richmond who had been Governor-General of Canads,
1818-19.

2 For particulars as to his children, sce Appendix B., V.
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These and other considerations, among which it
may be truly said was his affection for Canada, led
to his never acting on their advice.

One of Dr. Strachan’s letters to him on this

subject is of more than usual interest, and I now
give some extracts from it :—

From Dr. Strachan.
Yorx, 10tk June 1822.

My pear Joux,—I was much gratified by your letter of the
11th April to myself. You will be able to reward the pro-
vince for the confidence it has reposed in you, and acquit your-
self in 2 manner creditable to yourself and satisfactory to your
feelings. I need not trouble you with any remarks on the two
important general Bills you mention. To the first, regarding
the West Indies, there may be some objections offered of a
very weighty nature, but I presume that the fear of the total
nin of our sugar islands compels Government to throw their
ports open to the Americans. I hope the Colonial ships will
be allowed to trade from island to island and from colony to
colony, while the Americans are forced to clear from a port in
their own country to one of ours and straight back. I am
aware that all restrictions whatever are condemned by Dr.
Smith and his disciples, but it is my decided opinion that till
all nativns throw aside the shackles of commerce we cannot
afford to make ours entirely free.

I was much pleased to find that you have been so much
consulted upon this change of policy; but especially upon the
Canada Bill, for the draft of which we are exceedingly anxious.
Tam also glad that you are to draw it up. Here appears the
advantage of having you at home. MMr. Caldwell and the
Solicitor-General of Lower Canada will perceive that you are
solicitous for the interests of both provinces, and desire only
such provisions in the proposed laws as cannot be justly found
fault with. I trust and hope that nothing will happen to

It is curious that nor, eighty years after the above we ds were
written, the question of whether free trade, or only partial free trade

would bo the best in the inteests of the Empire, should be attracting
such serious attention.
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thwart or impede the progress of the Bills in their passage
through Parliament. I participate most sincerely in the
anxiety you must feel upon this occasion, and T most fervently
pray that the prosperity hitherto vouchsafed you by a kind
Providence may always continue.

As anything I could say respecting your public measures
would be now too late to answer any purpose, I will revert to
your own affairs. I am against your returning before you are
admitted to the Bar.

. .. I thought it better to stop here and to talk to Hillier!
on the subject. He says the General thinks of a middle
course—that you leave Mrs. Robinson in England, come out
to attend the session of Parliament, with your documents, &c,
and deliver them yourself, and explain what you have effected.
After the close of the session you may return to England and
remain as long as you think fit. I must admit that some very
considerable ulvantages attend this plan. You anticipate very
truly that I will speak of your remaining in England thoughI
first bring you back to Canada. As Attorney-General here,
you will have for many years to come the whole weight of
public business on your shoulders. You will have all the
Bills to draw ; your best motives will be questioned and belied,
your words and expressions twisted, your conduct slandered,
and all this without any redeeming advantage. After many
years of painful, thankless labour, and perhaps many difficulties
and mortifications from changes in our administration, new
Governors, &c., you may be promoted to the office of Chief
Justice. This is, however, by no means certain, for by a
change in the Ministry, you may suffer the mortification of
having & person set over your head. But we will suppose no
such disappointment, and that you are Chief. You have then
our House to keep in order,® and to maintain peace between us
and the Assembly.

I am willing to allow that this prospect was once a fair

1 Colonel Hillier was private secretary to General Sir Peregrine Mait:
land, the Licutenant-Governor of Upper Canaca.

2 The Chief Justice of Upper Canada wasat this time ex afficio Speaker
of the Legislative Council.
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object of ambition, but things are now changed, and an
opportunity presents itself to you of acting on a more brilliant
field. Turn we then to England,

You are there on a vast theatre, You get admittance to
the Bar; a single cause of general interest and importance is
all you want to place you in that rank which would enable you
to command everything reasonable; and a short time at the
Bar will open for you the doors of the ITouse of Commons,
where your talents will be duly appreciated. Your entrance
into the House will be attended by situations of confidence
and emolument, and you will be able in s short time to do
more for your family and friends than you can ever do in
Canada ; and all this with Jess trouble—infinitely less—than
you will have to surmount here. I have myself some ambition
to be known as the tutor of a second Pitt, for I really think
that you possess more real knowledge than he did when he
kegan his political career. You know more of men and
manners, of the different views and interests of the various
divisions of the Empire, have greater insight into human
nature, and greater strength and industry to second the con-
ceptions of your mind.! I am perfectly persuaded that you
will be found equal to your situation, and that Your talents
will expand with your ecalls for their exertion. In saying all
this you will not suspect me of flattery, for I am not given to
that vice at any time. I may indeed be mistaken, and may
value your talents higher than I ought from partial affection,
but you will, I am sare, admit that I am not often mistaken in
reading character, and that I Judge, in most cases, correctly of
men. In your case my opinion is not so much founded on

i personal attainments, great as they are, as or your capacity

and industry and energy, which, rising from a good foundation,
qualify you to meet every emergency.

You may, in power, do infinite good to the British Empire,
for I could show you that many of the difficulties with which

! Though the expressions here used may appear exagrerated, I do not
emit them, as they show the opinion which Dr. Strachan, his old master,
bad now formed of my father's capacity for public affairs,
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she is embarrassed arise from the ignorance of men in power—
not a culpable ignorance, but from their want of a species of
knowledge which they have had no opportunity of acquiring.

By returning to this country, you will encounter all the
evils of a public life without any of its sweets. In England
you will meet fewer evils, and they will be redeemed by many
advantages. I might fill my letter with this subject, as it i
near my heart, and you will easily believe, not without a severe
contention, for I have many cogent reasons for wishing you to
remain bere. However, weigh the matter well before you
decide. As to means, I will charge myself, pinched as I am,
with a thousand or fifteen hundred pounds, to be repaid at
your leisure if you succeed, and never if you fail. The truth
is, I am so convinced that you will succeed, that I am ready
to go all lengths to keep you perfectly comfortable in the
meantime.

My father left England to return to Canada in
June 1828, reaching Toronto vid New York, Albany,
and Niagara on the 9th July. He writes as to his
journey :—

The first part of our voyage was tedious, the winds being
constantly adverse, but the last half of the way we had beiter
fortune. The weather was exceedingly pleasant the whole
way. We reached New York on the 19th June, having been
thirty-two days out.

On the Tuesday following, we continued our route to Albany
by steamboat, and from thence travelled in a hired coach—
or hack as they call it—by easy journeys of thirty-five miles
a day to Lewistown (having sent our baggage by the canil
to Rochester), and from thence in the American steambost
to Niagara. I found Sir Peregrine at Stamford, and we spent
two days there, and then came by the Frontenar here, where we
landed on Wednesday, the 9th instant, and found all our
children and friends in as good health as we left them. I rode
out the same evening to Newmarket with Charles Heward.




CHAPTER VII

AT THE BAR AND IN THE HOUSE OF
ASSEMBLY (Continued)
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Renews advocacy of a Union of the British North American Provinces:
his views on this subject and the position of Canada with regard to
England and the United States—DPeter Robinson and the Irish
emigrants : their excellent conduct in 1837—Goes to England in
connection with proposed sale of the Clergy Reserves to the Canada
Company ; success on this occasion—The question of the Clergy
Reserves—Letter as to his presentation of site for a Methodist church
—Religious Denominations Bill—His Parliamentary life—Mr. Bid-
well—The Alien Bills—The Family Compact—FProsccutions for libel
—Employment out of Canada suggested—Declines Chief-Justiceship
of Upper Canada—His reasons—Subsequently accepts the post—
Vacates seat in House of Assembly— Presentation of plate by
electors of York—His view of Parliamentary representation—Law
Journal as to him.

IN the year 1824 my father became aware that the
expediency of uniting the provinces of Upper and
Lower Canada was again to be brought before
Ministers in England during the recess of Parlia-
ment. It was believed also that, at the same time,
the question of a general union of the British North
American Colonies, z.¢. the provinces of Lower and
Upper Canada, New Brunswick, and Nova Scotia,
might receive consideration, so he again returned to
this latter subject in a letter to Lord Bathurst, dated
York, Upper Canada, December 26, 1824.

This letter was afterwards published in London
(in1825) in pamphlet form, under the title, A letter

to the Right Honourable Earl Bathurst, K.G., on
161 L
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the Policy of uniting the British North American
Colonies.
In this letter he writes :—

It is the fear of perpetual strife from the unavoidable
inconvenience of having the parties of French and English,
Catholic and Protestant, so nearly balanced, that disposes me
most to doubt the policy of uniting the provin..s of Canadal
at this period.

My conviction is that there is a remedy 2 more certain to be
effectual and in every way more expedient.

I know not in what light the design of a general union of
the British North American Colonies may have appeared to
his Majesty’s Government, if it has been submitted to con-
sideration, as I learn it was to have been.

So far from looking on this plan with any of the prejudices
or wishes of a friend or an enemy of the union of the Canadas,
it is not as a Canadian that I am impressed with a conviction
of its importance, and entreat for it the attention of his
Majesty’s Government. It is as a British subject that I feel an
interest and an anxiety that may appear to approach teo
nearly to enthusiasm, when I anticipate its probable effects.

And he writes to his brother Peter in this year
(1824):—

If they would but adopt my favourite plan of giving an
United Legislature to the four Colonies, and leave the loca!
Legislatures for unimportant purpeses to each, every end might
be attained.”

Those who then opposed the union of the British
American Provinces, did so chiefly on the following
grounds :—

That these provinces neither wished for it, nor
were ripe for it; that the scheme was, in short, pre-

1ie the provinces of Canada only, and not the whole of the British
North Americin Colonies.
2 i.e. for the evils cxisting in Lower Canada.
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mature, and put forward merely to divert attention
from the pressing need of the union of the two
Canadas alone. That Mr. Sewell’s proposals of 1807
were but a revival with modifications of a plan
framed by Dr. Franklin in 1754 for the union of the
old British Colonies (which subsequently became the
United States) and were never viewed as expedient,
or adopted. Finally, that such a union would hasten
the day when these provinces would desire to become
independent, and dissolve their connection ‘with the
mother country, and was not therefore to be encour-
aged from an imperial point of view.

I now give some extracts from my father’s pam-
phlet mentioned above, in which he refers to and
repiies to these objections, especially as these extracts
allude to the origin of the great scheme for the Con-
federation of the North American Colonies into one
Dominion, which was happily carried out many years
afterwards (in 1867) when the relations between Upper
and Lower Canada had become such as to make it
imperative. They also show his views as to the
improbability of these Colonies ever desiring to sever
their connection with the mother country, and as to
their position with respect to the United States of
America.

Answering the objections urged, he says:—

In the actual state of these provinces there are strong con-
curring inducements? to select the present time for commencing
the great system of policy to which I could wish some voice of
greater influence were raised to call your Lordship’s attention.
Your Lordship will not fail to perceive how strong the motive
is with one who sincerely believes in the expediency of the

! These inducements are set out in the letter, but cannot be con-
waiently given in the space of this Memoir.
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system recommended, to desire that its immediate adoption
should take the place of a very questionable and much les
effectual measure of policy. . . .

It is, I trust, scarcely probable that your Lordship’s atten-
tion has been diverted from it in any degree by an idea that I
see the anxious petitioners for the partial union have been
most studious to inculcate; viz. that it is thrown out merely
to draw your Lordship’s attention from the other measure, and
without any expectation that it would be adopted.

The best answer to such a surmise is that Mr. Sewells
paper in its present shape was offered for concideration some
years before any intention had been expressed of uniting the
provinces of Canada; and that the paper on the same subject
which was submitted by myself, was not otherwise offered than
in compliance with the desire of Mr. Wilmot Horton that I
should consider M. Sewell’s project and reduce to writing for
his perusal whatever occurred to me respecting it.

I wrote it with too ardent a hope that its statements might
attract attention, and with too earnest a conviction of their
truth, not to be desirous that it should again meet your
Lordships perusal while circumstances concur to call your
attention so varticularly to the political condition of these
Colonies.

The peop:e of these Colonies have expressed no opinion on
the subject,! Lecause it has in no shape been offered to their
consideration, 1:or in any manner discussed or pointed out in
the provinces, but it is a most reasonable expectation that a
system so evidently tending to increase their respectability,
wad attended with no sacrifice of local advantage or con-
venience, would, if offered to their consideration, be most
favourably regarded.

With respect to th. imputation of private infcrests, by
which it has been attempted to create prejudice against the
suggestions of a general union, your Lordship, I am sure, vill
fecl that the character of the individual to whom it is

1 i.c. the subject of the general union of all the Colonies, rather than
2 union of the two Canadas alone.
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intended such an observation should apply can alone deter-
mine its justice.

The plan submitted by me was certainly suggested without
the slightest consideration of any other scheme than Mr.
Sewells. The objection, however (if it was meari as an
objection), gives rise to one or two considerations which I
cannot forbear to state. The plan of 1754 did not originate
with Dr. Franklin, though it was commented upon by him.
It was drawn up and offered to the consideration of the King’s
Ministers by Governor Hutchinson, whose preference of British
to Colonial interests was unfortunately somewhat too in-
cautiously displayed on all occasions, and whose zeal for the
integrity of the Empire was not likely to have suffered him
to be the proposer of a measure which would tend to dis-
solve the connection between the mother country and her
Colonies.

1t is true that a plan was pressed upon the British Govern-~
ment in the year 1754 for uniting the Colonies in America
(now the United States); and equally true—whether it was the
plan of Mr. Hutchinsen or Dr. Franklin—that it was not
adopted.

- - - The event may offer no useless lesson. Remaining
separate Governments with separate Legislatures; with no
legitimate bond of union involving an acknowledged Tesponsi-
bility, with no occasional constitutional interchange of opinion
and no common medium of communication with the parent
State; with no direct representations in the Councils of the
Empire, these Colonies rebelled, and after an obstinate struggle,
which added more than one hundred millions to the National
Debt, they were lost to the Empire.

It is at least plain that as the consequences could not have
been more unfortunate, the rejection of Mr. Hutchinson’s plan
can afford no possible ground for congratulation.

Then, speaking of the idea (very prevalent in
England), that to hasten the development and pro-
gress of the British-American Colonies, was but to
hasten the time when they, like the older Colonies
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now forming the United States, would throw off
their allegiance to the mother country, he adds :—

An erroncous idea of the extent and capability of Canada,
and a disregard of its geographical position, can alone have
occasioned such an impression.

Provinces, however extensive, which are kept in check on
one side by a foreign nation that must ever exceed them in
power, and which can communicate with other countries only
by one narrow channel, which is closed by ice for nearly half
the year, can have no imaginable temptation to cast themselves
loose from an Empire which supplies the security they want.
Nova Scotia and New Brunswick, exposed on all their coasts to
the navies of Great Britain, can never rise to sufficient power
or importance to admit of their aspiring to be independent
States. There is as little ground to imagine that they would
ever desire to become subject to the Government of the United
States. 'The disposition of their people is at present most
decidedly adverse to the American Republic.

A view of the map of America will show that a junction of
physical force for any bad purpose is out of the question, and
the union would therefore confer the security of a Legislature
composed of persons of different tempers and politics, without
bringing with it the risk of any combination hostile to the
Empire.

That o kingdom so situated would in time form a powerful
check to the United States of Ameri.a cannot be doubted.

It ought to bLe borne in mind that, as an independent
nation, the United States have hitherto justified no expectation
of a kindlier feeling towards our country than may be looked
for from other foreign Powers. On the contrary, at a moment
when the best interests of the civilised world depended on the
unequal contest in which Great Britzin was engaged, the
United States joined the number of her enemies, in the con-
fident assurance that she must sink under the pressure!
Happily, these efiorts failed, and there appears no reason,

1 It must be remembered that these words were written only nine
years after the termination of the War of 1812-15.
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in the present state of things, to apprehend their being soon
renewed.

On the contrary, the most amicable relations scem to be
maintained, with equal sincerity, by the Governments of both
countries.

It has certainly been for many years the disposition of
Great Britain to avoid all cause of dissension with the United
States of America. If indeed an alliance so natural could be
firmly and lastingly cemented, it would be happy for the
interests of mankind; it would create a power which, while
it would be competent to repress the designs of destructive
ambition, would itself threaten no ill to the repose or the
freedom of the world.

Before I leave this subject, I will remark that if the
provinces of Canada only should be united, as it is proposed,
the preponderance of one over the other in the joint Legis-
lature, unjustly made use of, might possibly occasion so strong
a dissatisfaction as to suggest a union with the neighbouring
States as an escape from a greater evil.

But (he continues) I am not one of those who accede
readily to any argument of this nature, because I do not admit
the probability of such a result.

While in England, he actively interested himself
in various other public questions concerning Canada,
in addition to that which formed the special object of
his mission, and was constantly in communication
with those holding political and legal posts in the
Government, mecting frequently with Mr. Wilmot
(afterwards Sir Wilmot Horton) both privately and
at the Colonial Office.

Among the matters to which he gave much
attention was that of emigration to Canada, which
his brother Peter® also had warmly taken up. The
latter superintended the emigration of a large body

. 1 Peter Robinson hzd much to do with the settlement of Peterborough
in Upper Canada, which was named after him. (See chap. xi.).
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of Irish emigrants to Canada and their settlement
there about this period. In 1824 he writes to my
father :—

19 Bury Srreer, Lonpow,
20th September 1824.

Dear Joun,—I have just returned from Ireland, where I
have been busily employed for the last six weeks making a
selection of about 1000 persons to be sent out early in April.
Everywhere I was received in the kindest manner possible, and
the friends of the people I took out last year were very warm
in their expressions of gratitude. Lord Kingston sends about
400 persons from his estate—he was civil in the extreme, and I
breakfasted and dined daily with him during my stay in his
neighbourhood.

Ispent 2 week with Lord Ennismore’s family near Listowel,
at the seat of the Knight of Kerry, very pleasantly. From
thence I went to Killarney, and had the luck to be in time for a
famous stag-hunt, & treat that brings people from all quarters
for 2 long distance. . . .—Your affectionate brother,

P. Rosixsox,

That these emigrants appreciated the interest he
took in them is shown by this warm expression of it
in an address to Lord Bathurst in 1826 :—

" We take this opportunity of expressing to your Lordship
how much of gratitude v owe to the Honourable Peter
Robinson, our leader, our adviser, our friend, since we have
been under his direction, and particularly for his exertions in
administering to onr comforts during a season of sickness and
privation.

We have reason to be than’:ful for the wisdom and discre-
tion which appointed over us so honourable, kind, and inde-
fatigable a superintendent, who has used every exertion and-
care in providing for our every want.

We trust that our orderly conduct as members of socicty,
and steady loyalty as subjects of the British Crown, will evince
the gratitude we feel for the many favours we have received.
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It may be mentioned here that Mr. William
Lyon Mackenzie, who subsequently hcaded the
Rebellion in Upper Canada, spoke thus of these
emigrants in the Colonial 4dvocate of 8th December
1825 +—

Mr. Robinson’s Irish Seitlers.

To how much more useful a purpose might £30,000 have
been expended than in recruiting in Ireland for the United
States,

meaning apparently that these Irishmen would not
remain contented settlers under the British Govern-
ment, but would soon, either voluntarily or from
political changes, come under the United States
flag.

Events did not bear out this anticipation. At
first there was some difficulty between them and
other settlers, but this soon passed away, and Sir
Francis Head, Lieutenant-Governor of Upper Canada,
in writing to Sir Wilmot Horton on 21st May 1838,
thus refers to the loyal and active support which,
in the Rebellion twelve years later, they gave to the
Government :—

These settlers were among those who at once marched
(during the Rebellion) from the Newcastle district in the
depths of winter, nearly one hundred miles, to support the
Government.

On finding a body of the Honourable Peter Robinson’s
settlers, self assembled in line before Government House, I went
out and thanked them, to which they replied that they were
doing well in the world, that they felt grateful to the Govern-
ment, and had come to fight for the British Constitution.
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And he writes in “ The Emigrant ”* that, when
he told them they would immediately receive
muskets and ammunition, a voice from the ranks
exclaimed in a broad Irish brogue, « If your Honour
will but give us arms, the rebels will find the
legs 1™

Iy father also, in alluding to their services,
writes to Sir Wilmot Horton : *—

I am glad that it occurred to you to inquire of Sir Francis
Head what had been the conduct of the Irish settlers during
the late unhappy tumults in Upper Canada. There was some-
thing remarkable and most honourable in the whole bearing of
the Irish population throughout these troubles. There were
numerous examples of men of every origin—English, Scotch,
and natives of the province, and some who had come from the
United States of America—doing everything that could be
done by them in defence of their country; but I think it was
universally felt throughout the province that the conduct of
the Irish, as a body, was pre-eminently good.

They seemed not only to acknowledge proraptly their
obligation to support their Government and the laws, but
they discharged their duty with an eager forwardness, and a
fine hearty warmth of feeling that it was really quite affecting
to witness.

It dic honour to Ireland, and it showed that whatever may
be the vices and errors of the Irish peasantry, hatred to their
Sovereign and ingratitude to their Government are not among
the number.

You may safely entertain the persuasion that there is no
one public object which the people of Upper Canada and the
Legislature feel a stronger desire to promote than an extensive

1 ¢The Emigrant,” by Sir Francis B. Head (3846).

2 From a pamphlet by Sir Wilmot Horton, containing his correspond-
ence with my father upon the subject of a pamphlet entitled “ Ircland
and Cunada,” published 1839.
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emigration from the mother country. It adds at once to the
value of property in the province, furnishes employment to
mechanics, provides labourers or the farmers, and infuses life
and activity into every department.

In the spring of 1825 the question of the « Clergy
Reserves ” and their disposal, which was for a long
time a burning one in Upper Canada, took my father
once more to England.

Into its nature I will enter a little further on,
fist quoting here what he himself says as to the
period 1825-27. On this visit to England, he left
my mother and the children in Toronto, and was
away only a short time.

In 1825 I went again to England to represent to the
Government the ruinous sacrifice which would be made of the
provision for the support of a Protestant clergy in Upper
Canada, if the sale which the British Government proposed to
make of the Clergy Reserves to the Canada Company should be
allowed to go into effect.

The Commissioners appointed to fix the price had made so
low an estimate of the value of all these reserves scattered
through the several townships, that upon the terms agreed
upon of paying for them in fifteen annual justalments, without
interest, the price per acre would be about 2s. 1d. I insisted
upon it, and offered to demonstrate before any tribunal, that
this could not be just, and could not be warranted by any
evidence which the Commissioners had received.

The Secretary of State considered that he could not, in the
face of 'such a statement, allow the sale to be completed as far
asregarded the Clergy Reserves without an investigation ; and
[ was accordingly called upon to support my account of the
§  matter.

: A Master in Chancery, Sir Griffin Wilson, was appointed
¢ 1o hear the Commissioners, who were all then in London, on
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the one side, and me on the other, and to make his report. |
asked for and obtained the mass of evidence on which the Com-
missioners had professed to found their report, and I proved,
by a minute dissection of it, that it led immediately to the
conclusion that the reserves were worth upon 1 1 average 7s. per
acre.

Sir Griffin Wilson determined the controversy wholly in
my favour, and recported to the Government that they could
not, in justice to the claimants upon the Clergy Reserve Fund,
sufler the sale to be perfected. The consequence was that all
the Clergy Reserves were withdrawn from the sale, and the
Canada Company received in lieu of them an equal or perhaps
greater quantity of land in the Huron tract, a beneficial
exchange for the country, and 1 believe also for the Company.
What has siace occurred has put it beyond doubt that I was
much within the mark in the value which I placed upon the
Clergy Reserves.

I thought, at the time, that this was one of the most usefil
acts of public service that I had had it in my power to perform;
but subsequent political measures and movements have much
diminished its importance, and even threaten a total destrue-
tion of the Clergy Fund, which I perhaps saved on that
occasion to very little purpose.

Writing from London to Dr. Strachan on 6th
July 1825, just befcre his return to Canada, and
alluding to the proposed sale of the Clergy Reserve
lands to the Canada Company, he says:—

The Government acceded to my proposition of assigning to
the Church such a portion of the new purchase as might be
deemed equivalent to the 800,000 acres of Clergy Reserves.

Mr. Horton has taken the alarm even at this late stage,
and written a letter to the Commissioners on the part of the
Government which must draw from them a contradiction or
confirmation of my view of the matter. Mr. Horton declares
3¢ what I say is right the Government must reverse the who:
thing and have another valuation made. I left him full of it.
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If Harvey supports me, Lord Bathurst and Mr. Horton will
not incur the odium of completing such o bargain.

My great satisfaction is that my opinion is recorded, and its
correctness can be verified and soon will be. Just now the
process is fermenting. It is clear to me that the Government
fecl that they have done a most unwise thing, and they fecl
also that they can take no step without incurring the reproach
of extreme improvidence in their former arrangements.

Later on (29th January 1827) he writes thus
from Canada to Dr. Strachan, who was then in
England,! upon the subject of these Reserves :—

The matter more important than everything else put
together is the new mode of attack upon the Church.? . . .

In England where the clergy are supported by tithes,
which persons of all sects have to pay, and in Ireland, where
tithes are collected from the great mass of a people detesting
the Church which they support, it is no wonder that the Estab-
lishment is in some quarters the subject of complaint; but
surely no man but a modern philosopher would for a moment
contend that in England and Scotland the moral state of
society is not to be mainly attributed to their national churches
which, supported as they are, ensure the blessings of religious
instruction to all classes.

Here, the people of Upper Canada inhabit a country con-
quered by the blood and treasure of England. The dominion
of the soil was in the Crown by conquest. With a foresight
most happily provident, one-seventh of that land, which was
wholly at the King's disposal, was reserved to form a support
for a clergy to dispense religious instruction among the people,
and to minister to the holy services of our Church.

Was this more thun a wise and reasonable measure towards

! For the purpose of obtaining a Charter for the University of King's
College, Toronto.

. ? The proposal to sell the Reserves and apply the proceeds to purposes
| ofeducation,
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advancing the future happiness of those who were (yet 1o
become inhabitants of this province, and did not all come here
with the knowledge that provision was made for supporting the
national Church ?

Let it but be confirmed and placed beyond the hope of
envy and the reach of malice, and, before fifty years elapse,
the Church will want no better defenders than the representa-
tives of the people.

Your university will aid us. I write this in extreme hasie
and must draw to a conclusion, but how gladly would I plead
the cause of the Church against the attacks of those who rail
at her.

You must by this time have your university charter, on
which I heartily congratulate you and myself, for my two boys
are ripening for it. ‘Lo have achieved this measure will be a
lasting and unspeakable pleasure to you, and confer the greatest
honour on your memory when generations have passed away.
I cannot conceive what other service so valuable it can ever be
in the power of an individual to make to Upper Canada.

In connection with this question of the Clergy
Reserves and their secularisation, which was sub-
sequently carried into effect, I must explain that in
the year 1791, when Upper Canada, of which the
population was mainly Protestant, was first made
into a separate province, a British statute was
passed (81 George IXI., ch. 81) for the special
purpose of making provision for the support of a
Protestant clergy in the Canadas, as had already
been secured to the Roman Catholic clergy in the
old Province of Quebec by the Treaty preceding
the surrender of Canada in 1759, and by Act of the
British Parliament in 1774.

In the provisions of this statute, it was declared
to be its object “to make a permanent appropriation
of lands in the said Provinces for the support and
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maintenance of a Protestant Clergy,” and it was
directed that “for the purpose of more effectually
fulfilling his Majesty’s intentions in this respect and
of providing for the due execution of the same in all
time to come,” certain allotments of the Crown lands
in Canada were to be made, and secured in the
future. It was further laid down that the profits
arising from such lands should «be applicable solely
to the maintenance and support of a Protestant
Clergy within the Province in which the same shall
be situated, and to no other use or purpose whatever.”

Authority was also given to ¢ constitute and
erect within every township or parish one or more
parsonage or rectory, or parsonages or rectories.
according to the Establishment of the Church of
England,” and endow them with a portion of such
allotted lands.

Power to vary or repeal the provisions of the Act
was vested in the Canadian Legislature, subject to
§8 the approval of the Imperial Parliament and the

t Crown.

At the time this Act was passed, the Protestant
¢ denonuinations not in communion with the Church
of England formed a comparatively small body, and
 the opinion held by Anglican Churchmen that the
intention of the Act was solely to provide for the
dergy of that Church has this in support of it, that
J {or some thirty years after the passing of the Act, no
i attempt whatever was made to call in question the
exclusive right of the Church of England to the
§ “Clergy Reserves.” The Church of Scotland then
Putin a claim to a share of them, which was eventu-

dly conceded to it, as being both a Protestant and
21 established Church.
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This was soon succeeded by claims from various
denominations of dissenting but Protestant bodies,
who were becoming more numerous in Canada.

In November 1819, the law officers of the Crown
in England delivered the opinion that the provisions
of the Act did not extend to other Protestant bodies
than the Churches of England and Scotland, « since
the terms ¢ Protestant Clergy’ can apply only to the
Protestant Clergy recognised and established by
law.” . . . The question was not, however, brought
to any decision in Parliament, and the claims of the
various Protestant denominations to participate in
the Reserves continued to be persistently pressed.

In 1831 a Bill passed the House of Assembly
that these Reserves might be devoted to purposes cf
educustion, put was unanimously rejected by the
Legislative Council, who addressed the King, pray-
ing him and the Imperial Parliament to preserve to
Upper Canada this permanent provision for the
support of public worship.

In this address, signed by my father as Speaker
of the Council, the following paragraphs occur:—

We observe with great concern the efforts which are being
made in this colony to inculcate the opinion that it isen
infringement of liberty to make provision for the support of
the Christian religion by maintaining some form of pubiic
worship, even though such a provision should be made (ss i
this province it has been made) without imposing a burthe
upon any class of the people, and without subjecting to any §
civil disability those persons who profess a different faith.

As one of the branches of the Legislature of this colony,
we feel it to be our duty to declare our dissent from suchs
position, as being directly repugnant to principles which hase
been long and firmly established in every part of the Britih
Euwpire, and expressly at variance with the original constitutio
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of this province, and with the sacred pledge given by your
Majesty’s late royal father, when Canada became a British
province.

.+ . Concurring in the recommendation of his Majesty,
the Parliament of Great Britain, by the statute 31 George I11.
ch. 31, made a provision for the support of a Protestant clergy
in this province, in the terms of the royal message, and
secured it by enactments so direct and positive, and so par-
ticular in their details, that there can be no part of the British
Empire in which a public provision for the maintenance of reli-
gion stands on plainer ground than in the provinces of Canada.

In the end (in 1840) the contention as to the
“Clergy Reserves,” which had been a cause of much
agitation and bitter feeling for many years, was
finally set at rest by the passage of a Bill through
the Canadian Parliament, which was approved in
England, directing their secularisation.

Under its provisions, to quote from Caradian
history : 21—

The Reserves were handed over to the various municipal
worporations for sccular purposes, and a noble provision, made
for the sustentation of religion, frittered away so as to produce
but very few beneficial results.

-+ - The Permissory Act of the Imperial Parliament had
reserved the life interest of incumbents. These interests were
mw commuted by the Canadian Act of Secularisation, with
the consent of the clergymen themselves, and the foundation of
asmall permanent endowment was thus made.

The endowment of the Church by the State was
thus practically put an end to in Upper Canada,
though in the Lower Province the rich possessions of
the Roman Catholic Church, secured to them by the

terms of the capitulation of Canada, remained and still
remain undisturbed.

* MacMullen’s “ History of Canada,” p. 528.
M
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Throughout this controversy my father fought
the battle of the Church of England to the utmost of
his power, being both firmly convinced of her legal
rights and an attached member of her communion;
but while he held the view that the religious instrue-
tion of the people should be, on grounds both of duty
and policy, the first care of the State, he was neither
hostile to denominations of the Church other than
his own, nor indisposed to give his practical aid to
them in their efforts to do good.

This cannot be better illustrated than by giving
some extracts from a letter addressed by him on the
12th April 1842 to the editor of Z%e Church news-
paper. in which, in an extract from the Christian
Guardian and an editorial article, he had been held
up to unqualified reprehension for having granted a
site at Holland Landing to the Canada Conference
for a Methodist Church, thus “setting an erroneous
and pernicious example.”

After explaining that the land forming the site
had come to him after the death of his brother Peter.
who had in his lifetime promised it for the purpose in
question, my father adds that even without this he
would have been disposed to yield to the request for
it, and says:—

1t would by no means have been the first act of the kind for
which I have to answer, nor is it very probable that it would
have been the last.

I do not consider the inference a just one that by actsef
assistance of this nature to other religious societics, when
occasion seems to call for it, I give any evidence of an impre-
sion that “ there is no material difference between the Church
and Dissent™ It argues rather, I think, & conviction—which
I do seriously entertain—that there is a “material difference”
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between an ignorance of all religious truths, and the being
instructed in those truths by teachers who may differ from us
in several points of discipline and even of doctrine, while they
zealously and fervently inculcate the main articles of our
faith.

In travelling through the rural portions of Lower Canada,
the most agreeable objects in the landscape, to my eye, were
the numerous parish churches, although they were Roman
Catholic; and if Providence had cast my lot there among a
French population, and the question whether they should have a
church to worship in or not had depended upon my giving them
a few feet of ground on which to place it, I believe I should have
settled the question in the affirmative, not doubting that I was
serving the cause of religion, and doing some good to my
fellow-creatures.

... My opinions on this subject may very possibly be
influenced by circumstances which are not of universal applica-
tion, but which I think it would not Lecome those who know
them to leave out of account.

Before you were born probably, and at least before you had
heard of Canada, T was in the habit of travelling annually into
the remotest districts of this province in the discharge of
duties connected with the administration of justice.

Frequently, in the most lonely parts of the wilderness, in
townships where a clergyman of the Church of England had
never been heard, and probably never seen, I hava found the
population assembled in some log building, earnestly engaged
inacts of devotion, and listening to those doctrines aad tvuihs
which are inculcated in common by most Christian denomina-
tions, but which, if it had not been for the ministration of
diventing preachers, would for thirty years have beer but
little known, if at all, to the greater part of the inhabitants of
the interior of Upper Canada.

-+ -1 am persuaded that but for their zealous labours
| there would have been thousands and tens of thousands of our
pople who would have grown up in utter forgetfulness or
ignorance of every Christian doctrine or duty—strangers to
any observance of the Sabbath, unmindful of the superintend-
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ing providence of God, uninitiated in any truth of the Gospel,
and without any serious sense of their accountability in a
future state.

It was indeed bad enough, and is still bad enough in many
perts of this new country, with all that has been done or could
be done, in the absence of that effectual provision which the
Government of the parent State could alone have supplied ; but
if there had been no ministers in Canada but the few clergy-
men of our Church, zealous and enlightened as they were, I
fear it would have often happened that the obligation of an
oath would have been imposed upon jurors and witnesses whese
first and only acquaintance with the Scriptures would have
commenced when the Gospels were put into their hands in a
Court of Justice.

1 have that confidence in what I believe to be trath—that
admiration of the rational doctrines, the pure worship, the
incomparable liturgy, the just and tolerant spirit of our
Church—that I do sincerely believe that the timc will come
when those who have separated themselves from her will gladly,
and of their own accord, return under her shelter.

If we could see this in our own time, I believe we should
see the consummation of an object more desirable than all
others for the happiness of mankind; that, however, we cannot
expect. In the meanwhile Tapprehend we shall not be hasten-
ing its approach by exhibiting in our conduct or our language
that jealous spirit which is an argument of weakness rather
than of strength, which draws no distinction between the wont
superstitions of paganism and any peculiarity of doctrine ard
form which may separate from our communion the most in-
offensive and zcalous of our Christian brethren.

It may not inappropriately be mentioned here
that in 1828, when the “Religious Denominations
Bill” was before the House of Assembly in Upper
Canada, my father, then Attorney-General, voted
with the advanced Liberals in favour of the measure
—which had for its object to confer on all religious
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denominations the power fo appoint trustees to hold
land in perpetuity for the purposes of meeting-houses;
chapels, or burial-grounds.

There were several who opposed the measure,
and Mr. Read?’ says with respect to this:—

This shows that Mr. Robinson by his acts evinced his high
regard for the early settlers of the country of whatever faith or
political complexion.

Between the time of my father’s first election (in
1821) as member for York (now Toronto) in the
House of Assembly and the year 1829, when he
went upon the Bench, he continuously represented
York in Parliament, being twice re-elected, and was
very actively engaged in legal and Parliamentary
duties.

His earlier circuits were not unfrequently made on
horseback with saddle-bags, as the most convenient
method of travelling over many of the country roads,
and he was, on account of his practice and from
being Attorney-General, regarded as bead of the
Bar in Upper Canada.

By early association, education, and conviction,
he was a Conservative in politics, a strong supporter
of the Crown and of British connection, and a firm
advocate for the union between Church and State.

During his Parliamentary career he was often in
active conflict with the Liberal opposition, for he
soon became what may be termed the leader of
B the Government (or Conservative) party; but it is

| gratifying to know that, with but very few excep-
tions, both opponents and friends have alike acknow-

3 Read's ¢“ Lives of the Judges” (1888).
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ledged that he was never actuated by unworthy
motives, was courteous to all, and free from bigotry.

A writer in one of the Canadian papers thus
describes him at the time he was Attorney-General
and in Parliament :—

And first the King’s Attorney rose,
Polite alike to friends and foes,

Who in strict justice takes such pride
He seems not fee’d on either side.

His work was very hard and unremitting, and no
doubt told subsequently upon his health. Writing
in 1827 to Dr. Strachan, then in England, lLe
says :—

Our session began on the 5th December. From that day
to the present, I have been constantly at work. Besides the
business of my office, always increased by the session, and the
bringing forward and supporting every measure of Government,
I am placed on almost every committee. Projects for im-
provements multiply upon us, local objects 2xciting conflicting
interests aud feelings are to be adjusted, and I find that the
Iabour generally devolves upon me of putting things in shape
and devising the details.

I am now on more than twenty committees, and unless by
constunt application I hasten business, the session must be
protracted, and I must be the greatest sufferer in every respect
by such a consequence.

I decline nothing of this kind, because I find that it tends
to place me on the best ground in the House—but it is
horribly fagging work.

In some works upon Canadian history my father
has been more or less condemued for voting in 1822,
when Attorney-General, that Mxr. Bldwell‘ should

1 Mr. Barnabas Bidwell, who had been returned us member for
Lennox and Addington.
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be debarred from holding a seat in Parliament ; also
for introducing the Alien Bills in 1824; for his
association with what was termed ¢ The Family
Compact ”; and for conducting, as Attorney-Gene-
ral, certain prosecutions for libel, deemed by some
narrow-minded and tyrannous.

He does not touch upon any of these matters in
his memoranda, and I imagine considered it to be
unnecessary ; but it may not be improper that I
should allude te them, especially as, were I mnot to,
my motive for silence might be misunderstood. In
doing so, I shall abstain from quoting from those
writers who have supported my father’s general policy,
as what they say might to some extent be biassed in
his favour.

The matters of Mr. Bidwell and the Alien Bills
may be fittingly taken together.

The Alien Bills, or “Bills for conferring Civil
Rights” on certain inhabitants of the Upper Province,
were in fact liberal in their object, and meant to
place beyond all dispute the position in Canada of
many who were not by law vecognised as British
subjects, as well as their power to dispose of their
property.

There were in Upper Canada many residents
formerly citizens of the United States, and many
officers and soldiers of foreign corps who had received
grants of land and settled in the province. These
had been allowed practically to exercise all the
privileges of British subjects, but were not regarded
as such by the law.

A measure to remedy this anomaly was deemed
necessary by the Colonial Office in the interest of
individuals and thew estates, and the legal question
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of what did, and what did not, constitute an alien
was one of the main points involved.

When the Bills were {irst introduced, a majority of
the 1ouse of Assembly had contended that no one
who had been born in British America before 17831
could cver be regarded as an alien, and that {he
children and graudchildren of those Americans born
before 1788 must, as the children and grandchildren
of British subjcets, be themselves British subjeets.

This coutention my {ather from the very first had
differed from, and the Chief-Justice of England, in an
important case of Thomas v, Acklam, 4 D. & R. 894,
2 B. & C. 779 (1824), had ruled in a sense completcly
opposed to it.

"This case arosc upon thc trial of an ejectnent
brought by one Thomas and his wife, Frances Mary
Thomas, to recover possession of sume real estate in
Yorkshire. It was found by the jury, by a special
verdiet, that the wife bad proved herself the next
heir to the person who had died seized of the estate,
provided she could by law inherit.

The grandfather of Frances Mary Thomas, a
native of England, had emigrated to New Haven,
in the State of Connccticut, then a British colony,
where 1. was appointed collector of his Majesty's
Customs, and dicd while holding that office in 1775.

He left several children, all of whom died without
issue except one daughter, Elizabeth. She, on the
22nd October 1781, married James Ludlow, who was
born in the State of New York, then one of the
British Colonies, and remained there after the separa-
tion of the American Colonies from the Crown.

! The independence of the United States was acknowledged by the
Crown of Great Britain 8rd September 1783.
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Blizabeth Ludlow died in the year 1790 in the
United States of America, leaving an only duughter,
Frances Mary Ludlow, born at Newport, in the
United States, 4th February 1784, who married Mr.
Thomas in the United States in 1807, and was the
Frances Mary 'Thomas, the claimant in this casc.

The question of law which, upon the special
verdict of the jury, was left to be decided by the
Court of King's Benceh, was whether, under these
creumstances, Frances Mary Thomas could inherit
lands in England ; and the Chicf-Justice of England,
Abbott, C.J., delivering the judgment of the Court
of King's Bench, before which the case was brought,
suid :—

James Ludlow, the father of Yrances Mary, was undoubidedly
born a subject of the Crown of Great Britain; he was born in
apart of America which was at the time of his birth a British
colony, and parcel of the dominions of the Crown of Great
Britain ; but upon the facts found we are of opinion that he
was not a subject of the Crown of Great Britain at the time of
the birth of his daughter.

... We are of opinion that James Ludlow had ceased to be
asubject of the Crown of Great Britain, and became an alien
thereto before the birth of his daughter, and consequently that
she isalso an alien, and incapable of inheriting land in Ingland.

Mr. Ludlow had taken no active part during
the war, and had never abjured his allegiance to
Great Britain. Xe was also a member of a family
noted for their loyalty to the Crown, and his
brother? had iost much of his property by adherence
to the royal cause.

1 Chief-Justice Ludlow of New Brunswick, whose daughter married
John Robinson, Speaker aund Treasurer of New Bruuswick, a son of
Colonel Beverley Robinson.
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This decision therefore bore with all the greater
severity upon his daughter Frances Mary Thomas,
and of itself showed that some measure in the in-
terest of persons in an analogous situation was
demanded as a mere act of justice.

With respect to the case of M. Bidwelil, he was
very clearly an alien, as shown further on, if M.
James Ludlow was one, and it was solely because
my father as Attorney-General for the Crown held
the opinion that he was an alien in the eye of the
law, that he opposed his being permitted to sit in
Parliament, and moved in the House that he was
*“an alien, and therefore incapable cf being elected.”

I now quote from my father’s speech in com-
mittee on the Bill, December 5, 1825 :

Upon the events of the war? I need not dwell. These are
sufficiently impressed upon the recollection of us all, and I
am happy upon this, as upon every other occasion, to bear
testimony to the loyalty and good conduct of a very great
portion of those people who had emigrated from the United
States.

It is this evidence of their general disposition which has
doubtless made his Majestys Government here ard in England
desirous that all apprechensions and difficulties as to thar
civil rights should be removed, and that they should hence-
forward be assured of finding their situation in all respects the
same as if they had been horn in the province, or had come
from any part of his Majesty’s dominions. . . .

It is evident that the first point we are called upon to
decide is whether the different classes of persons mentionad in
the preamble of the Bill do, in fact, stend in need of a “egisl-
tive ‘enactment to confirm .nem in their possessions, znd to
give them all the rights of British subjects.

1 Of 1812-15.
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It is impossible, Sir, for me to be in any doubt on this
head. . . .

With respect to our settlers from the United Stales we can
no longer, in justice to them, shut our eyes to the trath that
many of them at least are subject to legal disabilities, which,
gs it is intended that they should be placed on the same foot-
ing as the other inhabitants of the province, it is necessary to
remove by some positive legislative enactment.

We need but compare the facts as they affected the case
of Mr. Ludlow with those which affect the political situation
of many hundreds, and I may say indeed thousands, who are
now in this province, to be convinced of that necessity.

And further, in this speech he takes occasion to
refer to the case of Mr. Bidwell, and explain the
action which he had taken regarding it, as follows :—

It had been proved in evidence that the member petitioned
against (Mr. Barnabas Bidwell) was born in one of the present
United States of Ainerica before the treaty of 1783, and while
it was part of the British dominions; that he resided in that
country during the whole period of the Revolution; that after
the treaty of 1783 he had remained in the United States, had
sworn allegiance to their Government, and abjured on oath
all allegiance for ever to the Crown of Great Britain; that he
had held oflices of great trust and corfidence in the United
States until the year 1809 or 1810, when he removed to this
province where he bad since resided, without, as it appeared,
having complied with the provisions of auny British statute
under which he could have been naturalised.!

Being & member of the House of Assembly, it became my
duty to declare my opinion on oath, and I did so, and stated
very fully the rcasons on which I had formed it. Those who,
like myself, considered the sitting member ineligible were of
opinion that, though born a Britisk subject, he was not a

! Mr. Bidwell, after his arrival in Canada, had taken the Oath of
Allegiance, but this was not held to confer, without the fulfilment of
other provisions, the privileges of a natural-born British subject.
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nataral-born British subject at the fime of his election, which
they conceived was intended and required by the expression
used in the 31st of the late King . . . that the individual in
this instance had by the most open and unequivocal! acts
declared his election to be a member of the new Republic by
abjuring his former Government, and that he became as
effectuaily an alien with respect to Great Britain as if he were
the subject of any foreign Power in Europe. He did ot claim
or pretend to have been naturalised, but on the contrary main-
tained that the circumstance of his birth alone entitled him,
upon the principles of the common law of England, to be
regarded as a British subject without the aid of any naturalis-
ing act.

It can be seen from what has been said above
how much less ground Mr. Bidwell had to be viewed
as a Rritish subject than Mr. James Ludlow.

It should be mentioned also that in 1828, at an
election for the counties of Lennox and Addington,
the returning officer had refused to receive votes for
M. Marshal Spring Bidwell, the son of Mr. Barnabas
Bidwell, on the ground that he also as well as his
father was in the position of an alien. My father
was in England, though, when this question was
debated.

It is a satisfaction and pleasure to be able to
give the following extracts from a letter, written on
21th February 1863, by Mr. Marshal Spring Bidwell
to my uncle, W. B. Robinson, condoling with him
and with my mother upon my father’s death. They
tend to show that he at all events had not viewed
my father’s action as springing from any want of
consideration, or from a loose unwarranted reading
of the law.

In slluding to him at the time when he was
Attorney-General, he says :—
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I remember distinctly the first time I saw Mr. Robinson.
I was a student-at-law, and had gone from Bath to Toronto
to attend the Court of King’s Bench at Michaelmas term.
His appearance was striking. His features were classically and
singularly beautiful, his countenance was luminous with in-
telligence and animation; his whole appearance that of a man
of genius and o polished gentleman, equally dignified and
graceful.

Altogether his features, figure, and manners filled my
vouthful imagination with admiration, which subsequent ac-
quaintance end opportunities to hear him at the Bar and in
Parliament only strengthened, and which was not diminished
by the difference between us in our views and opinions upon
public affairs. . . .

I heard him frequently at the Bar, and on some occasions
I hed the honour to be junior counsel with him. He was a
consummate advocate, as well as a profound and accurate
lawyer.

No one could be more faithful. He studied every case
thoroughly, examined all the particular circumstances, and
made himself master of all its details. He was sincere and
earnest in his opinions, uncompromising, frank, and fearless in
the expression of them.

1 was present upon those occasions in Parliament which
eroused him to great exertions. He was at all times a correct,
interesting speaker, but upon these occasions he spoke with
great force and effect. The fire of his eye, the animation of
his countenance and his manner, combined with dignity, can-
not be appreciated by any one who did not hear him. No
report of his speeches, no description of his manner and appear-
ance con convey to others a just and adequate idea.

He was an admirable Parliamentary leader. Ide never
exposed himself by an incautious speech or act, and never
failed to detect or expose one on the other side. He never
sttempted to make a display of himself, or indulged in useless
declamation ; but spoke earnestly and for the purpose of pro-
ducing an immediate effect.

He was always courteous, communicative, and obliging.
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The above words, written long after the heateq
controversies of these days were over, speak equally
for Mr. Bidwell's heart and impartiality, and are
much prized by my family.

It is a little difficult to understand why these
“famous Alien Bills,” as they have been termed,
excited so much feeling as they did in Canada,

Some writers have cons'dered that they were
disliked because it was sup osed that to pass them
would be beneficial to the Conservative party, and
the opponents of that party naturally suspected the
cloven foot in any Liberal measure from that side of
the House. It has been supposed also that it was
then considered to be against public poliey to offer
encouragemeni to foreigners to become British sub-
jects, although, had the initiative not been taken by
the Conservatives, the Liberal party must have com-
mitted itself before long to some measure of the
kind.

Others have considered it due to the provisions of
the Bills not being liberal enough.

Possibly it was from a combination of these
reasons, added to the not unnatural dislike which
many of those who had practically excreised for
years the privileges of subjects felt at being termed
and having to register themselves as « aliens.”

In the words of a petition sent in against the
Bill : «“Their feelings were wounded beyond expres-
sion at being compelled to come forward in a foreign
character, at the peril of their utter ruin, and repeat
that allegiance which they had frequently confirmed
under oath and sealed with their blood.”
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My father says in his speech in 1823, above
quoted :—

It did appear to me that the suspicions of some honourable
members were excited lest under the pretence of conferring a
benefit, some mischief might be intended. I confess that on
discovering this, I was influenced by a feeling of indignation to
which perhaps I ought to have been superior.

The term “I‘amily Compact™ was but a name
for those holding office under the Conservative
Government of the day.

AMr. Read, in his “ Lives of the Judges,” says:
«There are rot wanting writers who have laid to the
door of the Family Compact all the sins that flesh
was heir to in those days;” and a recent writer upon
Canada at this period says:—

The term “ Xamily Compact ™—first applied, it seems, by
Mackenzie in 1838—avas a sneering reference to the Bourbon
League of the eighteenth century.

And he thus alludes to its leaders :—

Strachan and his friends were emphatically the Tory party
of Upper Canada. - . - As hecame Strachan’s pupils, the Tory
leaders were keen Anglicans, and felt as much inferest in the
Clerzy Reserves as in their own huge grents of wild lands?

Very possibly the name * Family Compact™ was
fint applicd by William Lyon Mackenzie, as here
stated ; but I have before mentioned how my father
did not accept such 2 grant of land when offered to
lim (Chapter V1. p. 150), and I have nc doubt that

! ¥ Self-Government in Canada and how it was Achicved (the Story of
Letd Darham’s Report) ™ by F, Bradshaw, B.A. (1003).
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others of the Conservative party would have acted in
precisely the same way.

Many incidents in my father’s career show that
neither land, nor office, nor money were ever unduly
sought for by him, and in an allusion which he makes
in 1854 to his family, though not in connection with
the Family Compact, he says :—

My father, Christopher Robinson, left three sons, all of
whom were like himself in process of time elected to the
Assembly, my brothers for counties and I myself for Toronto.
All have been members of the Executive Council of Upper
Canada, two members of the Legislative Council, and all thre
have had regiments of Militia. I believe it to be quite true
that they owed their appointments to no applications of theis
own, or of any one for them.

My own sons have never applied, and I have never applied
for them, to the Government for any office of any kind, and
they none of them receive a shilling from the public revenue of
the country in which I have served so long.!

I will only add to this, that if he and his
brothers held appointments often under the Crown,
they were also elected, some of them again and
again, to the House of Assembly by the votes
of the people; and that Lord Durham himself, in
speaking of the Compact, says in his report:
“There is, in truth, very little family connection
among the persons thus united.”

The fact seems to be that the Conservative party
at this time was largely composed of the ealier
settlers of Canada, or thoir descendants, many of
whom were Unitea Empire Loyalists, though it is

1 Many years after my father’s death, my brother, John Beverley
Robinson, became Licutenant-Governor of Ontario (1880-87). THs
was not, however, in the days of the “‘ Family Compact,” but under
Responsible Government.
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a mistake to suppose that all Loyalists belonged
to the Conservative party only. In that party
they were most numerous, but they were to be
found also in the ranks of their opponents. These
Loyalists had been in conflict more or less with
the United States, and sufferers from the prin-
ciples of a republican form of government for
upwards of a generation ; and in the events of the
French and American Revolutions, which may be
said to have occurred in their own time, had seen
much of the evils which may accompany the excess
of popular power.

In the twentieth century, when we are far re-
moved from these events, and when loyalty to the
Sovereign and attachment to British institutions
are so firmly established throughout the Empire, we
can hardly realise what a practical matter this
“loyalty” to the representative of the Crown was
at this period, and what solid ground many of the
Loyalists had to distrust those who were not known
to be firm supporters of authority and of the prin-
ciples which they themselves upheld.

As my father has said of them : '—

Their feelings sprang from a pure source. Their loyalty
was sincere, for it led to the sacrifice of property, of country, of
kindred, and friends. By some it has been ascribed to the
influence (it would indeed be an excellent influence) of an
f imaginary “Family Compact,” or what they have called
“Orangeism ;™ by others, to an innate subserviency to potwer
for sordid purposes; to anything, in short, but the existence
of that principle which teaches us to stand by the right
through good report and evil report, and to cling the closer to

———

! ¢ Canada and the Canada Bill” (1839).
N
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what is just and good in proportion as we see it to be
ungenerously assailed.

The claim of the Loyalists, of all political parties,
to the consideration of Government rested not on
party, but on national grounds.

In order that it should never be forgotten, Lord
Dorchester, an early and able Governor of Canada,
expressed his wish, in 1789, to “ put a mark of honour
upon the families who had adhered to the unity of the
Empire and joined the Royal Standard in America
before the Treaty of Separation in the year 1783.”

In response to this an Order in Council was passed
at Quebec (9th November 1789) to register these
families, “to the end that their posterity may be
diseriminated,” for * distinguished benefits and privi-
leges.”

This distinction, extending to the posterity of
those it honoured, shows the light in which Govem-
ment in 1789 regarded the Loyalist services;* and
in the War of 1812-15 these Loyalists, and their
sons, again came prominently forward to preserve
Canada to the Crown.

It has been recently said : 53—

In considering British sentiment in Canada, it is well to
remember its history. The founders of British Canada may
fairly be called “ the first of the Imperialists.”

To the “Family Compact” and Conservative pariy
which I have described my father was proud to belong.

1 See Appendix A., viii., as to this.

2 The above facts explain the value attached to the letters U.EL by
the descendants of the United Empire Loyalists. It is based upon the
¢“mark of honour,” conferred over a century ago, by an Order in
Council, at the instance of the representative of the King.

3 Arthur Gill, letter to the Morning Post, Sept. 29, 1903.
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On the subject of the prosecutions for libel,
which, when in the office of Attorney-General, he
deemed it right, or was directed by Government, to
institute, I shall say very little, because opinions must
often differ as to when the line is passed beyond
which it becomes weakness and against the public
interest, rather than magnanimous, not to take notice
of serious accusations preferred against an official,
and bearing upon his fitness to discharge a respon-
sible duty.

Of these prosecutions, that which has been most
commented upon was the one brought by him against
Francis Collins, editor of the Freeman newspaper,
instituted in 1828. Collins, a bitter journalistic
opponent, had imputed to him as Attorney-General
falsehood, malignity, and what was practically neglect
of duty. He was found “ guilty,” and sentenced to a
fine of £50 and twelve months’ imprisonment.

Mr. Bradshaw? says as to this:—

Collins was largely to blame, for he mistook Robinson’s
forbearance for timidity, and was not satisfied with a former
TArrow escape.

And Kingsford in his History takes the same view.?

The offence was, in short, deliberate, and forbear-
ance had been previously exercised in vain.

I find from my father’s papers that during 1824
the question of whether he would like employment
out of Canada was raised in the following letter from
Sir Wilmot Horton, Under-Secretary for State for
j the Colonies, and Sir Peregrine Maitland seems later

! «Self-Government in Canada,” &c., by F. Bradshaw (1903).
* “History of Canada,” by William Kingsford (1848).
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on to have more than once suggested that he should
move to England ; but I find no replies to these sug-
gestions, and even had it been practicable to secure
for him any suitable post, which he could have
ventured to accept, I doubt if the idea of leaving
Canada would ever have been agreeable to him.

From Sir Wilnot Horton.
13th July 1824,

I believe that I mentioned to you the possibility of inde.
pendent Members of Council being appointed at the Cape,
Mauritius, and Ceylon—the maximum £3000, the minimun
£2500. Would you like such a situation, and are you anxious
to come to England (independent of Parliamentary views) to
prosecute the law, provided you could obtain a situation of
£500 or £600 per annum? Let me hear from you on these
points.

In 1825 it was proposed that he should go upon
the Bench as Chief-Justice of Upper Canada, to
which he thus refers :—

In October 1825 Chief-Justice Powell having applied to
retire, the situation of Chief-Justice was offered to me by the
Secretary of State, but I declined, because I was young, aud
had no objection to work in my profession, in which I had a
large and increasing practice.

T had many young children to be brought up and educated,
and the emoluments were not such that I could venture to
accept them, and give up my office of Attorney-General and
my growing practice at the Bar.

Mr. Campbell was made Chief-Justice, and having repre-
sented to the Government the insufficiency of the salaries of the
Chief-Justice and the other Judges for the proper support of
the Crown Offices, these were raised.!

! As to changes made in the salaries of the Bench, seo chap. ix. and
Appendix A.
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His health failing, Mr. Campbell desired to retire earlier
than he subsequently actually did, when it was again proposed
to me to accept the office, which I again declined.

Not long after this, however, my father went
upon the Bench, as explained in the next chapter,
and upon his ceasing to be member for York, a
number of his constituents united in procuring
from England a valuable piece of plate, which they
presented to him in the following year (8th July
1830), and which bore the following inscription :—

Presented by a number of the electors of the town of York
to the Honourable John Beverley Robinson, their highly valued
representative in the Provincial Legislature of Upper Canada,
asa mark of their admiration of the talent, zeal, and integrity
with which, during a period of nine years, he has defended in 2
popular assembly the genuine principles of the British Con-
stitution, and upheld the Government of his country.

The Law Journal' thus alludes to his Parlia-
mentary life, and describes, I think accurately, the
views he held as to his obligations to his constituents
as their elected representative :—

Sir John Robinson held the doctrine that Parliamentary
representation was essentially different from delegation; that
as a representative he was neither elected to legislate for a
particular class nor to advocate exclusive interests, nor was he
a2 mere agent with defined powers, and entrusted as it were
with proxies of the votes of his constituents, to give effect to
limited instructions. He claimed the right of individual judg-
ment, and that he was entrusted with discretionary powers to
be exercised as conscience and circumstances suggested. In an
address to his constituents (on the occasion of his last election
for York in 1828) he thus expressed himself:—

1 Law Jowrnal, March 1863.
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“You will do me the justice to remember that I haye
always plainly told you that there was no object I could
propose to myself in my political career for which I would
exchange the satisfaction I desire to enjoy at its close, in the
reflection that I have ever moved in that path which my judg-
ment pointed out to be the right one. Whenever it shall
appear that this conduct disqualifies me for running the race of
popularity, I shall cheerfully submit to the consequences.”

The same journal thus refers to him as a leader of
the Conservative party :—

As a Parliamentary leader Sir John has scarcely ever been
equalled in this colony. Amid the turmoil and excitomes
consequent upon constitutional changes, he not only kept s
obligations to his friends, but, without pandering to their
passions, gained the honourable estimation of even his bitterest
opponents. 'The secret of his success was his sterling honesty
of purpose and his unbending integrity in its performance.

As a speaker Sir John Robinson had few equals. He wasa
good debater, forcible in expression, and convincing in argu.
ment. His ability in responding to an opponent was un-
matched. Never taken by surprise, he has been known, after
a long and stormy debate, conducted against him by no
mean antagonist, to rise without the slightest preparation,
and grapple with every proposition, leaving no argument
unanswered, or misstatement uncontradicted.

He had great command of language. His speaking per-
haps did not often rise to eloquence in the general acceptation
of the term. He seldom attempted to electrify, or appeal to
the feelings and passions of his audience; he looked upon
eloquence and wit as weapons of a delicate nature, the use of
which was blunted and impaired by frequent employment, but
on the few occasions when he appealed to the loyalty of his
followers, or repelled, in & burst of virtuous indignation, some
ill-intentioned personal attack, he seldom failed to rally his
friends into enthusiasm, and cover his opponents with shzme
and confusion.



CHAPTER VIl

ON THE BENCH AND IN THE LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL
THE CANADIAN REBELLION)

1829-38

Succeeds Chief-Justice Campbell on the Bench—Resigns seat on Executive
Council—3tate of Canada, 1815 to 1838-—Agitation for Responsible
Government—OQutbreak of Canadian Rebellion—Attack upon Toronto
—Trial of prisoners— Destruction of the Caroline— QOutrages on
Canadian frontier—Act against foreign aggressors—Trial of aliens
for treason—Letter as to consulting heads of departments—Offered
knighthood : reasons for declining it—Letters from Sir F. Head, Sir
A. MacNab, Sir G. Colborne, and Sir G. Arthur—Their services to
Canada, &e.

In 1829 ill-health compelled Chief-Justice Campbell
to retire,' and the vacancy of Chief-Justice of Upper
Canada was for the third time offered to my father,
who accepted it, his commission being dated 13th
July 1829. Ie gives the following reasons for now
deciding to go upon the Bench :—

On this last occasion I had some scruple about standing
longer in the way of the promotion, which is naturally looked
for among members of the Bar, and I was apprehensive that,
by the appointment of some person from England not older
than myself, I might be shut out from the judicial office when
circumstances might lead me to desire it.

From this time, throughout his life, his duties
were mainly judicial, although under the colonial
system of the day he continued for a few years to
take a part in political life as President of the Execu-
tive and Speaker of the Legislative Council.

! ARter his retirement he was knighted (the first Canadian judge to be
%), and became Sir William Campbell.
199
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These posts were filled ex officio by the Chief.
Justice, until the union of the Cinadas in 1841 , when
the occupants of the Beuch ceased te hold any
political office.

My father, however, resigned the Presidency of
the Executive Council about 1882, it having been
intimated to him that, as a matter of Government
policy, it would be agreeable were he himself to take
that step—a suggestion he complied with at once; and
he never actua” | sat in the Legislative Council after
1838, from which date until 1240 he was in England,

As a consequence, ne was not present in the
Legislative Council in 1889 during the debates upon
the Union Bill of that year, though he published in
England his views with respect to the Bill, which are
given fully in succeeding chapters.

T have some reason to think that his active
opposition to this Bill, which was afterwards with-
drawn, and differed in many points from that passed
in 1840, added to the fact that he had been in earlier
years Conservative leader in the House of Assembly,
have created among many an impression that he took
a greater perscnal share in politics when on the Bench
and also in the Legislative Council, 7.e. between 1829
and 1840, than in reality he did.

The journals of the Council during this period
show that he was regular in his attendance as its
Speaker; but there is neither in them nor in the
references made to him in those newspapers of the
time which I have consulted, anything to indicate
that, after he had ceased to sit in the House of
Assembly and Executive Council, he ever, with the
exception I have alluded to in 1839, concerned him-
self very specially with political matters.
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It may be added also that the duties of “ Speaker,”
or presiding officer, are incompatible with taking any
active part in debate.

He must, of course, as official head of the Council,
have given his advice, when asked for, to the repre-
sentative of the Crown; and from his long experience
of Canada he was no doubt often consulted : but in a
letter, from which I quote further on in this chapter,
to Sir George Arthur, it is to be gathered that his
wish was to be referred to only so far as was clearly
called for in the position which he held.

To his work as a legislator, in the general
rather than political sense, the Law Jowrnal® thus
alludes :—

The fruits of Sir John Robinson’s life as a legislator are to
ke iound in the pages of our statutes. Several of our most
important Acts were framed by his own hand. They bear
evidence to his great legislative ability and to his clear percep-
tion of an existing evil or defect, and the remedy most fitted
toremove it. They show his strong attachment to monarchical
institutions, his intention to preserve the relations of the
province with the Empire, and they are further characterised
by that close approximation to those British institutions which
have s0 long been our pride and our boast.

The period during which he was in the Legislative
Council was one of much political unrest in Canada.
The struggle for *“Responsible Government,” and
afterwards the Canadian Rebellion, disturbed the
country during these years, and were the most im-

g portant events to which I need refer; but it may

| be said in addition that throughout the whole of
f bis association with politics, from 1821 (when,

B Shortly after the war, he entered the Lower House),

R ———

1 Law Jousrnal of Upper Canada, March 1863.
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Canada was at periods in a more or less agitated and
unsettled condition.

To justly estimate the policy of the Conservative
party fo which he belonged, and its attitude towards
the party of Reform, during the years when Canada
may be said to have been passing from youth to
manhood, it is necessary to understand something
of the then circumstances of the country; but while
I must, for this reason, briefly allude to them, I will
confine myself, as I have occasionally done before,
to what has been written by those who, in their
general views, are certainly not partisans of the
Conservative policy of those days.

Mr. MacMullen writes :*—

The War (of 1812-13) which, in one way or another, drew
almost the entire male population of Upper Canada into its
vortex, had of itself completely unsettled the habits of the
people by its novelty and excitement; and the absence of
these mental stimulants, aside from the greater scarcity of
money, produced a very general irritation. . . . This naturally
found vent against whatever were deemed abuses, and formed
the microscopic medium through which the injuries they
entailed, whether real or fanciful, were regarded.

Then Mr. Robert Gourlay came to the countiy,
“ distinguished for a litigious and dissatisfied, though
benevolent disposition . . . energetic, restless, ambi-
tious . . . indefatigable in hunting up abuses.”*

Then William Lyon Mackenzie, a future leader
in the Rebellion, commenced a course of violent
attacks upon the Government, declaring that he |

1 MacMullen's ““ History of Canada,” p. 839.

* Ibid., p. 341. Mr. Gourlay subsequently became insane, and w35 ¥
imprisoned in England for striking Lord Brougham, a distinguished
advocate of Reform, in the lobby of the House of Commons.
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would rather work for his bread than ¢ submit to the
official fungi of the country, more numerous and
pestilential than the marshes and quagmires that
encircle Toronto.”?

To this was added the struggle for Responsible
Government, and the whole culmirated in the
Rebellion, which, while like a storm it eventually
cleared the air, was only put down after some
bloodshed, and, together with the contests over the
Union Bill, left the couniry politically unsettled for
a time.

It was in the year in which my father went upon
the Bench (1829) that the question of “ Responsible
Government ” is said to have “first loomed distinetly
on the public view as the great panacea for Canada’s
many evils ;”* and the agitation for the principle it
involved, which was that the Executive should be
responsible to the representatives of the people and
not merely to the Crown, was carried on after he had
ceased to be a member of the House of Assembly.

He is said by some to have been opposed, when in
the Legislative Council, to the principle of “ Respon-
sible Government” in the Colonies. It would be
g more correct, I believe, to say that he did not
consider that in the interests of the Crown and
B DBritish connection it could be prudently introduced
s into Canada at the time its concession was being so
vehemently demanded, and under the then condition
of the country.

In this he may have been wrong, or he may have
been right, but the events of the Rebellion proved
that there were many in that political party which

! MacMullen's ¢ History of Canada,” p. 360. 2 Jbid., p. $70.
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was demanding a larger measure of popular control,
who under the name of “Reform” were aiming at
something essentially aifferent; they desired a Re-
publican form of Government, and coull not be
conirolled by the more moderate of that party.

tistrue that many of the latter had no sympathy
with these extremists, who eventually lost weight, but
while my father was in Parliamentary life there was
ground to view with great apprehension the intro-
duction of any measure, such as Responsible Govern-
ment, which would tend to increase their number.
and therefore power, in the Legislature.

In the Lower Province, Mr. Papineau, Speaker
of the House of Assembly, whe hid been twice
elected to that office, had, in 1835, spoken thus in
the House:'—

The time has gone by when Europe could give Monarchies
to America; on the contrary, an epoch is now approaching
when America will give Republics to Europe.

Other members had used somewhat similar lan-
guage ; and Mr. Kingsford relates® hos, in March
1836, Mr. Barnabas Bidwell, Speaker of the House
of Assembly of Upper Canada, laid on the tableof
the House a letter from Mr. Papineau, Speaker of
the House of Assembly of Lower Canada. forward-
ing ceriain Resolutions of that body, and containing
these words :—-

The state of society all over Continental America requires
that the forms of its Government should approximate nearer
to that selected, under propitious circumstances, and sfter

1 MacMullen's ““ History of Canada,” p. 386. Mr. Papincau becamea
leading instigator of the Rebellinn in 1837,
2 ¢ History of Canada,” by William Kingsford (1898), vol. x. p. 38
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mature consideration, by the wise statesmen of the neighbour-
ing Union, &e.

Mr. MacMullen writes® that up to the year 1826
fully one-third of the Reform party consisted of
emigrants from the United States, who “ considered
that a Monarchical form of Government must be
necessarily arbitrary; regarded Republican institu-
tions as the only liberal ones, and desired to see them
established in Canada.”
And Mr. F. Bradshaw * also writes :—

The Radical opposition (i.c. the extreme section of the
Reform party), from the time of Willcocks? to that of Bidwell,
consisted of United Irishinen and Americans, with a preference
for Republican institutions. . . . Many of the reformersin Par-
liament (in Upper Canada) held extreme views, among whom
%as Dr. Duncombe, afterwards a rebel leader.

Respousible Government, which was introduced
into Canada in 1841, after the Rebellion had been
crushed, has, in the years which have since elapsed,
been of great advantage to the country; tut in con-
sidering whether it cculd have been wisely adopted
at an earlier period than it was, it must not be
forgotten that after the Rebellion the political situa-
§ ton had changed, the plans of the rebel leaders and
sympathisers been defeated, as well as their influence
| lessened, and that the dangerous agitations along the
k frontier adjoining the American Kepublic had prac-
b tically ceased.

! “History of Canada,” p. 374.

3 “Self-Government in Canada,” ﬁp. 126, 276.

¥ 3See p. 55, chap. iii.  Sheriff Willcocks was an ex-United Irishman
B stowssclected to the House of Assembly of Upper Canada.  He joined
2 enemy in the war, and was killed at Fort Erie in 1814, being then a
wlenel in the American army. Mr. Bidwell was one of the Reform
kadess in 1837.




206 SIR JOHN BEVERLEY ROBINSON cg

If a dispassionate and full political history of the
Conservative party in Canada between 1815 and 1840
ever comes to be written, it will be found, I think
that the restraining influence of that party in critical
years contributed much, -wnder the ecircumstances
which then prevailed, to the highest interests of
Canada. With regard to my father, he was far tos
great an admirer of the British constitutional system
ever to have wished to keep Canada for an indefinite
period without as full a measure of liberty as was
enjoyed in England; but he has not dwelt upon
this subject in his papers, and I have never heard
him speak of it, as he scarcely ever alluded to politics
at home.

In chapter ix. will be found his view of the
political system which now practically prevails in
the self-governing Colonies, written when the policy
of making them responsible for their own defence,
introduced about 1862, was under consideration.

To turn more especially to the origin and occur-
rences of the Rebellion, much has been written g

about its causes from various standpoints, which I

cannot here enlarge upon; but it may be said thit [S4
they were not identical in Upper and Lower {or %

French) Canada, the inhabitants of which two pro-
vinces, taken as a body, differed from each other in

many circumstances—a difference which made re- i
bellion against the Sovereign more excusable in the B

latter (which had been under the French Crown until
1759) than in the former.

With the affairs of Lower Canada my father had
no connection, and with regard to the rising in
Upper Canada, his share in the events which ol
lowed it was confined to turning out, with many
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others in Toronto, to repel an unsuccessful attempt
to surprise the town; to having to preside at the
trial of certain prisoners concerned in the Rebellion ;
and to deal with legal questions arising out of the
disturbed condition of the country, and more par-
ticularly out of the invasion of Canadian territory by
sympathisers with the Rebellion from the United
States.

Some have attempted to palliate, if not justify,
the abortive rising in the Upper Province, which was
confined in its extent, and of no very general or for-
midable character, by ascribing it to the tyranny and

8 clfishness of the Canadian officials of a Government

B which it was in the interests of freedom to overthrow;
@ but grounds for treason and armed rebellion, with
@ ihe bloodshed and loss of life which they were sure
to entail, cannot be said to have been existeat in
R Canada.

R It has been well pointed out that—

§  Trial by Jury existed, the Jaw of Habeas Corpus protected
g posonal rights, and the levying of internal taxation was vested
in the Jocal Parliament.

B Some grievances there may nave been. In cer-
g iain parts of the country officials might possibly nave
f been inclined to be autocratic in manner or in act;
8 aud the time had probably come when the old

method of governing the country from the Colonial
| Office was unsuited to the circumstances of Canada,
f 0 matter how able and high-minded those might
j be to whose duty it feli to administer it. It
| is probably true that the real discontent, which was
| naturally worked upon by agitators, dissatisfied either

! MacMullen’s ¢ History of Canada,” P- 468.
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with their position, or the form of government, or
their share in it, arose, as has been said,* both in Upper
and Lower Canada, “from economic as opposed to
political troubles—in Upper Canada from the back-
ward condition of the country, which in turn was due
to want of capital and population, and to the exist-
ence of a quantity of ‘dead land,” which obstructed
all improvement.”

It is certain that the mass of Upper Canadians
had no sympathy whatever with the Rebellion;
and that, for one who aided 1it, numbers turned out
to put it down.

Mr. Kingsford writes :—

Except with some of the leaders of the Reform Party,
there was no sympathy with the polit.cal attitude assumed in
the Lower Province.2

It is doubtful also if it did not retard more than
advance the more beneficial of those political changes
which were afterwards introduced; but as to the
effects which would have accompanied its success
I can say nothing which could bear with as much
weight as that which has been awready said by one }
of its leaders, Mr. William Lyon Mackenzie himself
(who years afterwards died in Canada), in a letter
written 3rd February, 1849, to Earl Grey, Secretary

of State for the Colonies, of which the following is

an extract :—

A course of careful observation during the last eleven yeus 38

has fully satisfied me that had the violent movement in which

I and many cthers were engaged on both sides of the Niagar 3

1 ¢ Self-Government in Canada,” by F. Bradshaw, p. 277.

2 Kingsford's ““ History of Canada,” vol. x. p. 357. &

3 ¢ Life and Times of William Lyon Mackenzie,” by C. Lindsey (1852, X8
p- 291.  “The Story of my Life,” by the Rev. Egerton Ryerson (1684,
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proved successful, that success would have deeply injured the
people of Canada, whom I then believed I was serving at great
risks. . . . I have long been sensible of the errors committed
during that period. . . . No punishment that power could
inflict, or nature sustain, could have equalled the regrets I have
felt on account of much that I did, said, wrote, and published;
but the past cannot be recalled. . . . There is not a living
man on the Continent who more sincerely desires that British
Government in Canada may long continue.

With regard to the events of the Rebellion in
Upper Canada, it is enough to say that, in December
1837, when the regular troops had been entirely
withdrawn from the Upper Province to suppress the
insurrection in the Lower, an attempt, headed by
Wililam Lyon Mackenzie, who, with others, had
fomented a rising near Toronto, was made to gain
possession of that town, which was the seat of Govern-
ment, and to seize the Government buildings.

No doubt several who took part in this had be-
come convinced that they were patriots, while others
joined from motives not so creditable.

When at night, on the 6th-of December, the alarm
bells summoned the loyal inhabitants of Toronto to
repair to the City Hall, where two guns had been
placed, and some arms and ammunition stored, my
father twrned out with the rest, and Sir Francis

| Head, Lieutenant-Governor of Upper Canada at this
W time, thus alludes to him*:+—

L We were of course a motiey group. I had a short double-
@ barelled gun in my belt and another on my shoulder. "The
| Chicf-Justice had about thirty rounds of ball cartridge in his
§ cartouch, and the rest of the party were equally well armed.

1 “The Emigrant,” p. 170, by Sir Francis Head, who was Lieutenant-
f Covernor of Upper Canada, Jaauary 1836 to March 1837.
(0]
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I find the memorandum from which I quote
below among my father’s papers, written upon the
day on which this attempt was repulsed :—

Thursday, th December 1837,

The loyal feeling of her Majesty’s true subjects has been
nobly displayed to-day, and the result promises peace and
happiness to Upper Canada for years to come.

For some weeks past reports had been brought to Toronto
from the settlements about Newmarket and along Yonge Street,
that there were people training by hundreds under certain
leaders who have been long known as disaffected and seditious,
but who were not supposed to be so desperate and daring as
to rise in open rebellion against their Sovereign.

The loyal inhabitants in the neighbourhood of thee
armed meetings were much alarmed, and so many accounts
arrived of an intended attack upon Toronto that serious
anxiety was felt by the inhabitants of the city as well as of
the country.

The Licutenant-Governor looked upon these meetings of
the rebels as an effort to deter him from sending away the
troops to the assistance of our fellow-subjects in Lower
Canada, where thousands of French Canadians are in ams.
But on Sunday last such particular reports were received
of an intended attack, and so much alarm was felt in several
parts of the country, that he addressed an order to the different
militia regiments calling upon them to hold themscives ready

for duty upon any emergency arising either here or in Lower 38

Canada.

"This order was ready for distribution on Monday, and
the mayor and citizens of Toronto, aided by the zealous B
exertions of Colonels Fitzgibbon and Stanton, had made some

arrangements for guarding the Bank, the City Hall, and such |8
points as were likely to be assailed. About midnight onthe SN
4th December, the town bells rang an alarm, and the citizens

hastily tollected at the City Hall, where arms and ammuni- §  ,~

tion were delivered to them. His Excellency, Sir Francs §

Head, came down promptly, and placed himself among the [
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assembled inhabitants, armed like them and ready to resist the
threatened attack.

It was uncertain to what extent the treason might have
spread, and how many men might have been deluded to join
in the attempt. A call was therefore sent by express upon
the militia of the adjoining districts to require their aid. On
Monday evening some hundreds of armed rebels had passed
down Yonge Street; some were on horseback and others on
foot. They were in general armed with Awmerican rifles,
and many of them with pikes and spears. It was not doubted
that their intention was to make scme attack on the town, and
several Joyal inhabitants who had seen them pass resolved to
make the best of their way into Toronto, to give notice of their
approach, and assist in repelling them.

Captain Stewart, and Colonel Moodie formerly of his
Majesty’s 104th Regiment, were of this small party. Captain
Stewart was made prisoner, and remained so till relieved by
the advance of the militia under Sir Francis Head.

Colonel Moodie endeavoured to make good his way, but
was shot down by a discharge from several rifles upon the
word of command given by one of the leaders; and thus was
this gallant veteran, who had fought for his country in many
battles,! shot on the Queen’s highway. Two or three of the
8 paty succeeded in getting in, having been fired upon, but
& fortunately not hit.

g  When the rebels came to within a mile or two of the town
8 they met several of those who had volunteered their services
2 toride up Yonge Street, and gain intelligence of their move-
R ments.  Some of these they took prisoners, and among them
j John Powell, Esq., who, upon attempting to escape was shot
at, but without effect. e succeeded in getting into the town,
B nd the accounts received from him and from other quarters led
B ‘o the expectation of an immediate attack, which every possible
B effort was made to meet.
When daylight came, the rebels were seen, in a large body,

m;%lonel Moodie had served in the Peninsular War and in that of
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near the first toll-gate on Yonge Street, and it was reported
that they were hourly receiving large accessions to their force,

In the meantim: hundreds of loyal persons flocked to the
garrison and to the City Hall to receive arms and ammunition,
and to join in the defence of the place. The very best spirit
was shown.

During the next day the brave and loyal militia of the
country came in numbers to offer their services.

My father’s account ends here, but the defet
of the insurgents, on the day on which it was written
(Thursday, December 7, 1887), at Montgomery's
Tavern on Yonge Street, by the force under Sir
F. Head, with whom were Sir Allan (then Colonel)
MacNab, Colonel Fitzgibbon and others, is a well-
known incident in the history of Upper Canada.

During the alarm in Toronto, my mother with
her younger children, of whom I was one, was placed
with other ladies and children upon a steamer in
the bay.?

My father bears decided testimony to the value
of the service rendered by Colonel Fitzgibbon upon
this ocecasion ; and in writing from Brighton, on the
14th August 1839, to Bishop Strachan says, in aletter
of which a copy was afterwards forwarded to the
Colonial Office :—

‘With regard to his (Colonel Fitzgibbon’s) services in Decem-
ber 1837, I have no doubt (and I should be happy to state this
on every occasion when it could be useful to him) that his
earnest conviction before the outbreak that violence would be
attempted, and the measures of precaution which he spon-
taneously took in consequence of that impression, were the

means of saving the Government and the loyal inhabitantsof 8

Toronto from being, for a time at least, at the mercy of the
rebels; and I believe that the most disastrous consequences

1 See Appendix A., V1I.
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would have followed the surprise which Colonel Fitzgibbon’s
vigilance prevented. His conduct, also, when the crisis did
occur, was most meritorious.!

It fell to my father’s lot, in the course of his
duty as Chief-Justice, to try at Toronto (on the 8th
March 1838) two prisoners upon the charge of
treason ; and, with reference to the extreme penalty
of the law having been carried out in the case of
these men who had taken a leading part in the
rebellion, the Law Journal of Upper Canada says : *—

It has been asserted that the Government were in receipt
of a despatch from Xngland forbidding capital punishment
for political offences without the approval and sanction of
the Imperial authorities, but, like many other charges made
under similar circumstances, we believe this to be quite in-
apable of proof, and altogether contrary to fact, and that,
in truth, no such despatch was known to, or received by, the
Government.

So clear is the memory of the Chief-Justice fromn the im-
putation of having advised the Lieutenant-Governor to carry
out the extreme penalty of the law, that he had ceased for
some time previously to be a member of the Executive Council.

In passing sentence on the prisoners he very properly dwelt
upon the enormity of their crime, but his remarks were im-
bued with compassionate and sorrowful feeling, and a gentle-
man in Court at the time has remarked that after the
prisoners had pleaded “Guilty™ and the sentence of death
was passed upon them, of the three individuals concerned, the
Chief-Justice was most certainly the most painfully affected.

It is only because the assertions alluded to by the
Law Journal have been made, that I am not silent
on this subject altogether.

! Colonel Fitzgibbon had also performed distinguished services in the
War of 1812-15.

% Law Journal of March 1863.



214 SIR JOHN BEVERLEY ROBINSON .

The prisoners pleaded * Guilty,” so that no evi-
dence was taken at their trial, and in reporting to the
Lieutenant - Governor their convictions, my father
refers him, for the circumstances of their cases, to the
Crown officer, and the commissioners who had in-
vestigated the charges.

He had certainly resigned his seat on the Execy-
tive Council some years before; and if consulted as
to the sentence, as he very possibly was, it may be
assumed to have been in his capacity of Chief-Justice,
and solely as to the legal aspects of the case. There
were few, I am convinced, who regretted more than
he did that these misguided men had placed them-
selves in the position they had.

In his charge to the Grand Jury he pointed out
that though “our laws inculcate no doctrine so
slavish as the necessity of absolute submission to
every degree of tyranny that a Government can ex-
ercise,” no tyranny existed in Canada which could
be held to justify armed rebellion against the
Queen.

At this point, in order to make more clear certain
references by my father to the further events of the
Rebellion—given by me in later chapters—I may say
that throughout December 1887 and during 1888,
the country was in a very disturbed condition, insur-
rection and blo .dshed occurring in more than one
quarter.

William Lyon Mackenzie escaped to Buffalo in
the United States; and from thence the ¢ Patriots,”
as they were termed, took possession, in December
1887, of Navy Island (belonging to Canada) about
two miles above the Falls of Niagara, established
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provisional government there, and threatened an in-
vasion of the main shore of Canada.

On 13th December Mackenzie issued a pro-
clamation, in which occur these words :—

Compare the great and flourishing United States with our
divided and distracted land; and think what we also might
have been as brave independent lords of the soil. Leave then
Sir Francis Head’s defence to the miserable serfs dependent on
his bounty.

Sir Allan (then Colonel) MacNab was sent with
abody of militia to Chippewa, opposite Navy Island,
to watch and oppose the rebels.

Under his orders, on 29th December 1887, Cap-
tain A. Drew, a commander in the Royal Navy who
had settled in Canada, with a party of volunteers,
very gallantly surprised and cut out from under Fort
Schlosser, on the American side of the river Niagara,
the steamer Caroline, which was being used by the
Patriots to convey guns, men, and supplies to Navy
Island, and sent her, in flames, to drift toward the
Falls, These volunteers consisted of Mr. Harris,
R.N., Lieutenant McCormick, R.N., and men accus-
tomed to boats. The boats were five in number,
according to Captain Drew’s official report, contain-
ing about nine men each (forty-five in all). During
§ the crossing they were, at one time, not more than
i half 2 mile above the Falls.

This was an extremely hazardous enterprise, if
only on account of the certainty there was that the
¢ boats conveying the party, if the oars or gear were
damaged by accident, or by shot, would be swept by
the strong current and the rapids over the Falls.
But the service was carried out with skill and resolu-
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tion, the surprise was complete, and the object was
in consequence attained with a very small loss of life
in boarding the vessel.

The burning of the Caroline caused great ex-
citement and indignation in the United States, and
threatened to lead to a war, for though the American
Government had in no way officially recognised the
« Patriots,” the vessel was an American one, was on
the American side of the river Niagara, and flying
the American flag.?

The destruction of this steamer was declared by
Lord Palmerston in the House of Commons to have
been, under the circumstances, a proceeding perfectly
Justifiable, but the matter was the subject of corres-
pondence for nearly five years between the British and
American Governments, and was only finally closed
in 1842, when an expression of regret was tendered
by the former that some explanation of, and apology
for, the act had not been offered at the time it
occurred.

On the 14th January 1838 the * Patriots” were
compelled to evacuate Navy Island by the fire of
guns brought to bear upon them from the Canadian
side of the river.

During 1838 secret Patriot associations, called
“ Hunters’ Loodges,” were organised in every direction
along the American fronticr, their object being to
revolutionise, and, as it was termed, “liberate” Canada,
and the feeling between Great Britain and the United

1 This flag was subsequently presented by Captain (afterwards Admiral)
Drew to the Royal United Service Institution in London, by which bedy
it has since been transferred to the Public Library, Toronto, Canada,
The Assembly of Upper Canada passed a vote of thanks to Sir Allan Mac-
Nab and Captain Drew, and presented each of them with a sword for their
conduct in the Rebellion,
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States became very strained, owing to the destruction
of the Caroline and disputes with respect to the
« Maine boundary.”

Armed bodies of filibusters under Sutherland,
Dodge, Theller, and others invaded Canada along
the Detroit frontier.

The Canadian islands of Bois Blanc and Point
Pelé were occupied, and advances upon Windsor,
Ambherstburg, and Sandwich took place.

A band under a man named Johnson seized and
burnt the steamer Sir Robert Peel on the St. Law-
rence, and committed depredations at Ambherst Island.

A descent, under a Polish adventurer named Von
Schultz, was made upon Prescot on the St. Lawrence,
and 2 raid under Morreau, as its leader, took place
across the Niagara frontier.

Many outrages were committed along the borders
of Canada and the United States; the families and
property of loyal Canadians and oi .er British subjects
dong the extended frontier line were continually
exposed to acts of violence and intimidation, and
a general sense of insecurity and danger prevailed
§ ihroughout the country.

On every occasion, however, the incursions of the
| socalled «Patriots” ended in repulse—though in
t most cases only after some bloodshed—and by che
E close of 1838 the Rebellion had been entirely put
b down, and the gaols in Canada were full of prisoners.
My father’s two eldest sons, Lukin and John,
B erved in its suppression, Lukin with the militia
| under Sir Allan MacNab opposite Navy Island, and
Joln? at the defcat of the rebels near Toronto, as

m’u‘fg}m Beverley Robinson, afterwards Licutenant-Governor of Ontario,
T.
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A.D.C. to Sir Francis Head, for whom he afterwards
carried despatches to Washington.

Measures werc adopted in Canada upon the out-
break of the Rebellion, and questions arose in con-
nection with these measures—more especially as to
« gliens” (i.c. Americans and other foreigners) made
prisoners in the Rebellion—-which gave rise to some
debates in Parliament in England, and to protracted
correspondence with the Home Government.

The Legislature in Upper Canada considered that
the most effective way to meet the special dangers
which had to be faced at this time—viz., the union of
numbers of American citizens and adventurers from
the United States with disaffected British subjecisin
an attempt to revolutionise the country, and the
chance that the excited state of feeling upon both
sides of the border might be stirred up umtil it
brought about a war—was to pass 2 special A,
which was assented to by the Lieutenant-Governor
on the 12th January 1838.

This was entitled “An Act to protect the -
habitants of this province against lawless aggression
from subjec:s of foreign countries at peace with her
Majesty.”

By its provisions, foreigners invading the country
without the authority of their Government, and all

British subjects joining with or aiding them, wer 3 g

made Lable to trial before special military tribunals
(courts-martial) constituted by the express authority
of the Legislature, and to be sentenced, upon com-
viction, to death, or such other punishment as the
court might award. ‘
The Act left, however, to the Executive Gover-
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ment the alternative of waiving, when it might think
fit, the trial by court-martial, and prosecuting the
offender by ordinary law.

The Legislature preferred this course to that of
procliming martial law generally, because, while it
drew very prominently the attention of all disaffected
British subjects and foreigners across the border to
the peril they would run of prompt trial by court-
mariial for aiding the Rebellion, it left the ordinary
law of the country in full force for all other purposes,
and would probably be less likely to excite hostile
feeling in the United States than the summary pro-
ceedings which might in some cases possibly take
% place were the law of the land generally superseded
t by the Jaw-martial.

It was well understood in passing it that Ameri-
can citizens and other aliens, who by residence
in Canada or othe.wise had incurred obligations of
 allegiance to the Crown, and also all British subjects,
B were liable, should they endeavour to upset the
E (overnment of the Queen, to be tried before the
E ordinary courts of law for high treason; but in the
i case of those aliens, who, without having previously
incurred any such obligation of allegiance, entered
{he country to aid in a revolt, it was held that they
B «ould not properly be so tried, ze. arraigned and
I maode liable to capital punishment for violating an
B :llcsiance which they had never acknowledged.

§ My father, with reference to this Act, says:—

It was not passed without a consciousness that possibly a
g dificulty might be felt in England as to allowing it to remain
¥ i force; but the very existence of the Government required
this responsibility to be assumed, and confidence was felt that
ber Majesty’s Government would incline strongly to uphold a
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measure just and even humane in itself, and prompted by the
strongest sense of duty to the Crown and to a faithful and
loyal people.

The Government in England, acting upon the
advice of the law officers of the Crown, were dis-
posed to disallow this Act, not on the ground of
illegality, for it was admitted not to be inconsistent
with international law, and that it was within the
competence of the Colonial Legislature to pass i,
but because it was deemed that it was not properly
framed, that its provisions were calculated to produce
certain difficulties, and that, if it was considered ex-
pedient to authorise the {rial by court-martial, instead
of ordinary courts, of parties charged with high
treason committed in the province, this ought to
be done by an Act not directed so specially against
foreigners, but equally against all persons—foreigners,
natives of the country, and others.

It was contended also (in opposition to the view
which had been taken by the law officers of the
Crown in Canada) that all aliens, subjects of a
friendly power, invading her Majesty’s territory to
upset her Government, whether they had previously
incurred any obligations of allegiance or not, could be
legally and properly tried by the ordinary courts for
« high treason,” they having none of the rights which
could be claimed by alien enemies, but being alien
“ amys,” Z.e. subjects of a friendly Power at peace
with the Queen, and as such owing her allegiance
directly they entered her domin.ons.

Lord Brougham, in some remarks made in the
House of Lords, condemned as absurd an opinion
supposed (in error) to have been given by the
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Attorney-General in Canada as to the trial of aliens
for treason.

With respect to this, Lord Lyndhurst had shown
to Lord Brougham some rough memoranda my
father had placed in his hands, and writes thus to
the latter in 1839 as to them:—

The historical facts and the authorities which you have
wllected, with the observations you made upon them, are so
interesting, that I very much wish, if you have sufficient
leisure, you would put them in writing, that the whole question
may be carefully and fully considered.

He also enclosed in this letter one from Lord
Brougham to himself, in which the latter says:—

I return the Chief-Justice’s paper, which I have only just
got and read over hastily.

What I said was “ too absurd to require a serious answer™
sas by mo means the doubtful and difficult question here
discussed ; but that an alien canmot commit treason, and is
an outlaw, and o be therefore shot summarily. However, I
differ with the Chief-Justice, on the whole.

TWhatever the merits of the legal points involved,
it was in the end decided not to interfere with the Act.
e Of the prisoners tried for offences connected with
B e Rebellion, several were disposed of by military

' sswell as by civil courts. Some of the ringleaders
were executed, some transported, and most of the
less guilty pardoned.

1 have referred at some little length to the above
matters, as it will explain the allusions occuming in
| myfather’s journal while in England in 1839 (Chapter
¢ X)) to reports and letters to, and to conversations
| with public men with respect to the Liability of
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Aliens to be tried for Treason; the Point Pel¢
Prisoners; the American Invaders, &c.

The measures taken in respect to these prisoners,
and the cases of some invaders taken in arms, who
were summarily shot in the Sandwich district, gave
rise to much correspondence.

The following letter from the Duke of Welling-
ton to Lord Mahon, 7th December 1888, gives his
opinion as to the necessity for firmly executing the
laws ard carrying out a determined policy at this
juncture :—

What right have we to endegvour to prevail on British subjects
to emigrate to Canada if we do not mean to protect their lives
and property, and to execute the laws that have that in view?

If we ought to carry the law into execution with respect to
natives, we are still more bound to take that course in respect
to foreigners, who, in addition to all that can be urged against
the act of rebellion by natives, are guilty of insolence to the
laws and authority of a foreign Governiment.

We must protect our English subjects against these attacks
either by the weapon of the municipal law, or by making war
upon the foreign Government whose subjects attack our terr-
tory and our subjects.

This is the common-sense of the case. Everything elseis
nonsense.!

It can be easily understood that much responsi-
bility during the Rebellion fell upon the Government,
and that not a little of this devolved upon my father,
to whom the head of the Government naturally
looked for advice, owing to his long experience of
public life and of the people of Canada, upon many
questions.

1 ¢ Conversations with the Duke of Wellington,” by Lord Mahon
(afterwards Earl Stanhope), 1889.

1
k

!
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The following private letter to Sir George Arthur,
then Lieutenant-Governor, will show how anxious
my father was that no ground should be given for
supposing that his opinion was unduly sought for,
or offered, upon questions not appertaining to his
judicial office i—

16th April 1838.

My pEar Sik GEorGE,—An inquiry which you made this
morning induces me to say 1 few words to you on a subject
which is of some delicacy and no little consequence to the
suceessful and agreeable administration of the Government. I
have, besides, a personal reason for availing myself of a fair
excuse for addressing some remarks to your Excellency upon it.
You asked me what had been the course usually pursued here
inregard to references upon various public matters which were
mder the consideration of the Government. There is no
S son why any peculiar system should prevail in this province
f with regard to references or consultations. What is right in
England or in any other regularly conducted Government will
| be right here, and no deviation from the proper course can
b continue long without producing inconveniences and disadvan-
g tages of some kind.

The Executive Council are of course the proper advisers on
! questions of policy and expediency, the Crown officers on all
matters that involve legal considerations—and all persons in
E charge of departments should be communicated with freely on
B ¢l matters connected with their departments. When this is
not done they have not the opportunity which they should
§ have of stating objections; and, fancying that they are not
j confided in, they grow unfriendly, jealous, and suspicious; and
| there is much excuse for their becoming so, for it is a most
L mcomfortable thing to feel that they are held responsible by
| the public for measures and arrangements in their department
 opon the presumption that they must have been consulted,
while in truth they may have heard nothing of the matter, and

1 8ir George Arthur was Lieutenant-Governor of Upper Canada 1837
11841, succeeding Sir Francis Head.
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may have had no opportunity of making their wishes or
opinions known. Human nature in Upper Canada is like
human nature everywhere else.

With regard to myself, personally, it is fair towards your
Excellency, and but justice to myself, that I should leave no
room for misapprehension.

As Chief-Justice, I am, like my brother judges, liable to be
called on for reports, opinions, and advice in those cases in
which recourse would be had to the judges in England, and in
no others. I have no concern in the exccutive affairs of the
colony, and no claim or wish to be consulted on any of them,
except when they have so direct a bearing upon the genersl
administration of justice as to make such a reference proper;
and the more your Excellency bears this in mind, the better it
will be, for it is most desirable that everything should as much
as possible be made to pass through its proper channel.

I had been sixteen or seventeen years Attorney-Genera,
when Sir John Colborne came here, and in that capacity I had
to be mecessarily and properly in constant confidential com-
munication with the Lieutenant-Governor. I continued in
that office for seven months after his arrival, and when I was
made Chief-Justice I became—according to the Colonial system
of that time—President of the Executive Council, so that the
habit of frequent reference to me was not interrupted.

During his administration that system was changed, and I
became merely Chicf-Justice and Speaker of the Legislative
Council, having in neither capacity anything to do with the
executive measures of the Government, but my long acquaint:
ance with public business gave me & good deal of traditionary
knowledge, which it was desirable the Government should have |}
the advantage of. Most (if not all) of the original officers of §
the Government had passed off the stage, and I was a sort of
connecting link between the first and second generation, having g
long acted with those whose experience was no longer available 8
to the Government. !

When Sir Francis Head came, I took an early opportunity §
of explaining to him the relations which my office and duties |
placed me in to the Government. In the last few months of
his residence here the times were such that it was the plein
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duty of every one to be useful in all things to the utmost
extent, and in the hurry and anxieties of the moment perhaps
he did not constantly bear in mind distinctions of this kind,
which, nevertheless, cannot be expediently overlooked.

1 have troubled your Excellency with this explanation because
it may be usefal.

1 Ao not affect to be without the common feeling of anxiety
that all things may be done for the best in the country I live
in, and from a principle of duty any information I possess
upor. public questions, and my opinions upon private matters
(not interfering with the free discharge of my judicial duties),
arc at the service of the representative of my Sovereign, when-
ever he may think proper to desire them.

But my wish is that any assistance of this kind should be
sought and rendered in such a manner as to give the least
possible occasion for uneasiness or remark in any quarter.

Ishall take it for granted that your Excellency will never
think it necessary to refer to me on my own account, except in
those cases when it would be reasonably supposed that I must
have been consulted, and where, consequently, I should share
the responsibility for any erroncous decision.

1 am sure your Excellency’ experience will prevent your
misspprehending anything I have stated, or my object in being
thus explicit.—I am, very respectfully and faithfully, your
SR Iscellency’s obedient servant, Joun B. RopixsoN.

i For his services to the Crown, my father was, in
g 1838, offered the honour of knighthood, which he
e declined, and the following extract from the Upper
B Conada Gazette, with respect to Colonel MacNab and
B limself, refers to this:—
GovernaeNt House, 3rd May 1838.

In giving publicity to the following despatch, the Lieutenant-
R Govemor avails himself of the opportunity it affords him of
B cpressing his high sense of the important services reported to
B lim as having been rendered by Colonel MacNab, during the
& piod in which the body of the militia of Upper Canada, of

shich he had the command, were employed in suppressing

r
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an unnatural and unprovoked rebellion, and in repelling the
foreign outlaws and brigands who had attempted its invasion,
His Excellency much regrets that his Honour the Chief-
Justice has, from motives of the most peculiar delicacy, declined
the honour intended to have been conferred on him, as the
Lieutenant-Governor feels assured that it would have afforded
all classes of her Majesty’s subjects in this colony the greatest
satisfaction, that a mark of royal approbation had been
bestowed on a public officer, whose long and arduous services,
and whose eminent abilities and integrity in the discharge of
his official duties, so fully entitle him to any distinction which
his Sovereign might graciously deem it proper to confer on
him.—By command of his Excellency, J. Joskrm.

(Copy-)
Downrxe STrEET, 14tk March 1833

Sir,—1I have bad the honour to receive Sir Francis Heads
despatch of the 1st February (No. 14), calling the nolie
of her Majesty’s Government to the important services of
Colonel Allan MacNab and Mr. Chief-Justice Robinson, during
the late insurrection in Upper Canada, and suggesting that th:
honour of knighthood should be conferred on these gentlemen....

In my despatch of the 30th January last (No. 16) I have
already conveyed to you the Queen’s gracious approbatios
of such of Colonel MacNab’s services as had at that time ben
brought under her Majesty’s notice. I have received her
Majesty’s commands to express her high satisfaction at the
courage, spirit,and ability, which he has displayed in the trans
actions which have been since reported to me.

Her Majesty will not fail to take into her favourable co-
sideration Sir F. Head's suggestion, that some public mark of
her approbation should be bestowed on Colonel MacNab.

I have laid before the Queen Sir Francis Head's reper
of the services of Mr. Chief-Justice Robinson; and have at
the same time had the honour to submit to her Mujesly
that gentleman’s letter declining the honour solicited for hin
by Sir Francis Head. I have received her Majesty’s com
mands to express, through you, to Mr. Robinson, her appr-

No. 42.
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lation of his long and valuable exertions in the service of the
Crown, and her sense of the disinterested motives by which his
letter of the 6th ultimo was dictated —I have, &c.

(Signed)  Gienerc.

My father’s reasons for requesting that this
intended distinction should not be conferred upon
him are thus explained by himself :—

Sir Francis Head, no doubt from the kindest feeling, wrote
to request, during the Rebellion of 1837, that the honour of
knighthood should be conferred upon Mr. MacNab and myself
—being the Speakers of the Tespective Houses, and both active
on that occasion.

Thappened to hear that he had written to that effect from
agentleman to whom he had mentioned it in confidence, and I
#ssin time to prevent his good intentions from being carried
oat, by writing to Lord Glenelg to beg that, so far as I was
woncerned, it might not be done. The Government, for some
raon or other, had never conferred knighthood upon the

As Chief-Justice, therefore, I did not feel that ¥ had any
dbvious claim to it, while Mr. Sewell had been many years
bager discharging with great credit the duties of Chief.

it cemed to me rather absurd to allow myself to be knighted
frmerely doing my duty, as everybody around me had done
2 period of trouble and danger to all,

The letters below refer to the period of the
Rebellion :—

Frn Sir Francis Head (Sfrom before Nazy Island and while
my father was evidently, during his absence, acting at
Government House.)

Carrrewa, 2nd January 1338,

My pEar Curer,—T have not 3 moment to write, but I
vh to teil you my opinion of the capture of the Caroline,

! These Jetters were evidently sent by private hand, having no post-
=ark on the envelope, .
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as far as I have had time to form it from the facts before my
eyes. It has caused wonderful excitement, and has agitated
what was before tranquil, but this, I think, will be produc-
tive of good. As long as Jonathan could laugh at M‘Kenzie
firing at us, it was a capital joke. Now they are lugged in for
his misdemeanours; and I think it will make them reflect.
—Yours in haste, F. B. Hean,

His Honour The Crier-JusTicE,
Government House, Toronto.

Cuirrewa, 4th January 1238,

We have made all our preparations for attacking the
wasps’ nest on Saturday morning next, but I begin to thiok
they will fly away.

1 hope you are not bent to the ground by the weight of my
chain. Iam glad to get it off my own neck.

From Sir Allan (then Colonel) MacNab (when before
Nayy Island).

Curprewa, 5th January 1838.

My pEar Sig,—I hope that your many friends have giren
you regular accounts of our proceedings here. Every prepan-
tion that could be made has been made. We have now boats
sufficient to cross 1200 men, and it is absolutely necessary to
keep active operations going on.

I do not think it will be necessary to attack the island!
From the correspondence I have had with the authoritieson
the other side, I have formed my opinion.

I am quite satisfied that the destruction of the Carli
and our active measures here have produced all this. Theyare
much alarmed for the safety of Buffalo and all their frontie
towns, ad that alarm creates the great excitement.

I am not insensible to the noble triumph it would be i
put down the long dreaded revolt, about which so much hss
been said here and in England. That we should have drivea

1 As we have before mentioned, the enemy was compelled, s &
Allan anticipated, to evacuate the islaud by artillery fire without &f
attack upon it by the infantry.
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these rebels from our country, defied and dispersed those in the
United States who assisted them, without the assistance of a
wldier or the loss of a man, this is the kind of victory I wish
to obtain for Upper Canada, and to gain that great object all
my operations are directed ; but, in doing this, we must pre-
pare for the fight, and if we can gain our object and avoid the
lss of life with honour to ourselves, rely upon it, I will do
it—Yours very sincerely, ArLaN MacNas.

From Sir John Colborne? (soon after the attempt upon Toronto
and outbreak in the Upper Province).

MoxTREAL, 6tk January 1838,

My pear Cuier-Jusrice,—Do acquaint my friends the
Attorney and Solicitor-General that there is not a person in
Cpper Canada more aware of the crifical position of affairs in
Jour province than I am, or more alive to *he absolute neces-
sty of sending you every man that can he spared to Niagara
ud Toronto. The fact is, we have been Ppacking our troops
offas fast as we can find conveyance for them.

You will have two regiments among you in a few days, and
wore if I can venture to part with them. Read the enclosures
vhich I have forwarded to Sir Francis. You may rely upon it
that I shall never require to be prompted.—Yours very sin-
cerely, J. Corsorxk.

From the Same.

(4s to State of Affairs in the Lower Province.)

MoxTREAL, 19th February 1838,

My pEar Crxer-Justice,—Without attempting to account
for my silence or requesting you to believe that I have from
diyto day made good resolutions to write to you, I shall seize
the opportunity of a quiet half-hour to have a Zalk with you
o our affairs. I am still annoyed incessantly with reports
fom all quarters of the evil intentions and designs of our
dimishing, unseen enemy, acting on the extended line from

' ARerwards Field-Marshal Lord Seaton, Lieutenant-Governor of
Upper Canada 1828 to 1835, Governor and Commander-in-Chief of both
kviinces of Canada during the Rebellion 1837.
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Amherstburgh and Sandwich to Stanstead, one of our easter
townships.

At Kingston the officer in command has been more alarmed
during the last week than at any period of the troubles, and
insists that there are not less than two thousand brigand
assembling at Watertown and five hundred at French Creel,
provided with pikes and artillery to cross and attack ke
steamboats.

The fact is, that when it was known that two regimeni
had been sent by me from Montreal to the Upper Provizee,
and that two companies of a third regiment were in motion,
the rebels, assembled at Swanton, St. Albans, and Plattsbarg,
imagined that the regulars would have full employment; z-3
since that time contracts for arms, ammunition, and field-piecs
have been made by them, and preparations have been going ¢a
near this frontier. They have so far succeeded in creating =
alarm that about 400 persons have left Montreal, and thereis
more excitement in ‘Jns district than there has been since the
outbreak of the revolt.

We have been obliged to arrest two members of Pariame
at Nicolette, ncar Three Rivers, for spreading false reports.

I have been compelled to assemble a sufficient force s
St. Johns and Acadie to attack and capture the invades
should they be inclined to pass the frontier by La Colle, &
The Habitants’ houses in all the villages from La Prairie to i
frontier are well filled with troops, and I have brought dem
the Glengarry Volunteers to show them that, if their friends
the other side of the line will not disperse, they must suffir fx
their folly and their wickedness.

Before we commence any discussion upon the messares
which are to be adopted in the future government of ik
province we must prove that we have the power and the s
to enforce obedience to the law.

I intend to adhere to martial law in this district till w
hear from home upon the subject. Arrests arc made dsi,
and it will be difficult to adopt measures to prevent the coe-
tinuance of this reign of terror.

The suspension of the Constitution would be the fint ad
that I should recommend. If they have courage to agreeto




VI LIEUTENANT-GOVERNORS 231

that measure! time will be given to the Cabinet Ministers to
ikea new departure, with many valuable landmarks for their
guidance.

We have every reason to be satisfied with the efforts of the
Governor of Vermont and of General Wool, the officer em-
pioved under General Scott. Complaints have been made
ageinst General Scott for his activity by the voters of New
York—Very sincerely yours, J. CoLporxE.

Whatever may be the opinion held by any indi-
viduzal as to the Government policy prior to and
during the Rebellion, it must, I think, be admitted
that in many respects those representing the Crown
in Upper Canada, Sir John Colborne (zfterwards
Lord Seaton), Sir Francis Head, and Sir George
Arthur, were all possessed of qualifications fitting
them rather exceptionally for Ppositions of authority
sta disturbed and critical time.

All of them were distinguished soldiers, active
20d able men, and with experience of the world,

Sir John Colborne *—prudent and extremely cool
In emergency—was a man of few words and prompt
ation. Napier describes him as a “ man of singular
talent for war.” He had served in Holland, Egypt,
ad the Peninsula, and had been Lieutenant-Governor
of Guernsey.

At Waterloo, by his sudden attack with the 52nd
Regiment, made without orders and at a critical
moment, upon the flank of the French Imperial Guard,
be had contributed largely to its complete defeat.

Sir Francis Head, chivalrous, brave, and outspoken,
Y352 man of tireless activity. An excellent horse-

! This measure was adopted.
* It 3 to his great interest in educational matters that Toronto mainly
oves Upper Canada College.
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man, he had performed exceptionally long and rapid
journeys in South America. He had served in the
Royal Engineers at Waterloo,' was known as a clever
writer, and was understood when appointed to Canada
to be so liberal in his views that he was looked upon
by some as a tried reformer.

Sir George Arthur, high-minded, firm, and
humane, had had experience of government before
he came to Canada.

He had served in Egypt and Holland, been
granted the freedom of the City of London for
exceptionally gallant services at Flushing, and been
Lieutenant-Governor of Honduras and Van Diemen's
Land. ,

In the former island he had suppressed a serious
revolt of the slave population, and his despatches on
the subject of slavery had attracted the attention of
Wilberforce. In Van Diemen’s Land he had done
much to improve the convict system, and in both
Governments had received exceptional marks of the
esteem of the inhabitants and their appreciation of
his services.

Amid the political excitement and turmoil which
surrounded all three of these representatives of the
Sovereign during the time they held office, they were
well qualified to act impartially and with deliberation,
and their sole aim was to quell disorder and outrage,
and preserve Canada to the Crown.

While dealing stringently with the leaders and
agitators who had stirred up the ignorant to commit
treason, they were all of a forbearing and humane

1 He was, I believe, the only British officer present both at Limay ard
Waterloo, having been sent on some duty to Field-Marshal Bluchers
army in time to sce the former battle, and returning in time for the
latter.
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temper—-—extremely anxious not to bear too hardly
upon the deluded followers of these leaders.

Some have considered them as cold and rather

unsympathetic soldiers, but have strangely misinter-
preted their characters.
It may perhaps be pardonable in me to give the
following extract from a confidential letter to my
fiher written in 1838 by Sir George Arthur with
respect to the prisoners who had been convicted of
freason -—

The Attorney-General returned to me last evening the list of
the persons convicted and who have petitioned. I do feel very,
wry anxious that not one should be recommended for trans-
portation in whose favour anything can be advanced to save
him and his family from the ignominy of this disgraceful
punishment.

I know there is much to be said against all the parties
implicated ; but, on the other hand, from the bottom of my
heart I think that if ever there was any excuse for treason it
does extend to all but the ten or twenty ringleaders in this
province.

Sir Francis Head carried forbearance to its very
utmost limits.

Writing of these events in 1846,° and explaining
| his policy of forbearance up to the point when the
f ue made by the enemy of the steamer Caroline
? forced him to change it, he says:—

The difficulty which, without exception, was the greatest I
} had to contend with during my residence in Upper Canada was
that of restraining the power which, under a moral influence,
had rallied round the British flag.

1 Both Lord Seaton amd Sir Francis Head lived to he over eighty vears
dage. Iremember meeting hoth in England between 1857 and 1865.
2 4The Emigrant,” by Sir I. B. Head (1846).



234 SIR JOHN BEVERLEY ROBINSON cy,

For nearly a fortnight the militia, in obedience to my
repeated orders, without returning a shot had submitted iy
patience to the fire of twenty-two pieces of artillery, the
property of the Government of the United States.

By many, whose counsel it was my duty to respect, I was
admonished that it was not politic to allow the militia of the
province to be subjected to insult and disgrace.

Many of my steadiest adherents seriously disapproved of
the course I was pursuing; and even Captain Drew, R.N,, now
in this country (England), who on the outbreak had joined the
ranks of the militia with a musket on his shoulder, and who
was ready enough when called upon to do what was right,
declared to Sir Allan MacNab that if the system I was pursuing
was much longer continued, he should feel it due to hinsselfand
his profession to retire from the scene.

Ineed hardly say with how miuch pain I listened to obser-
vations of this nature, and how anxious I was to recover the
territory I had lost. On the other hand, the more I reflected
on the subject, the more I felt convinced of the propriety, as
well as prudence of the policy I was pursuing.

In August 18,7 my father’s continuous applica-
tion to work brought on a serious illness endangering
his life,’ which compelled him to apply for leave of
absence upon medical grounds.

On 27th Awugust 1838, he writes thus to the
Honourable John Macaulay, acting as secretary to
the Lieutenant-Governor, Sir George Arthur:—

. . . Your letter to me came at a time when I was wholly
unable to answer it, and when I was indeed so ill that it was
not communicated to me then, nor for some days afterwards.

I am recovering rapidly from the effects of this severe attack,
and of the remedies to which it was necessary to resort. My

1 I gather from a letter to him from Dr. Widmer that he was suffering
from what is termed ““ Nephralgia.”
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illness does not indicate, I hope, any permanent decline of
health, but by my friends it is considered to have arisen so
evidently from an incessant and perhaps injudicious application
to business, long continued, that they have been earnest in
urging upon me to solicitfrom the Government suchan interval
of relaxation as may be likely to restore me to my usual staie
of health.

The physicians especially who attended me (Doctors Short,
Widmer, and King) have enjoined this upon me strongly as a
matter of necessity; and as their opinion on this head might
be made the ground of my application, I have requested that
they would make their statement in writing.

They have done this in the papers which Inow send. My
judgment confirms their opinion, and I have determined,
though with reluctance on some grounds, to apply for his
Escellency’s permission to be absent for a year in England,
during which period I should probably reside chiefly at
Cheltenham. . .

With respect to the discharge of my duty in my absence,
the late addition to the number of Judges makes the Bench
now consist of five instead of three, and as four only can sit
together in Bank, according to the Act, the Court will still be
full. Inregard to the additional duty which my absence will
throw upon my brother Judges, I know I may venture to say,
with confidence, that it will be undertaken with cheerfulness.

I beg to add further that during the nine years and
upwards that I have been Chief-Justice, I have not, for any
private purpose either of business or pleasure, been absent that
I can remember for a single day from my duty in the Courts
orin the Legislature.

1t will not be in the power of his Excellency the Lieutenant-
Governor, I believe, under existing regulations, o grant me a
longer leave than six months, and for any extension beyond
that time I must rely upon the kind consideration of the
Secretary of State. To enable his Excellency to judge more
sstisfactorily of the propriety of aiding my application, I have
thought it best to make these statements here in the Colony,
where the facts must be generally known. . . .
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Writing afterwards (in 1839 and 1840) to his
sister, Mrs. Boulton, who was also unwell, and re-
ferring to this illness, he says :—

I am wearing out, I suppose, from foolish fagging and
anxiety, and you from watching and worrying for all your
neighbours and kinsfolk. I have worried myself too much
through life from anxiety that in public matters all things
should go as they ought. However, I would not exchange
the satisfaction I feel in having done what I believed to be
my duty for any consideration.

When I had that serious illness in August 1837, the first I
ever had, my mind was constantly turning to carly scenes.
When I looked back to the twenty or thirty years that had
intervened, I felt that I had been labouring and worrying
myself in great measure in vain.

After all, my dear sister, it comes to this, that, living
innocently, and striving earnestly to do our duty in all things,
we must bring oursclves to feel that, while we are thus acting,
we are fulfilling the will of God, and that whatever ills we are
doomed to bear in the dispensation of His Providence are not
properly to be regarded as misfortunes, but must be intended
for our good.

Having obtained six months’ leave of absence,
my father and mother, with their younger children;
left Toronto for New York (27th September 1839)
vid Liake Champlain, and reached Bristol in the Great
IWestern, one of the first steam vessels to cross the
Atlantic, after an exceptionally quick voyage of
twelve days, twelve hours.

1 Of the other children, Christopher remained at Upper Canada
College, and Lukin and John joined the party afterwards for a short
time in England.
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Uron reaching England my father and his party
spent two days at Clifton, and went thence to
Cheltenham, to be near my mother’s relations, the
Merrys. The following cordial welcome from Sir
Francis Head, then living at Atherstone Hall in
Warwickshire, met them on their arrival :—

20th October 1838,
Welcome to the shores of Old England! I can scarcely
believe you are once again in the same country with me. Tor
the first time since I left Toronto I miss my power, for if I had
an orderly sergeant, or an aide-de-camp, or 2 secretary, I would
send them all to the Chief-Justice to beg him to come to me.
But I know you won't refuse, so do write me a line, and fix when
you and Mrs. Robinson and your children will all come here.
We have no amusements to offer you, but if I were in
prison I would ask you to come to me, and I believe I should

not ask in vain,
o257
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So my Lord Durham has broken reins and traces, ang
kicked himself clean out of harness.

With reference to the last paragraph of this
letter, it must be explained that during the events
of 1838, and before the suppression of the Rebellion,
the Constitution in Loower Canada had been (29th
March 1838) temporarily suspended, the administra-
tion being carried on by a “ Special Council.”

It had become a very urgent matter to determine
by what civil as well as military measures peace and
prosperity could be restored and maintained in the
future, and a feeling of loyalty to the Crown and
harmony between the French and English portions
of the colony ensured.

The Earl of Durham had been sent to Canada as
Governor-General and High Commissioner (arriving
27th May 1838), charged to make a report with a
view to *the adjustment of certain important affairs
affecting the Provinces of Upper and Lower Canada,”
and it was generally recognised that some radical
changes in the system of government of a liberal
tendency would be introduced. He remained in
Canada a little over five months, almost entirely in
the Lower Province, and then, on account of the dis-
approval by the home Government of some of his
measures, resigned, and on 8rd November left Canada
for England. It is his resignation to which Sir
Francis alludes in the last paragraph of his letter
given above.

On the 81st January 1889 Lord Durham pub-
lished his report in England, where my father wasat
the time. It was ably written, and entered at length
into the state of things existing in both provinces of




x DURHAM REPORT—UNION BILL 239

Canada, with the causes which, in his opinion, had
led up to it; and recommended the union ot Upper
with Lower Canada as a measure necessary for future
tranquillity and good government—or, more accu-
rately speaking, a “re-union ” of these two provinces,
which had been one until they were divided in 1791.

Later on, 20th June 1839, a Bill, framed on the
basis of Lord Durham’s report, was brought in by
Lord John Russell in England, for « Re-uniting the
Provinces of Upper and Lower Canada, and for the
Government of the United Province.”

This Bill, commonly speken of as “The Canada
Bll” and “The Union Bill,” was very different in
sme important provisions and details from that
which received the royal assent in 1840.

At this time my father, in consequence of his
intimate acquaintance with Canadian affairs, was
ugently pressed by many both in England and
Cmada to make public his views with respect to
the Durham report and the proposed union, which
le eventually did in < Canada and the Canada Bill,”
published in London early in 1840.

Much of his spare time, more than was desirable
nodoubt as far as his restoration to health was con-
cemed, was taken up, during 1839-40, with the
question of the “ Union,” and on this account, and
the better to explain the frequent allusions to this
subject in his journal and correspondence® while in
England in those years, I give below what he says
himself in an entry in his Journal as to the course he
took. This entry was made 20th January 1840, just
before “ Canada and the Canada Bill ” was about to
issue from the press.

! See Chaps. X. and XI.
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From my Father's Journal.

I came over to England in 1838. A wish was expressed by
Lord Glenelg! to see me on Canadian affairs. I saw him iy
November and December, and also in January 1839, but o] 2
discussion for practical purposes was postponed by consent till §
Lord Durham’s report should be received.

This came in February, recommending the union of the
Canadas and other matters, and was sent to me for remarks.

On 23rd February 1839 I wrote a long official letter on the
report, objecting to the union, and assigning reasons.

I was requested to state what I would prefer. This I did
in official letters of 9th and 29th March 1839, mentioning,
when I gave them in to Lord Normanby, that if the Govem
ment should at all concur in my suggestions, of course I should
have no desire to make my letters further known, but that if
they should take a different course, I must be considered at
liberty to state publicly what I had advised on being referrd
to at such a cisis. He assented to this.

Neither in writing nor verbally were my suggestions ever
discussed with me,nor do I know by whom they have been con-
sidered, or what was thought of them.

After this I heard no more till the Queen’s message an-
nounced that the Government had determined on re-uniting
the provinces. Reading this in the newspapers, as every one §
else did, gave me the first intimation that they favoured this
course.

In June they introduced their Bill, of which I was as wholly 3
ignorant as if I had been in India, until & member of the
House of Commons, unconnected with the Government, gare
me a copy.

Of Mx. Thompson’s 2 appointment, or the objects for which §

1 Secretary of State for the Colonies.  Soon after this (February 18%)
Lord Normanby succeeded Lord Glenelg, and was not long afterwardi §
(August 183Y) replaced by Lord John Russell.

¥'In the autumn of 1839 Mr. Poulett-Thompson (afterwards Lord
Sydenham) was sent to Canada to succeed Lord Durham. He wast
obtain information as to details which had been found wanting in the
Union Bill, and endeavour to influence opinion in its favour. In the |
meantime the Bill was witl.drawn for a session.
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he was sent, or his instructions, not a word was ever said
to me.

Lord John Russell has communicuted with me on two other
subjects in writing, and has seen me once, but never alluded to
their measures respecting Canada, nor did I I have always
sbstained from inquiring (as their desire seemed to me to be
weserved), and have contented myself with letting it be seen
that I was willing to give them all the information in my power.

Barly in November 1839 I began a paper on the Bill, and
having said what I desired upon its principles and details, I
determined that I would print it} with an introductory
chapter, and a letter to Lord John Russell. The latter I
made longer than I had at first intended.

All was written, and the whole examination of the Bill
printed before anything was known of the opinions of the
lgislative bodies in Canada upon the Bill, and in fact before
they had met and discussed it.

Much of the Bill against which I have objected seems now
g tohave been given up, but it is satisfactory for me to show
| that I was correct in my opinion that those parts of the Bill
would not be approved in the Colonies by any party.

The words above, “ seems now to have been given
£ up,” mean given up at the date of this entry in his
 Journal, 7.c. 20th January 1840. The Legislature in
} Canada discussed the Bill in December 1839, and
g ‘Canada and the Canada Bill” was published in
{ England in January 1840. It was not certain, of
¥ course, what would be the future of the Bill, which
B hud been temporarily withdrawn, but Mr. Poulett-
§ Thompson had expressed his intention to recommend
b 0 the Imperial Government not to press certain of
j those provisions to which my father had objected.

Lord Durham’s report—a blue-book with appen-
§ dices of 690 folio pages—was a very exhaustive one,

B'!;'This paper was printed under the titic of ¢ Canada and the Canada
ill,”

Q




242 SIR JOHN BEVERLEY ROBINSON cu.

and my father’s letters to the Secretary of State,
commenting upon its statements and suggestions,
constitute themselves repoits of some length.

In his first letter of 238rd February 18389 he dis-
cussed the measures advocated by Lord Durham,
and the grounds and evidence upon which they had
been apparently based.

In his letter of 9th March he gave his own sug-
gestions—as he had been desired officially to do—
for the future government of Canada, and in that of
29th March explained the measures which, in his
opinion, would most conduce to the security of the
country, and to restoring confidence in its financial
stability and future prosperity.

I have already mentioned (in Chapter II1.) some of
the defensive measures which he advocated in his
letter of 29th March 1839, and it would be tedious,
and is needless for me, to enter at this point into
details of the Durham report, and my father’s reply

to it in the letters above alluded to, because one of y

the most important results of that report was the |
Union Bill of 20th June 1839, largely based upon it ]
and the provisions of which were examined and com-
mented upon by my father in “Canada and the Canada
Bill,” to which I shall particularly refer further on.
1t should be explained that the Durham report, §

as far as Upper Canada was concerned, was not g

based upon Lord Durham’s personal acquaintance &
with that part of the country. He had been but n
eleven days passing through Upper Canada, of which §#
five had been spent in travelling, one in Toronto, S
and the remainder at the Falls of Niagara. :

This portion of the report necessarily rested upon § '.
information supplied by others, and the correctness of B
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some of this, and of the deductions drawn from it,
my father disputed.

Apart from its general recommendations, and
while fully admitting the ability with which the re-
port was drawn up, he considered it, especially with
respect to Upper Canada and its strictures upon the
conduct of public matters there, to be in many points
incorrect and misleading.

It is singular with respect to a State document so
important politically and historically as this has been,
| that it is doubtful to the present day who really
B ispired those portions of it which related to Upper
BB Canada, and that it seems clear that up to the eve of
| 1is departure for England, Lord Durham himself was
g stongly opposed to the union of the Canadas, which
B& |: advocated in it.
No one denies, writes Mr. Bradshaw,! a warm
j appreciator of the services of Lor * Durham, that the
S liter had consistently opposed, during the whole of
B lis stay in Canada, the proposed union of the pro-

8 vinces; and on 2nd October 1838, one month before

B 1 sailed for England, the Earl wrote thus to Major
¢ Richardson : 2—

Dear Sir,—I thank you kindly for your account of the
f meeting (got up in favour of the union in Montreal), which

vas the first 1 received. I fully expected the “outbreak ™
thout the union of the two provinces.. It is 2 pet Montreal
B Droject, beginning and ending in Montreal selfishness.—Y ours
o iruly, Durnam.
Sir Allan MacNab also wrote to Sir Francis
g Head some years afterwards:2—

! “Self.Goverament in Canada,” by F. Bradshaw (1903), p. 250.

#“The Emigrant,” by Sir ¥. B. Head, pp. 878 and 376. Major
I Richardcon was author of 2 ¢¢ History of the War of 1812-15” (see p. 42),
g =nd vas then acting as correspondent of the Times in Canada.
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LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY,
MoNTREAL, 263 March 1846,

My pEar Stz Fraxcis,—I have no hesitation in putting on
paper the conversation which took place between Lord Durham
and myself on the subject of the union. He asked me if I was
in favour of the union. I said “No.” He replied, “If you
are a friend to your country oppose it to the death.™—I am,
&c., AxrraN MacNan,

Mr. Bradshaw® discusses whether Buller or
Turton, or Wakefield, who were all associated with
Lord Durham, wrote certain parts of the report, and
with regard to that portion of it relating to Upper
Canada, says:—

Tt is unfortunate that Lord ;Durham himself did not stay
long in Upper Canada, for he would probably have left & truer
picture.

And again—
A sketch of the politicsl history of Upper Canada is then

given in the report, but it cannot be said that it possess

Lower Canads). . . -

It is an unpleasant feature in this section of the report(on S
Upper Canada) that such charges are made without auy
evidence to substantiate them. ’

What I have mentioned above is of little public | :
consequence. Lord Durham signed the report,and |§
therefore accepted it and made it his own, and ke '
was Tight to change the views which he had held §
three months previously, if convinced that they wer
vrony® I allude to it, though, to show that my |

anything like the value of that in the previous section (ic.on

father had apparently good ground both to be su- S

1 «§elf-Government it Canada,” by F. Bradshaw, pp. 275-284.

2 Lord Durham, having been in ill-health for some time, died 353
July 1840, shortly after the passing of the Union Act. VWhat the gro=< I
for his change of opinicn were are possibly less known on this account.  JB
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prised at the tenor of the report, and alsoto repudiate
much that was written in it, especially regarding the
particular province with which he had been so long
himself officially connected.

I wish (he wrote to the Secretary of State) your Lordship
to understand that I am able to speak to most, if not all, of the
matters adverted to in this report, and that I am now ready to
show at any time, 1nd in any place, that the report, in most of
what relates to Upp.r Canada, is utterly unsafe to be relied upon
ss & matter of information by Government or by Parliament.

One point which in his letter of 29th March he
laid stress upon as essential to produce confidence
gbroad in the financial stability and industrial future
of Canada, was that the Mother Country should
R show clearly its determination to maintain its con-
g ection with the colony.
1t had been urged by some that the difficulty of
g defending Cancda *vas so greay that the idea of doing
0 must be given up us impraciicable.

Alluding to this in his letter, he says:—

B Canada cannot be abandoned, and never will be while
B England is & nation; and surely sound policy and good
eonomy is to look the true state of things fairly in the face.

B Letit be supposed that any Power in Europe should take
B s fancy to the most barren of the Orkney Islands, or of the
rocks of Scilly, would not Great Britain put forth, if it were
8 teessary, the whose of her strength to defend it? Canada
E must be defended from a sense of the national honour, just
B ssan individual protects his property, at the peril of his iife,
aainst a small encroachment as well as a large one. Nations,

k tke individuals, if they would be respected, must know no
§ other rule.

But happily there is much to cheer the British nation in

their resolution to defend these Colonies. Their present value

B is greot, their prospective importance to the Empire can
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scarcely be estimated. Their growth in power and wealth
is certain and inevitable.

That they can be defended there is no reason to question:
there is indeed no ground for appreheading their loss, so long
as Great Britain retains her supremacy on the ocean, and when
that shall be at an end, what will become of her other colonies
in all quarters of the globe? And what will be her rank
among the nations? The vital question with her is the
preservation of her naval superiority; and from those who
believe that an Almighty hand rules the destinies of nations,
it calls for the liveliest feelings of gratitude to Providence,
that to aid her in maintaining the indispensable condition of
her greatness, she has the harbours, the fisheries, the commercial
marine, the timber, the hemp, the coal, which these colonies
present, or may be made to yield.

To turn now particularly to my father’s book,
* Canada and the Canada Bill.”

In the introductory letter to Lord John Russell
he refers to the reasons which influenced him in pub-
lishing it :—

Had I suppressed the public declaration of my sentiments
at so critical a moment, when my accidental presence in England
had enabled me to state them with convenience, and possibly §
not wholly without effect, I could only account for the omission §
by acknowledging an apprehension that by openly expresing
my opinions upon a public question, however respectfully, I §
might incur the displeasure of the Government, and that I'had
therefore been silent; « reason which, if it should have become |
necessary to give it, would not have done honour to the Govern- §
ment, or to myself. . . . I shall bear, as cheerfully as others, my
individual share of whatever consequences may flow from thos
measures which Parliament shall ultimately adopt, after the
question has been presented, in all its aspects, to their considers- §
tion ; but I could never patiently bear the reproach whichl 3
should feel I deserved, if, at such a moment, I refrained from §
communicating frecly to others the apprehensions which I nor
feel so strongly myself.
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Probably he was also influenced in publishing it
by another reason, viz., that the Legislative Council
of Upper Canada had, on 4th April 1839, passed a
resolution adverse to the union, and in forwarding it
to him requested him to bring the affairs of the
province under the notice of the Crown, and “ gener-
ally represent the interests of the province.”

Commenting on the course he took, Mr. Fennings
Taylor,' writing in 1865, says :—

He did what was expected of him and he did it well. The
practical separation which has since taken place of the provinces

whose union he sought to avert, should, we think, be accepted
ss a compliment to his sagacity and foresight.

By this Mr. Taylor probably means that the two
provinees, though they remained officially one until
the Confederation Act of 1867, had, when he wrote,
owing to divergent aims and interests, become prac-
fieally two. As to this see pp. 263-265 of this
book.

«Canada and the Canada Bill” was a pamphlet
| more than a book—a small work of 200 pages—and
§ was,as we have said before, a detailed examination
of the provisions of the Union Bill of 20th June 1839
based upon the Durham report, not of the Bill as
j it became an Act on 28rd July 1840, which was
t freed from many of the original provisions to which
Wth my father and the Legislature of Canada hed
b alike and independently objected.

The Times, in reviewing the pamphlet, said :-—

We feel warranted in saying, though without absolutely
cmmitting ourselves to the opinions of the suthor, that it

coatsins a larger stock of useful and authentic information in

1 4 Portraits of British Americans,” by Fennings Taylor (1865).
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regard to the present position, wants, and prospects of that
colony than any other production on the same subject we have
happened to meet with.

The Union Bill, upon which it commented, stated
in its preamble that, in order to provide for the
future good government of Canada, it was expedient
that—

(1) The provinces of Upper and Lower Canada
should be reunited and form one province
for the purposes of executive government
and legislation.

(2) That—for the protection of local interests—
this province should be divided into dis-
tricts, each with a District Counecil.

(8) That the county of Gaspé and the Magdalen
Islands (which formed part of Lower
Canada) should be annexed to New Bruns-
wick.

The various clauses of the Bill provided for the
manner in which these measures were to be carried
out in detail, and were of course framed with a view
to facilitate the working of the main measure of the
Bill—the Union.

In order to understand the character of the Bill,
it is necessary to mention that there were to be five
districts in United Canada.

Every district, in addition to having a « District
Council,” was to be divided into nine electoral
divisions.

The districts and electoral divisions were not laid
down in the Bill, but were left to be afterwaras
formed by the award of arbitrators, subject to the

i
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principle that the number of electoral divisions should
be as nearly as possible equal in each of the old
provinces of Upper and Lower Canada.
Some twenty clauses of the Bill related to the
formation of these District Councils, to which much
importance was attached, as extending local govern-
ment. They were to be more than ordinary muni-
cipal bodies managing purely local concerns; were,
under certain restrictions, to be entrusted with large
powers; and were to be in some sense more like
district parliaments or minor legislatures, subordinate
io the Provincial Legislature.
i They were to be permitted to pass ordinances for
® the making of railways and canals, &c., in the district,
& toimpose tolls on local works, and taxes on real and
§ porsonal property, in order to raise a revenue for the
B salaries of district officials, and to meet other expenses
E connected with district government, while none of
® their ordinances were to be valid if they were repug-
nant to, or impeded, the operation of any Act of the
¥ Provincial Legislature.
| The arbitrators who were to settle the division
into districts were to lay down what portion of the
b revenue should form the consolidated revenue of the
¥ uited province, and what be devoted to local pur-
| poses; also to determine the civil list and how it
should be appropriated; none of which important
matters were settled in the Bill itself.

The constitution of the Legislative Council (the
Upper House) was to be materially changed, power
keing given to commit to the Governor of the pro-
vince the appointment of members, which had before
rsted with the Crown - the tenure of the office of
legislative councillor was to be limited to eight years

1}

i
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instead of being for life ; no property qualification for
members was laid down ; the old title of « Speaker”
of the Council was to be altered to « President,” and
the Colonial Parliament was to be empowered to
pass laws respecting the time and place of holding
sessions of the Legislature, its prorogation and
dissolution, which had hitherto been the prerogative
of the Crown.

I should be considereci tedious were I to enter
here at greater length than I have above into the pro-
visions of the Bill of 1839, apart from its principal
one—the ¢ Union.”

All those which I have mentioned were objected
to by my father, and have now comparatively little }

interest, because, owing to the representations of

others as well as his remonstrances, they werein §
great part withdrawn ; but, at the time the Bill was
introduced, some were of much importance, as upon "
their working the success or failure of the main
measure largely depended.

In case any should, however, wish to know the
grounds upon which my father’s objections were 3
based, I have given several of these (for I have not §
room for all), taken from *Canada and the Canads J§
Bill” in the Appendix (4., v.). !

Any one caring to turn to the Union Actof §
1840, the Bill of 1839, and my father’s views ex-
pressed in «Canada and the Canada Bill,” will set
how materially the Bill of 1839, apart from its main
principle of the union, was modified in the direction §
of his views before it passed into law.

In all from twenty to thirty alterations, of more
than a mere verbal character, urged by him as desir-
able, in the sixty odd clauses of the Bill, were intro-
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duced into the Aect of 1840 ; and several omissions,
to which he had drawn attention, were inserted.

The new districts, district Councils, and elec-
toral divisions, with the settlement of questions by
arbitration, found no place in the Act of 1849.

The division of the country for purposes of
representation was all detailed in the Act itself.

The clause empowering the delegation to the
Governor of the province of the appointment of
legislative councillors was altered ; the tenure of
their seats was made for life; the qualifications to
B render them eligible were modified ; the old title of
BB Speaker ” was retained.

} A small qualification in real estate for members
% of both Houses was laid down.

¥  The power to prorogue and dissolve the Legislature

BE s confined to the Governor—not vested in the

B Legislature.

S  The omissions pointed out as to Courts of Appeal
@8 :nd other matters were supplied.

Gaspé was not detached from Lower Canada, and
B ler Majesty was empowered to annex the Magdalen

E Islands to the Island of Prince Edward.

In short, of the three measures which the pre-
amble to the Bill stated to be expedient two were
aliogether abandoned.

f My father must have been glad to see that the
| House of Assembly in Upper Canada, when passing
g :t 2 later date the Union Bill of 1840, recommended
& to their consideration by Mr. Poulett-Thompson,
accompanied their assent to the measure with an

j address to the Queen, of which the following is an
g extract:—
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Tt is with the most sincere satisfaction that this House has
received from your Majesty’s representative the assurance that
the Bill introduced into the House of Commons during the
last session of the Imperial Legislature (i.c. in 1833), is not to
be considered as embodying the provisions which may hereafter
be adopted by the Imperial Parliament—and that it is his
Excellency’s intention to recommend to her Majesty’s Govern-
ment, in the new measure that must be introduced, to adhere
as much as possible to existing territorial divisions for electoral
purposes, and to maintain the principle of the Constitutional
Act of 1791 with regard to the tenure of seats in the Legislative
Council (.. that they should be for life). We further respect-
fully submit the necessity of providing that the members of
the Legislature should possess a stake in the country equal to
that now required by the laws of this province.

With regard to the chief reasure of the Billof |
1839, viz, the ¢ Union,” which he unsuccessfully
opposed :iere is no doubt that the problem which
it was havad to solve—viz., the provision of a govern-
ment under the supremacy of the British Crown
which would, in the words of the Bill, « best secure
the rights and liberties and promote the interests §
of all classes "—was, under the then circumstances -
of Canada, an exceptionally difficult one. :

Sir Robert Peel, speaking in the House of Com-
mons, said, “ 1 defy any person, with a full considera-
tion of all that has passed in Canada, to framea .
Government which shall be totally free from 2
danger;” and it was very uncertain how any scheme
which had a practical chance of acceptance at this 8
pericd, both in Canada and the Imperial Parlie- §
ment, would succeed in attaining the objects sought. 38
« Confederatior ” has since taken the place of the B
partial union of 1840 (z.c. of the two provinces of &
Canada only), and so there is no ground to regret




X THE UNION BILL 258

that the latter union was first adopted; but in the
scheme of uniting English and French Cenada alone,
without including the other North Arerican Pro-
vinces, grave difficulties and risks were involved,
which made its safety and success most doubtful.
In addition to that of linking together two pro-

vinees in which the mass of the people differed in
language, laws, and religion, and whose antagonisms,
prejudices, and jealousies had been embittered by the
recent events of the Rebellion, there was the necessity
of securing in the Legislature of the united province
| Dritish ascendency and loyalty to the Crown; in
| other words, that the Assembly returned to represent
g the united provinces should not be so composed as to
B endanger British interests in a British colony.

E  Both those who supported the Union Bill and
g those who opposed it were equally decided upon this
g head.

Lord Durham, in his report, uses these words :—

: It must henceforth be the first and steady purpose of the
B British Government to establish an English population with
English laws and language in this (the Lower) province, and to

B st its government to mone but a decidedly English legis-
$ lature. .

It has been aptly written by a well-known pen :—

! Jord Durham’s policy for French nationality was extinction.
j This, he fancied, would be accomplished by the union of the
B provinces, which would bring the weaker race under the direct

pressure of the stronger. He did not calculate on party

% divisions in the stronger race, which gave the key to the popular
B dtustion in the Quebec votel

m‘oArticle by ¢ Bystander” in the Toronto Weekly Sun, 19th September
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But in my father’s opinion it was by no means
the French Canadians alone who had been the
originators of the troubles of Canada.

For my own part, he says (alluding to a passage in Lord
Durham’s report), I think that their assumed settled bitter
and permanent hostility to their British fellow-subjects has
been too much dwelt upon as the inevitable consequence of the
difference of races. I believe that for years and years after the
conquest, hatred of their fellow-subjects, and of their govern-
ment, was not an active or settled principle in the minds of the
Canadian peasantry.

The French Canadian leaders were not the only agents in
producing these troubles. They had able assistants and
instructors, neither did they succeed without great difficulty,
nor until & long course of perseveting agitation.

He thought that they would never have suc
ceeded at all,

had the Government in England shown that firmness, without
which no Government will ever have credit with the ignorant 3
and: the prejudiced for believing itself to be in the right. '

In his view the danger to the future tranquillity }
of Canada lay fully as much in politicians of British }
origin joining for political purposes with French |}
malcontents; and that it was therefore essential to
provide a Ligislature for the united province in which
British influence should be so dominant as to make §
it hardly possible that any unreasonable British
minority should attain to power by the aid of the §
French vote.

There were very divergent opinions as to the way :
in which the desired British influence could be best
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secured. Many who were in favour of the union of
the two provinces of Canada, and saw no danger
in that, were opposed to the further extension of the
union so as to include all the British North Ameri-
can Provinces.
Thus we find Sir Wilmot Horton, in 1839," quot-
ing as follows from the Montreal Gazette, to show that
opinion in Canada was opposed to such an extension :—

i At & public meeting held here ( Montreal), the comparative
® Lerits of both unions (s.e. of the two Canadas only and of all
B ihe North American Colonies) were placed in the balance. .

§  There was not & member of the meeting who had one word
§ tosay in its (the federal scheme’s) favour.

Nature, reason, and experience are totally adverse to every
- idea of such a scheme.

At this meeting Mr. Day, Q.C., said: “ A confederation of
{ the provinces is a useless piece of machinery—the confedera-

¥ tion could not exist for ten years without a separation from
3 the parent State taking place.”

8 And Mr. Henry Bliss, Q.C., writes thus in
g England :*—

What wonld be the powers, what the object of a federa-
B tive Legislature in those Colonies—the proposal has no friends
B orsupporters in any quarter of the Colonies. It is deprecated
€ 55 an utter mistake, at variance with their wants and wishes,
% inconsistent with their relations to each other and to the parent

B tingdom, and involving repugnances and embarrassments fatal
j toany practical purpose.

Itis very striking, indeed, in reading the history
B of these times, to see how many there were—possibly

! «Exposition and Defence of Earl Bathurst’s Administration, and
g Thoughts on the Present Crisis in the Canadas,” 2nd edition (1839).

B *“Essay on the Reconstruction of Her Majesty’s Government in
(imada,” by Henry Bliss, Q.C., of the Inner Temple (1839).
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from having before their mind the history of the
British Colonies which subsequently rebelled and be-
came the United States, and the Rebellion of 1837-
1838—who looked upon .- separation of all Colonies
from the Mother Country as merely a matter of time,
and upon their federation as only hastening that time.

There were others, however, and among them
Lord Durham himself, who were not insensible to
the advantage of a union of all the provinces, but
considered it impracticable or undesirable at the
moment.

In his report, Lord Durham says :—

While I convince myself that such desirable ends (removing
the troubles of Canada) would be secured by the legislative
union of the two provinces (alone), I am inclined to go further
and inquire whether all these objects could not be more surely
attained by extending this legislative union over all the Britidh §
provinces in North America.

He considered, however, that circumstance
would not then admit of such a union, and that §
other measures must be taken without delay. He
therefore recommended that the union of the two §
Canadas alone, under one Legislaturc and as one
Province, should be at once carried out. :

Lord Durham explains that the union he had in
view was a “legislative union,” Ze. the complete §
incorporation of the provinces under one Legislature J8
exercising all powers of legislation throughout (= Ji§
in the case of the British Isles); not a feder! I8
union, such as the present Dominion, where th
Federal Legislature exercises power in matters o
general concern, but the Provincial Legislatures it
matters of purely provincial and local concern.
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My father was not entirely in agreement with
either of the above opposing views.

He looked upon a confederation of all the British-
American Provinces, with the enlargement of 3ritish
influence and ascendency in the Government which
it would necessarily bring with it, as the hest
remedy for the troubles of Canada, and 2 far more
effective one than the union of Upper and Lower
Canada only.

He had no fears that this would endanger British
connection, but held that it would strengthen it.!
He did not concur with Lord Durham in his con-
viction that the end desired “would be secured
by the union of the two provinces” merely ; antici-
pating that this partial union would lead to a situa-
tion under which the government of the country,
consistently with British interests, could not he
caried on.

i The union he wished to see was (to quote his
@ ovn words) :*—

4 A confederacy of provinces, erected into a kingdom,?® and
8 placed under the government of a Viceroy, the executive
k covernment and local legislatures of the different provinces
¢ remaining as they are, except that the functions of the latter
g would be necessarily confined to objects purely local.

# Io the following passage in “Canada and the
§ Canada Bill™ he clearly states what he anticipated

! See his remarks on this subject in 1822 (chap. vi.).
B ° Letter to Lord Bathurst, Sccretary of State for the Colonies (1822),
b subsequently published. (See chap. vi.)

* It is interesting to read in the Life of Sir John Macdonald, by
| r. Joseph Pope, how desirous he was that the new Confederation in
§ 1957 should be styled the ‘“Kingdom of Canada.” That it was not so
® Leconsidered ““a great opportunity missed” towards hastening Imperial
jj {ederation throughout the British dominious.

R
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would be the effect of uniting Upper and Lower
Canada alone :—

I greatly apprehend (whatever advantages might be reason-
ably expected from a legislative union of the four North
American Colonies, if that were found practicable, and con-
sidering the character of the population of Nova Scotia ard
New Brunswick) that the effect of uniting the two provinees of
Canada only will be to create a representative assembly such
as the Fovernment will be unable to withstand, except by
measures which it is painful to anticipate; that it may, at
the very outset, and will certainly at no distant period, give
esistence to a representative body in which the majority wil
not merely be opposed in the commeon spirit of party to any
:olonial governor who shall not be unfaithful to his trust, but
2 majority which would be held together by a common desie §
%0 separate the colony from the Crown—a party, consequently,
whom it will be impossible to conciliate by any concession §
within the bounds of right. . . . If the two provinces be
united I fear that we shall see jealousy, rivalry, and natiopsl |
antipathy working their mischief through a wider range. In
times of political excitement we should have opposition to the
Government producing the same troubles and embarrassments

to both provinces, and, at length, concessions which would g

prove ruinous to both.

He writes thus also with respect to the proposed
measure :—

Tt 1s well known that this (the union of Upper and Lower §
Canada only) is not altogether a new project.

The idesa of giving but one Legislature to :l:he two provinces
of Canada was seriously entertamed in 1822,Avhen the present
Sir Wilmot Horton, then Under-Secretary of State for the
Colonies, brought in a bill for that purpose.

It may probably be remarked that the intended measure,
being abandoned and not carried, the result has been are
bellion in both provinces; but the answer is not less obvious. i
It is true that there has been a formidable rebellion in Lover §
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Canada, but not because the Gevernment failed to apply the
suggested remedy of the union; the security against such a
misfortune lay in measures of another kind, much more easy
of adoption, and much more certain in their effect.? It is true
also that there was a rebellion in Upper Canada; but it was
a movement contrived and conducted by those very persons
vhom a union would most probably have placed in the United
Assembly.

In 1822 I did, at the request of the Colonial Department,
express at some length my opinions upon a plan which many
years before had been suggested from another quarter, and I
ventured to add some propositions of my own.

1 thought that I saw certain advantages in such a policy,
and I believed then, as I still believe, that there was little in
the apprehensions whick many entertained that such a union
would enable and dispose the Colonies to combine together in
opposition to the Mother Country.

That I think is forbidden by their relative geographical
position, and there are other reasons which satisfy me that
the fear need not be entertained.

My father did not think that the provision in the
Union Bill, giving an equal number of representatives
P in the joint Legislature to each of the old provinces

4 of Upper and Lower Canada, would suffice to fully
secure British interests.

His opinion in 1822 (see chap. vi.) had been
that were the proposal for a confederation of the
British-American Provinces put fully before the
g people (which he contended it never had been), it
8 would be favourably received ; in short, that it merely
wanted a full discussion.

But now (in 1839) the state of the Canadas, con-
§ sequent upon the Rebellion, had caused many in the

! My father here and in the next few paragraphs alludes to hisadvocacy

W of the confederation of all the provinces in 1822. He then also opposed

the partial union. (See chap. vi.)
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cther provinces to be disinclined to join them, and
this being the case, my father advocated, as preferable
to a union of the two Canadas alone, an alteratiop
of the boundary line between the Upper and Lower
Province.

Kingsford, in his « History of Canada,” (vol. x.
P- 200) referring to the various propositions as to the
union brought forward in 1889, says:—

The propositions of Sir John Beverley Robinson, and the
men he represented, foreshadowed confederation. . . . The
proposal was to unite the four provinces for the purposes of
general legislation only, leaving them in other Tespects as
they were, retaining their Legislatures and distinct autonomy
—the plan ultimately adopted in the present constitution.

These propositions Mr. Kingsford, speaking of
those of my father and others as a whole, regards as
having been unjust to Lower Canada, no doubt on
account of the suggested alteration of the boundary
line.

But my father, whatever may have been the
propositions of others, did not propose any alteration
of boundary in the event of confederation.

It was not to a federation of all the provinees,
which he had always and earnestly advocated, but
solely to the union of the two Canadas alone that
my father preferred it.

He proposed that, in lieu of running the risks

which he believed would be incurred in the more JM

partial union, the boundary line should be altered.
To quote his own words—

So as to embrace the Island of Montreal with some of the
territory on the opposite side of the St. Lawrence and all

the lands on the south-west side of the Ottawa; to make the W
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added territory a mew county of Upper Canada, giving it in
all respects the same laws, and providing for its represeatation
in the Assembly upon a just scale as compared with the other
parts of Upper Canada—Ileaving the rest of Lower Canada,
with or without Gaspé as may be thought best, to be governed
os at present, for a limited time, not less than ten years, but
under an amended constitution as regards the composition,
proceedings, and powers of the special Council ;

Or, after annexing Montreal and the contiguous territory
to Upper Canada, as above proposed, to restore to Lower
Canada its Assembly and Legislative Council so soon as tran-
quillity shall have been perfectly re-established, and an adequate
civil list been provided for the support of the Government.

And (he continues) :—

It is but just to remember that Upper Canada was made
a separate colony in order that those who might choose to
settle in it might be free from anything which might appear
unfavourable to their welfare in the laws or condition of the
other province.

Itis deeply to be regretted that, for the purpose of including
in Lower Canada the whole of the French population, the line
of division was (in 1791) carried up the river St. Lawrence
to that point where the English settlements commenced—or
sbout sixty miles above Montreal, to which town and no
farther the St. Lawrence is navigable for ships—thus excluding
Upper Canada from the free enjoyment of a seaport.

But T cannot see with what justice those who administered
the government of this country in 1791 can be said to have
acted unwisely in having divided that immense province.

The two provinces united would form a territory much too
lage to be conveniently and safely ruled by one executive
Government.

Would it have been a wise, a safe, or a justifiable remedy

! This division he considered a necessity under the circumstances of
that day, 2nd gives his reasons at length for that opinion. Hisarguments
applied with comparatively greater force in 1839 than they de now, when
rilways, steam, and the telegraph have made communication much easier
—but they still apply.
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to have proposed for the troubled state of Ireland in 17
that it should be united with Scotland alone, and one Legis-
lature given to the two kingdoms, with +he right of abnost
universal sufftage? I think the people of Scotland would
have had the sagacity to perceive that they were being made
rather an unfair use of.

In the case of the union with Ireland, the laws of that
coentry did not lose the support nor its inhabitants the
convenience of an executive Government easily accessible—
and even in the case of Scotland the same thing may be said.
Though its individuality was not preserved, Scotland is sl
Scotland.

It exists as a separate country; but the effect of this Bill
would be to confound all distinction of territory, and to make
the whole of Canada one province under one Government.

I conclude here my quotations from Canads
and the Canada Bill” Whether an alteration of the
boundary line between the two Canadas—a measure
which also had its drawbacks—would have answered
as well as, or better than, the partial union did,
must always remain a matter of opinion, for the
expedient was never tried ; but what my father was
convinced of was that it would be impracticable
to keep the two Canadas united and carry on the
Government consistently with British interests, with-
out that incorporation of the other British provinces
which was not then acceptable.

The Law Journal of Upper Canada, adverting
to the part taken by him in publishing ¢« Canada and
the Canada Bill,” says :—

The independent spirit and true patriotism evinced by Sir
John Robinson upon this occasion is entitled to the greatest
praise. By the manner in which he wrote he placed himself
in direct antagonism to the views of the Governor and his
advisers.
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Four years after the passing of the Union Act of
1840, my father wrote to Sir Charles Metcalfe :—

Oth March 1844,

I have been told that your Excellency desired to see the
observations made by me upen the projected union of the
Canadas. I did intend to have sent it? before, but I thought
itnot very probable that you would find time to give it a

erusal.

The Bill commented upon, as your Excellency will perceive,
was that presented by Lord J. Russell in 1839, and printed
by order of the House of Commons.

When the measure was presented again in 1840, the Bill
wss altered in very many of the particulars upon which I had
remarked, so that much said by me in this little book is not
applicable to the details of the present Act—though it may
have had some effect in making the Union Act what it now is.

My distrust of the measure, I confess, continues, and most
heartily glad I shall be if, after five years more have elapsed,
any one who has found a stray copy of my pamphlet shall
be able to conclude satisfactorily that my worst apprehensicns
were groundless.

To show that these apprehensions were not ground-
less, but that serious dangers and embarrassments
occurred under the Government created by the
union, I may, I think, appeal to history. More
than one writer upon Canadian subjects has alluded
to these. I quote the following from Mr. John
Dent’s «“Canada since the Union of 1841,” vol. ii.
p. 439, referring to the year 1864 :—

Public affairs were literally at a deadlock. Both parties
had tried in vain to carry on the government of the country.
Successive dissolutions and elections had served no purpose
except to intensify the spirit of faction, and to array the
contending parties more bitterly against each other. The

! Alludes to “Canada and the Canada Bill,” containing these
observations.
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state of affairs seemed hopeless, for the Constitution itself
was manifestly unequal to the task imposed upon it.

I will also add extracts from another historian,
Mr. MacMullen.! He says, speaking of the excite.
ment attending the debates upon the Rebellion Losses
Bill (1849), which preceded the riots and burning
of the Houses of Parliament in Montreal—

To escape from French domination, as it was termed, the
more violent Tory members of the Conservative party declared
that they were prepared to go any lengths—even to annexation
with the United States, a measure which in the passionate
excitement of the moment was openly advocated. It wasa
rash proceeding, and forms a mortifying epoch in the history of
Canadian parties.

Again, alluding to the year 1859, Mr. MacMullen
says +—

In Novemher a great gathering of the leaders of the Reform
party took place at Toronto.

The conclusion was arrived at that the union of Upper and
Lower Canada had failed to realise the intentions of its pro-
moters, that the constitution itself was defective, and that the
formation of two or more local Governments with some joint
authority over all had now become a paramount necessity.

Again, describing the absolute deadlock which
occurred in the working of the Government in 1864,
he says:—

Faction had now literally exhausted itself. The public
affairs of the country were completely at a standstill, and for
the moment it seemed as if constitutional government had
finally ended in a total failure,

Repeated changes of Cabinets had been tried, dissolutions
of Parliament had been resorted to, every constitutional specific

T MacMullen’s “ History of Canada,” pp. 506-507, 549, 570-571, 580,




X FFECT OF THE UNION 265

had been tested, but all alike had failed to unravel the Gordian
knot which party spirit had tied so firmly round the destinies
of this province.

The public stood aghast at this state of things, while the
lovers of British constitutional government regarded the
extraordinary situation with unlimited dismay. . . . The
leading minds of the country naturally applied themselves at
this juncture to discover some mode of escape from the danger-
ous difficulties of the public situation. . . .

. . - The negotiations which now ensued between the rival
peitical leaders speedily resulted in a satisfactory under-
standing, based upon a project of confederation of all the
British North American Provinces, on the federal principle,
and leaving to each province the settlement by local legislation of
its own municipal and peculiar affairs. . . . Thus a strong Coali-
tion Government was formed to carry out the newly accepted
policy of confederation, and though extreme parties here and
there grumbled at these arrangements, the great body of the
people of all shades of opinion, thankful that the dangerous
crisis had been safely passed, gladly accepted the situation and
calmly and confidently awaited the progress of events. Never
before had a coalition been more opportune. It would seem
indeed as if a special Providence was controlling matters for
its own wise purposes. . . .

Thus the threatening peril was averted, and—to
quote for the last time on this subject—

& The great project of confederation was (on the 20th May
B 1867) at length finally and happily completed, and the morning
f Voice of a new people (the Dominion of Canada) was heard

‘ i among the nations of the earth.

E  What might have been the result of the state of
§ matters above described, had the partial union con-
R tinued longer, and the able and patriotic statesman-
B ship of Sir John Macdonald or some later statesman
E been unable at a time of difficulty to carry through
R the scheme of confederation, whe shall say ?
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By the Confederation Act® the Dominion of
Canada was divided into four distinct provinces, viz,
Ontario (formerly Upper Canada), Quebec (formerly
Lower Canada), Nova Scotia and New Brunswick—
each province to have its scparate Legislature for
local purposes, and the existing limits of each to
remain undisturbed.

To these, since 1867, have been added Prince
Edward Tsland, British Columbia, ana Manitoba.
with the North-West Provinces.

In what I have said above, it has not been my
object to imply that any of the proposals short of
a larger confederation than that of the two Canadas
would certainly have been attended with greater
success than the smaller union.

This no one can say. There were drawbacks to
all, such as would possibly have led to opposition and
failure. 'The partial union also had, together with
its drawbacks and dangers, this advantage—that it
prepared the public mind for the larger and more
complete measure.

My desire has been simply to show in what my
father’s objections to the “ Union Bill ” of 28rd June
1839, as urged in “ Canada and the Canada Bill
consisted, and to point out that, with the exception
of the main measure of the union, the alterations
which he advised in this Bill, and which were many,
were nearly all adopted before it became an Act in
1840 ; that the embarrassment and danger which he
anticipated from the main measure itself, z.e. of the
union of the two provinces only, were not imaginary
but very real ; that the solution of them was happily

* Styled “The British North America Act, 1867.”

.
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sought in the Confederation of all the British pro-
vinees, a measure the assumed dangers of which he
had never dreaded, which he had long considered the
best solution, and which he had in vain strenuously
advocated forty-five years before it was adopted.

So much is due to his memory.

‘Whether before his death in January 1863, he
had convinced himself, from the trend of public
opinion in its favour, that the larger scheme of
Confederation would be certainly carried out, as it
was four years afterwards, in 1867, I cannot say,
but as he had always so earnestly advocated the
measure I hope this may have been so.

After ceasing, in 1841, to have any connection
with politics, his judicial duties entirely absorbed his
time and thoughts, and I cannot recollect his ever
speaking upon this matter.

In 1849, the North American Ieague was formed
in Toronto to promote the measure, and in 1854 (also
in 1861) Nova Scotia passed resolutions in favour
of it.

In 1859 the Governor-General of Canada stated,
on opening Parliament, that the project of a union
of all British North America had formed the subject
of a correspondence with the Home (Government.
But it was not until 1868, a few months after my
father’s death, that Canada joined with Nova Scotia
and the Maritime Provinces to urge its adoption.

I give here a memorandum—of which the rough
g draft was found among his papers—bearing upon the
® Colonial policy of the Home Government as to the

B North American Colonies existing about the time of

B his death, and which may be said to now prevail.
B This was evidently written by him about the time




268 SIR JOHN BEVERLEY ROBINSON cu.

that the policy of withdrawing the Xmperial troops
from Canada—afterwards carried out—was generally
spoken of as that of the Home Government :*—

The British Government, by their conduct since 1819,
seem to say this to the North American Colonies:

You are large countries, growing very rapidly, and sure to
. contain before long some millions of inhabitants.

‘We believe that whenever it may suit you to rebel, you
will rebel.

We are resolved not to add millions to our national debt
by attempting to maintain your connection with us by force,
especially at the expense of a war with your powerful neigh-
bours, which such a struggle would probably lead to.

If you are ever to separate, we had rather you separated
before we spend more millions on maintaining troops and
garrisons among you.

Moreover, we have no dread about hastening the period of
separation, because we take a different view now from that
which used to be taken of the uses and advantages of colonies.

We now believe that there ought to be no friendship in
trade. We are convinced that both we and you should buy
and sell wherever we can do it to the most advantage, and that
we should allow any one to carry for us cheaper than we can
carry for each other, and for ourselves.

In order then that you may see the sooner your true position,
we will begin the séparation on our part by rebelling against
the principle of mutual obligation, which has hitherto been
held to be the consequence of allegiance.

We shall withdraw our troops from the Colonies, and pey
no part of the expense attending the maintenance of a connec-
tion which we look upon as no affair of ours, but one that
only concerns you.

All that we propose to do hereafter is to appoint your
Governor as we have hitherto done, and as we do not intend

— e m - w——————

1 Though the policy of making the self-governing colonies responsitle  §
for their own defence was introduced about 1862, the troops wese 1st
actually withdrawn from Canada till 1870.
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him to perform any of the functions of government for the
Colony (but to be merely our agent for reporting to us what is
done by the Assembly, whom we intend shall be the real rujers),
we shall not object to paying his salary ourselves.

He will be instructed by us to let the majority do as they
like, unless they should plainly propose to break the connection
with the Mother Country, in which case any Bill which shall be
presented to them for such a purpose is to be reserved for our
consideration, and not assented to at once—the probability,
however, being that we should not disallow it.

Such is now the colonial relation, and such is the disposi-
tion of mankind, that I question whether, after all, the connec-
tion may not endure longer under such an understax ding than
under any other.

An impatient horse, tied near a precipice, wili pull and
straggle in all directions to get free, not rega~ding the risk he
may run of precipitating himself over the brink. But if he
were turned out to previde for himself, he would be in no such
danger. He would graze near the edge, but having nothing to
pull against, and being left at liberty to go where he pleased,
he would not choose to break his neck.

Evidently he did not anticipate that the new
policy would tend to separation.

With what pleasure he would have seen the
j British provinces forming the Dominion . Canada
¥ to-day !
: Cenfederated, contented, prosperous, with their
value more and more appreciated by the Mother
i Country, and evincing a loyalty and devotion to her
inwar and peace which the trials and responsibilities
§ bom of empire have served only to deepen and
¥ strengthen !



CHAPTER X
JOURNAL AND CORRESPONDENCE IN ENGLAND
OCTOBER 1838 TO DECEMBER 1839

English interest in Canadian questions—Visits to Sir F. Head and Sr
Nobert Pecl—Letter from the latter — Destruction of St. James'
Church, Toronto—Durham report—Visit to Sir Wilmot Horton —
Mrs. Jameson’s book—Interview with the Duke of Wellington—
Defences of Canada, &c.—Views of 1822 as to the union unchanged
—The Queen’s ladies—Resignation of the HMinistry—Apsley House—
Appointed by Legislative Council to represent interests of Canada—
Dimner with Cordwainerss Company — Sir W. Follett and Lend
Lyndhurst as to American prisoners—Interview with Lord Normanty
and Lord J. Russell—Soirée at Thomas Campbell's—Consecration of
%)r. Strachan—Letter from Sir George Arthur—Obtains extension of

eave.

My father's journal and correspondence while m
England between 1838 and 1840 —from which
in the next two chapters I give many extracts—
show that his time and thoughts were almost
continuously occupied throughout this period with
public questions connected with the Canadas then
under the consideration of the Imperial Govem-
ment: such as the recommendations of the Durham
report, and the proposed union of the Upper and
Lower Provinces; the Clergy Reserves; and the
course to be pursued with the American prisoners
taken in the Canadian Rebellion. What I have said
in previous chapters will, I hope, enable his references
to these subjects to be now fully understood.
Although colonial matters sixty years ago aroused
far less interest in England in ordinary times than
they do at the present daér% the circumstances of the
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moment had brought Canadian subjects into excep-
tional prominence there.

The course which leading men in politics—Sir
Robert Peel, the Duke of W, ellington, Lord John
Russell, Lord Lyndhurst, and others—would take
upon Canadian questions, and the possibility of the
defeat of the Ministry upon its Canadian policy, were
the subjects of discussion in Ppublic and private ; the
aitention of those in political life was much directed
to them ; and it was felt that with the future ad-
ministration of the British-American Colonies im-
portant Imperial interests were bound up.

The views of Sir Robert Peel as to the union of
y the Upper and Lower Provinces of Canada were not
| disclosed for a long time, but eventually he advocated
it. The Duke of Wellington and Lord Lyndhurst

% opposed it ; Lord John Russell, vho had introduced

the Bill in June 1889, was its leading supporter.
{  Sir Herbert Maxwell, in his « Life of Welling-
ton,” says :—

The course taken by Sir Robert Peel on the union of the
Canadas was the occasion of a fresh difference (with the Duke
of Wellington), and all intercourse ! ceased between them.

My father’s presence in England at this period,
t and his knowledge of and position in Canada, led to

his being constantly referred to upon Canadian topies
b by members of the Government and others,

He had several times to come up to London from
Cheltenham, Brighton, &c., to keep appointments at
| the Colonial Office and with public men.

§  Itwas often with inconvenience and some risk to

* The meaning of this, no doubt, is that all intercourse for a time

g=

wzsed between them.



272 SIR JOHN BEVERLEY ROBINSON cu.

himself that these journeys were made, as his health,
especially at first, was far from good, and he really
required rest and freedom from work ; but when he
thought he might be of use to Canada by imparting
the information which he possessed to those who
desired and had a right to obtain it, he never spared
himself.

Sometimes he came to town alone, leaving his
family in the country, and sometimes with my mother
and others.

Much attention, both of a public and private
character, was shown to him in London, particularly
by the Duke of Wellington, who was thoroughly
versed in ail Canadian matters, and the kindness and
hospitality he met with as coming from Canada were
unbounded.

As everything associated with the great Duke has
an interest of its own, I have quoted rather largely in
this chapter from my father’s references to conversa-
tions, &ec., with him.

To Sir Robert Peel he paid two visits at-Drayton
Manor.

He received great kindness from Sir Robert
Hacry Inglis, member for Oxford, a strong Conser-
vative and earnest Churchman, widely known and
respected by men of all shades of opinion, and whose
friendship he especially valued.!

Sir Wilmot Horton he met constantly, their ac
quaintance having been kept up since 1822, when he
was Mr. Wilmot, and its cordiality not having been
lessened by their difference of view as to the union.

He was also often with Lord Lyndhurst, whom

1 See entry in my futher's Journal for 5th May 1855, chap. Xiv.
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he had met in previous years, when Mr. Copley;
with the Bishop of Exeter (Phillpotts); Mr. (after-
wads Sir John) Pakington,' Lord Seaton, Sir
Fancis Head, and Sir Peregrine Maitland, all of
whom were then in England, and naturally deeply
interested in Canadian topics.
n With some of the above, a correspondence more
3B o less constant was kept up by him throughout
life.
When he reached England, the Merrys, my
mother's relations, were at 5 Lansdowne Terrace,
Cheltenham, where they lived when not at High-
lands in Berkshire, and this led to his going first to
B Cheltenham, where he took a house (7 Lansdowne
B Plce), and then reported himself personally at the
Bk Coonial Office. Lord Glenelg, Secretary of State
B for the Colonies, being out of London, he returned
B io Cheltenham, and, in December 1838, was set-
3B ing out with my mother and two of my sisters
R for Atherstone in Warwickshire upon a visit to Sir
BB Francis and Lady Head, when a request was re-
W cived from Lord Glenelg that, if his health per-
S mitted, he would come to town immediately, as
d the mail steamer, taking official letters to Canada,
g vith reference to which he wished to see him, was
3 b sail in three or four days.
f  Leaving the others at Birmingham tc zo on
| without him to Atherstone, he took the train thence
B to London.
B These were the early days of railways. The
t journey — 113 miles — owing to unexpected and

- ! Mr. Pakington was created a baronet in 1846, and raised to the
rageas Lord Hampton in 1874 ; died 1880.

S
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vexatious delays, took many hours longer than had
been anticipated, and he did not reach town till
midnight.

1 was very cold, he writes in his Journal, and not being well,
suffered a good deal.

After seeing Lord Glenelg and Sir George Grey,
he called upon Lord Durham in Cleveland Row and
had a short conversation with him.

He looked ill and anxious, and talked chiefly of past occur-
rences which had occasioned him to return, and did not seem
inclined to enter into any account of what measures he intended
to recommend.

When, after this, he I;ad rejoined my mother at |
Sir Francis Head’s, Sir Robert Peel invited both him

and Sir Francis to dine and stay the night at Drayton .

Manor, about eight miles from Atherstone.
Writing to Dr. Strachan on 24th January 1839,
he mentions this visit :—

Sir Robert was quite alone, except Lady Peel, and are E

markably fine family of children. _
We sat up till twelve o'clock, talking of Canada principally,
and returned to Atherstone about midday the next day. Be
fore I left him he expressed a wish that I should pay him |
another visit the following week, when, he said, he expected the S
Duke of Wellington. :

On that occasion I spent two nights, and nearly three days S8

there. The Duke was detained at home by a cold, but Lord
Sandon, Lord Stanley, the Duke of Rutland, Gencral Al §

Lord Hill, Mr. Arbuthnot, Lord Wilton, Sir Henry Hardinge,

Lo.d Fitz Roy Somerset, and several others were there. Ny g
visit was made agreeable in every way, though I was not well 1
enough to join in any amusement out of doors. '

Of those mentioned above, Lord Hill, Sir Heny I8
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Hardinge, and Lord Fitz Roy Somerset (afterwards
Lord Raglan) are well known in connection with
the campaigns of the Peninsula, India, and the
Crimea. Mr. Arbuthnot was private secretary to
the Duke of Wellington and lived much with him.
General Alava was a Spanish officer of distinction,
who having been attached to the British head-
quarters at Waterloo, and also fought in the Spanish
nwvy at Trafalgar, is said to have been the only
individual known to have been present at both these
great battles.

Sir Robert Peel writes to my father, January 10,
1839, from Drayton Manor:—

My pEar Sir,—I very much regretted that the necessity of
constant attention to a large party of guests left me little
leisure, when you last favoured me with your company at Dray-
ton Manor, for free communication with you on much more
important and interesting matters.

1do not think you will find yourself practically in an em-
barrassing situation in consequence of any course you may take

B i reference to Canadian affairs, or any interviews you mey

have with men of different political parties here. It will be
wiversally acknowledged that nothing could be more natural
than that you should adhere in this country to the intimacies
and friendships, which the agreement in principle and the sense
| of common danger were so likely to cement in Upper Canada,
| and that nothing could be more useful to the province than
that you should disregard the political and party differences
which divide us, and seek to impart and impress upon all public
t men here those opinions which experience in Canadian affairs
8 wd the advantage of local knowledge and connection have
§ entitled you to form.

1 for one shall be most happy to communicate with you
without Teserve, having the fullest confidence in your ability,
B integrity, and attachment to the interests both of the pro-
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vinces of which you are an ornament and of the Mother
Country.

It appears to me that the time has come when the Execy-
tive Government of this country must, without the delay of
a month, pronounce some decisive and intelligible opinion
respecting the whole of the Canadian questions.

My opinion is that the Government ought to declare on
the part of the sovereign power of this country—

First.—Its determination, at all hazards, to maintain the
connection with its British North American Colonies, and to
send such a force there as should enable it to insist upon the
observance of the first principles of justice by the United States;
not only by those who are called, by courtesy, the Government
of the United States, but by the people of that country.

My belief is that this is the only way of averting war with
the United States, as a consequence of American piracy and
depredation; and that the fear of a powerful military forcein
the Canadas, ready to act aggressively in the event of hostility,
is almost the only stimulus that can be applied to effectual
exertion on the part of the United States to check invasions
which cannot be tolerated by this country without public
dishonour to her.

Secondly.—I think the Government should avow that they
will not permit any longer the forms and privileges of a free
Constitution and representative Government to be perverted,
in Lower Canada, from the object for which they were granted
to the systematic destruction of British interests and the
undermining of British authority ; that they intend to ad,
without any revengeful feeling for the past, with justice and
impartiality to all, so far as all legal rights—as distinguished
from favour and confidence—are concerned ; but that they wil
execute their resolution of maintsining British authority and
defeating treasonable designs openly and frankly, taking boldly
all such power as is necessary for the purpose, and not seeking
to hide their design under the cover and pretence of r-
establishing a popular Government to be hereafter thwarted and
defeated by indirect means. There is much less injury doneto
that form of Government by the frank avowal that it
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unsuitable in & certain case, than by pretending to establish it
in form but refusing it in substance.

Thirdly.—I would avow that this opportunity should be
taken of giving to the Upper Province those facilities for com-
mercial enterprise and free intercourse with other countries,
vhich nature seems to have assigned to her, but of which she
is at present deprived by legislative enactments now fairly open
to review.!

... T can easily believe that the details for executing these
leading principles would require the most careful consideration.
Tn many cases it is very unwise to announce a principle without
being fully prepased to execute it in all its details, but in the
ase of the Canadas I doubt much whether the best mode of
obviating the difficulties of detail would not be a decisive
declaration that the British Parliament had made up its mind
to do certain things, and would proceed to do them. The
minds of men, ministers, and others, will then be applied to
the consideration of the best mode of executing that which is
in principle resolved upon, which they will not be while every-
thing is left in uncertainty by the appointment of fresh com-
missions, and the institution of interminable inquiries, the
Government appearing to have no opinion, or, as is probably
the truth, having none.—Believe me, my dear sir, with great
esteem, very faithfully yours, Roserr PEEL.

In a letter to Dr. Strachan of February 10th, my
father says :—

}  To-morrow morning I go to London. The report of Lord
E Durham is to be laid before the House, and in the meantime
it has, nobody knows how, found its way into the Zimes. I
! have only seen part of it.

And he thus alludes to the burning of the
church of St. James, the present cathedral church

! Alludes apparently to the dividing line hetween the provinces
 Laving deprived Upper Canada of a seaport (sce chap. ix.), and the fiscal
difficalties which this eatailed upon her.
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of Toronto, on Tth January 1839, of which he had
recently heard.!

We have all felt deeply the destruction of our excellent
church. Pray, in any of your meusures, reckon upon me as
one who will go the full length with the most zealous of your
parishioners.  You have need of all your fortitude and unyield-
ing spirit, and 1 pray God it may fully support you under your
trials of every deseription.

Between February 11th and the end of March
1889 he was alone in London, staying at the
Spring Gardens Hotel, and much occupied with an
examination of Lord Durhan’s report.

On the 22nd February he writes to my mother:—

Since "Tuesday morning I have literally been a hermit in
London, sceing nothing, and being scen of none, when I could
help it.

That Report! When I read the 119 folio pages I havdly
found a passage I did not burn to expose.

On Tuesday I took it up, and commenced the criticism ina
connected form, and after two days’ hard work, on Wednesday
night I found I had got to page 27 cut of 119.

How it worried mel—so much to say; such a wish to
shorten it.

But while I was taking a stroll in St. James's Park, my good
genius whispered—“ Work at it leisurely at Cheltenham or
else. niere, but now go at the main point, the Recommendations”

It was clearly the right course. I could thus make a
readable paper of moderate length, and could have it forthwith.

Yesterday morning, at half-past nine, I commenced my
intended letter to Lord Normanby, and precisely at 12 (mid-
night), having stopped half-an-hour for dinner, I had the
satisfaction of writing “I have the honour to be,” &e.

T believe I mever in my life went through a harder days
work of the same kind.

1 An appeal for funds to rebuild this church was liberally met, andit
was re-erected by December in the same year-
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When T deliver in the paper . shall stand acquitted in my
conseience, happen what may.

He also wrote to my mother on 18th Febraary
1889 = —

I was picked up on Suturdey at Mr. Tuffnells, Sivr W.
Jorlons son=in-law, in Cavendish Square, and when 1 alepped
into the carrisge to join Sit W, and Lady Horton, saw on the
front seat o lavge square black box, and by the side of it, who
do you think ? but Anna Lerself.!

She looked, I assure you, a conscience-smitten caitifl. 1 told
her it was fair to apprise her that 1 was engaged in reviewing
lier book.

She was for some years in Lord Hatherton’s family, and as
Lord H. was on a visit to the Hortons, they asked her down
to meet him.

Mr. and Mus. Carleton were there. She is o sister of Sir

W. Horton, and he is a son of old Lord Dorchester, the first
Governor-General of Canada.

Then we had & Miss Brownlee, who tried bher hand at

skeiching: me, whether with more success than Mr. Dighten ? I
cannot say.

Both Sir W, and Lady Horton express much desire to see
you and the giris. 1 have promised n visit for you, and can
answer for its being a most agreeable one.

Returning to Cheitenham by the 1st April, he
came again to town on the 17th with my mother and
ddest sister, taking lodgings at 8 Spring Gardens,
and on the 24th the rest of the family joined them.

About this time his leave was extended by the
Seeretary of State for six months longer, and in
informing him of this Mr. Labouchere added:—

! Anua Jameson, married to Vice-Chancellor Jameson, of Upper Canada,
adauthoress of  Winter Studies and Summer Rambles in Canada” (1838),
inwhich Toronto society had been discussed and my father spoken of ac
having “a fine head and acute features, and the most pleasing, insinuating
voice T have ever heard.”

% A water-colour sketch of my father, seated at his library table, had
been taken by a Mr. Dighton at Cheltenham.
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I am desired to acquaint you that Lord Normanby is happy
to have it in his power, by acceding to your request, to express,
in however slight & manner, the respect which he entertains for
yourself personally, and the estimation in which he holds your
services.

I now quote from his Journal :—

20th dpril 1839.—I received a note from Mr. Arbuthnot
saying that the Duke of Wellington had asked if I did not
mean to call upon him. He said the Duke would be glad to
see me any day at twelve, except Tuesday.

1s¢ May.—I called on the Duke at twelve o’clock, and was
with him about an hour.

I had sent him some days before a letter from Sir John
Colborne, containing his ideas of the state of Lower Canada,
and cof what ought to be done by Parliament. He had alo
had copies of my letters to Lord Normanby on Lord Durhams
report; on the measnres necessary for the future government
of Canada; and on the measures for restoring confidence and

security to Canada.

Before going further it may be as well here to
say that my father had urged in the letters above
mentioned, and to which I have alluded in the last
chapter, that nothing would more effectually stop
the troubles on the Canadian frontier than a clear
announcement in the British Parliament that Great
Britain was determined to meintain her connection
with her Colonies, putting forth, if necessary, all her
strength to that end ; and that foreign Governments
should be left in no doubt that in making war upon
any portion of the British Empire they were making
war on Great Britaiu.

The policy he advocated had in fact much in
common with that which Sir Robert Peel was in
favour of (see his letter of 10th January 1839, already
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given in this chapter), but as to which there existed
a strong impression that the Government would
not be bold enough to carry it out. The existence
abroad of this impression, from whatever cause it had
arisen, and whether right or wrong, had, he thought,
lrgely contributed to produce what had occurred.
The measuves of defence which he advocated have
been touched upon in chapter iii., in connection with
& the American War.
With respect to the American and other foreign
R invaders of Canadian territory during the Rebellion,
B i considered that their liability to trial by military
#E tribunals (see chapter viil.) was essential, but with
B cpurd to certain prisoners taken after the cannonad-
< ing of Ambherstburg, and the killing and wounding
E of British soldiers, that the best effect would be
B poduced by sending them to England to answer
BB there to the Crown for their offences.
f It must be explained that at this time the extra-
B¢ dition treaties with the United States, which had

B their origin largely in the events on the Canadian
BB horder in 1887-388, did not exist.

Journal continued.

The Duke was looking remarkably well and cheerful.
f It was his birthday (1st May), and he had completed his
8 swerentieth year. He began by returning me Sir J. Colborne’s
b letter, and laying my letter on the defence, &c., of the provinces
B before him on the table, and then said (referring to an expres-
E sion of Sir J. Colborne’s that the St. Lawrence should be made
B o “imperial river”),—-
B Great Britain has given to these provinces each a separate
B Legislature, and they have certain terms and conditions which
f they wished and desired respecting the trade and navigation of
@ theriver, and you do nothing for them by merely saying it
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shall be an “imperial river.” You must show them how their
interests are to stand, and why not do that at once—now—lby
your measure ?

After a time he pointed to my paper which was on the
table, and said :—

I have read your paper—every word of it—and have con-
sidered it well. The subject is not new to me. I suggested
twenty years ago the measures that I thought should be taken
for the defence of the Canadas. I was then Master-General of
the Ordnance, and I made it my business to acquaint myself
with the particular position and geography of the province.
I remember the whole matter perfectly. I am sure thatI could
now, from this room, give directions for posting an army at
Burlington Heights.

You speak also of Penetanguishene. I remember I wis
most anxious that that should be made a strong and important
station.

1 agree in all you say about the measures that ought to be
taken with the American Government, and about the dispos
of their people when made prisoners. You are right in every-
thing, but mind, I tell you, the Ministers will do nothing what-
ever respecting this.

Your paper, my dear sir, was written for a different countr,
for a different state of things altogether. Your paper va &
written for “Old England,” but this is not “Old England® §
nor anything like it. I speak of what I remember, but you
must see yourself that everything is totally changed.

I venture to say that you will not be able to get them to
look at that paper; no, nor upon anything of the colour of
that paper.

The whole now is 2 miserable party warfare, in which ail the 3
grand interests of the nation are sunk. If the people in Dowr
ing Street tell you that they could do anything for the Colonis,
such as you point out, don’t belicve them. They can d
nothing of the kind. They are under an influence that il §
not allow them to do it .

See what the Government are now doing in this Jamsia 8
question. I say to the West Indian people, if these measures ‘
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are carried, my advice to you is, sell your property if you can
and leave the country ; and, if you can’t sell your property, still
you had better leave the country, and go into the first English
vorkhouse that will receive you, for there, at any rate, your life
will be safe.

Now, sir, I tell you, that the Government will do nothing
of the kind that you there point out to them. They cant do
it, the time for looking at great questions in this way is gone
by. Look at the language the Government has always held
sout the affairs in Canada; they have never made the
Queen say more, in effect, than that she will support those
who support her. It is mot merely because some of her
E subiects there have behaved well that the support should be
gven. It’s because her Emnire Las been attacked — that’s
the reason.

This is but a small part of what he said. His conversation
BB s very interesting.  His manner was animated and warm, his
£ oice occasionally loud. His eye particularly kind and intelli-
d cent, but his hearing is 2 little difficult. Cne cannot so readily
discuss 2 matter with him as with a younger man.

T could not but look upon him with intense interest while
 be was speaking—his honest language, his open bearing, and
then the recollection of the career he had bad.

®  In connection with the measures suggested by the
} Duke of Wellington for the defence of the Canadas,
¢ vhich (so far as I am aware) have not been made
Re public, the following letter® written b